

# The Effect of Cytomegalovirus infection on Follicular Lymphoma biology

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of

Liverpool for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy

By

Moses Dabah LUGOS

January 2017

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	vi
Acknowledgements	viii
Declaration	xi
Presentations arising from this work	xii
List of figures	xiii
List of Tables	xvii
Glossary of Abbreviations	xvii
Chapter 1 : General Introduction	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Follicular Lymphoma	1
1.2.1 The pathology of FL	2
1.2.2 Cell of Origin of FL	3
1.2.3 Genetic Landscape of FL	5
1.3 The tumour microenvironment	9
1.3.1 Cellular components of the tumour microenvironment	11
1.3.2 The FL microenvironment	13
1.4 T-lymphocytes	15
1.4.1 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC)	15
1.4.2 Activation of Naïve T cells	16
1.4.3 Memory T cells	19
1.4.4 The T cell surface markers	21
1.4.5 T cell exhaustion	24
1.4.6 Effector function during T cell exhaustion	25
1.4.7 T cell exhaustion and T cell senescence	26
1.5 Cellular components of innate immunity	27
1.5.1 Natural Killer (NK) Cells	28
1.5.2 Macrophages	30
1.6 Cytokines	31
1.6.1 Sources of cytokines	33
1.6.2 Classifications of cytokines	33
1.6.3 Expression levels and profiles of cytokine in a variety of human dis	seases 35
1.6.4 Serum Cytokines in Follicular lymphoma	39
1.7 Cytomegalovirus (CMV)	40

1.7.1 Pathophysiology of CMV	43
1.7.2 The immunology of CMV Infection	43
1.7.3 The Influence of CMV infection on Normal Immunity	44
1.7.4 Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) and tumours	47
1.7.5 Diagnosis of CMV	49
1.7.6 Treatment Options for CMV infection	52
1.8 Study Aims and Objective	54
1.9 Study Rationale	54
1.10 Study Hypothesis	55
Chapter 2 : Research Design & Methodologies	56
2.1 The Study Design	56
2.2 The study Cohorts and patient samples	57
2.3 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	61
2.4 Ethical Approval & Informed Consent	61
2.5 Study Sample Size Estimation	62
2.6 Laboratory and experimental methodologies	63
2.6.1 Instrument used flow cytometric analysis - BD LSRFortessa <sup>™</sup>	63
2.6.2 Cytometer Setup and Tracking (CS&T)	63
2.6.3 PBMC isolation	63
2.6.4 The PBMC Samples: Thawing and recovery of cells	64
2.6.5 The Compensation Set up	65
2.6.6 Determination of working volumes of conjugated mAbs	65
2.6.7 The staining and acquisition of cells for FACS	68
2.6.8 Multiplex (Luminex) Assay for Serum cytokines	69
2.6.9 Sandwich ELISA for Cytokines	73
2.6.10 Immunofluorescence (IF) of FFPE tissue sections	77
2.7 Statistical considerations and Data Analysis	86
Chapter 3 : Effect of CMV on the circulating lymphocytes	88
3.1 Introduction	88
3.2 Patients and materials	89
3.3 The conjugated monoclonal antibodies	92
3.4 Establishment of FACS method for the study	92
3.5 Results of T & NK cell subtypes	94
3.5.1 An assessment of gating Strategies	95
3.5.2 Illustrations of gating strategies for the FACS tubes	97

3.5.3 Fresh versus frozen FACS analysis	105
3.5.4 The lymphocyte subtypes	108
3.6 Discussions	111
Chapter 4 : Effect of CMV infection on Serum cytokines	118
4.1 Introduction	118
4.2 Laboratory Approaches & Reagents	119
4.3 The results	121
4.3.1The cytokine expression profiles in CMV- negative and CMV- population patients with FL	sitive 121
4.3.2 The effect of Sample Thawing/Freezing Cycles on sELISA Results	130
4.3.3 A positive correlation between IL-9 concentrations measured Luminex and sELISA	with 132
4.4 Correlation Analysis of cytokines and cell subtypes	133
4.5 Discussions	135
Chapter 5 : Effect of CMV on accessory cells in tissues	145
5.1 Introduction	145
5.2 Experimental approaches	146
5.3 The Results	147
5.3.1 Patients and materials	147
5.3.2 Evaluating of crossreactivity	149
5.3.3 Evaluating simultaneous and sequential double IF	150
5.3.4 Evaluating colocalization	158
5.3.5 Median intensities of markers of accessory in FL	158
5.4 Discussions	160
Chapter 6 : Effect of CMV on treatment efficacy and toxicity	166
6.1 Introduction	166
6.2 Approach	166
6.3 The baseline characteristics of study cohorts	169
6.4 Effect of CMV infection on treatment efficacy	172
6.4.1 FACS/cytokine Cohort	172
6.4.2 Immunofluorescence cohort	175
6.4.3 The PACIFICO overall trial cohort	178
6.5 Effect of CMV status on infection and febrile neutropenia	182
6.5.1 The number of patients experiencing AEs/SAEs	182
6.5.2 Analysis of the number of reported AEs/SAEs	188
6.6 Discussions	194

Chapter 7 : Relating laboratory findings with treatment efficacy	199
7.1 Introduction	199
7.2 Approaches	199
7.3 Results	201
7.3.1 Relationship between treatment response and blood lymphocyte sub	sets 201
7.3.2 Relationship between treatment response and serum cytokines	207
7.3.3 Relationship between treatment response and accessory cells	212
7.4 Discussions	215
Chapter 8 General Discussion & Conclusions	221
Chapter 9 Future Research	238
9.1 Introduction	238
9.2 Future work	238
9.2.1 Confirmation of results in an independent cohort of patients with a size estimated based on observations in this study	sample 238
9.2.2 Validation of cytokine data using an alternative method and stabl samples	e serum 239
9.2.3 Investigating the impact of CMV infection on the outcome of the two of therapies in PACIFICO trial	wo arms 240
9.2.4 Evaluating the potential predictive value of CMV infection status in	FL 240
9.2.5 Analysis of PD-L1 in FFPE tissue biopsies	241
9.2.6 A study of post-treatment sequential samples	242
9.3 Conclusions	242
Bibliography	243
Appendices	280
Appendix 1: Standard Curves for cytokines	280
Appendix 2: Copyright Licence	284
Appendix 3A: Uncontrolled copy of the PACIFICO Patient Consent Form-Page	e1 286
Appendix 3B: Uncontrolled copy of the PACIFICO Patient Consent Form-Page	e2 287

### Abstract

Follicular lymphoma (FL) is an incurable human B-cell neoplasm that follows a chronic relapsing course requiring multiple treatment episodes and culminating in therapy resistance and/or large-cell transformation. The disease is notable for its clinical variability but the biological basis for this variability is poorly understood. In addition to intrinsic genetic and epigenetic alterations that drive tumour growth, an intricate cross-talk between malignant B cells and the immune microenvironment have been shown to play a significant role in the pathogenesis of FL. This thesis tests the hypothesis that some of the heterogeneity of FL might result from chronic infection with cytomegalovirus (CMV). The latter affects ~50% of the adult population and has been linked to premature immune senescence and expedited age-related alterations in the T cell repertoire. I reasoned that CMV infection might have two distinct effects in FL: (1) by accelerating immune senescence, it might increase the risk of treated-related infection; and (2) by altering the lymphoma microenvironment, it might modulate the effect of chemo-immunotherapy.

To address these questions, I was able to access stored PMBCs, serum and tissue samples from patients of known CMV serostatus who were recruited into the PACIFICO trial. The trial compared two different chemo-immunotherapy regimens in older patients with FL and recruited 360 patients between 2009 and 2015. My experimental approach was to compare CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients for blood lymphocyte subsets by flow cytometry (Chapter 3), serum cytokines by Luminex profiling (Chapter 4), accessory cells in the lymphoma microenvironment by immunofluorescence of biopsy material (Chapter 5), and treatment effectiveness and toxicity using follow-up information obtained as part of the trial (Chapter 6). Chapters 3 and 4 employed a cohort of 42 cases (21 of which were CMV- positive) that were carefully selected to be well balanced in other respects. Chapter 5 employed a similar cohort of 42 cases (20 of which were CMV- positive) including 6 that were also in the cohort used for Chapter 4 (it was not possible to use exactly the same cases for Chapters 3, 4 and 5 owing to the limited availability of biopsy material). Chapter 6 related CMV serostatus to clinical outcome in the two cohorts employed for Chapters 3,4 and 5, and also in a third cohort consisting of all 269 patients of known CMV serostatus who were recruited into PACIFICO (109 of which were CMV- positive). Finally, Chapter 7 examined the relationship between CMV-dependent biological variables and treatment efficacy with the aim of shedding light on the mechanisms through which CMV might modulate therapy response in FL.

Flow cytometric analysis of PBMCs revealed significant accumulation of end-stage differentiated (TEMRA) T cell subtypes including pE2-CD4 (P=0.046), E-CD4 (P=0.029), EM3-CD4 (P=0.018), E-CD8 (P=0.033) and EM3-CD8 (P=0.005) phenotypes as well as increased NKT cells (P=0.031) in CMV-positive patients. Luminex data showed significantly reduced levels of multiple serum cytokines including IL-9 (P=0.006), IL-17A (P=0.020), FGF-basic (P=0.028), MIP-1 $\alpha$ 

(P=0.039), MIP-1 $\beta$  (P=0.029), IL-6 (P=0.029) and IL-8 (P=0.037) in the CMVpositive group. Taken together, these findings support the hypotheses that CMV infection in FL is associated with accelerated immune senescence with the accumulation of exhausted T cells and reduced cytokine production. Immunofluorescence staining of biopsy material revealed that the CMV-positive group expressed significantly higher levels of CD21 (expressed by follicular dendritic cells; P=0.043) and tended to express higher levels of FOXP3 (expressed by Tregs; P= 0.069) and PD-1 (expressed by exhausted T cells; P=0.097).

Analysis of therapy response in the two cohorts used for lymphocyte/cytokine profiling and tissue staining showed an overall trend for higher complete remission (CR) rates in the CMV-positive groups with a significant difference observed in the first cohort after 4 cycles of therapy (P=0.020). This finding could not be confirmed in the overall trial cohort. However, the CMV-positive group in this cohort contained more patients with adverse prognostic features, potentially biasing it towards inferior therapy response. Interestingly, a significant association was observed between the achievement of CR and the number of circulating E-CD4+ T cells but not serum cytokine levels or the tissue accessory cells expressing CD21, FOXP3 or PD-1. Analysis of toxicity data by CMV status showed a significant association between CMV positivity and heterologous infection of any grade. This association was observed in the overall trial cohort (P<0.001) as well as in the cohort used for tissue staining (P=0.017).

Taken together, my findings support the hypothesis underlying this thesis, namely that the biology of FL is influenced by chronic CMV infection. Specifically, CMV-positive patients with FL undergo accelerated immune senescence and experience more infections following rituximab-containing chemo-immunotherapy. CMV-positive patients may also achieve better responses, possibly due to the higher numbers of cells expressing  $Fc\gamma$  receptors required for antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC).

Based on my findings, a case could be argued for the routine application of CMV screening in FL prior to treatment with chemo-immunotherapy with the implementation of enhanced infection surveillance in CMV-positive patients. If properly harnessed, these understandings can ultimately improve on the therapeutic strategies in FL management toward a combinatorial approach for direct cytotoxic and indirect immunomodulatory perspectives.

#### Acknowledgements

Supervisors: Professor Andrew R Pettitt, Dr Ke Lin, Dr Melanie Oates Collaborators: Dr Geetha Menon, Dr Carlos Rubbi

Funding support: Tertiary Education Trust Fund (TETFund)/ The University of Jos, Nigeria, and the Institute of Translational Medicine, University of Liverpool, UK Statistics/Data Analysis: Dr Richard Jackson, Miss Silvia Cicconi, Dr Ke Lin, Dr Michael Marcus, Dr Augustine Ebonyi and Mr Philip Jalo

*GCLP/Technical support:* Dr Melanie Oates, Dr Victoria Shaw, Dr Elinor Chapman, Dr Gina Eagle

Reagents/Consumables/Bench fees: Professor AR Pettitt.

Patients recruitment/Samples: PACIFICO trial samples, Healthy volunteers Other support: All staff, PhD/MPhil/MRes students of the Haemato-Oncology group. Department of Molecular & Clinical Cancer Medicine, University of Liverpool, UK

Foremost, I thank God Almighty for life and the breakthrough experiences. I am profoundly indebted to my primary supervisor, Professor Pettitt, who worked relentlessly in concert with my secondary supervisors Dr Lin and Dr Oates to provide quality academic leadership and ensure successful completion of my research. Indeed, it is a privilege to work and learn under the tutelage of Professor Andy R Pettitt, an experienced Professor of Haematology, a researcher and clinician by training and practice, who despite his overwhelming administrative commitments as Head of the Department of Molecular & Clinical Cancer Medicine, has consistently brought his vast experience in the supervision this project. The University of Liverpool's monthly supervisory meeting for PhD students has afforded me an excellent platform for constant interactions with my supervisors and collaborators and for self-assessment of progress. To Dr Ke Lin, I genuinely thank him for assisting me with some aspects of

the statistical analysis. Also, I appreciate him for accommodating my unscheduled visits to discuss my project in his office. I owe gratitude to Dr Oates, who aside from the regular supervisory roles, spent a chunk of her time to put me through the stringent GCLP lab protocols for my research. Also, I appreciate her for organising a Tuesday-Tuesday meeting in her office for weekly reviews and monitoring of progress. She gave the audience at scheduled and unscheduled meetings and provided unflinching support. She is appreciated.

At this juncture, I want to thank the Tertiary Education Trust Fund (TETFund), Nigeria for providing a study award for my doctoral programme at the University of Liverpool, UK. I remain grateful to the University of Jos, especially the Vice Chancellor, Professor Mafuyai for recommending me to TETFund for the award. I am indebted to Professor E Ikeh, who gladly recommended me to the Vice Chancellor for a TETFund scholarship for my PhD. Also, his sustained and unflinching support and concern throughout my years of research in the United Kingdom cannot go unmentioned. I am also appreciative to Professor Dakum (the then Dean of the Faculty of Medical Sciences) for endorsing my funding application to the Vice-Chancellor without delays.

My sincerest appreciation goes to Drs Geetha Menon and Carlos Rubbi who despite their busy diaries have collaborated with us in this project and participated actively in the monthly supervisory meetings. They provided expert and experienced advice, especially for the study of accessory cells in the FL microenvironment.

To my Mentor, Dr Lakis Liloglou, I owe him an honest gratitude for the huge roles he played in the success of my research, especially in providing valuable advice at the University annual progression reviews. I am also grateful to Dr Joseph Slupsky who among other supports made suggestions that helped in shaping the outlook of my research data.

I thank Dr Kathy Till for making substantial contributions to the immunofluorescence design. I also want to thank Dr Jack Zhuang, who has been very dedicated to coordinating the Haemato-oncology group Journal Club and the weekly departmental research meetings. These meetings are especially beneficial for the research students.

I am hugely indebted to Dr Richard Jackson, Miss Silvia Cicconi, Dr Michael Marcus, Dr Augustine Ebonyi, Mr Philip Jalo and Dr Brian Lane who have provided support for data analysis.

Special thanks also go to Dr Elinor Chapman, Dr Andrew Duckworth and Dr Gina L. Eagle who provided supports at different points. I thank the PA to Professor Pettitt for organising monthly supervisory meetings and all the lab staff and my fellow lab mates for the great working environment.

I remain ever indebted to my late mother, Mrs Aranka Yakubu Kyue, who in spite of her meagre resources was able to support and fund my early education. I thank Naomi and baby Chevonne, who provided tremendous support in making my research experience in Liverpool comfortable. In conclusion, it is an opportunity to thank all my professional colleagues and friends on social media for being inspirational and supportive. Mainly, I want to thank Dr & Mrs Samson Isa, Mr Jossy J Wozoh, Mr Idris Hassan Iya, and Andrew Onoja for the encouragement.

## Declaration

I declare that the entire work presented in this thesis belongs to me. However, Dr Victoria Shaw assisted with cytokine Luminex assays. Dr Carlos Rubbi wrote the ImageJ programme for the analysis of immunofluorescence images. Dr Richard Jackson, the PACIFICO trial statistician and Miss Silvia Cicconi helped with the explorative analysis of the effect of CMV on clinical outcome. Dr Brian Lane for the heat maps in chapter 3.

## Presentations arising from this work

 Poster presentation at the University of Liverpool Research (poster) day, Central Teaching Laboratories – April 10, 2014 (9:00 to 3:00) – POSTER 66

2. Poster presentation at the ITM Liverpool - Manchester Inter-University Postgraduate Physiology and Cell Biology Symposium 2014, Sherrington Lecture Theatre – Liverpool L69 3GE – April 24, 2014 (9:00 to 17:00) – POSTER 33.

3. Oral presentation at the Department of Molecular & Clinical Cancer Medicine (DMCCM) PGR Annual Progress Report Talks: June 3, 2013, June 12, 2014

# List of figures

Figure 2-1: Study design. 5	7
Figure 2-2: Determining the working volume of CD45-BV510	7
Figure 2-3: Illustrating the 3-tube design and the respective panels of mAbs	9
Figure 2-4: Illustrating a 96-well plate layout for Cytokine Multiplex assay7	1
Figure 2-5: An illustration of a 96-well ELISA plate layout	6
Figure 2-6: IHC staining of Rabbit anti- FOXP3	0
Figure 2-7: Working dilutions of Mouse anti human CD4 and Rabbit anti human CD8	1
Figure 2-8: Working dilutions of Rabbit human anti human CD16 and Mouse anti human CD56	5.
	2
Figure 2-9: Working dilutions of Rabbit anti human CD21 and Mouse anti human PD1	3
Figure 2-10: Working dilutions of Mouse anti human CD68 and Rabbit anti human CD1638	4
Figure 3-1: Illustrating the 3-tube design and the respective panels of conjugated mAbs	3
Figure 3-2: Evaluating gating Strategies	6
Figure 3-3: Gating Strategy adopted for tube 1 of FACS design	8
Figure 3-4: A hierarchical procedure used for analysis of cell types tested in tube 1	9
Figure 3-5: Gating Strategies adopted for tube 2 of FACS design	1
Figure 3-6: An example of hierarchical analysis of different cell types in tube 2	2
Figure 3-7: Gating Strategies for tube 3 of FACS design	4
Figure 3-8: An example of hierarchical analysis of different cell types in tube 3	5
Figure 3-9: FACS comparison of fresh, frozen and purified PBMCs	7
Figure 3-10: Boxplots of end-stage T cell subtypes and NKT cells that show significant difference	e
between CMV-positive and -negative patients	1
Figure 3-11: Illustrations of distinct and developmental phases of effector and memory T-cells	s.
	3
Figure 4-1: The box plot/whiskers graphs of concentrations of 10 cytokines measured using th	e
Luminex method that shows significant difference between CMV- positive (n=21) and CMV	<sup>7</sup> -
negative (n=21) FL patients	5
Figure 4-2: The relative changes in cytokine levels in patients with CMV infection as compared t	0
those without infection by this virus	6

Figure 4-3: The unsupervised heat maps showing expression levels of the 10 cytokines with
statistically differential expression between the two groups in 42 patients
Figure 4-4: The supervised heat map showing levels of the 27 cytokines measured using the
Luminex method between CMV- positive and CMV- negative groups in the 42 patients
Figure 4-5: The heat maps of 42 patients versus 10 cytokines grouped patients according to
expression levels of cytokines
Figure 4-6: Cytokine levels measured with sELISA in serum samples after different cycles of
thawing/ freezing
Figure 4-7: A positive correlation between the Luminex and sELISA in measuring IL-9
concentrations in patient serum samples
Figure 4-8: A matrix of correlation coefficients between cell types and cytokines
Figure 5-1: Images from the crossreactivity assessment
Figure 5-2: Evaluating Immunofluorescence staining methods
Figure 5-3: Double labelled immunofluorescent image for CD4/CD8 expression
Figure 5-4: Double labelled immunofluorescent image for PD1/FOXP3 expression
Figure 5-5: A single labelled immunofluorescent image for CD21 expression
Figure 5-6: Double labelled immunofluorescent images for CD56/CD16 expression
Figure 5-7: Double labelled immunofluorescent images for CD68/CD163 expression
Figure 5-8: Spearman Rank Order Correlation for paired markers
Figure 5-9: Median intensities of accessory cell markers in the FL microenvironment
Figure 5-10: A model of the FL microenvironment
Figure 6-1: Venn diagram showing the number of patients and relationship between the three
cohorts analysed
Figure 6-2: Stacked bar charts illustrating the proportion percentages of patients' local response
after post cycle 4 by CMV status (FACS/cytokine Cohort)
Figure 6-3: Stacked bar charts illustrating the proportion percentages of patients' local response
after post cycle 8 by CMV status (cytokine/FACS
Figure 6-4: The line graph shows the proportion of CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients
who achieved a CR at both time points (FACS/cytokine cohort)

Figure 6-5: Stacked bar charts illustrating the proportion percentages of patients' local response
to therapy after post cycle 4 by CMV status (Immunofluorescence)
Figure 6-6: Stacked bar charts illustrating the proportion percentages of patients' local response
to therapy after post cycle 8 by CMV status (Immunofluorescence)
Figure 6-7: The line graph shows the proportion of CMV+ve and CMV-ve patients who achieved
a CR at both time points (IF cohort)
Figure 6-8: Barplot to show relationship between CMV status and post cycle 4 (overall trial
<b>cohort).</b>
Figure 6-9: Barplot to show relationship between CMV status and post cycle 8 (overall trial
<b>cohort).</b>
Figure 6-10: The line graph shows the proportion of CMV+ve and CMV-ve patients who
achieved a CR at both time points (Overall trial cohort)
Figure 6-11: Comparison of incidence of infection and/or febrile neutropenia between CMV-
positive and negative patients in the FACS/cytokine cohort
Figure 6-12: Comparison of incidence of infection and/or febrile neutropenia between CMV-
positive and negative patients in the IF cohort
Figure 6-13: Comparison of incidence of infection and/or febrile neutropenia between CMV-
positive and negative patients in the overall trial cohort
Figure 6-14: Comparing AE/SAE episodes between CMV-positive and -negative patients in the
FACS/cytokine cohort
Figure 6-15: Comparing AE/SAE episodes between CMV-positive and -negative patients in the
<b>IF cohort.</b>
Figure 6-16: Comparing AE/SAE episodes between CMV-positive and -negative patients in the
overall PACIFICO trial cohort
Figure 7-1: Expression levels of cytokines in the studied cohort of patients with FL
Figure 7-2: Comparison of treatment response post cycle 4 between patients expressing low and
high frequencies of lymphocyte subsets
Figure 7-3: Comparison of treatment response post cycle 8 between patients expressing low and
high frequencies of lymphocyte subsets

Figure 7-4: Comparison of lymphocyte subsets between patients achieving and not achieving CR
after 4 cycles of treatment
Figure 7-5: Comparison of lymphocyte subsets between patients achieving and not achieving CR
after 8 cycles of treatment
Figure 7-6: Comparison of treatment response post cycle 4 between patients expressing low and
high levels of cytokines
Figure 7-7: Comparison of treatment response post cycle 8 between patients expressing low and
high levels of cytokines
Figure 7-8: The cytokine levels in patients with and without CR after 4 cycles of treatment 210
Figure 7-9: The cytokine levels in patients with and without CR after 8 cycles of treatment 211
Figure 7-10: Treatment response post cycle 4 between patients expressing low and high
intensities of immune cell markers in the FL microenvironment
Figure 7-11: Comparison of treatment response post cycle 8 between patients expressing low and
high intensities of immune cell markers in the FL microenvironment
Figure 7-12: Comparison of intensity of protein markers in microenvironment between cases
with and without CR post cycle 4 of treatment
Figure 7-13: Comparison of intensity of protein markers in microenvironment between cases
with and without CR post cycle 8 of treatment
Figure 8-1: Associations observed between CMV infection, alterations in the immune system and
clinical outcome in patients with FI 223

# List of Tables

Table 2-1: Protocol for determination of working volume experiments
Table 2-2: Preparation of working capture and detection antibodies      74
Table 2-3: 8-point Concentrations for the cytokine standards 75
Table 2-4: Details of the primary antibodies and the positive control tissues used in determining
the working dilutions
Table 3-1: The comparison of baseline characteristics with CMV infection status of patients
studied in this chapter and Chapter 491
Table 3-2: The description and sources of the mAbs used for the FACS    92
Table 3-3: The comparison of cell subtypes between patients with and without CMV infection 109
Table 4-1: Cytokine levels (pg/ml) in serum samples of FL patients in CMV- positive and
negative patients with FL
Table 4-2: Cytokines in heat map and clinical features    130
Table 5-1: Demographic and baseline characteristics of study cohort according to CMV status
Table 5-2: Descriptive table of intensities of cellular infiltrates in the FL microenvironment
determined by immunofluorescence
Table 6-1: Baseline clinicopathological characteristics of the overall trial cohort according to
CMV status
Table 6-2: A summary of percentage of patients who experienced specific toxicities in the three
cohorts
Table 6-3: A summary of percentage episodes of specific toxicities reported in the three cohorts.
Table 7-1: Summary of the relationship between CMV-dependent biological variables and
treatment efficacy
Table 8-1: Serum cytokines differentially expressed due to CMV infection    232

# **Glossary of Abbreviations**

<sup>51</sup> Cr	Chromium 51
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
AEs	Adverse Events
AF488	Alexa Fluor® 488
AF647	Alexa Fluor® 647
APC	Allophycocyanin (dye)
APCs	Antigen-presenting cells (cells)
BCR	B-cell receptor
BV	Brilliant Violet
CA	Captured antibodies
CCL3	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3
CCL4	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 4
CCR7	Chemokine (C-C Motif) Receptor 7
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CDC	Complement-dependent cytotoxicity
CHOP	Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin (hydroxydaunomycin),
	vincristine (Oncovin ®) and prednisolone (a steroid)
CIRS	Cumulative Illness Rating Scale
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia
CMI	Cell-mediated immunity
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CNS	Central nervous system
CR	Complete remission
CRP	C-reactive protein
CS & T	Cytometer Setup and Tracking
CTLA4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4
CTLs	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DAs	Detection antibodies
DAPI	4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole [fluorescent stain]
DCs	Dendritic cells
DLBCL	Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
EBV	Epstein–Barr virus
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ELISpot	Enzyme-Linked ImmunoSpot
EPHA7	Ephrin type-A receptor 7
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FcyR III	Fc γ Receptor –III
FDCs	Follicular dendritic cells
FFPE	Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded

FGF-basic	Basic fibroblast growth factor
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FL	Follicular lymphoma
FLIPI	Follicular Lymphoma International Prognostic Index
FOXP3	Forkhead box protein-3
GCBs	Germinal-centre B cells
GCLP	Good Clinical Laboratory Practice
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
hABs	human AB serum
Hb	Haemoglobin
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HEV	High endothelial venules
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HHV	Human herpes virus
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HLA-DR	Human Leukocyte Antigen - antigen D Related
HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
HRP	The enzyme horseradish peroxidase
hs-CRP	High-sensitivity C-reactive protein
HSCT	Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation
IF	Immunofluorescence
IFN-γ	Interferon γ
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IP-10	Interferon $\gamma$ -induced protein 10
IQR	Interquartile range
iTreg cells	Induced Regulatory T cells
KLRG1	co-inhibitory receptor killer-cell lectin like receptor G1
LAG-3	Lymphocyte-activation gene 3
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LNs	Lymph Nodes
MCL	Mantle cell lymphoma
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MIP-1α	Macrophage inflammatory protein $-1\alpha$
MIP-1β	Macrophage Inflammatory Protein -1 $\beta$
MSC	Myeloid suppressor cells
NCRI	National Cancer Research Institute
NDS	Normal Donkey Serum
NHL	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma
NK cells	Natural Killer cells
NKR	NK cell receptor

NKT cells	Natural killer T cells
Non CR	Non-complete remission
OOR	Out of Range
OS	Overall survival
PACIFICO	Purine-Alkylator Combination In Follicular lymphoma
	Immuno-Chemotherapy for Older patients
PALS	Periarteriolar lymphoid sheaths
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCa	Prostate cancer
PD	Progressive disease
PD1	Programmed cell death protein 1
PD-ECGF	Platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PDGF-C	Platelet-derived growth factor-C
PE	Phycoerythrin
pE-1, 2	pre-Effector -1, 2
PerCp	Peridinin-chlorophyll proteins
PFS	Progression-free survival
PP65	Phosphoprotein 65
PR	Partial remission
PTC	Papillary thyroid cancer or papillary thyroid carcinoma
Qdots	Quantum dots
QNAT	Quantitative nucleic acid testing
R-CVP	Rituximab - cyclophosphamide, vincristine and prednisolone
R-FC	Rituximab - Fludarabine and chlorambucil
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute (medium)
SAEs	Severe Adverse Events
SD	Stable disease
sELISA	sandwich ELISA
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Science
t(14; 18)	Translocation of the BCL2 gene (18q21.3) to the IGH
	transcriptional enhancer, as a result of the $t(14;18)(q32;q21)$
TAMs	Tumour-associated macrophages
TBS/T	Tris-Buffered Saline and Tween 20
Tc	Cytotoxic T cell
T <sub>CM</sub>	Central memory T cells
TCR	T cell receptor
$T_{EM}$	Effector memory T cells
TEMRA	T effector memory re-expressing CD45RA cells
Tfh	Follicular helper T cells
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor $\beta$
T <sub>H</sub> cells	T-helper cells

TILs	Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes
TIM3	T-cell immunoglobulin domain and mucin domain 3
TM7s	Seven-transmembrane spanning receptors
TME	Tumour microenvironment
TNFRSF14	Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor Superfamily, Member 14
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor α
Tregs	Regulatory T cells
VDJ	Variable, diversity and joining genes
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

# **Chapter 1 : General Introduction**

#### **1.1 Introduction**

This section offers an overview of the thesis with a particular emphasis on the main components of the study. In this chapter, a detailed review of related literature of key areas linked to this study is presented. Such areas include follicular lymphoma (FL) and cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection, amongst other pertinent subthemes, with a direct relation to the rationale, goals and objectives of the study. Furthermore, this section offers a concise description of the depth and scope of study in addition to the research content and niche.

#### **1.2 Follicular Lymphoma**

Follicular lymphoma (FL) is part of a group of cancers called Non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL) which are a highly prevalent group of haematological cancers (Song et al., 2013). It is comprised of some closely linked lymphoid proliferative disorders emanating from the lymphoid tissues at various phases of differentiation; comprising of heterogeneously diverse immunophenotypic, morphologic, clinical and genetic properties (Gibson et al., 2013, Morton et al., 2008, Song et al., 2013). NHL is characterised by malignant transformation of the lymphoid cells, either mature or precursor cells, and it is one of the leading causes of cancer death (Morton et al., 2008, Nagai et al., 2008). World Health Organization (WHO) has categorised NHL into two main groups, based on cells of origin,: those of B-cell origin and those of Tcell/natural killer (NK)–cell origin (Norris and Stone, 2008). According to the 15th Cochrane Haematological malignancies biannual report, about 85 percent to 90 percent of NHL cases emanate from B-cells, such as, mantle cell lymphoma, FL, Burkitt lymphoma and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL); while the T-cell involved diseases include anaplastic large cell lymphoma and precursor Tlymphoblastic (Rancea et al., 2013). Although the aetiology of NHL is not clear, a growing body of evidence has listed certain viral and bacterial infections such as Epstein-Barr (EB), altered immune function and a considerable number of immunerelated gene polymorphisms and alterations as predisposing risk factors (Charbonneau et al., 2012, Gibson et al., 2013).

The second most prevalent NHL is FL, after Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL or DLBL) (Taskinen et al., 2007). Literature confirmed the clinical progression of FL as being highly indolent but characterised by incredibly diverse clinical outcomes (Kiaii et al., 2013). Despite the fact that FL is incurable, it can be managed with about 11.1 years being the average documented median survival (Staudt, 2007). Interestingly, many FL patients live for decades after the initial diagnosis without treatment; but in contrast, a proportion develops rapid disease progression with a short survival rate (Kiaii et al., 2013). Additionally, it has been estimated that more than 30 percent of patients suffering from follicular lymphoma undergo histologic transformation to DLBCL and elucidating the cause of the heterogeneity in FL would better inform the clinical management and treatment approaches thus improving the outlook for FL patients.

#### 1.2.1 The pathology of FL

From a morphological understanding, FL is described as the proliferation of malignant germinal centre B cells (GCBs) that are intermixed with non-malignant cells. The common non-malignant cells in the GC include the follicular dendritic cells (FDCs), T cells, and macrophages as well as centroblasts and centrocytes that represent the predominant cell types of the germinal centre reaction (Campo et al., 2011). The traditional grading method for FL utilises the relative proportion of

centrocytes to centroblasts, as its limits. Thus grade 1 FL has minimal centroblast numbers of 0-5 per high-power field while grade 3B FL is comprised of thick sheets of these cells (Kridel et al., 2012). However, the FL grading does not offer precise prognostic implications of disease as seen in several other malignancies. There is no satisfactory consensuson the characteristics of grade 3B FL, considering its similarity to de novo DLBCL and to some extent, the expression of different molecular features compared to grades 1–3A FL. There is also the case that, Grade 3B FL is frequently negative for t(14; 18) while inconsistently expressing CD10 (Salaverria and Siebert, 2011). The characteristic follicular growth pattern of FL can be revealed by staining for FDC markers, for instance, CD21 or CD23 (Kridel et al., 2012). Moreover, the disease's molecular hallmark is in the overexpression of anti-apoptotic BCL2. (Kridel et al., 2012) due to the translocation of t(14; 18) (q32; q21) identified by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) in 85 percentage of all patients. This translocation, therefore, is not critical or adequate for diagnosis, since it is missing in 15 percent of FLs and also present in approximately 20 to 30 percent of GCB-type DLBCLs (Salaverria and Siebert, 2011, Weiss et al., 1987).

#### 1.2.2 Cell of Origin of FL

The perceptions that the neoplastic cells are arranged in follicles, display germinal centre surface markers, for instance CD10 and BCL6, and have a characteristic gene expression profile of centroblasts or centroblasts (Alizadeh et al., 2000) provide that FL B-cells are capable of attaining a differentiation phase indicative of GCB cells (Küppers, 2005). The initial oncogenic cascade's hit resulting in FL is commonly associated with the t(14; 18), founded on the consistency of the genetic irregularity as well as its intended mode of action (Kridel et al., 2012). The occurrence of translocation takes place subsequent to a double-strand break within the

Immunoglobulin heavy (IGH) locus on chromosome 14 associated with faulty recombination-activating gene (RAG) -mediated VDJ recombination and a break at the BCL2 locus on chromosome 18 perceived to be connected to an intrinsic frailty at CpG sites (Tsai et al., 2008, Tsujimoto et al., 1985). The VDJ recombination takes place at an initial B cell growing phase in the bone marrow, and as a primary genetic hit, the t(14; 18) is equally likely to happen in the bone marrow but does not hinder additional differentiation. Colonization of secondary lymphoid tissue is undertaken by the naïve B cells expressing the t(14;18) upon exiting bone marrow, hence undertaking the germinal centre reaction although they hold survival benefit because of their BCL2 constitutive expression, which is typically not in the germinal centre (Roulland et al., 2011). BCL2 is equally capable of rescuing these cells from apoptosis because of weak BCR affinity (Roulland et al., 2011). Nevertheless, the appearance of a structurally and probably functionally conserved BCR appears critical as, regardless of the progressive somatic hypermutation, a discerning selection against adverse transformations in BCR is apparent (Bahler and Levy, 1992, Zuckerman et al., 2010). BCR signalling may be additionally activated by the interface of mannosylated immunoglobulin variable regions with lectins present on non-neoplastic immune cells' surface (Coelho et al., 2010). The primary FL progenitors subsequently attain secondary genetic modifications under the impact of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), the value of which has been demonstrated in a mouse model whereby genetic deletion of AID prevented BCL6-driven germinal centrederived lymphomas (Pasqualucci et al., 2008).

The present hypothesis that identifies naïve t(14;18)-positive peripheral B cells as likely tumour-triggering cells for FL pathogenesis is questioned by the findings that such cells have also been reported in the blood of 50 to 70 percent of healthy people who are not prone to acquiring FL (Dölken et al., 1996, Limpens et al., 1995, Schüler et al., 2009). The prevalence of FL plus the occurrence of t(14;18)-positive cells in healthy people rises with age (Schüler et al., 2009). Literature confirms that some of these cells are not naïve B cells, but rather germinal centre-experienced IgD+CD27+ (or IgM+CD27+) memory cells (Hirt et al., 2007, Roulland et al., 2006). Identical to true FL tumour cells, these alleged FL-like cells in healthy people demonstrate classswitch recombination of the translocated IGH allele, while the functional allele encodes a surface IgD (or IgM) (Kridel et al., 2012). The contribution of these FL-like cells to the pathogenesis of FL remains obscure. Nevertheless, originating lymphomainitiating cells ought to exist, as depicted by two FL reports on allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (Carlotti et al., 2009, Weigert et al., 2012). In a retrospective study, the t(14;18) was detected from the donor lymphocyte infusion as well as a small number of mutated alleles that correspond to 14 of the 15 gene mutations common between the recipient's and donor's tumours (Weigert et al., 2012). This study report suggests proof that the necessary lymphoma progenitor holds more intricate genetic variations than initially thought. The understanding of the origin of FL is additionally made complicated by the identification of a loosely defined component described as FL in situ, which has been suggested as a valid precursor cell on the grounds of relatively rare progression to overt FL (Cong et al., 2002, Jegalian et al., 2011).

#### 1.2.3 Genetic Landscape of FL

The understanding that BCL2 has anti-proliferative activities on top of its antiapoptotic characteristics (Zinkel et al., 2006) and that the t(14;18) is also present in healthy people (Dölken et al., 1996, Limpens et al., 1995, Schüler et al., 2009), suggests that BCL2 over-expression alone is not enough to activate lymphomagenesis. Furthermore, over-expression of BCL2 in transgenic mouse models does not recapitulate FL pathogenesis. In the inventive  $E\mu$ -*BCL2* reproduction, mice established follicular hyperplasia and, upon prolonged latencies, elevated-grade lymphomas that were evidently not indicative of FL (McDonnell and Korsmeyer, 1991). Egle et al. established a VavP-*BCL2* mouse model whereby BCL2 was overexpressed and controlled by pan-haematopoietic VavP promoter (Egle et al., 2004). The mice developed lymphomas that had common morphological characteristics with FL, however, the high *BCL2* transgene expression present in the T cell region illustrated a condition absent in FL (Egle et al., 2004). The consideration that clonal cytogenetic eccentricities, copy number variations, as well as uniparental disomy, are identified in FL and offers extra support to the idea that further genetic alterations add to FL pathogenesis (Kridel et al., 2012).

In addition to the t(14;18) translocation, other chromosomal abnormalities comprise of non-random 1p36 and 6q losses in addition to 7, 18, and X gains (Cheung et al., 2009, Horsman et al., 2001, Johnson et al., 2008, Schwaenen et al., 2009). Of late, there has been a positive outcome of insight regarding dominant players after a thorough assessment of candidate genes within such areas. For instance, considering the 1p36 region that is highly targeted by copy-neutral loss of heterozygosity as well as heterozygous deletions, the *TNFRSF14* gene was found being repeatedly mutated (Cheung et al., 2010, Launay et al., 2012). Two studies found that mutations in the *TNFRSF14* gene (Cheung et al., 2010, Launay et al., 2012) lead to a truncated protein in 57% of *TNFRSF14* mutations regardless of its transmembrane domain, causing a reduction in surface expression. TNFRSF14 mutations offered the initial evidence of the connection between FL genetics and the associated microenvironment. Although a collection of ligands bind TNFRSF14, the receptor can carry both stimulatory and inhibitory signals to T cells irrespective of ligand, which warrants further investigation to illuminate the functions of these mutations in FL pathogenesis.

Frequently deleted regions on the long arm of chromosome 6 (6q) (Oricchio et al., 2011), are increased in FL which is associated with the poor prognosis (Cheung et al., 2009). It was evident that a negative NF- $\kappa$ B signalling regulator identified as TNFAIP3/A20, and a receptor tyrosine kinase EPHA7, were potential tumour suppressors in FL (Oricchio et al., 2011). Additionally, the studies illustrated that silencing EPHA7 resulted in an increase in lymphomagenesis in VavP-BCL2 transgenic mice while restoring its suppressor function of the tumour via exogenous EPHA7 administration hindered the formation of tumour in xenograft models. A model whereby EPHA2 is bound by EPHA7 on the cell surface of lymphoma is proposed by these authors, hence avoiding any signalling activation via extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) in addition to other proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein (SRC) kinases. Furthermore, the researchers revealed that expression of EPHA7 was lacking by immunohistochemistry in 72% of FL cases for a tissue microarray and hypothesised that any lack of protein expression transpired via genomic deletions plus promoter methylation, harmonising with earlier results from Dawson et al. (Dawson et al., 2007).

High-throughput sequencing approaches have elevated the rapidity of cancer research to an exceptional level. The mutational landscape of FL has been recently revealed using whole-genome or whole-exome sequencing, in a combination of targeted deep sequencing (Okosun et al., 2014). Recurrent mutations in genes involving in linker histone, JAK-STAT signalling, NF- $\kappa$ B signalling and B cell developmental, are unequivocal evidence for a reservoir ancestral population, enriched in early mutations in driver genes, including CREBBP, EZH2 and KMT2D (MLL2). Other mutations, such as EBF1, MYD88 and TNFAIP3, are acquired subsequently and propagate successive disease events. Although no single compelling genetic event has been identified to be responsible for FL transformation, the acquisition of distinct genetic alterations in ancestral common progenitor clone may prompt the onset of aggressive disease and resistance to therapies.

The mutational environment among nodal lymphomas has hitherto been precisely stipulated and described in DLBCL and, to a minor level, in FL (Lohr et al., 2012, Morin et al., 2011, Pasqualucci et al., 2011a, Pasqualucci et al., 2011b). Unpredictably, it was revealed that germinal centre-derived lymphomas are defined by recurrent alterations of histone-modifying genes. Specifically, in FL repeated mutations have been revealed in EZH2 (7.2%), histone methyltransferases MLL2 (89%), EP300 (8.7%), the histone acetylases CREBBP (32.6%) and MEF2B (15.3%) (Morin et al., 2010, Morin et al., 2011, Pasqualucci et al., 2011a). The increased repetitive occurrence of such mutations demonstrates how FL is possibly epigenomic in addition to the genomic disorder (Baylin and Jones, 2011). Arguably, the bestcharacterised lymphoma histone-modifying gene, EZH2, is the catalytic component of the polycomb suppressive complex 2. Tyr641 mutations within EZH2 SET domain have been found in 22 percent of GCB-like DLBCLs and 7 percent of FLs, resulting to enhanced histone H3 Lys27 trimethylation (H3K27me3) (Morin et al., 2011, Sneeringer et al., 2010, Yap et al., 2011). The result regarding the upregulation of EZH2 in B cells within germinal centre reaction (van Galen et al., 2004) provides that any activation in EZH2 mutations results in a transcriptional outcome supporting proliferation. Anti-proliferative genes, EZH2-mediated silencing, was consequently highlighted in typical centroblasts (Velichutina et al., 2010), offering additional back

up to the concept that FL can subvert the GCB cells' normal functional gene expression program. Regardless of our increased comprehension of genetic aberrations in FL within the last few years, there is an urgent need for future studies to facilitate a wide mutational database of all genetic variations resulting in tumourigenesis.

#### **1.3 The tumour microenvironment**

The tumour microenvironment (TME) undoubtedly acts as a survival factor, with a close and steady relationship between the tumour and its immediate surroundings usually infiltrated by inflammatory cells (Balkwill and Mantovani, 2001, Mihm Jr et al., 1996, Whiteside and Parmiani, 1994). Paradoxically, tumours can affect the microenvironment through the release of extracellular signals that promote tumour angiogenesis that compels peripheral immune tolerance; while conversely, the accessory immune cells are capable of impacting the development and exacerbation of cancer cells. Regardless of the condition, such inflammatory cell infiltrates are capable of varying in amount as well as composition from one tumour to another. Hitherto, the existence of cellular infiltrates in the cancer environment is indicative of endeavours to interfere with the progression of the tumour in a process identified as immune surveillance (Zitvogel et al., 2006). Tumour inflammatory infiltrates are deemed as the host's effort to identify the growing tumour cells, attack and remove them (Zitvogel et al., 2006). Several reports have associated the existence of inflammatory infiltrates in human tumours to enhanced prognosis or improved patient survival (Baxevanis et al., 1994, Whiteside, 2007). Multiple analyses of immune markers, inclusive of microarrays and heat maps; provide that type, location and density of tumour's immune cells can confer prognostic assessment (Galon et al., 2006, Galon et al., 2007, Pagès et al., 2005). In contrast, several reports have justified

the absence of considerable connections between the intensity of lymphocytic infiltrates and enhanced prognosis or associated immune cell infiltrates to an inferior prognosis (Nakano et al., 2001, Sheu et al., 1999, Stewart and Tsai, 1993). These contradictory reports remained unexplained for years until recently it became possible to explore functional properties of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL), which often represents the major component of immune infiltrates in tumours (Mihm Jr et al., 1996). In general, TIL in humans demonstrate reduced proliferation following antigens or mitogens stimulation, diminished signalling via T cell receptor and declined capacity to arbitrate cytotoxicity of tumour targets or to generate Th1-type cytokines after tumour antigens simulation (Kiessling et al., 1996, Reichert et al., 2002, Uzzo et al., 1999), as illustrated in Figure 3-11. TIL's functional impairments occur more frequently in patients that have chronic cancer than in early disease, while they seem to differ in the frequency as well as magnitude, depending on the kind of tumour or its originating tissue. The functional status of TIL has been argued to be an independent and significant correlate of good prognosis and long-term survival among cancer patients (Reichert et al., 1998). With the rapid improvements in the techniques of studying functions and characteristics of tissue infiltrating immune cells, plus the understanding of their local interactions with other cells, the part played by the microenvironment in health and disease is better understood. A thorough multivariate examination of cellular interrelations in the tumour microenvironment founded on the function, nature, location, and density of the immune cells present in human colorectal cancers revealed how clinical outcome can be affected by immune responses within the tumour (Galon et al., 2006, Galon et al., 2007, Pagès et al., 2005). From the present understanding, tumour microenvironment is perceived in a manner that it exerts an effecton tumour development and growth and that adjusting this attribute could likely present exceptional therapeutic gains.

#### 1.3.1 Cellular components of the tumour microenvironment

For a growing tumour, the microenvironment is composed largely of the tumour stroma, proliferating tumour cells, infiltrating inflammatory cells, blood vessels and a number of related tissue cells (Whiteside, 2008). It is a distinctive environment that develops during tumour growth resulting from its relations with the host (Whiteside, 2008). It is generated by and constantly shaped and overlooked by the tumour, which coordinates cellular and molecular events transpiring within the nearby tissues (Whiteside, 2008). A range of effector immune cells from the innate arm of the immunity; polymorphonuclear leukocytes and macrophages have been identified in the tumour, as well as mediators of the adaptive arm including T lymphocytes and dendritic cells (DC) and infrequently B cells, (Whiteside, 2007). Natural killer (NK) cells are rarely seen in tumours, acting as a critical first line of defence against a wide range of pathogens eliciting innate immune responses (Whiteside et al., 1998, Lanier, 2003, Wang et al., 2013). Tumour cells downregulate the expression of HLA antigens in addition to being enriched in MHC class I chain-related genes (MICB and MICA molecules) (Chang et al., 2005) which make them vulnerable to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity (Lee et al., 2004); their scarcity in tumour infiltrates may be an example of the circumvention technique to avoid NK-cell attraction to the tumour location.

Normally, TILs comprise of some CD3+CD4+and CD3+CD8+T cell populations and are an essential component of the tumour microenvironment (Whiteside, 2007). Several of these T cells are particular for tumour-associated antigens, as evident from clonal evaluation (Miescher et al., 1987) as well examination of the CD8+T cells tetramer staining isolated from human tumours (Albers et al., 2005). In a few types of tumours, e.g. medullary breast carcinomas, lymph node-like structures are formed by the infiltrating lymphocytes, implying that there is an immune response in situ (Coronella et al., 2002). Additionally, TILs are the basis for specificity of tumour lymphocytes employed in adoptive transfers upon expansion in IL-2-containing cultures (Zhou et al., 2004). Clones of TILs with the specific characteristics to a high multiplicity of the tumour-associated antigen can be expanded from human tumours, affirming that immune reactions are not simply directed at 'specific' antigens expressed by the tumour, but equally at a variety of representative or tissue-specific antigens (Romero et al., 2006). Even though the increase in effector T cells in the tumour microenvironment would be seen as an indication of immune surveillance by the host, they are mostly futile in controling tumour growth. Of the CD4+T cells in the tumour microenvironment, a subpopulation of CD4+CD25high Foxp3+cells is increased to about 5-15% of CD3+CD4+T cells of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes compared to the small numbers reported in the circulating peripheral blood of cancer patients (Woo et al., 2001). These regulatory T cells (Tregs) can suppress the proliferation of other T cells within the microenvironment by contact-dependent mechanisms or TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10 secretion. There are different subtypes of Tregs, for instance, the natural Treg (nTreg) and induced Treg (iTreg), and characterised microenvironment in human tumours (Bergmann et al., 2007). Macrophages present in tumours are known as tumour associated macrophages (TAMs). They are reprogrammed to inhibit lymphocyte functions through release of inhibitory cytokines such as IL-10, prostaglandins or reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Mantovani et al., 2002, Mosser and Edwards, 2008). The myeloid suppressor cells accumulating in human tumours are CD34+CD33+CD13+CD15(-) bone marrow-derived undeveloped dendritic cells (Serafini et al., 2006). Mesenchymal stromal stem cells (MSCs) promote tumour development and restrains functions of immune cells via abundant generation of an enzyme arginase 1 involved in L-arginine metabolism. Arginase 1 synergizes with inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) with the intent of enhancing the production of superoxide and NO, thus dampening the lymphocyte responses (Ochoa et al., 2007). This mechanism will also enhance the induction of inducible oxygen species (iNOS) in neighbouring cells (Tsai et al., 2007). A study illustrates the expansion of CD14+HLA-DR-/low myeloid-generated cells adopting immune inhibition via TGF- $\beta$  secretion within the peripheral circulation of patients undergoing treatment for metastatic melanoma using GM-CSF-based vaccines (Filipazzi et al., 2007). The tumour coordinates MSC's recruitment to the tumour location. Some factors produced by tumours, which support MSC accumulation as well as preventing DC maturation plus lymphocyte functions include VEGF, IL-10, and GM-CSF (Serafini et al., 2006).

Granulocytes are seldom seen in infiltrates of human tumours, with the exception of eosinophils that may exist in association with tumour cells in different squamous cell tumour (Loukinova et al., 2000). Evasion of the tumour from the host occurs through the capacity of human tumours to destabilise antitumour immunity by downregulating or entirely supressing local and systemic innate immunity as well as adaptive antitumour immunity via a range of methods (Whiteside, 2008).

#### **1.3.2 The FL microenvironment**

In most instances, the microenvironment in FL is the lymph node (Yang and Ansell, 2012b). Structurally, the lymph node is compartmentalised into the outer region (the cortex), the paracortex, and the inner region (the medulla). It is within the cortex that follicles containing germinal centres (GCs) are found. The various immune accessory cells in the FL microenvironment live strategically in the different zones within the

compartments (Katakai et al., 2004). For instance, T cells are primarily located in the medulla and paracortex compartments whereas B cells occupy the follicles of the cortex (Yang and Ansell, 2012b).

Following antigenic challenge, B and T cells migrate to follicles in lymph nodes and the T-cell zone where they interact with antigen presenting cells (APCs) and experience clonal expansion (von Andrian and Mempel, 2003). To initiate primary immune responses, FDCs present antigen to B cells and are only present in follicles of primary and secondary lymph organs (von Andrian and Mempel, 2003). However, before antigen encounter, the follicle is comprised mainly of naïve B cells with no GC for B cell maturation. Following antigenic stimulation, GCs are developed in the follicles and drive the differentiation of B cells into plasma cells that secrete immunoglobulins (Calame, 2001). Despite the understanding that most T cells live outside of the follicle, the follicular T helper ( $T_{FH}$ ) cells live in the GCs and arean essential subcategory of CD4+ T cells for antigen-dependent activation of B cells.

In FL, the structure and the cellular content of the follicles are different from the normal lymph node as a result of the enlargement of GC caused by the expanding quantities of B lymphoma cells (Amé-Thomas et al., 2007). An alteration in the cellular distribution can be studied in tissue biopsies from FL lymph nodes and relate to those of normal lymph nodes. For instance, an elevated number of Treg cells and reduced effector T cells, such as TH17 and TH1 cells characterise follicular content in FL. A lot of the effector T cells present in the tumour microenvironment of FL have an exhausted phenotype and display reduced functional potential, as well as the presence of elevated numbers of naïve immune suppressive macrophages. These changes have all been shown to possibly influence antitumoral immunity and support lymphoma cell survival and development in FL. Intratumoral T cells in Follicular

lymphoma is portrayed by the presence of a high number of T cells, up to half of the total number of cell content in the tumour microenvironment. These intratumoral lymphocytes substantially affect antitumor resistance and patient outcome (Dave et al., 2004). T cells are heterogeneous and impact tumour immunity in both a negative and positive manner, which is contingent upon the mix of the different T-cell types inside the microenvironment. For the most part, high quantities of intratumoral T cells are connected with positive prognosis in patients with FL, (Wahlin et al., 2011).

#### 1.4 T-lymphocytes

#### 1.4.1 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC)

MHC molecules are surface peptide receptors of the immune system that permit T lymphocytes to recognise antigens (Kindt et al., 2007, Savill and Fadok, 2000, Murphy, 2011). Their crystal structures contain a groove which is occupied by a short peptide specific to an antigen that allows for immune recognition (Falk et al., 1991). For example, after a macrophage engulfs bacteria, it partially digests it and presents peptide particles of the microorganism on its surface, attached to MHC molecules (Chaplin, 2010, Abbas et al., 2014). The T lymphocytes recognise the foreign particle attached to the MHC molecule and binds to it, activating an immune response (Benacerraf, 1978). Within healthy cells, the MHC molecule displays peptides from its cell (self-peptides) and the T cells do not usually respond to them (Matzinger, 1994).

There are two major categories of MHC molecules: The MHC class I molecules are ligands for inhibiting or stimulating natural killer (NK) cell receptors displayed on T cells and NK cells (Bauer et al., 1999, Karabekian et al., 2015). They are carried on the majority of nucleated cells, including cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts. This class I molecule contain a heterodimer of a highly polymorphic  $\alpha$  heavy chain, non-
covalently associated with a conserved light chain called  $\beta$ -2 microglobulin. On the other hand, MHC class II molecules are a family of molecules mainly expressed by professional APCs, such as dendritic cells (DC), mononuclear phagocytes, some endothelial cells, thymic epithelial cells, and B cells and composed of two polypeptide chains an  $\alpha$  and a  $\beta$  chain of approximately equal length (Matzinger, 1994, Rock et al., 2016).

To efficiently attack and eradicate foreign bodies including those contained within or on bacteria, viruses, other microorganisms, or cancer cells; T-cells have to recognise the antigenic peptides presented on the surface of the cells (Larsson et al., 2001, Höftberger et al., 2004). Antigens from endogenously manufactured proteins within the cytosol are attached to MHC class I molecules and are identified by CD8 positive T-cells, while peptides internalised through the process of endocytosis and produced within vesicles are attached to MHC class II molecules and identified by CD4 positive T-cells (Larsson et al., 2001).

# 1.4.2 Activation of Naïve T cells

The naïve T cells are programmed to recognise antigens only in the T cell zones of the secondary lymphoid tissues, and for this reason, initiation of the immune response depends upon transport of antigen to these areas from the site of infection (Cyster, 2005, von Andrian and Mempel, 2003). Naïve T cells leave the thymus and continually migrate between secondary lymphoid organs (spleen, lymph nodes, and Peyer's patches) (Gowans and Knight, 1964, Picker and Butcher, 1992, Butcher and Picker, 1996) entering the circulation as resting cells in the  $G_0$  stage of the cell cycle (Tough and Sprent, 1994). However, naïve T cells can only make contact with antigen within the secondary lymphoid organs. After the antigen has been taken up by cells it is processed into immunogenic peptides as the cells migrate to the secondary

lymphoid tissues. En route the cells may differentiate into mature dendritic cells (DC), and localise in the T cell zones expressing antigen peptides on the MHC molecules (Sprent and Surh, 2002) for the naïve T-cells to recognise.

The first admission of T cells to the spleen is nonspecific; along the splenic artery. The cells (and antigens) travel through the splenic trabeculae artery into the trabeculae and empties into the marginal zone at the margin of the white and red pulp (Steiniger et al., 2001). After that, the T (and B) cells move selectively to the white pulp in which they accumulate around central arterioles; these regions known as the periarteriolar lymphocyte sheaths (PALS) are the key T cell area within the spleen (Kraal, 1992, Van Ewijk and Nieuwenhuis, 1985, Gunn et al., 1998a). Even though the process through which T cells move into PALS from the marginal zone is not indistinct, it is noteworthy that activated T cells without the chemokine receptor CCR7, enter the red pulp but are barred from the white pulp (Potsch et al., 1999). Therefore, T cell entry into the white pulp might be directed by CCR7 recognition of distinct chemokines expressed on stromal cells (Cyster, 2005). After around 12 h, immature T cells migrate from the PALS into the red pulp and depart the spleen through venous blood (Sprent and Surh, 2002). Quite the opposite to the spleen, admission of T cells into Peyer's patches and lymph nodes is extremely precise and happens once cells go into high endothelial venules (HEV) (Miyasaka and Tanaka, 2004, von Andrian and Mempel, 2003, Sprent and Surh, 2002). With respect to lymph nodes, the luminal surface of HEV expresses peripheral node addressin (PNAd) (Berg et al., 1991) and CCL21 (SLC), a chemokine (Gunn et al., 1998b). These ligands are identified by two lymph node homing receptors on T cells, CD62L and CCR7 correspondingly (Rosen, 2004, Weninger et al., 2001, Cavanagh and Von Andrian, 2002). The lymph node homing receptors facilitate T cells to attach to and enter the

walls of HEV and arrive at the T cell zone, the paracortex. The T cells then migrate out of the paracortex and depart lymph nodes through efferent lymphatic vessels, followed by re-admission into the bloodstream through the thoracic vessel (Girard et al., 2012, Förster et al., 2012). This course of blood-to-lymph recirculation via lymph nodes takes around 12–18 hours (Sprent, 1973).

The constant migration of T cells via the secondary lymphoid organs is extremely significant for permitting T cells to create an active contact with antigens discharged from pathogens (Sprent and Tough, 2001). The antigens released are presented to T cells in the form of peptide fragments bound to MHC molecules (Berczi and Szentivanyi, 2003). For naïve T cells, these immunogenic peptide/MHC complexes have to be presented by specialised APCs, primarily by dendritic cells (Steinman, 1991, Inaba et al., 1990). These cells are strategically located as a compact system in the T cell zones and are constantly scrutinized by recirculating T cells for expression of foreign peptides (Banchereau and Steinman, 1998). Because naïve T cells are mainly tolerant to self-components, they overlook the self-peptide/MHC complexes on normal dendritic cells. As a result, T cells are permitted to permeate gradually through the T cell area and then re-enter the bloodstream for further recirculation. Throughout their usual course of blood-to-lymph recirculation, immature T cells are metabolically dormant and have a long life span (von Boehmer and Hafen, 1993, Weng et al., 1995). However, the durability of immature T cells is dependent on constant contact with at minimum two outer ligands, known as self-peptide/MHC compounds on dendritic (Ernst et al., 1999) and IL-7 (Martínez et al., 2015). The recognition of these ligands most probably delivers low-level signals that maintain T cells to prevent apoptosis.

It is well accepted that cessation of the primary response is followed by a broad-scale loss of effector cells. The elimination of effector cells following the clearance of pathogens makes sense since leaving these cells to remain would overload the immune system with non-functional cells, resulting in lymphoid hypertrophy and traffic congestion and thus compromise the response of naïve T cells to novel pathogens (Sprent and Surh, 2002).

## 1.4.3 Memory T cells

Following exposure to infectious agents or cancerous cells, a state of immunological memory is attained. Thus the memory acquired by antigen-specific T and B cells is frequently enduring (Sprent and Surh, 2002). Primarily, immune responses to antigenic challenge might be categorised into primary or secondary reactions. The primary immune response to antigen happens on the initial encounter with a foreign body and results in the formation of memory cells with extremely high avidity and specificity for the stimulating antigen. After this first experience, antigen-specific CD4 T-cells and CD8 T-cells display an improved performance in providing support to B cells by producing cytokines and other stimulatory factors and the production of a vast number of antigen-specific cells that can directly kill infected cells accordingly. This phase of response can be said to be a secondary response which moreover are more robust compared to primary responses (Ahmed and Gray, 1996).

Signals from the T cell receptor (TCR) due to large doses of peptide antigen attached to MHC class II molecules on APCs are critical for the activation of naïve CD4 T cells and their transition to memory and effector cells (Swain et al., 1999, Rogers et al., 1998). It has been reported that transport of effectors, produced in vitro from immature CD4 T cells to adoptive hosts leads to the growth of lifelong memory CD4 although no additional antigen is added (Swain, 1994). Diverse strengths of TCR interplay with peptide-MHC are required for T cell response at different steps of T cell differentiation and can influence different outcomes. It has been demonstrated that immature CD8 T-cells within class I– deficient mice (Tanchot et al., 1997) and immature CD4 T cells in class II– deficient mice (Takeda et al., 1996, Murali-Krishna et al., 1999, Rooke et al., 1997) have abridged life-spans that suggest that interactions between MHC and TCR increase the life span of naïve T cell. Immature CD4 T cells need high avidity or intense TCR interactions for the induction of cytokine synthesis while effector and memory cells react effectively at lesser avidity/ intensity (Dubey et al., 1996). Therefore, memory and effector cells might be expected to overcome this MHC dependence.

Memory CD8 T cells are a significant constituent of long-standing immunity due to their prolonged persistence and their unique capability to quickly enlarge their numbers and generate cytotoxic molecules and antiviral cytokines following second antigen encounter (Kaech et al., 2002). Throughout the majority of infections, most of the antigen-specific CD8 T cells produced by clonal unidentified, and particularly the process that decides which of the antigen-specific CD8 T cells will remain and convert into memory cells and which will die has yet to be clarified (Kaech et al., 2003). This quest has been stalled mostly due to lack of authoritative markers that differentiate among the two cellular fates of survival or death. A classic CD8 T cell and differentiation; reduction in effector cell; and stabilisation and preservation of the memory cell numbers (Kaech et al., 2003).

Memory T cells are quite suitable to fight pathogens since they exist in greater numbers compared to naïve cells, they persevere for long periods because of the antigen-independent homeostatic turnover, and they react speedily on a reencounter

20

with a pathogen (Kaech et al., 2002). By their anatomical location, two subgroups of memory T cells were defined, the composition of cell surface markers and consequence of expansion die following antigen removal, and the surviving cells turn into the long-lasting memory cell population (Busch et al., 1998, Murali-Krishna et al., 1998). Central memory cells ( $T_{CM}$ ) refer to a class of T cells that express molecules such like CCR7 and CD62L, which facilitate effective homing to lymph nodes (LNs). On the other hand, memory T-cells that do not express the LN homing receptors resident within non-lymphoid organs are called effector memory cells ( $T_{EM}$ ). Nevertheless, both T cell subtypes are available in the spleen and blood. Some studies have as well demonstrated that  $T_{EM}$  obtains effector roles such like cytokine secretion and killing, more rapidly compared to  $T_{CM}$  (Sallusto et al., 1999, Masopust et al., 2001, Reinhardt et al., 2001). Wherry et al. have been able to demonstrate that  $T_{CM}$  has a greater capacity to persevere in Vivo than  $T_{EM}$  and are more proficient in mediating defensive immunity due to their enhanced proliferative potential (Wherry et al., 2003b).

## 1.4.4 The T cell surface markers

Cell surface markers are proteins on the surface of cells and act as markers for recognition. TLymphocytes separate into numerous cell subtypes, essential for biological functions. Throughout lymphocyte differentiation diverse surface receptors are expressed that can recognise cellular subtypes and ligands. Improper cellular proportions of differentiated leukocytes, such like the comparative quantities of  $T_H1$  and  $T_H2$  cells, take place in pathophysiological circumstances such like autoimmunity (Pitkänen, 2005). The presence of cell surface markers can likewise figure out whether a cell type expresses the particular receptor essential for a biological response. Testing for surface marker expression is likewise fundamental in

determining whether a trial medication or ligand will be recognised by the cell type of interest (Wingender and Kronenberg, 2015). The expression of diverse combinations of chemokine receptors can be employed to name specific T helper subsets (Zhu et al., 2010), and through the secretion of a particular combination of cytokines, the subsets of T helper can define the ongoing immunological state (Wingender and Kronenberg, 2015).

Identification of antigen by the immune mechanism elicits a coordinate number of variations in lymphocyte and lymphocyte subtypes that enable the system (a) to eradicate or neutralise likely dangerous pathogens and (b) to react faster and suitably following repeated antigen encounter in a process known as immunological memory. Inside the T cell compartment of the lymph node, immature T cells, memory T cells, and effector T cells can be discerned. Practically, memory T cells have various qualities that differentiate them from naïve T cells. Not just do they react effectively to recall antigens; memory T cells likewise have less stringent prerequisites for activation and can possibly discharge a broad range of cytokines (Merkenschlager et al., 1988, Byrne et al., 1988, Picker et al., 1995). Also, naïve and memory T cells vary in the expression of numerous cell surface antigens (Sanders et al., 1988) though it is not clear if these markers can be regarded as valid memory markers or if they indicate cellular stimulation (Michie et al., 1992).

Studies have reported phenotypic differences between effector, naïve, and memory T cells that showed that with relation to immature T cells, cytotoxic T lymphocyte effectors have downregulated the lymph node homing receptor, CD62L (L-selectin) whereas expression of CD44, CD11a/CD18, CD11b, and CD49d are increased in expression (Hamann et al., 1997). In contrast to effector T cells, memory T cells have

varied levels of CD62L expression and do not possess CD11b on their surface; they nevertheless display an intermediate CD49d expression. Studies have demonstrated that memory, naïve and effector kind of cells can be differentiated with the combination of functional and phenotypic characteristics (Hamann et al., 1997).

Models have been used to assist in defining populations and subpopulations of CD4 as well as CD8 T cells sequential progression from naïve to terminally differentiated effector memory (TEMRA) populations. For instance, this study adopts a classic differentiation system showing cell types: Naïve >> Central Memory >> Effector Memory-1 >> Effector Memory- 2 >> pre-Effector -1 >> pre-Effector -2 >> Effector Memory-4 >> Effector Memory-3 >> Effector end-stage non-proliferative effector cells. These phases of cell development have been identified using relevant markers and in combination with proliferation and cytokine secretion assays (Koch et al., 2008b, Mojumdar et al., 2012, Alves et al., 2007). Consequently, the presence of specific T cell types and expressions of cell surface markers have been useful as prognostic tools, for example, an elevated number of peripheral T cells has often been reported in CLL patients, which is largely as a result of increased frequency of CD8+ T cells and lowering the CD4/CD8 ratio (Zaknoen and Kay, 1990). Also, the capacity to elicit an effective immune response against novel pathogens depends on the availability of circulating naïve T cells, hence shortage of naïve T cells is blamed for the increased susceptibility to infectious and malignant diseases, as well as impaired vaccine efficacy among the older persons (Briceño et al., 2016).

Within the peripheral blood, a subpopulation of CD4  $T_{CM}$  cells expressing CXC chemokine receptor 5 (CXCR5) is essential for antibody production (Chevalier et al., 2011, Morita et al., 2011, Vinuesa and Cook, 2011). These cells have been referred to as peripheral T follicular helper cells (pTfh) because they share functional features

with germinal centre-Tfh and can help B cells to generate antibodies through promotion of somatic hypermutation and class-switch recombination (Crotty, 2011, Chevalier et al., 2011, Morita et al., 2011, Vinuesa and Cook, 2011). As a standard method in numerous laboratories, flow cytometry plays a pivotal role in identifying Tcell populations in comparison with single-parametric analysis (Chen and Cherian, 2013). Immunohistochemistry (IHC) and immunofluorescence (IF) give outstanding immunophenotyping methods employed to identify the comparative abundance and location of protein biomarkers within fixed cells.

# 1.4.5 T cell exhaustion

T cell exhaustion has for a long time been defined as a dysfunction and subsequent physical elimination of antigen-specific T cells throughout chronic viral infection in mice (Zajac et al., 1998, Gallimore et al., 1998, Jiang et al., 2015). Accordingly, exhausted T cells may be described as a condition of T-cell dysfunction in a chronic setting leading to reduced cytokine expression and effector function (Jiang et al., 2015). Typically, exhausted T cells demonstrate high degrees of inhibitory receptors such as programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), T-cell immunoglobulin domain and mucin domain protein 3 (TIM-3), lymphocyte activation gene 3 protein (LAG-3). Other markers of exhaustion include T-cell immunoglobulin and immunoreceptor tyrosine-founded inhibitory motif domain (TIGIT), band T lymphocyte attenuator (BTLA) and cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) (Barber et al., 2006, Jin et al., 2010, Crawford and Wherry, 2009, Blackburn et al., 2009, Fourcade et al., 2012, Joller et al., 2011). T cell exhaustion has been shown in a broad assortment of animal models and humans having chronic bacterial, viral, and parasitic infections, as well as in human tumours (Virgin et al., 2009, Baitsch et al., 2011). Exhausted T cells have been demonstrated to represent a discrete phase of T cell differentiation. . Two points are considered to help understand the T cell exhaustion phenomenon. The foremost is the perception that both extrinsic negative regulatory pathways, for instance, immunoregulatory cytokines and cell-intrinsic negative regulatory courses, such as PD-1 play essential functions in exhaustion.

## 1.4.6 Effector function during T cell exhaustion

The exhausted CD8+ T cells were initially discovered during chronic Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus (LCMV) infection of virus-specific, tetramer-positive CD8+ T cells that do not generate cytokines (Zajac et al., 1998). Functional impairment in the course of the T cell exhaustion has been portrayed to adopt a stepwise pattern (Virgin et al., 2009, Wherry et al., 2003a, Wherry and Ahmed, 2004, Fuller and Zajac, 2003), for instance IL-2 generation, high proliferative capability, and ex vivo killing aspects of memory T cells are the initial set of functions that are impaired. Other qualities, including the capacity to generate Tumour Necrosis Factor (TNF), are frequently lost at more intermediate phases of dysfunction (Wherry, 2011). Severe exhaustion ultimately results in virus-specific cells that partly or, in some situations, fully lacks the capacity to generate good quantities of interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ),  $\beta$ chemokines or the capacity to degranulate. The last phase of exhaustion is physical elimination of virus-specific T cells (Moskophldis et al., 1993, Wherry et al., 2003a, Zajac et al., 1998). Severe CD8+ T cell exhaustion corresponds with a high viral load that implies that the potency of activation has some correlation to T cell exhaustion (Jameson and Masopust, 2009). On top of the antigen load, lengthy time of infection or lack of support from CD4+ T cells drives to severe exhaustion (Virgin et al., 2009, Wherry et al., 2003a). Likewise, virus-specific CD4+ T cells have as well demonstrated loss of effector function during chronic viral infection (Brooks et al., 2005, Oxenius et al., 1998, Kaufmann et al., 2007, Urbani et al., 2006). Most likely,

the persistent viral infection might signify a diverse impact on virus-specific CD4+ T cells compared to an effect on CD8+ T cells (Fröhlich et al., 2009, John et al., 2009, Elsaesser et al., 2009, Blackburn and Wherry, 2007).

#### 1.4.7 T cell exhaustion and T cell senescence

Senescence can simply be described as conditions of terminal differentiation and nonresponsiveness, which are significant qualities of numerous biological processes like T cell responses. T cells expressing diminished proliferative potentials can be detected by the expression of the co-inhibitory receptor killer-cell lectin-like receptor G1 (KLRG1) in the mouse and CD57 in humans (Joshi and Kaech, 2008, Brenchley et al., 2003). Several latent infections, like EBV or CMV infections, produce virusspecific T cells that express markers of senescence and terminal differentiation (Van Leeuwen et al., 2006, Moss and Khan, 2004). Diverse biological systems might have differing reasons for cellular senescence, replicative senescence, and terminal differentiation. During the process of T cell reaction to infection, several T cells get terminally differentiated and lose the proliferative ability, in line with a simplistic description of senescence (Wherry, 2011). However, exhausted CD8+ T cells also exhibit defective proliferative capability. Nevertheless, gravely exhausted CD8+ T cells have reduced expression of immunological markers of senescence-like KLRG1 (Wherry et al., 2007). The expression of CD57 is not significantly related to that of PD-1 in HIV infection (Day et al., 2006), even though there is a link between PD-1 and the length of telomere in HIV-infected individuals (Lichterfeld et al., 2008). In most cases, CD8+ T cells expressing markers of senescence such as KLRG1 or CD57 can still actively undertake effector functions, but not exhausted CD8+ T cells (Akbar and Henson, 2011). The transcriptional profiles of repeatedly stimulated CD8+ T cells that have some features of senescence or terminal differentiation also experience

some alterations indicative of T cell exhaustion (Wirth et al., 2010, Hertoghs et al., 2010). Up to date, most findings infer that exhaustion and senescence are discrete mechanistic processes. However, the molecular relationships between exhaustion and senescence has still be definitively elusidated (Akbar and Henson, 2011).

# 1.5 Cellular components of innate immunity

Innate immunity prevents the admission of microorganisms and swiftly eradicate them if they incidentally gain entry into the host system (Abbas et al., 2012). The key constituents of which are soluble mediators competent of instantly inhibiting alien microbes and specialised cells enriched with detection receptors and the capacity to phagocytize microbes (Coico and Sunshine, 2015). The central cellular mechanisms of innate immunity are the phagocytosis of foreign bodies followed by the intracellular killing of the ingested microbes. Phagocytes discharge lytic substances within the surroundings to mediate intracellular destruction of pathogens (Thompson and Wilton, 1992, Lollini et al., 2006).

Basophils and neutrophils are two cell types termed granulocytes containing intracellular granules (Amulic et al., 2012, King and Wills, 2005). Neutrophils serve a significant role in providing protection against bacterial infections (Conlan and North, 1991), whereas basophils possess an antiparasitic function. Basophils express the  $\alpha\beta\gamma2$  type of the high-affinity receptor for IgE (FccRI) on their surface and can be stimulated to produce different preformed mediators and lipid mediators in addition to cytokines, following crosslinking of FccRI-bound IgE with bivalent or multivalent antigen (Wedemeyer et al., 2000).

#### 1.5.1 Natural Killer (NK) Cells

Natural killer (NK) cells are nonphagocytic components that destroy virus-infected cells. NK cells constitute part of the innate immune system and possess the capacity to destroy target cells and offer an immediate supply of immunoregulatory cytokines (Cooper et al., 2001a, Robertson and Ritz, 1990).

Human NK cells consist of about 10% - 15% of the entire circulating peripheral blood lymphocytes (Cooper et al., 2001a, Cooper et al., 2001b) and are phenotypically described by the expression of CD56 and absence of CD3 expression (Robertson and Ritz, 1990). Over the past three decades, and with the introduction of monoclonal antibodies (Abs) for particular NK-cell markers, it was reported that two discrete populations of human NK cells could be distinguished by their specific cell-surface density of CD56 (Lanier et al., 1986b, Cooper et al., 2001b). Around 90% of human NK cells show low-density expression of CD56 (CD56dim) in combination with raised levels of CD16 (Fcy receptor III), expression, whereas about 10% of NK cells express CD56<sup>bright</sup>CD16<sup>dim</sup> or CD56brightCD16<sup>-</sup> (Cooper et al., 2001a). At first, NK cells were functionally identified by their capability to recognise and destroy foreign cells in the host, without needing previous exposure (Campbell et al., 2001, Ribas et al., 2003). The majority of NK cells express the FcR CD16 that could decide Abdependent cytotoxicity (Eischen et al., 1996), an additionally recognised function of NK cells (Campbell et al., 2001). Nevertheless, a tiny subset of NK cells do not express CD16 but express higher levels of CD56 and CD94, an attribute that made this group distinct from the majority of NK cells (Campbell et al., 2001). There is evidence to suggest that discrete immunoregulatory functions can be attributed to the CD56bright and CD56dim NK-cell subsets (De Maria et al., 2011). Studies have demonstrated that CD56bright NK cells are the main population accountable for NK

cell cytokine production in response to monokines (Cooper et al., 2001b). These findings endorse a model in which CD56bright and CD56dim NK cells symbolise functionally different subsets of fully developed human NK cells. NK cells are inborn immune effectors that generate immunoregulatory cytokines, for instance, interferon  $\gamma$ (IFN- $\gamma$ ) and granulocyte macrophage–colony-activating factor (GMCSF), crucial to immediate host protection against a diversity of bacterial, viral, and parasitic pathogens (Robertson and Ritz, 1990, Biron et al., 1999, Bancroft, 1993, Scharton-Kersten and Sher, 1997). CD56bright NK cells constitutively express the high to intermediate affinity IL-2 receptors and enlarge in vitro and in vivo in response to picomolar doses of IL-2 (Caligiuri et al., 1990, Baume et al., 1992, Caligiuri et al., 1993). This category of NK cells as well displays the c-kit receptor tyrosine kinase whose ligand improves IL-2-induced proliferation (Matos et al., 1993, Carson et al., 1997). On the contrary, resting CD56dim NK cells convey simply the intermediate affinity IL-2 receptor, and proliferate feebly in response to elevated doses of IL-2 in vitro, still after the introduction of the high-affinity IL-2 receptor (Baume et al., 1992). Resting CD56dim NK cells are severely cytotoxic towards NK-sensitive targets compared to CD56bright NK cells (Nagler et al., 1989). Nevertheless, after stimulation with IL-2 or IL-12, CD56bright cells show comparable or improved cytotoxicity toward NK targets matched with CD56dim cells (Nagler et al., 1989, Ellis and Fisher, 1989, Robertson et al., 1992). NK cell subtypes have distinct natural killer receptor (NKR) repertory. The entire resting CD56bright NK cells display high expression of CD94/NKG2 C-type lectin receptors (Voss et al., 1998). A minor proportion expresses killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (André et al., 2000), whereas the majority, accounting for above 85% resting CD56dim NK cells are KIR1 and express low CD94/NKG2. CD56bright NK cells as well express CD62L, an adhesion molecule L-selectin that mediates first interplays with vascular endothelium (Frey et al., 1998). CD56dim NK cells do not have this receptor but lately have been found to express an NK cell-restricted sulphated lactosamine epitope (PEN5,) that partly mediates the binding of L-selectin (André et al., 2000), therefore signifying the potential for differential transportation of human NK cell subtypes in vivo. Accordingly, CD56bright and CD56dim NK cells vary in their proliferative response to IL-2, adhesion molecule expression, inherent cytotoxic potential, and NKR repertoire (Cooper et al., 2001b).

## 1.5.2 Macrophages

Macrophages originate from circulating monocytes that migrate the entire organs and tissues of the body bearing organ-specific names, for example, Kupffer cells resident in the liver and tumour associated macrophages (TAMS) in the tumour microenvironment. Other than immunological roles, macrophages play a significant role in the turnover of ageing cell constituents such as erythrocytes that are constantly phagocytosed by splenic macrophages. Identification in natural immunity is expressed by interactions with pathogen-associated molecular pattern expressed by microbes (Gordon, 2002, Takeuchi and Akira, 2010). Pattern recognition receptors refer to the cellular receptors and comprise of mannose receptors (MRs), toll-like receptors (TLRs), and seven-transmembrane spanning receptors (TM7s) (Kokate, 2011, Kawai and Akira, 2010, Akira et al., 2001). TLR recognise bacterial and viral nucleic acids, bacterial peptides, flagellin, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and other bacterial elements (Akira et al., 2006, Takeda et al., 2003). MRs have the ability to bind carbohydrate moieties on various pathogens including fungi, bacteria, viruses and parasites (Kawai and Akira, 2009, Delves et al., 2011), while TM7 receptors are typically stimulated by

endogenous chemokines or by bacterial peptides (Suresh and Mosser, 2013, Taylor et al., 2005).

# 1.6 Cytokines

Cytokines are small soluble cell-signalling protein molecules that are produced by cells, particularly the cells of the immune system and are used in the process of cellto-cell communication (O'Garra and Murphy, 1994, Weaver et al., 2007). These kinds of proteins are capable of changing and modifying the behaviour and features of diverse categories of cells. Even though functions are multifaceted, cytokine expression profiles are extremely applicable parameters of an immune reaction. Diverse cytokines have biological overlapping roles, and they have the capability of regulating the secretion of further cytokines (O'Garra and Murphy, 1994, De Jager et al., 2003). Cytokines encompass lymphokines, chemokines, interleukins (IL), interferons (IFNs), tumour necrosis factor (TNF) but commonly may not comprise the growth factors or hormones (Watford et al., 2003). These cell-signalling molecules are secreted by various types of cells and contribute significantly to several physiological reactions, including immune reactions, inflammatory responses, angiogenesis, apoptosis and cell production (Singh et al., 2014, Kantola et al., 2012, Balkwill and Burke, 1989, Watford et al., 2003). Cytokines perform their roles through receptors, and are particularly critical in the general immune system as they control a state of synergy between humoral as well as cell-based immune responses. They are also responsible for regulating the growth, maturation and receptiveness of specific cell types. Activities of some cytokines can enhance or inhibit the action of other cytokines in complex ways (Zhang et al., 2013). Certain cytokines are biochemical regulators that turn some immune cell categories on and off. They are significant in disease and health, particularly in responding to infectious agents,

immune reactions, inflammation, , sepsis, tumour and in reproduction (Schulte et al., 2013). An example is, Interleukin 2 (IL-2) activates the immune system of the body to produce T cells. This immunity-boosting feature of IL-2 has conventionally made it a potential treatment for numerous types of illnesses (Kierszenbaum and Sztein, 1994).

Recently, cytokine receptors have taken centre stage of more researcher than the cytokines themselves, partially due to their attributes, and because a deficiency of cytokine receptors has been reliably associated with some incapacitating immunodeficiency conditions (Spangler et al., 2015). Since the redundancy, as well as pleiomorphism of cytokines, are, a result of their homologous receptors, it is contemplated that categorising cytokine receptors is likely more clinically valuable. Research indicates that antagonising effects of cytokines are associated with several disease conditions from depression and Alzheimer's disease to cancer with either raised or altered expressions (Herbert and Lucassen, 2015, Fillman et al., 2015). Serum levels of various cytokines may give information on the presence, or even predictive value of inflammatory processes involved in autoimmune diseases (Miller et al., 2009). The expression levels of serum cytokines are progressively being applied in population studies, however, there are insufficient studies that describe the epidemiology of cytokine levels in healthy cohorts (Tsunoda et al., 2003). Cytokines are hormonal passengers responsible for most of the biological effects in the immune system, such as in regulation of cell function in the innate and adaptive immune responses. Measurement of these immune mediators has become increasingly important as a means of understanding immune responses during disease or infections, or in response to therapy and interventions (Biancotto et al., 2013). In a nutshell, cytokines play a prominent part in intercellular communications in inflammatory responses as well as haematopoiesis (Gu et al., 2009b, Biancotto et al.,

2015) while chemokines play a significant part in chemotaxis in conditions such as angiogenesis.

#### **1.6.1 Sources of cytokines**

Cytokines are produced by an extensive variety of cells, comprising mainly of immune cells such as macrophages, T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, as well as mast cells, and not forgetting endothelial cells, fibroblasts, also numerous stromal cells. Individual cells can produce more than one kind of cytokine (Lackie, 2010, Zhang et al., 2013). Nevertheless, T lymphocytes have been recognised as principal producers of cytokines. These cells carry certain antigen receptors on their cell surface to permit identification of external pathogens. Similarly, these can identify normal tissues in episodes of autoimmune diseases. There exist two primary subsets of T lymphocytes, characterised by the appearance of cell surface molecules recognised by CD4 and CD8. Also, T lymphocytes expressing CD4 are identified as helper T ( $T_H$ ) cells and are considered with the potential of being the most prolific cytokine producers. Furthermore, the TH cells can be classified into  $T_H1$  and  $T_H2$ , and the cytokines that they produce are recognised as  $T_H1$ -type cytokines as well as  $T_H2$ -type cytokines

# 1.6.2 Classifications of cytokines

Cytokines are categorised based on their source or according to their function, their range of actions, the group of actions they influence, the cell types they target, or on particular characteristics of their ligand-receptor synergy (Cohen and Cohen, 1996). By cell type as well as a more valuable utility in clinical and experimental practice, immunological cytokines are categorised into those that heighten cellular immune responses, as type 1 as well as ones that support antibody reactions as type 2 cytokines (Ellyard et al., 2007). The  $T_H$ 1-type cytokines (for example, interleukin

(IL)-12, IL-15, interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) plus transforming or tumour growth factor- $\beta$  $(TGF-\beta)$ ) support cellular immune responses and deemed crucial for an efficient response against tumour cells. On the other hand, T<sub>H</sub>2-type cytokines (comprising IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13) may contain the tumour-specific immune response (Ellyard et al., 2007, Cui and Florholmen, 2008, Kantola et al., 2012). Besides, the T<sub>H</sub>1-type cytokines incline to secrete the proinflammatory responses accountable for killing intracellular organisms and for the role of perpetuating autoimmune reactions. The principal  $T_{\rm H}1$  cytokine is interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ). Excessive pro-inflammatory reactions can cause unrestrained tissue harm. Therefore, there is the need to have a counterbalancing mechanism. On the other hand, the T<sub>H</sub>2-type cytokines are linked to the elevation of immunoglobulin-E (IgE) and eosinophilic reactions in atopy, and besides IL-10 has more of an anti-inflammatory response. In surplus, T<sub>H</sub>2 responses will counter the T<sub>H</sub>1 arbitrated microbicidal action. The optimal situation would thus appear to be that persons ought to produce a well-balanced  $T_{\rm H}1$  and  $T_{\rm H}2$  response, suitable for the immunologic provocation. Upholding metabolic homoeostasis necessitates a balanced immune response, which is achievable by extracellular signals, as well as cytokines (Dumortier et al., 2013)

By chemical compositions, cytokines can be categorised as peptides, proteins, or glycoproteins. Despite they are plentiful; cytokines can be broadly grouped into proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. The proinflammatory cytokines may comprise, for instance, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-8, GM-CSF, GRO- $\alpha$ , MCP-1, TNF- $\alpha$ ; and mediators that include IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-33, IFN $\gamma$ , TGF $\beta$ , IL-11, IL-12 and IL-17 as well as IL-20 family. On the other hand, the anti-inflammatory group, for example, IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, IL-35 and other mediators including IL-16, IL-1ra, G-CSF that encourage allergic responses (Li et al., 1998, Mamet et al., 2002). Furthermore, cytokines have

been categorised as lymphokines, interleukins, as well as chemokines, by their supposed role, the cell of secretion, or target of their action. The word interleukin was applied initially by scholars for those cytokines whose alleged targets are mainly leukocytes (Hegazi and Abdel-Rahman).

# 1.6.3 Expression levels and profiles of cytokine in a variety of human diseases

Measuring cytokine types and levels in a range of human illnesses has been useful in providing understanding of the pathogenesis of infections and disorders, immune responses in the course of disease or response to treatment and interventions (Whiteside, 1994). The elevation and decrease levels of a cytokines can be used as valuable biomarkers to evaluate disease condition, particularly to compare variations in the biomarker to disease situation or treatment (Gu et al., 2009a, Bastarache et al., 2011). For instance, the elevated levels of TNF and IL-6 in serum have been reported in septic compared to nonseptic shock (Pinsky et al., 1993). Besides, the level of IL-6 in serum was observed to correspond to the severity of the disease in septic shock (Damas et al., 1992). Also, raised levels of serum TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 have been associated with severe dysfunctions of body organ in human Plasmodium falciparum (P. falciparum) malaria. Therefore, disparities in the cytokine system in untreated P. falciparum infection serve as markers of the severity of disease (Kern et al., 1989).

In colorectal cancer, higher levels of serum IL-6 have been reported in patients whose tumours were more than 5.0 cm in width or that had metastasized in a circumferential manner. Higher levels of Serum IL-6 and IL-8 were described in patients who had liver metastasis as compared to ones with no liver metastasis. Similarly, higher serum levels of both cytokines were seen in patients with lung metastasis than in patients with no lung metastasis. These findings suggest that IL-6 and IL-8 might have a

significant role in the haematogenous metastasis of colorectal cancer (Ueda et al., 1994).

A comprehensive analysis of serum cytokine expression to help in the development of predictive panels for diagnosis, staging and the process of observing cancer vaccine trials has associated serum IL -6 with poor survival rate in patients that have hormone-refractory metastatic breast cancer (Bachelot et al., 2003).

Colorectal cancer (CRC) has been linked to extensive modifications in serum cytokine expression, stressing the significance of studying comparative cytokine level alterations (Kantola et al., 2012). The expression of serum cytokine levels provides a promise in splitting CRC patients from healthy controls but then again its clinical importance is yet to be established. Likewise, a study proposes that high serum concentrations of IL-6, IL-10, and IL-12 in people who are of African Americans origin and IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  in Caucasians are linked with a prognosis of lung cancer. It established that IL-6 associated with good life in both populations that reinforces the indication for the role of IL-6 in the prognosis of lung cancer (Enewold et al., 2009). Certainly, the profile of serum cytokine has been valuable as an analytical and predictive tool in ovarian cancer. This research group established that a mixture of IL-7 and CA-125 serum levels was likely to predict 69% of the ovarian cancer patients in an accurate manner, with no false classification of patients with the help of benign pelvic mass. Besides, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-10, monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), and IP-10 and CA-125 were related with disease-free as well as overall survival in univariate analysis. On the other hand, in multivariate analysis, IL-7 and IP-10 were autonomous predictors of overall survival, even though after including the clinicopathological features, merely stage as well as the residual disease continued to be the independent forecasters of the rates of survival. This study demonstrated that

IL-7 levels were established to be intensely connected with ovarian cancer and might be applied in combination with CA-125 to differentiate amid malignant and benign ovarian tumours (Lambeck et al., 2007).

In a research study via the use of human pancreatic cancer cell lines, proinflammatory cytokines, IL-6 and IL-8 concentrations in serum were raised in comparison with negative controls that could hypothetically facilitate systemic inflammatory response (Wigmore et al., 2002). Unfortunately, the overall survival of patients with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma remains remarkably inferior. Therefore, the need to identify prognostic markers is urgent. To this effect, Torres, Carolina; at al undertook an extensive analysis of serum prognosis biomarkers using an antibody array comprising 507 human cytokines, and a panel of serum cytokines including B7-1/CD80, EG-VEGF/PK1, IL-29, NRG1- $\beta$ 1/HRG1- $\beta$ 1, and PD-ECGF showed correlation to poor prognosis for patients with pancreatic cancer (Torres et al., 2015). Moreover, it has been shown that serum cytokine profiles were potentially valuable biomarkers in the differentiation of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) from patients suffering from a benign pancreatic disease (Shaw et al., 2014).

The majority of the cytokines long-established to date are to some extent thought to relate to cancer biology including cancer immunity and cancer progression (Tazaki et al., 2011). It has been reported that abnormally unbalanced production of cytokines was related to the pathophysiology of prostate cancer (Pca), and cytokine profiles in Pca patients were distinct according to the stage of the disease. IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-12 have indicated a promise as early diagnostic pointers of Pca (Tazaki et al., 2011). Increased levels of serum IL-4, IL-10 and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) have been found to associate with persistent or recurrent disease in papillary

thyroid carcinoma (PTC) and PTC with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) patients. This information can be helpful in improving patient stratification according to the risk of recurrence, especially in patients with PTC plus HT, where thyroglobulin (Tg) levels are not reliable due to the presence of antithyroglobulin antibodies (TgAb) (Stanciu et al., 2015). Cytokine expression levels have also been studied in head and neck cancer to help understand the pathogenicity and prove useful as biomarkers or targets for therapy for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC). The serum concentrations of IL-8 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) were found to correlate weakly with large primary tumour volume in HNSCC. Raised IL-1- and IL-6-inducible acute-phase reactions were also noticed in cancer patients but this was not the case in patients that were suffering from papilloma or control individuals (at P < 0.05). This research demonstrated that cytokines that are significant in proinflammatory, as well as proangiogenic reactions, are noticeable in cell lines, tissue specimens, as well as serum from HNSCC patients (Chen et al., 1999).

Gupta et al. undertook a case-control study using pretreatment serum samples from 68 newly diagnosed T-cell neoplasms patients and 14 healthy controls. He analysed the expression pattern of thirty cytokines and compared findings with clinical end points (Gupta et al., 2015). Epidermal growth factor (EGF), IL-6, IL-12, interferon  $\gamma$ -induced protein (IP)-10, soluble interleukin (sIL)-2R $\alpha$ , monokine induced by  $\gamma$  interferon (MIG), and IL-1RA were significantly elevated in all T-cell neoplasms compared to the controls (Gupta et al., 2015). Raised levels of epidermal growth factor were predictive of a poor event-free survival; IL-1RA, sIL-2R $\alpha$ , and monokine induced by  $\gamma$  interferon (MIG predicted a poor overall survival (Gupta et al., 2015).

#### 1.6.4 Serum Cytokines in Follicular lymphoma

The impact of cytokines in lymphoma biology appears to be complex (Kimby, 2015). A subtype of B lymphoma cells express the IL-2R, and IL-2 is a precocious homeostatic cytokine necessary for growth, development, as well as the activity of regulatory T cells (Kimby, 2015). IL-2 is likewise essential for the growth of cytotoxic T-cell function and has been applied for the systemic immune treatment to increase immunity against tumour (Kimby, 2015). However, a variety of cytokines and growth factors, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), etc., have been implicated in tumour–stroma cross-talk (Singh et al., 2014).

Due to high variability in the progression of follicular lymphoma (FL) that resulted in several treatment options, identifying reliable markers that can help streamline cancer type and for predicting outcome are undoubtedly demanding. Happily, serum cytokines and chemokines have been shown to reflect tumour biology and host response in FL, demonstrating the prognostic value of cytokines (Mir et al., 2015, Kimby, 2015). The action of the primary cells in the tumour microenvironment, as well as tumour-reactive T cells, follicular dendritic cells (FDCs), also macrophages, are likely to be reflected by the state of serum cytokines (Mir et al., 2015, Labidi et al., 2010). The overall "cytokine milieu" can be of significance for T cell–mediated antitumour protection.

Recently, an enzyme-linked immunosorbent evaluation (Multiplex) was used by the group of Mir et al., and they established that raised levels of IL-2R, IL-1R1, and CXCL9 are related with shorter event-free survival (EFS) in FL patients on chemotherapy or chemoimmunotherapy. Meanwhile, IL-1R1 and IL-12 were linked

with a shorter EFS in patients in a wait-and-watch cohort, and a similar outcome in patients who were treated with rituximab single-therapy (Mir et al., 2015). In this research, serum levels of IL-1R1, IL-6, IL-7, IL-10, IL-13, TNF- $\alpha$ , vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) were raised in 60 FL patients in comparison with controls (Mir et al., 2015). Early stage and high TGF- $\beta$  levels have been identified as independent predictors of improved overall survival in FL, while high lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and VEGF levels were independently associated with poorer progression-free survival (Labidi et al., 2010). These serum factors seem independent of the FL international prognostic index (FLIPI), a validated prognosticator, and might be of great clinical impact, especially as they are readily available in the blood (Kimby, 2015). Furthermore, it has been shown that elevated soluble IL-2R levels before treatment were associated with reduced survival in FL patients (Yang et al., 2011). It has also been reported that IL-12 and IL-1R1 are predictive for poor outcome in FL patients who are initially observed (or getting rituximab monotherapy) (Yang et al., 2011).

Herewith, evaluating cytokine expression levels and profiles in FL, and understanding how they relate to disease biology and other clinicopathological features of patients will undoubtedly impact positively on the treatment and management of FL.

# **1.7 Cytomegalovirus (CMV)**

Herpes viruses are big, sophisticated viruses that comprise of double-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA). More than 100 herpesviruses are identified, but then again only eight passes on a disease to humans (Berman, 2011). The human herpesvirus (HHV) family is classified into three subfamilies grounded in the period of viral reproduction cycle, capacity for cell culture growth, as well as the site of viral

dormancy in the human body. The subfamilies are  $\alpha$ -herpes virinae encompasses the simplex viruses (HSV-1 and HSV-2) as well as varicella virus (VZV), whereas  $\beta$ -herpesvirinae comprises of cytomegalovirus (CMV) in and Roseolovirus (HHV-6 and HHV-7). The  $\gamma$ -herpesvirinae comprises of lymphocryptovirus(Epstein-Barr virus, or EBV) plus Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (HHV-8) (Berman, 2011).

CMV is a species of  $\beta$ -herpesvirus (Harari et al., 2004, Emery, 2001, Chiche et al., 2012). It infects nearly all human beings and typically leads an asymptomatic chronic course in a large set of an estimated 40 -100% of the global human population (Papadakis et al., 2001, Khan et al., 2002, Gandhi and Khanna, 2004, Ludwig and Hengel, 2009, Mustakangas et al., 2000). In immunocompetent persons, CMV infection is frequently chronically asymptomatic and infrequently leads to a light mononucleosis-like set of symptoms, it continues to be an essential source of deadly diseases of different organs like the liver, the lung, the retina, and the CNS (central nervous system) among immune-deficient hosts(Almanzar et al., 2005). Beneficiaries of allogeneic stem cell and bone marrow transplantation (Mori et al., 2004, Kotton, 2010), HIV positive individuals, new-borns that are infected by birth (Khan et al., 2002); cancer patients, and patients on the course of chemotherapy and corticosteroids (Vega et al., 1999) are listed in the high risk group.

A wide-ranging meta-analytical assessment of severe CMV infection in immunocompetent grown-ups established that CMV infection usually involves gastrointestinal tract (mainly colitis), then the CNS (as well as meningitis, encephalitis plus myelitis) and at that point haematological abnormalities (Lancini et al., 2014). CMV illness of the eye, liver, lung and vasculature were also recognised, in the middle of other diseases. Research Studies have discovered that the occurrence of severe exhibitions of CMV infection in immunocompetent persons seemed to be meaningfully more prevalent than previously understood (Lancini et al., 2014). Besides, a higher risk of CMV-related disease and death rates in "immunocompetent" patients that are critically ill has been documented (Lancini et al., 2014). It is consequently highly possible that incomplete immune dysfunction might signify a presently ignored risk factor for severe CMV disease.

While clinical indicators of CMV infection in immunosuppressed patients might include asymptomatic viraemia, CMV syndrome (viraemia with symptoms that comprise of fever and malaise) as well as tissue-invasive sickness like, colitis, retinitis, pneumonitis, hepatitis, and disease in other locations (Kotton, 2010); the nonexistence of clinical manifestation, mainly among immunocompetent persons credited to the fact that CMV-specific CD8+ T cells, most of which possess specificity for the immediate-early protein 1 (IE-1) and the structural Tegument Protein pp65 (ppUL83), can regulate the virus by stopping its replication as well as eliminating cells that harbour the virus (Almanzar et al., 2005).

After the first infection, this βherpesvirus is not eliminated but starts a life-long viral perseverance in its host (Chiche et al., 2012, Libard et al., 2014). CMV starts to spread and eventually grows dormant in manifold end organs; this situation is known as "latency", nevertheless, endogenous resurgence can take place at in the course of time in circumstances that undermine immune function like in inflammation and immunosuppression (Cook, 2007, Goodman et al., 2015, Chiche et al., 2012). For example, it has been established that during a severe illness, and precisely in sepsis, CMV is reenergized in approximately 30% of latently infected persons (Cook, 2007). Information also proposes that immunocompromised in the type of NK cell dysfunction has the possibility of setting the platform for viral recurrence. NK cell

42

action is essential to viral restraint following acute infection and control for a resurgence (Amadei et al., 2010).

## 1.7.1 Pathophysiology of CMV

The pathological trademark of CMV infection in an individual is the presence of a giant cell full of viral bodies (Varani and Landini, 2011). Also, cytomegaly is observed in infections due to other  $\beta$ -herpesvirinae superfamily viruses. The microscopic characteristics of these enlarged cells are commonly described as the" owl eyes". Though these may be regarded as diagnostic, such histologic findings may be insignificant or even nonexistent in infected organs. During CMV infection, the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is employed to detect CMV DNA in various cells of the body organs (A Ross et al., 2011). At the first stage of infection, the epithelial cells of the salivary glands are infected leading to the viral persistence in the body and viral exuviating (Gerna et al., 2004). However, when the infection goes to the genitourinary system, it causes insignificant viruria. Nonetheless, the virus can resist treatment and still continue multiplying to various parts of the body of the host. Nevertheless, this can lead to other complications such as kidney failure and the renal dysfunction, though it is not common unless for the patients who have had a renal and kidney transplant. Such patients show few cases of glomerulopathy as well as chances of graft rejection (De Souza and Olsburgh, 2008).

# 1.7.2 The immunology of CMV Infection

The primary CMV infection is commonly referred to patients who before CMV infection had been CMV seronegative (Ljungman et al., 2002). Such patients express detectable CMV immunoglobulin M (IgM) antibodies as early as four to seven weeks following the first infection. The IgM viral antibodies produced can persist for some

time such as 16 to 20 weeks. The neutralising antibodies neutralise the enclosed glycoprotein B (gB). It has been reported that over 50% of this neutralising process in patient serum is directed towards the glycoprotein B (gB). The viral tegument proteins including pp150, pp28, as well as pp65 elicit powerful and long-lasting antibody CMV is a virus which weakens the immune system of individual responses. exacerbating hidden immune diseases. The CMV-seropositive healthy people express CMV DNAenemia as well as viruria. During this point, the natural immunity is not able to stop reinfection (Walter et al., 1995). Cell-mediated immunity (CMI) is considered the most important factor in controlling CMV infection. Patients deficient in CMI are at greatest risk for CMV disease and reactivation (Kumar et al., 2009). Essentially, the immune protection can be handled by the help of CMV-specific CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes following primary infection. It has been documented in bone marrow transplantation experiments that individuals who did not develop CMVspecific CD4+ or CD8+ cells following transplantation of bone marrow are at greater risk of contracting CMV pneumonitis. However, patients that received allogeneic marrow transplant with CMV-specific CD8+ cells infusion did not present with CMV pneumonia (Bonkowsky et al., 1975).

## 1.7.3 The Influence of CMV infection on Normal Immunity

Various chronic illnesses and impaired immune responses are linked to the CMV infection (Alonso Arias et al., 2013). The latent CMV infection expedites ageassociated alterations in the T cell repertory in the aged people, particularly those who are using drugs that suppress the immunity (Welzl et al., 2014). The CMV-infected HSCT patients have high chances of contracting bacterial and fungal infections due to the additional suppressive adverse effects of drug leading to tremendous immune impairment. Similarly, CMV infection continues to exert significant problem in beneficiaries of haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) (Holtappels et al., 2008). Also, CMV infection is implicated in the pathogenesis of the cardiovascular diseases, immunosenescence, as well as cancer (Ohlin and Söderberg-Nauclér, 2015). Because CMV evokes a powerful antigenic response in immunologically unimpaired persons, which increases with increasing age (Freeman Jr, 2009), the virus has developed many ways to suppress as well as escape this response to remain latent. Various sources of evidence show that the mechanisms deployed by CMV to evade the host's immune response are by downregulating the inherent and acquired parts of the immune system (Freeman Jr, 2009). For example, CMV reduces the expression of the HLA classes I and II antigens on the APCs (Söderberg-Nauclér, 2006) and on T cells (Fletcher et al., 1998). It later yields an HLA class I homologue which impedes the process of antigen presentation by the infected cells to prevent it from being recognised by the NK as well as the T cells (Reyburn et al., 1997). Moreover, the virus also produces various proteins which particularly antagonise the delivery of peptides by APCs hence reducing the activation of the CMV-specific T-cell reactions (Ahn et al., 1996). Various studies have revealed that CMV may directly repress proliferation T-cells that are active (Schrier et al., 1986) that increases their presentation PD-1, which influences the apoptosis of the T-cells that are stimulated. Consequently, this minimises their capacity to produce the IL-2 as well as INF-c (Sester et al., 2008). Another growing body of evidence suggests that the CMV does the suppression of the immunity of the host through stimulation of the Fc receptors on infected cell surfaces through the production of their Fc receptor homolog (Rahman et al., 1976, Atalay et al., 2002). The receptors then attract the circulating immunoglobulin G (IgG) to attach to the infected cells, causing the virally infected cells to evade binding to the immunoglobulins directed against other viral proteins

carried on the infected cell surface. This can potentially decrease the binding process along with the CMV's induction of the patient's complement inhibitors (Spiller et al., 1997). Also, CMV expresses various chemokine receptors homologues which bind the local MCP-1 as well as MIP-1 $\alpha$  chemokines that reduce the concentration of the chemoattractant in the microenvironment. As a result, it affects the attraction of inflammatory cells to CMV vicinity (Neote et al., 1993). Moreover, CMV infection interrupts the macrophage cytoskeletal structures and increases the production of the macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MMIF) that consequently reduces the trafficking of the macrophages to blunt the natural immune reaction (Frascaroli et al., 2009).

The combination of all these CMV-arbitrated reactions will potentially lead to nonspecific inhibition of the cell-mediated and antibody-mediated immune responses. Data from in vitro studies indicate that CMV may engage some other mechanisms which make the host vulnerable to other diseases. The reduced expression of HLA impedes antigen presentation to decrease the host cellular response to pathogenic challenges. On the other hand, increased Fc receptors and homologues bind circulating immunoglobulin, which reduce the ability of the humoral immune systems to identify and attack other pathogenic antigens. The ability to repress complement as well as chemotaxis and macrophage migration implies that CMV is likely to intervene with far-broad aspects of the humoral immune system. Previous studies have provided possible reasons for increased chances of fungal and bacterial infection among patients with CMV viraemia and as well as in kidney and liver transplant patients. Another study indicates that the immunosuppressive feature of CMV occurs due to offensive episodes of HCV among HCV-infected liver transplant beneficiaries who had records of CMV infections (Falagas et al., 1996). By implication, patients with CMV infections have had abnormal antiviral responses to other viruses different from the CMV. Also, the study states that the active CMV infection can exercise an immunosuppressive influence which makes the patients highly vulnerable to other infectious agents. A meta-analysis shows that prophylaxis on the primary CMV infection leads to a lasting survival (Hodson et al., 2013) as well as reducing the incidence of secondary infections (Snydman, 2006). The is assumed to be achieved by limiting CMV primary infection and minimise the consequences of CMV on the immune system as well as reducing the expedition of inflammatory responses by dividing CMV (Freeman Jr, 2009).

#### 1.7.4 Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) and tumours

The pathophysiology of quite many tumours including colorectal cancer, primary intracerebral tumours, non-melanoma skin carcinomas, intracerebral tumours, prostate cancer, and neuroblastoma have been linked to HCMV (Cobbs et al., 2002, Harkins et al., 2002, Samanta et al., 2003, Zafiropoulos et al., 2003, Sehic et al., 2013, Wolmer-Solberg et al., 2013). The relationship between HCMV protein expression and primary non-curable brain tumours like glioblastoma (GBM) has been demonstrated (Baryawno et al., 2011, Scheurer et al., 2008, Cobbs et al., 2002). Despite this growing body of evidence, however, the effects of HCMV protein expression have been investigated only in a few tumour types such as glioblastoma (Scheurer et al., 2008, Cobbs et al., 2002, Lau et al., 2005, Sabatier et al., 2005). Recent studies have reported that by treating for HCMV infection results in reduced glioblastoma, although it is not statistically significant (Stragliotto et al., 2013). Consequent to the findings and the increased rate of the occurrence of the HCMV protein expression in glioblastoma, HCMV is considered a therapeutic target despite

47

only a progress associated impact is accomplished. Therefore, the modern studies are

including the antiviral therapies as a paired treatment for glioblastoma (Stragliotto et al., 2013, Rahbar et al., 2013, Hadaczek et al., 2013).

The HCMV virion consists of the three main structural units just like other herpes viruses. The three units include the envelope, capsid, and tegument. The tegument unit connects the envelope to capsid and contains regulatory proteins, pp65 and pp71 that passed into the host cell in the course of infection by the virus (Libard et al., 2014). It has been shown that pp65 is the most common virion protein and plays immunomodulatory functions (Libard et al., 2014). Also, it contains the dense bodies which are non-infectious viral particles which accumulate during the infection (Becke et al., 2010, Landolfo et al., 2003). However, pp71 is known as a transcriptional transactivator. HCMV resides in the monocytes during the latent stage of an infection, and the virions are not yet produced. At this point, the viral DNA divides in proximity to the host DNA through host-to-cell replication machinery. Sensitive techniques like polymerase chain reaction (PCR) can be applied to detect the HCMV DNA at this stage. However, during the active stage of infection, the virions are released leading to the presence of viral elements as intranuclear inclusions in the infected cells, known as the owl eyes (Trgovcich et al., 2006).

Immunohistochemical techniques (IHC) are efficient for detecting the HCMV proteins in the various human cellular compartments (Landolfo et al., 2003). The components of tegument and envelope of the virion are some of the HCMV viral proteins that have been studied. These proteins are exhibited at various stages of the HCMV cycle. The cycle and proteins expressed may include the immediate-early 1 (IE1), immediate-early (IE), early - envelope glycoprotein GP48, early/late-protein polymerase processivity factor (p52) and finally the late - tegument protein (pp65) (Cobbs et al., 2002, Scheurer et al., 2008, Mitchell et al., 2008, Slinger et al., 2010).

The HCMV proteins are reported to be connected to many activities which are essential for tumour advancement (Libard et al., 2014). They are said to regulate immunosuppression, the telomerase activation, chronic inflammatory environment, angiogenesis, cellular motility and invasion, anti-apoptotic, as well as cell-cycle modulation (Dziurzynski et al., 2012, Soroceanu et al., 2011, Michelson, 1999, Michaelis et al., 2004, Michaelis et al., 2009). Evidently, there have been no cases of the low levels of HCMV proteins in regions of necrosis in tumours, healthy brain tissues next to tumour; brain tissues collected from controls or people suffering from several neurodegenerative diseases (Landolfo et al., 2003, Soroceanu et al., 2011). By implication, the HMVC proteins may be essential to the tumour induction or growth.

#### 1.7.5 Diagnosis of CMV

Based on the pathogenesis of CMV and the need for effective control of the patients, it is important to implement a diagnosis protocol which can differentiate between the CMV invasive disease as well as latent CMV infection. There are various methods of diagnostic tests for CMV. However, there have been various limitations regarding these tests. The serological method gives the impression of the pre-exposure to the CMV, and testing for the active disease may require the quantitative nucleic acid testing (QNAT), antigenaemia, histopathological examinations, as well as culture. The immunological analysis they are meant to reveal the cellular immune response to the CMV (Lancini et al., 2014).

CMV IgG status and IgG avidity can be determined serologically to assist in differentiating between the primary and secondary CMV infections. The IgM antibody will only be positive for approximately 12 months following the initial infection (Goodman et al., 2015, Ross et al., 2011). hence the suggested use of the anti-CMV IgG as well as improved specificity. Appraised immunological methods

that can be employed to diagnose CMV IgG antibodies may include radioimmunoassay (RIA), indirect haemagglutination (IHA), complement fixation (CF), enzyme-linked immunosorbent evaluation (ELISA), and immunofluorescence (IF) (Ross et al., 2011). False negative results of CMV serological assay such as low immunoglobulin status and plasmapheresis, and transfusion of blood products can lead to the false positive. Therefore prior transfusion samples can be more reliable. Nevertheless, active HCMV disease tends to elude both IgG and IgM serology and are not as such effective in the detecting the active CMV disease (Lancini et al., 2014). The antigenaemia test or the QNAT have been employed to determine CMV viraemia. By principle, this test is based on the use of monoclonal antibodies which detect for the viral pp65 antigen which is structurally late protein that is expressed in the leukocytes in the first phase of the CMV replication cycle (Ross et al., 2011). Testing for CMV pp65 antigen gives a semiquantitative assessment which has been instrumental in the commencement of preventive treatment, disease diagnosis and monitoring of the patient's response to treatment (Lancini et al., 2014). This method is relatively easier to perform as it does not need expensive tools though it lacks test standardisation.

Therefore, the CMV QNAT or CMV viral load testing can be an option for testing the antigenaemia. This type of test needs expensive tools as well as skilled professionals. The viral load changes profusely between plasma and the whole blood samples and CMV DNA is detectable earlier and ordinarily higher quantities in the blood. It is, therefore, advisable that one type of specimen used when monitoring treatment progress in follow-up patients. The QNAT data can differ in various settings because of the variation in the methods of extracting nucleic acid and test designs.

The choice of assay category can be affected by the availability of resources, technical speciality, and the number of patients, turnabout time, and the number of samples as well as the expenses to be incurred. Antigenaemia and QNAT viral load tests have both given great results that are applicable in clinical practice. Nevertheless, the relationship between QNAT viral load and CMV antigenaemia levels has not been compatible. A study shows that even other tissues, as well as body fluids such as biopsies, bronchoalveolar lavage and CSF specimens, can be tested for CMV by the QNAT since it enhances the sensitivity and possibly with quicker results compared to the traditional culture method.

The conventional technique for the detection of CMV infection is via conventional cell culture (Ross et al., 2011). The process requires clinical specimen inoculation onto human fibroblast, which is then incubated and observed for 2 to 21 days. This method may seem slow, costly and associated with low sensitivity. Also, seropositive individuals may pass CMV via their bodily secretions, particularly during periods of stress, thus yielding positive cultures, do not, in reality, translate to an active disease phase. Blood viral culture for CMV is known to have inferior sensitivity, whilst cultures of CMV sputum, urine and stool cultures are associated with reduced specificity. The culture of a specimen from tissues remains the appropriate options for the diagnosis of diseases that are tissue invasive, especially for samples from the gastrointestinal tract, where PCR or antigenaemia testing on blood may fail to be positive, even in the presence of invasive disease. To boost assay sensitivity, Immunohistochemistry should typically be conducted on every biopsy specimen during cases where CMV infection is suspected. Detection of viral antigens or inclusion bodies in bronchoalveolar lavage or biopsy tissues is highly specific for CMV infection, particularly with a positive culture. CMV infections that are tissue
invasive, for instance, hepatitis or colitis is supposed to be confirmed via immunohistochemistry or through in situ DNA hybridization. Immunologic techniques represent an emerging technology, which will potentially offer personalised prophylaxis and treatment of CMV.

#### 1.7.6 Treatment Options for CMV infection

Therapy for CMV infection may involve antiviral treatment, which can be followed by prophylaxis or monitoring; occasional application of CMV immunoglobulin and reducing immunosuppression.

#### 1.7.6.1 Antiviral therapy

Typically, ganciclovir forms the first-line anti-CMV therapy. Nonetheless, its associated low oral bioavailability restricts its application and thus intravenous treatment has been made compulsory. Valganciclovir represents a prodrug of ganciclovir with over 60% bioavailability and is now a substitute to intravenous ganciclovir. Valganciclovir has increasingly continued to be the drug of choice for treating recipients of solid organ transplant (SOT) having a mild-to-moderate CMV infection. Studies have shown that CMV oral valganciclovir is no inferior to intravenous ganciclovir for the therapy of CMV infection. Regarding patients suffering from severe CMV infections, intravenous ganciclovir remains the drug of choice since there is no documentation of oral treatment as an equivalent therapeutic intervention. It is supposed to be used in patients who fail to tolerate oral therapy or have demonstrated suboptimal valganciclovir absorption. Secondary prophylaxis using antivirals for one to three months following treatment differs significantly with respect to transplant centres. Nonetheless, it is often used particularly when there is a high relapse risk. Close clinical as well as microbiologic check-ups within the initial few months following therapy is still an intervention that is often adopted.

#### 1.7.6.2 Reduction of the immunosuppression

Immunosuppression reduction can be adopted in cases of severe CMV infections, with increased viral loads in diseases that are not responding to treatment and with leukopenia. It may also be appropriate in cases of CMV infections that are less severe. Data on the impact of the intensity of immunosuppressive therapy on the result of CMV infection treatment in recipients of organ transplant tends to show that better early elimination of viral load took place with dual versus triple immunosuppressive treatment, reduce levels of calcineurin inhibitors in blood, and a longer time after transplantation.

## 1.7.6.3 CMV immunoglobulin

The activity of CMV immunoglobulin in the therapy of CMV infections has not yet fully elucidated. Rather, at times, it is applied as a concomitant therapy for serious CMV infections like pneumonitis and with a virus that is resistant. Adoptive infusions of T-cells that are specific for CMV, even though it is still being tested, may seem promising in some circumstances.

The primary methods of preventing CMV infection, which involve preemptive therapy and universal prophylaxis, are known to lower the CMV infection risk, even though each method has its merits and demerits. Late CMV is mainly detected in individuals undertaking universal prophylaxis. This is suggestive of the notion that CMV may be delayed efficiently than prevented, particularly during cases of primary infection. Research findings reveal that NHL including FL patients under rituximab therapy within one year prior to autologous HSCT have an elevated risk of CMV infections following HSCT (Lee et al., 2008). Anti-CMV drugs like ganciclovir and immunoglobulins that are specific for CMV may serve as efficient therapy for CMV infections in FL patients under rituximab therapy and autologous HSCT (Lee et al., 2008).

### **1.8 Study Aims and Objective**

The overall aim of this study is to appraise the impact of CMV infection on FL biology. As a result, four primary objectives are set out to achieve the aim of the project: 1. Assess the impact of CMV infection on the quantities of lymphocyte and NK cell subsets in circulating blood of FL patients by flow cytometry.

2. Evaluate the effect of chronic CMV infection on serum cytokine levels and profiles of the study cohort using Luminex assay

3. Examine the intensities of accessory infiltrating cells in the FL microenvironment using dual IF staining of tissue sections from FFPE tissue biopsies.

4. Undertake an explorative analysis relating lab data to clinical data and evaluating the impact of CMV infection on drug toxicity, response and infection status.

### **1.9 Study Rationale**

CMV infection has been implicated in impairing the immune response, expedited immune senescence as well as in different chronic ailments (Almanzar et al., 2005, Alonso Arias et al., 2013). Nevertheless, latent infection with CMV leads to an accelerated age-associated variations in the repertoire of T-cells in immunosuppressed elderly individuals (Welzl et al., 2014). Additionally, it has also been demonstrated that some high grade chronic viral infections such as lymphatic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV), adenovirus, polyomavirus, HIV, HBV, HCV, Friend leukaemia virus as well as malignancies lead to exhaustion of T-cells. T cell exhaustion is characterised by T-cell dysfunction demonstrated by the inability of T cells to display the typical

array of effector functions (robust, protective) and memory T-cell populations (Wherry, 2011, Yi et al., 2010). As a cohort of FL patients will be CMV-positive elucidating the effect of CMV infection on T-cells and the subsequent effect on FL may offer insight into the disease, which will consequently lead to enhanced patient management.

# 1.10 Study Hypothesis

The hypothesis being tested is that CMV infection alters immune function in follicular lymphoma in two ways:

1. CMV infection induces premature immune senescence, that would increase the risk of infection following immunosuppressive chemo-immunotherapy; and

2. CMV infection alters the composition of the tumour microenvironment and would modulate the behaviour of the lymphoma and/or its response to therapy.

# **Chapter 2 : Research Design & Methodologies**

## 2.1 The Study Design

This chapter provides a general overview of the study design, approach, materials and laboratory methodologies employed to test the study hypotheses as well as to answer the research questions. It also presents highlights on the patient recruitment and selections of the study cohort, sample types, research consent and ethical considerations. Furthermore, it includes the optimisation of protocols and statistical approaches.

The study design as depicted in Figure 2-1 comprised of five complementary research strands. Chapter 3 of the thesis, which is the first result chapter, explored the quantities of T- and NK- cell populations and subpopulations using stored peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from a small cohort of PACIFICO trial patients. A multicolour flow cytometric analysis was employed to undertake immunophenotyping of circulating peripheral T and NK cells. The second result chapter presented in Chapter 4 looked at the levels and patterns of serum cytokines using pre-treatment stored serum samples.

The third result chapter (Chapter 5) used immunofluorescence (IF) to analyse cells within the tissue microenvironment of FL. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) was used to optimise for the working dilutions of the primary antibodies. The fourth result chapter (Chapter 6) presents an explorative statistical analysis of the effect of CMV infection on treatment efficacy and toxicity in patients. The last result chapter (Chapter 7) explores the relationship between laboratory variables and the treatment response data.



# Figure 2-1: Study design.

The design was set to evaluate the impact of CMV infection on the biology of FL. The cohort of patients, source of samples and clinical data used in this study is represented on the upper bar. The study evaluated CMV-positive and CMV-negative FL patients illustrated by the two arrows pointing to the separate two blocks below the study patients. The bottom box shows the laboratory methods and clinical analysis employed to test the hypothesis. These include flow cytometric analysis (FACS), Luminex assay (correlated with sandwich ELISA (sELISA) and immunofluorescence (IF) using immunohistochemistry (IHC) to determine working volumes of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs). Furthermore, the relationships between clinical data and CMV infection status or laboratory data were explored.

## 2.2 The study Cohorts and patient samples

The project benefited from stored pre-treatment samples from patients recruited into the National Cancer Research Institute (NCRI) PACIFICO trial (Purine-Alkylator Combination In Follicular lymphoma Immuno-Chemotherapy for Older patients).

This is a two-arm, open label, multi-centre, parallel group phase 3 randomised clinical trial. The trial targeted patients with previously untreated follicular lymphoma aged 60 years or more and compared two alternative chemo-immunotherapy induction regimens: R-CVP (rituximab, cyclophosphamide, vincristine and prednisolone) versus R-FC (rituximab, fludarabine and cyclophosphamide). Patients who achieved a complete or partial remission then received 2 years of maintenance treatment with rituximab. The co-primary endpoints were progression-free survival (PFS) and infection  $\geq$ grade3. Secondary endpoints included response, survival and toxicity which was defined and quantified in accordance with the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) version 4.0. The study was approved by the National Cancer Research Institute (NCRI) Lymphoma Clinical Studies Group (CSG), Cancer Research UK, the Medicines and Healthcare Regulatory Agency (MHRA), Liverpool Adult Research Ethics Committee (LREC), and local NHS Research and Development departments. Central running costs were covered by Cancer Research UK with contributions from Roche and Chugai, while local research costs were covered by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The trial was jointly sponsored by the University of Liverpool and Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust and centrally co-ordinated by the Cancer Research UK Liverpool Cancer Trials Unit (LCTU). The trial opened on 9<sup>th</sup> September, 2009 and closed on 30<sup>th</sup> April, 2016 after recruiting 360 patients. It is anticipated that analysis of the primary endpoint will take place in 2018 once a sufficient number of events have accumulated. Until then, only limited data is available for correlative translational studies, and it is not possible to compare data across the two treatment arms. Toxicity and efficacy data from individual patients were obtained from local sites via Case Report Forms (CRFs), collated by the Cancer Research UK Liverpool Cancer Trials Unit and made available by the trial statistician.

The trial protocol included the collection of baseline samples from all patients. The PACIFICO Clinical Trial Sample Collection Kits (each with their own unique kit identification code) are prepared to contain all components to collect samples from patients, with documentation. All kits sent out to the sites to obtain patients samples for the PACIFICO clinical trial were prepared according to the GCP Lab Facility Protocols. Deviations from the protocols were logged as quality incidents. Blood and formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) lymph node biopsies were taken at baseline for all consenting patients. It is expected that the blood samples arrive within 24 hours of being taken from the patient. Whilst being transported a data logger within the package records the temperature the samples are exposed to. Upper and lower limits are set to alert if the sample has been outside of the range defined e.g. a lower limit of  $2^{\circ}$ C would alert that blood maybe compromised. The data from the loggers is then down loaded once the sample is received in the lab. As part of the Quality Assurance for the lab any deviations from protocols are recorded as quality incidents against the sample, eg if the sample is delayed in the post, or if another tube was used to that supplied. The samples stored for the trial are tissue blocks (to be returned), germline DNA, plasma and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs, from anti-coagulated blood) and serum from coagulated blood. On arrival after logging receipt and coding of the samples the anti-coagulated blood samples had an aliquot removed and stored in the -80°C freezers before processing into DNA. The remaining anti-coagulated blood was processed using density centrifugation (see Section 2.6.3 for PBMC Isolation) to plasma and PBMCs, which were stored in the -80°C and -150 °C freezers, respectively, in the GCP Lab Facility freezer room. The clotted blood samples were

centrifuged at 2500g for 10 minutes before preparing 1ml aliquots of serum and stored in the -80°C freezers in the GCP Lab Facility freezer room. The Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue blocks were stored in tissue cabinet at room temperature (RT).

As a nested case-control study, sample types were selected from patients that tested positive for CMV-IgG antibodies and those that were negative for the CMV-IgG antibodies. The CMV -IgG antibodies statuses were determined by the local (trial) participating recruiting sites. For FACS and Luminex analysis, 42 sample types were selected from patients within relatively similar clinicopathological characteristics as in Table 3-1 (Chapter 3). The clinical features of patients included Follicular lymphoma prognostic index (FLIPI), Ann Arbor stage, haemoglobin value, Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), cumulative illness rating scale (CIRS), Gender, Age and number of lymph nodes involved. Patient samples were carefully chosen to reduce the impact of confounders in the analysis and to enhance the chances of accurate evaluation of the biological effect of CMV infection status on FL.

The data generated from this design will offer an opportunity for a comparative analysis of the relationship between circulating peripheral lymphocytes and levels of serum cytokine in follicular lymphoma.

For the FACS and cytokine analyses in Chapters 3 & 4, PBMC and corresponding serum samples from 42 patients with 21 being CMV positive & 21 CMV negative were used. The study on cellular infiltrates in the FL microenvironment used FFPE tissue blocks from 42 patients (including 20 CMV positive & 22 CMV negative) with only 6 patients included in the FACS/cytokine cohort. The explorative analysis of clinical data in Chapters 6 and 7 included patients from the entire trial cohort whose

clinical data had been verified and available. A summary of study cohorts regarding sample size and overlap is displayed in Figure 6-1. The cohort of patients used for the study of cellular infiltrates in the FL microenvironment was selected based on the availability of FFPE tissue material for the immunofluorescence. Only a small proportion of the cases were available for use. Therefore no particular consideration was made regarding the demographic features of patients on both arms of the CMV status (Table 5-1; Chapter 5). The cohort used for the explorative analysis of the overall trial according to CMV infection status, were 360 patients. Of these, 269 (75%) had information on CMV status, of which, 59% were CMV negative, and 41% were CMV positive. Table 6-1 in Chapter 6 gives patient demographics broken down by CMV status as well as some initial investigation of response rate and toxicities.

## 2.3 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The summary of the inclusion criteria for recruiting patients into the NCRI PACIFICO phase III clinical trial includes established grades 1, 2 and 3a patients of mainly 60 years or above, at Ann Arbor stages II to IV without prior treatment, as well as minimal haematological and other health complications. The exclusion criteria can be summarised to include Grade 3b FL and over, cases of transformed FL to DLBCL and other health complications that may not withstand the adverse effects of chemotherapy.

# 2.4 Ethical Approval & Informed Consent

As part of the PACIFICO trial ethics application, this project was included in the context of the translational work. This trial has approvals of the European Union Drug Regulating Authorities Clinical Trials (EudraCT) on a unique number 2008-004759-31 and the International Standard Randomised Controlled Trial (ISRCTN) number

ISRCTN99217456. Written informed consent to participate in the NCRI PACIFICO trial was obtained before recruitment to the study as per the International Council for Harmonisation (ICH)-Good Clinical Practice (GCP) regulations

## 2.5 Study Sample Size Estimation

The aim of the project is to compare CMV status from patients taking part in the PACIFICO trial. The interest lies in correlating CMV status to biological samples of interest. Sample size calculations are carried out based on pilot data collected prior to the start of the project.

The previous investigation found that 8 out of the 27 cytokines to be studied were shown to be significantly different between CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients with FL.

Based on replicating these results, sample size calculations are based on a Bonferroni adjusted  $\alpha$  level of 0.00625 to control the overall type I error rate at 0.05. As cytokines are measured on different levels, sample size calculations assume the data are measured on the standardised normal distribution. From this, it was determined that difference would be interesting if the difference between CMV-positive and negative cytokines were at least 1 standard deviation. Given each cytokine is measured on a different scale; each cytokine will have its standard deviation. Therefore, the parameters used for the sample size calculation for comparison between two groups with equal number of patients include the statistical power at 80%,  $\alpha$  level at 0.00625, standard deviation of 1 and clinically relevant difference of 1. This gives an overall sample size of 42 patients.

Further to this, patients for FACS and cytokine analyses were selected from the PACIFICO trial by the trial statistician who also ensured that 21 CMV-positive and

21 CMV-negative patients were selected and that these groups were balanced in terms of the CIR score, FLIPI score and treatment allocation to help account for any confounding that may occur due to these covariates.

## 2.6 Laboratory and experimental methodologies

#### 2.6.1 Instrument used flow cytometric analysis - BD LSRFortessa<sup>TM</sup>

The flow cytometer used for data acquisition is the BD LSRFortessa<sup>™</sup> Special Order Research Product (BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK), an air-cooled multi-laser benchtop flow cytometer, equipped with Red, Yellow/Green, Blue, Violet and UV lasers and capable of supporting the analysis of up to 18 parameters

## 2.6.2 Cytometer Setup and Tracking (CS&T)

The CS&T is a fully automated BD FACSDiva software and reagent research system, unique to BD digital cytometers, designed to provide Characterization, Setup and Tracking for baseline settings. This system optimises and standardises cytometer setup and tracks cytometer performance ensuring consistency and reproducibility of FACS data by offsetting the routine instrument variability. The BD FACSDiva CS&T Research Bead set (Cat #: 655051, BD Biosciences, Oxford UK) consists of uniform beads of different intensities (bright, mid and dim beads) designed to fully characterise the flow cytometer.

For daily performance checks, a CS&T passed result was considered essential for running FACS samples for the day.

# 2.6.3 PBMC isolation

In a biological class II safety Saftey Cabinet, Lymphoprep (Product #: 1114740, Axis-Shield, Alere Ltd., Stockport-UK) was pipetted into prelabeled tubes in a 2:1 ratio of blood to Lymphoprep. Blood was gently layered on top of the Lymphoprep using a serological pipette or sterile pastette. The tubes were centrifuged at 800 g for 30 minutes at RT with the brake setting at low. Following centrifugation, mononuclear cells in the buffy coat layer were carefully removed into a tube, which was filled up with Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI)-1640 medium (LM-R1641/500, Labtech International Ltd, East Sussex, UK) and centrifuged at  $550 \times g$  for 10 minutes to wash and pellet the cells with the brake on. The supernatant was discarded, and cells were resuspended in appropriate volume of freezing solution A (10% foetal calf serum (FCS) in RPMI 1640 media). Cells were counted to determine live and dead cells using ChemoMetec Nuclear Counter in the GCP Lab facility and an equal volume of medium B (10% FCS, 20% Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO in RPMI) was added slowly. Cells were aliquoted in vials and placed in Nalgene cryofreezing containers to -80 oC freezer for a minimum of 12 hours before moving to -150°C freezer in the GCP Lab Facility freezer room.

#### 2.6.4 The PBMC Samples: Thawing and recovery of cells

Frozen specimens were thawed by being held in a closed fist before transferring the cells to pre-label Universals on ice. Each 1mL of thawed cell suspension was slowly diluted with 10mL of RPMI- 1640 medium supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum (FCS). The RPMI 1640 solution was added to cells gradually in a drop-wise manner with constant and careful agitation throughout the process. The Universals were centrifuged at  $500 \times g$  for 5 minutes, and the supernatants were discarded. Then the cell pellets were resuspended, counted and assessed for viability using ChemoMetec NucleoCounter (ChemoMetec A/S, Denmark), by detecting total and dead cell counts. Cells were resuspended in BD FACSFlow Sheath Fluid (Cat #: 342003, BD Biosciences, Oxford UK) for lymphocyte immunophenotyping.

#### 2.6.5 The Compensation Set up

After vortexing the BD<sup>TM</sup> CompBeads(Cat #: 552843, BD Biosciences, Oxford UK) had one drop each of the negative control and anti-Mouse Ig,  $\kappa$  was added to each of 12 prelabelled compensation tubes representing each fluorochrome. The optimal working volume of each conjugated primary antibody was added to the respective tube. The tubes were mixed gently and incubated for 30 minutes in the dark at RT. Subsequently, 2ml of CellWash (Cat# 349524; BD Biosciences, Oxford UK) was added to each tube and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300 × g with a low brake setting to wash beads. Supernatants were discarded, and the bead pellets were resuspended in 500µL BD FACSFlowTM Sheath Fluid and vortexed thoroughly before analysis. Five thousand events were acquired from each of the 12 compensation tubes. Using BD FACSDiva software version 7, the bead population is carefully gated, and the positive and negative populations were identified before the compensation values were calculated.

#### 2.6.6 Determination of working volumes of conjugated mAbs

As part of the optimisation protocol, optimal working volumes of all the 26 fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies in the panel were determined by single fluorescent staining of washed PBMCs from healthy volunteers (HV) using three different concentrations of the antibodies. The recommended volume by the manufacturers was used as the starting point for the working volumes, and a value above and one below for each was also used. Table 2-4 shows all the antibodies, and the dilutions tested.

S/N	mAbs	Channel	Tube #1 (μl)	Tube #2 (µl)	Tube #3 (µl)
1	CD3-FITC	AF488	10	20	30
2	CD3-PERCP-CY5.5	PerCp	2.5	5.0	10
3	CD4-APC-H7	APC-Cy7	2.5	5.0	10
4	CD8-AF700	AF700	2.5	5.0	10
5	CD11a-PE-CY7	PE-Cy7	2.5	5.0	10
6	CD14-PE-Cy7	PE-Cy7	2.5	5.0	10
7	CD16-PE-CF594	PE-Texas Red	2.5	5.0	10
8	CD19-BV650	Qdot655	2.5	5.0	10
9	CD25-PE-CF594	PE-Texas-Red	2.5	5.0	10
10	CD27-PerCP-Cy5.5	PerCP	2.5	5.0	10
11	CD28-PE	PE	10	20	30
12	CD43-BV421 Pacific Blue		2.5 5.0		10
13	CD45-BV510 Amcyan		2.5	5.0	10
14	CD45-BV650 Qdot6		2.5	5.0	10
15	CD45RA-BV510	Amcyan	2.5	5.0	10
16	CD45RO-BV605 Qdot605		2.5	5.0	10
17	CD56-PerCP-Cy5.5	PerCp	2.5	5.0	10
18	CD57-APC	APC	2.5	5.0	10
19	CD62L-APC	APC	10	20	30
20	CD62L-BV605		2.5	5.0	10
21	CD69-PE-Cy7	PE-Cy7	2.5	5.0	10
22	CD127-BV510	Amcyan	2.5	5.0	10
23	CD197 (CCR7)-BV421	Pacific Blue	2.5	5.0	10
24	CD279 (PD1)-PE	PE	10	20	30
25	LAG3-FITC	AF488	5.0	10	20
26	TIM3-APC	APC	5	10	20
27	CD45-BV510 (ISOTYPE)	Amcyan	2.5	5.0	10
28	CD45-BV650 (ISOTYPE)	Qdot655	2.5	5.0	10

 Table 2-1: Protocol for determination of working volume experiments

A total of between 10,000 and 50,000 events were acquired per FACS tube. A representative process used for the determination of working volumes of CD45-BV510 with CD45-BV510-Isotype control is illustrated in Figure 2.2. The dot plots of events for the three different volumes of antibodies were created, and the lymphocytes population gated as P1 on the FSC/SSC plot. A histogram of the lymphocytes population (P1) was drawn, and the amount of the respective fluorescent cells in P1 was determined on the AmCyan channel. An interval gate was drawn on the Isotype control for the lowest concentration so that approximately 0.5% of this population was included in P2. This interval (P2) was retained for all the antibody dilutions.



Figure 2-2: Determining the working volume of CD45-BV510.

Panel A represents the Isotype control and anti-CD45-BV510 antibodies at  $2.5\mu$ l; panel B represents  $5\mu$ l of antibodies, and panel C represent  $10\mu$ l of antibodies incubated with. PBMCs from a healthy volunteer (HV). The statistics displayed underneath the histograms represent the number of events and the mean fluorescent intensity (MFI).

The criteria used for the choice of optimum working volumes of the fluorochromeconjugated antibodies was a combination of the values of the MFI for P2, the number of events in P2 as well as the clearance of the Isotype control histogram peak from P2. In Fig 2.2, panel A CD45-BV510 Isotype control had the highest MFI of 16,053 (P2) and the lowest MFI for CD45-BV510 compared to the other two tubes. In panel B the CD45-BV510 Isotype control had the least MFI of 5,791 with an MFI of 43,227 for CD45-BV510. Although panel C (10µl) had a slightly higher MFI for CD45-BV510 than the 5µl tube, the MFI for the Isotype control is higher. Therefore the 5µl volume of CD45-BV510 was used for all other staining work. This process was carried out for all the 26 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs).

#### 2.6.7 The staining and acquisition of cells for FACS

Since more than two mAbs are conjugated with BD Horizon Brilliant fluorescent polymer dyes in each FACS tube, 50µL of the BD Horizon<sup>™</sup> Brilliant Stain Buffer was added to each tube to minimise spectral overlaps. As illustrated in Figure 2-3, respective quantities of the conjugated mAbs shown in brackets were added to the respective tubes.

Following the addition of antibodies,  $100\mu$ L of well-mixed washed PBMCs containing about  $2 \times 10^5$  to  $1 \times 10^6$  were placed in the prelabelled FACS tubes. Tubes were incubated for 30 minutes in the dark, at room temperature, after which 2ml of CellWASH (Cat #:349524, BD Bioscience Oxford, UK) was added and the tubes centrifuged at  $300 \times$ g for 5 minutes with low brake. The supernatants were discarded before repeating the washing process. Finally, the cells were resuspended in 500 $\mu$ L of BD FACSFlowTM Sheath Fluid before being gently vortexed. The aim was to count a minimum of 500,000 events per patient sample, however, in some cases there were less than 500,000 cells per tube. In a minority of cases more than 500,000 cells were acquired due to the availability of material.

Tube 1	Tube 2	Tube 3		
CD3-FITC (20)	CD3-FITC (20)	LAG-3-FITC (10)		
CD56-PERCP-CY5.5 (5)	CD27-PERCP-CY5.5 (5)	CD3-PERCP-CY5.5 (2.5)		
CD57-APC (10)	CD62L-APC (20)	TIM-3-APC (5)		
CD8-AF700 (2.5)	CD8-AF700 (2.5)	CD8-AF700 (2.5)		
CD4-APC-H7 (10)	CD4-APC-H7 (10)	CD4-APC-H7 (10)		
-	CD197 (CCR7)-BV421 (10)	CD43-BV421 (10)		
CD45-BV510 (5)	CD45RA-BV510 (10)	CD127-BV510 (5)		
-	CD45RO-BV605 (2.5)	CD62L-BV605 (10)		
CD19-BV650 (5)	CD45-BV650 (10)	CD45-BV650 (10)		
CD28-PE (20)	CD28-PE (20)	CD279 (PD-1)-PE (10)		
CD16-PE-CF594 (5)	CD25-PE-CF594 (10)	-		
CD14-PE-CY7 (5)	CD11a-PE-CY7 (2.5)	CD69-PE-CY7 (5)		

Figure 2-3: Illustrating the 3-tube design and the respective panels of mAbs.

All mAbs were purchased from BD Bioscience, Oxford UK with exception of LAG-3-FITC (Enzo Life Sciences, UK) and TIM-3-APC (R & D Systems, UK). The values in brackets represent the respective optimal working volumes of the mAbs in microlitres.

## 2.6.8 Multiplex (Luminex) Assay for Serum cytokines

The multiplex instrument, Bio-Rad Bio-Plex 200 system (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hertfordshire, UK) powered by Luminex xMap Technology was used for the Bio-Plex Pro<sup>™</sup> Human Cytokine 27-plex assay. Consequently, all reagents comprising cytokine standards, coupled beads, 96-well plates, detection antibodies, streptavidin-PE and diluents as well as the software used for the analysis of data were purchased from Bio-Rad Laboratories (Cat #: M500KCAF0Y: Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hertfordshire, UK).

As part of the validation protocol for Luminex assay and before data acquisition, each bead region number of the cytokine was entered against each cytokine in the Bio-plex manager software. The Human Cytokine Standard was reconstituted following the manufacturer's instructions and incubated on ice for 30 minutes prior use.

# 2.6.8.1 Preparation of the Standard Curve

An 8-point standard curve design with a fourfold dilution between each point was used. The reconstituted standard was vortexed gently for 1-3 seconds before transferring the reconstituted standard to tube one (denoted as S1) containing standard diluent. Tube S1 content was thoroughly mixed, and 100µl of the standard diluent mixture in tube S1 was transferred to tube S2 containing 300µl of standard diluent. The dilution process was repeated through to the S8 tube. This preparation is for a standard triplicate run assay.

## 2.6.8.2 Preparation of Coupled Beads for 96 wells

A 1× working concentration of the 10 × Coupled Beads was prepared using Assay Buffer in a 15 ml tube. The diluted coupled beads were vortexed for 30 seconds at medium speed. A multichannel pipette and reagent reservoir were used to add 50µl of beads to each well of the 96-well microplate. The plate was sealed with a transparent sealant and wrapped in aluminium foil and allowed to equilibrate for 20 minutes at RT. The microplate was washed twice with Bio-Plex wash buffer (Catalogue #: 171-304500) using Fisher Scientific<sup>TM</sup> Wellwash 4 Mk2 Microplate Washer. Fifty microlitres (50µl) each of the diluted standards, internal controls, blank (diluent) and respective samples were added to the designated wells of the 96-well Bio-Plex Pro flat-bottom microplates (cat #: 171-025001) in triplicates as in the plate layout in Figure 2-4. The preparation was incubated at RT for 30 minutes whilst gently shaken on a microplate shaker (Cat #: 444-7094, VWR England, UK).

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
A	S1	S1	S1	1	1	1	9	9	9	17	17	17
B	<b>S</b> 2	<b>S</b> 2	<b>S</b> 2	2	2	2	10	10	10	18	18	18
С	83	S3	<b>S</b> 3	3	3	3	11	11	11	19	19	19
D	S4	S4	S4	4	4	4	12	12	12	20	20	20
E	85	<b>S</b> 5	<b>S</b> 5	5	5	5	13	13	13	21	21	21
F	S6	S6	S6	6	6	6	14	14	14	IC	IC	IC
G	<b>S</b> 7	<b>S</b> 7	<b>S</b> 7	7	7	7	15	15	15	IC	IC	IC
H	S8	S8	S8	8	8	8	16	16	16	В	В	в

Figure 2-4: Illustrating a 96-well plate layout for Cytokine Multiplex assay.

S1 – S8 for standards S1 to S8, internal controls (IC) for interassay quality control, blank (B) for background noise.

## 2.6.8.3 Addition of Detection Antibodies (DAs)

The 10 × DAs supplied by the manufacturer was diluted with Detection Antibody Diluent to make a 1 × working solution. Following the incubation period; the sealing tape was removed gently and slowly. The plate was washed three times with Bio-Plex wash buffer using Fisher Scientific<sup>TM</sup> Wellwash 4 Mk2 Microplate Washer, before adding 25µl of 1 × DAs. The microplate was covered with a new sheet of sealing tape and incubated at RT for 30 minutes with a gentle shake on a microplate shaker.

## 2.6.8.4 Addition of Streptavidin-PE

A 1:100 dilution of the stock streptavidin-PE was made in Assay Buffer, vortexed at medium speed for 3 - 5 seconds and 50µl added to each assay well. Again, the

multiplex microplate was carefully covered with a new sheet of sealing tape and incubated at RT for 10 minutes with gentle shaking on a microplate shaker. Following the incubation; the microplate was washed  $3 \times$  with  $300\mu$ l of Bio-Plex wash buffer using Fisher Scientific<sup>TM</sup> Wellwash 4 Mk2 Microplate Washer, and  $125\mu$ l of Assay Buffer was added to each well. This was covered with a new sealing tape and incubated at RT on a shaker at 1,100 rpm for 30 seconds prior plate reading. The Bio-Plex was calibrated with Bio-Plex Manager software before setting up the assay and following the start-up and calibration processes for CAL1 and CAL2 calibration. Before sample acquisition, the system must pass the calibration.

#### 2.6.8.5 Data acquisition and analysis

The multiplex assay employs Luminex platform to detect targets using antibodycoupled bead systems. The unique content of two addressing colours recognised each bead in the set and a third dye is used to censure the coupling of the target analyte through a biotin-coupled antibody plus streptavidin conjugated secondary step indicator. A dedicated flow cytometer of the Bio-Plex® 200 system platform (Luminex MAP Technology, Texas, USA) was used to acquire the data.

Data was acquired in Bioplex reader after calibrating the Bioplex manager software. The values that fell way beyond the curves had an asterisk (\*) and were removed before analysis. For the evaluation of assay reproducibility, the inter-assay % coefficient of variation of most of the cytokines appears within the acceptable limit of 20% and below. However, cytokines with low levels of abundance that fall below the limit of detection of the assay expressed zero scores, for instance, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-5, IL-15 had unacceptably high %CV of above 100%. Also, cytokines with elevated levels of abundance for example RANTES, the %CV appeared very high. This is because the %CV can usually be higher due to cytokine levels that were 'out of range'

(OOR). The intra-assay precision of triplicate wells for the 27-plex assay was excellent, with %CV of  $\leq$  20% across most of the 27 analytes from the two Luminex plates, except IL-2, IL-15 and IL-17A that had %CV of 173.21% in plate-1, plate-2 and plate-1 respectively. Assay precision data was obtained using healthy serum control and test samples. The standard curves for the two plate assays appear comparable, an indication that raw MFI values for each point in the standard curve are highly reproducible from run to run.

# 2.6.9 Sandwich ELISA for Cytokines

The ELISA Development Kits contains essential components for the quantitative measurement of human cytokines in a sandwich ELISA format including capture antibodies (CAs), detection antibodies (DAs) Wash Buffer, Block Buffer and Diluent were supplied by PeproTech EC Ltd, London, UK. Additional materials and reagents required and not provided in the kit are ELISA microplates, ABTS Liquid Substrates solution (Sigma Cat. #: A3219), Bovine serum albumin (BSA; Sigma Cat. #: A-7030), Dulbecco's Phosphate buffered saline (PBS; [10 ×]) (Gibco BRL. Cat #: 14200-075), Wash Buffer, Block Buffer, Diluent and Tween-20 (Sigma Cat. #: P-7949). The sELISA assay targets included the human IL-4 (Cat. #: 900-K14), IL- 6 (Cat. #: 900-K16), IL-8 (Cat. #: 900-K18) and IL-9 (Cat. # 900-K20) (PeproTech EC Ltd, London, UK).

## 2.6.9.1 Reconstitution of Standards and Antibodies

Following manufacturer's instructions (PeproTech, USA), CAs, DAs and standard cytokine reagents were reconstituted to stock concentrations by the addition of the respective amounts of sterile distilled water (dH2O). This forms the stock working reagents.

#### 2.6.9.2 Plate Coating with Capture Antibodies

Following manufacturer's instructions (PeproTech, USA), respective cytokine working CA and DA reagents were prepared by diluting the stock reagents in  $1 \times PBS$  thereby producing the recommended working concentrations as contained in the Table 2-2 for each cytokine. The working reagents were prepared for a single 96-well ELISA experiment and were not stored.

Stock Capture Antibody (CA)	Working CA	Stock Detection Antibody (DA)	Working DA	
	(µg/ml)		(µg/ml)	
100µg/ml of anti-hlL-4	0.5	100µg/ml of anti-hlL-4	0.5	
100µg/ml of anti-hlL-6	1.0	100µg/ml of anti-hlL-6	0.5	
100µg/ml of anti-hlL-8	0.5	100µg/ml of anti-hlL-8	0.5	
200µg/ml of anti-hlL-9	2.0	100µg/ml of anti-hIL-9	1.0	

Table 2-2: Preparation of working capture and detection antibodies

Reagents are prepared by diluting the stocks in  $1 \times PBS$  sufficient for a 96-well ELISA plate.

The vials of CAs were gently vortexed avoiding air bubbles and 100  $\mu$ L of the working CA solution was added to each well of the ELISA plate. The microplate was sealed firmly with sealing film and incubated overnight at RT. The following day, the plate was washed four times using 1× Wash Buffer and blotted on clean, dry paper towel. To block for non-specific binding, 300  $\mu$ L of ready-to-use Blocking Buffer was added to each ELISA well and incubated for 1 hour at RT.

# 2.6.9.3 Addition of Cytokine Standards & Samples – Specific Binding of Antigen

The 8-point concentrations of standard cytokines were prepared by diluting each cytokine in  $1 \times$  Diluent. Briefly, 400µL of Diluent was added to standard tubes except for the first tube. Then 800µL of the reconstituted cytokine standard solutions were added to the first (highest) standard tube (S1) and 400µL was transferred to the

second tube (S2). This was mixed carefully, making a 1:2 dilution of S1. The serial dilution process was repeated through to the 8th concentration (S8) where 400 $\mu$ L of the standard diluent solution was discarded. Each standard curve tube contains a final volume of 400  $\mu$ L for a triplicate of each point of the standard curve.

Cytokine	IL-4	IL-6	IL-8	IL-9
(pg/ml)				
Tube	1000 - 0	1500 - <mark>0</mark>	1000 - 0	3000 - 0
1	1000	1500	1000	3000
2	500	750	500	1500
3	250	375	250	750
4	125	187.5	125	375
5	62	93.75	62	187.5
6	31	46.88	31	93.75
7	15.5	23.44	15.5	46.88
8	7.8	11.72	7.8	23.44

 Table 2-3: 8-point Concentrations for the cytokine standards

Samples were either assayed neat or diluted depending on the concentration of the analyte as determined by ELISA optimisation experiments for optimal results. Then 100µl of each standard concentration, samples, internal control (IC) and blank (B) were added to assay wells in triplicates as shown on the plate layout on table 2-6. ELISA plates were sealed and incubated for 2 hours at RT. This plate layout allows for the inclusion of 8-point standards S1-S8 with a 2-fold serial dilution between each point, twenty-one test samples, one internal control (IC) or human AB serum (hABs) and two blank (B) rows in triplicates. The blanks are essential in determining the

efficacy and validity of the measurements of the samples. After the 2 hours incubation, the plate was removed and washed four times in  $1 \times$  Wash Buffer ready for the addition of DA reagent.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
A	S1	S1	S1	В	В	В	8	8	8	16	16	16
В	<b>S</b> 2	<b>S</b> 2	<b>S</b> 2	1	1	1	9	9	9	17	17	17
С	S3	S3	<b>S</b> 3	2	2	2	10	10	10	18	18	18
D	S4	S4	S4	3	3	3	11	11	11	19	19	19
E	<b>S</b> 5	<b>S</b> 5	<b>S</b> 5	4	4	4	12	12	12	20	20	20
F	S6	S6	S6	5	5	5	13	13	13	21	21	21
G	<b>S</b> 7	<b>S</b> 7	<b>S</b> 7	6	6	6	14	14	14	IC	IC	IC
H	S8	S8	S8	7	7	7	15	15	15	В	В	В

## Figure 2-5: An illustration of a 96-well ELISA plate layout

S1 – S8 for standard points 1 to 8, internal controls (IC) for interassay quality control, blank (B) for background noise. All standards, controls and patient samples were tested in triplicates indicated by numbers and colours).

### 2.6.9.4 Detection

DAs were prepared fresh and enough for a single experiment. Each assay well had  $100 \ \mu$ L added immediately before the plate was sealed and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature.

After incubation, plate content was discarded and washed four times in  $1 \times$  Diluent and a 1:2000 dilution of Avidin conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) was prepared in 1  $\times$  Diluent. The solution was mixed gently, and 100  $\mu$ L was added to each ELISA well immediately. The ELISA plate was sealed and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature.

ELISA plate was aspirated and washed four times in  $1 \times$  Diluent. A multichannel pipette was used to add 100ul of ready-to-use ABTS substrate to each ELISA well. A SPECTRAmax PLUS 384 ELISA Plate Reader (Molecular Devices, California, USA) set at 405nm with wavelength correction at 650nm was used to monitor colour development at 5 minutes intervals at RT for up to 50 minutes. Colour development was recorded by reading of optical density (OD) of the wells and SOFTmax Pro software (Molecular Devices, California, USA) was used for endpoint reading. When readings fall between zero and the highest standard values; reliable standard curves are said to be obtained.

#### 2.6.10 Immunofluorescence (IF) of FFPE tissue sections

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) was used to determine the working dilutions of the primary antibodies used for the immunofluorescence staining of FFPE tissue sections.

# 2.6.10.1 IHC protocol for working dilutions of primary antibodies

IHC technique was employed for the determination of optimal working dilutions of the respective primary antibodies by staining three microns sections of recommended positive FFPE tissue using three dilutions of the primary antibodies and an Isotype control (used at the highest concentration). To dewax, rehydrate, and retrieve antigens the Dako PT-Link water bath with high PH buffer system was used as described elsewhere (Shi and Taylor, Pirog, 2015). Briefly: The PT-Link system was preheated at 65°C, and well-labelled tissues sections on slides in staining racks were placed in the PT-Link tank and heated to 96°C for 20 minutes. It was allowed to cool back to

65°C before removing the rack from PT-Link. The dewaxed slides were immediately dipped into the Envision Flex-Wash buffer for 5-15 minutes. After circling tissue sections with PAP Pen (Cat # ab2601, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), Envision Flex-Wash buffer was used to wash sections on the staining tray. Then 100µl of Envision-Flex block was added to sections and incubated at RT for 5 minutes to block, and washed with Envision Flex-Wash buffer. The respective primary antibodies and Isotype controls were diluted in Envision-Flex antibody diluent accordingly, and 100µl of each dilution was added to sections, CD4 (Leica, Milton Keynes, UK), CD8 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), CD16 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), CD21 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), CD163 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), FOXP3 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) and PD1 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK). These were covered and incubated at RT for 30 minutes.

FLEX buffer was used to wash sections 2 - 3 times before 100µl of HRP was added to section and incubated at RT for 20 minutes. Sections were washed with FLEX buffer briefly and 100µl fresh 3, 3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) - substrate solution was added to the sections and incubated at RT for 20 minutes. Sections were washed with FLEX buffer again for 2 - 3 times before being dipped into distilled water. The sections were stained with haematoxylin for 30 seconds, dipped in acid alcohol briefly (immediately, and in ammonia water for 30 seconds while placing the rack into the bath of running tap water in between. Sections were dehydrated through the ethanol series of 3x IMS (Industrial Methylated Spirits) and 2x xylene in the fume hood and agitating vigorously for 10 seconds at each stage. Finally, a drop of DPX mounting medium was added to a coverslip and applied to slide removing all air bubbles. Positive control tissue was cut at 3 microns to give sections for optimising concentrations (dilutions) of antibodies, as shown in Table 2-4.

 Table 2-4: Details of the primary antibodies and the positive control tissues used

 in determining the working dilutions

s/#	Primary antibody	Product #	Isotype control	Working dilution	Positive tissue type
	(concentration)		(Concentration)		
1	M-anti CD4 (405µg/ml)	NCL-L-CD4-368	lgG1 (100µg/ml)	1:500	Tonsil
2	R-anti CD8 (439µg/ml)	ab93278	lgG (1858µg/ml)	1:500	Tonsil
3	R- anti CD21 (138µg/ml)	ab75985	lgG (1858µg/ml)	1:500	Tonsil
4	R-anti FOXP3 (24µg/ml)	ab99963	lgG (1858µg/ml)	1:100	Tonsil
5	M-anti PD1 (500µg/ml)	ab140950	lgG1 (100µg/ml)	1:25	Tonsil
6	M-anti CD56 (18µg/ml)	NCL-CD56-136	lgG2b (100µg/ml)	1:100	Neuroendocrine
					carcinoma
7	R-anti CD16 (34µg/ml)	ab183354	lgG (1858µg/ml)	1:100	Lung
8	M-anti CD68 <mark>(</mark> 30µg/ml)	M0876	lgG3 (500µg/ml)	1:200	Tonsil
9	R-anti CD163 (16µg/ml)	ab100909	lgG (1858µg/ml)	1:100	Lung

# 2.6.10.2 IHC interpretation and working volumes of targets

The images of stained IHC slides were digitalized using Aperio ScanScope. Digital images of sections stained with the three different dilutions of the primary antibodies and the corresponding Isotype controls were reviewed in ImageScope by a Consultant Pathologist for positivity, intensity and histological distribution. Taking the case in Figure 2-6, the positivity and distribution of FOXP3 on the tonsil sections at three concentrations were assessed for application in the immunofluorescence experiments. A1:100 dilution of anti-FOXP3 on a positive tonsil section was chosen as the optimal concentration as the cells are not overstained and the brown is just clearly visible. The working dilution of all the remaining 8 antibodies in Table 2-4 were determined using similar procedure, and the optimal working dilutions of the antibodies are presented in pairs in Figure 2-7 to Figure 2-10.



Figure 2-6: IHC staining of Rabbit anti- FOXP3

IHC stained images from sections stained with Rabbit immunoglobulin-G (R-IgG) and the three dilutions of Rabbit anti-human FOXP3 showing dilutions in brackets. (All images were taken at  $\times$  40 magnification).



# Figure 2-7: Working dilutions of Mouse anti human CD4 and Rabbit anti human CD8.

Images A and C are of sections stained with CD4 and CD8 respectively, while the corresponding Isotype controls are shown in images B and D. The dilutions of antibodies are shown in brackets. (All images were taken at  $\times$  20 magnification).



Figure 2-8: Working dilutions of Rabbit human anti human CD16 and Mouse anti human CD56.

Images A and C are of sections stained with CD16 and CD56 respectively, while the corresponding Isotype controls are shown in images B and D. The dilutions of antibodies are shown in brackets. (All images were taken at  $\times$  20 magnification).



Figure 2-9: Working dilutions of Rabbit anti human CD21 and Mouse anti human PD1.

Images A and C are of sections stained with CD21 and PD1 respectively, while the corresponding Isotype controls are shown in images B and D. The dilutions of antibodies are shown in brackets. (Images of CD21 and corresponding Isotype control were taken at  $\times$ 40 while those of PD1 and Isotype at  $\times$  20 magnification).



Figure 2-10: Working dilutions of Mouse anti human CD68 and Rabbit anti human CD163.

Images A and C are of sections stained with CD68 and CD163 respectively, while the corresponding Isotype controls are shown in images B and D. The dilutions of antibodies are shown in brackets. (All images were taken at  $\times$  20 magnification).

After determining the optimal working dilutions for the primary antibodies, the working dilutions of the fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies were determined. Three different dilutions around the manufacturers' recommended working dilutions for AF488-Donkey anti-Mouse, and AF647-Donkey anti-Rabbit antibodies were used to stain for sections of defined dilutions of Mouse anti-human CD56 (1:100) and Rabbit anti-human CD8 (1:500). Following a thorough assessment of the staining characteristics, optimal working dilutions of 1:2000 for AF488-Donkey anti-Mouse antibody and 1:100 for AF647-Donkey anti-Rabbit antibody were determined for the immunofluorescence staining of the PACIFICO FFPE tissue sections.

### 2.6.10.3 The optimisation protocols for immunofluorescence (IF) Staining

After determining the working dilutions of all the antibodies and adoption of the simultaneous double staining technique, a trial autostaining experiment was performed to test the suitability of the Autostainer for IF. Following the satisfactory images and minimal cross-reactivity observed, autostaining was adopted for double staining of the test FFPE tissue sections.

### 2.6.10.4 Immunofluorescence staining of trial sections using Autostainer

In all, five tissue sections from a total of forty-two PACIFICO trial tissue blocks (patients) were processed and stained. Four of these were double-labelled: CD4/CD8, CD16/CD56, PD1/FOXP3 and CD68/CD163, then one section were stained for a single target, CD21.

The test sections were loaded onto the DAKO PT Link system for antigen retrieval. The Autostainer was programmed to stain for 42 test sections with a mix of diluted primary antibodies as in Table 2-4 and an isotope control section for 60 minutes. This was followed by blocking for non-specific binding with 10% normal donkey serum in PBS/1% bovine serum albumin for another 60 minutes, and finally, the addition of a mix of secondary antibodies for 30 minutes at room temperature. The required amounts of secondary antibody mix were prepared for each cycle of staining. A 1:2000 dilution of Alexa Fluor 488 conjugated to Donkey Anti-Mouse IgG (Cat #: A-21202, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK) and 1:800 dilution of Alexa Fluor 647 conjugated to AffiniPure Donkey Anti-Rabbit IgG (Cat#711-605-152, Stratech Scientific Ltd, Suffolk, UK) was prepared.

Envision FLEX wash buffer was used to rinse slides at each step of the process. During the staining, the Autostainer was covered with a piece of blackout material to protect the fluorochrome against the effect of light. At the end of staining, slides were placed in Envision FLEX wash buffer for 10 minutes, and coverslips were immediately mounted using Vectashield Antifade Mounting Medium containing DAPI (Cat#: H-1200; Vector Laboratories Ltd, Peterborough, UK). The slides were stored in a dark cardboard overnight, and edges were sealed with nail varnish to protect from drying. Eight images were taken per section for analysis using an Olympus BX63 motorised upright microscope with a 40× objective, equipped with a Photometrics CoolSnap camera and MicroManager acquisition software (Edelstein et al., 2014). The filter sets used (Chroma Technology Corp) were as follows: DAPI: set 49000 ET DAPI; AF488: set 49002 - ET - EGFP (FITC/Cy2); AF647: set 49006 - ET - Cy5.

#### 2.7 Statistical considerations and Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were performed for baseline characteristics, both overall and by CMV Status. Categorical variables are described as frequencies and proportion percentages. Continuous variables normally distributed are summarised with their mean and 95% confidence interval, while continuous variables that did not reach normality are presented with their median and IQ range. P-values, obtained after performing the Chi-squared test (or Fisher's exact test, if any expected value was smaller than 5), t-test (or Mann-Whitney U test, if data was not normally distributed) using IBM SPSS Statistical software version 22.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) are used to examine for any statistically significant differences in the outcomes between the groups.

All correlation assessments were determined using the Pearson correlation coefficient. A statistically significant difference was considered if the test P value was <0.05. The hierarchical clustering and heat maps were generated using Partek Genomic Suite Version 6.6 (Partek Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA) and all data were floored (i.e. 0 transformed to 0.01) and logged. ImageJ (Schneider et al., 2012) macros and Java plugins were written in-house and used to analyse image intensities and colocalisation. Output data from image analysis was further analysed using Microsoft Excel as required.
## **Chapter 3 : Effect of CMV on the circulating lymphocytes**

#### **3.1 Introduction**

A variety of cell types and subtypes such as granulocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, T cells, and B cells at different populations constitute an essential part of the immune system (Lu et al., 2015). In CMV infection, a large fraction of T cell subtypes has been reported to be committed to keeping the virus under checks thereby causing alterations in the dynamics of T-cell populations, which strongly influence T cell immunity (Gamadia et al., 2001). Although not much is known about the role of circulating T and NK cells in FL, but depending on the frequencies and location of the different intratumoral T cell populations in the GCs, the tumour immunity and patient outcome in FL is influenced both negatively and positively (Yang et al., 2015). Therefore, quantitation, defining and ascribing specific roles played by the diverse T cell populations, for instance in the immunity of different pathological conditions, will help in providing diagnostic and prognostic evidence for patient management in FL. Multicolour flow cytometry can be used to quantify different subtypes of T cells and other cell types. Different research evidence has explained the events leading to cellular differentiation, acquisition of effector potential and eventual death of T cells. Activation of immature CD4+ T cells has been reported to present a linear differentiation model, in which cells continuously acquire functional abilities by every additional differentiation step (Lanzavecchia and Sallusto, 2002). However, persistent antigenic provocation over time can result in a gradual decline of memory and cytokine secretion capacities, and consequently, accumulation of short-lived CD4+ T cells (TEMRA cells) with poor cytokine production ability. At this stage of differentiation, further antigenic assault on the CD4+ TEMRA cells can activate the CD4+ T cell causing apoptosis. On the other hand, two alternative patterns of differentiation have been reported for the production of CD8+ T<sub>CM</sub> cells and CD8+ T<sub>EM</sub> cells: linear differentiation and fixed lineage (Seder et al., 2008, Kaech and Wherry, 2007). A continued antigenic challenge will lead to accumulation of CD8+ TEMRA cells and death similar to the CD4+ T cells pattern; however, CD8+  $T_{EM}$ cells have the ability to regain IL-2 expression and become CD8+ T<sub>CM</sub> cells unlike CD4+ T<sub>EM</sub> cells (Seder et al., 2008). NK cells are a subcategory of lymphocytes of the innate immune system that form about 10% of the circulating blood mononuclear cells in humans (Milush et al., 2009), they are usually described as CD3–CD56+ cells (Lanier et al., 1986a), and can be subgrouped by the intensity of CD56 on the cell surface. The distinct subtypes of NK cells can be classified based on relative expression of CD56 and CD16 surface markers (Yang and Ansell, 2012a). The majority of circulating NK cells (about 90%) exhibit low expression for CD56 (CD56dim) with high levels of CD16 and perforin and are described as terminally differentiated NK cells (Cooper et al., 2001a). NK cell development is characterised by the reduction in the expression of CD56 and the addition of CD16 expression. However, the presence of activated CD56dimCD16+ has been shown to represent the highest level of NK cell activation, which implies that CD56dimCD16+ cells represent the most mature NK cells subtype (Senpuku et al., 2016, Dulphy et al., 2008, André et al., 2000).

In this Chapter I therefore set out to evaluate the impact of CMV infection on circulating peripheral T and NK cell populations in FL patients.

#### **3.2 Patients and materials**

As described in section 2.6.6, the optimal working volumes of the 26 conjugated monoclonal antibodies were determined by staining cryopreserved PBMC samples from healthy volunteers (HV) using three different experimental volumes. For the

FACS analysis, 42 stored pre-treatment PBMC samples from PACIFICO trial patients, comprising 21-CMV- positive and 21-CMV- negative were used. Aside the strict inclusion and exclusion criteria that applied in the recruitment of FL trial participants as stated in section 2.3, a careful selection of study patients based on balanced clinical and pathological baseline characteristics as in Table 3-1 between the CMV groups was adopted. This approach is aimed to minimise possible influence of confounders in the analysis and to enhance the chances of accurate evaluation of the biological effect of CMV infection status on FL.

A summary of demographic and baseline characteristics of this study cohort are described in Table 3-1. CMV- positive patients are marginally older compared to CMV- negative with median age of 73 years versus 69 years (p=0.055). Patients' risk factors and the prognosis are stratified according to the Follicular Lymphoma International Prognostic Index (FLIPI) score into three risk categories: good (0 or 1), Intermediate (2) and poor (3-4). The FLIPI score is determined using five adverse prognostic factors including Ann Arbor stage (III-IV vs. I-II), age (> 60 years vs.  $\leq$  60 years), haemoglobin level (< 120 g/L vs.  $\geq$  120 g/L), number of nodal areas (> 4 vs.  $\leq$ 4), and serum LDH level (above normal vs normal or below) (Solal-Céligny et al., 2004). A slightly higher proportion of CMV- positive patients are on the high risk grade compared to the CMV- negative (71% vs.67%). The Cumulative Illness Rating Scale (CIRS) is used for the physical assessment of impairment of patients under 13 near independent areas. It is a 5-point rating of the degree of severity scale that ranges from none (1) to extremely severe (5) (Linn et al., 1968). There is no significant difference in the proportion of patients in Table 3-1 due to CIRS. Also, as can be seen in Table 3-1, there is no significant difference in the clinicopathological variables of patients included in the two arms of study cohorts, the CMV- positive and CMV- negative.

## Table 3-1: The comparison of baseline characteristics with CMV infection status of patients studied in this chapter and Chapter 4

		CMV Status		
			(n=42)	
Characteristics	Total			
Characteristics	(n=42) *	Positive	Negative	P **
		(n=21) *	(n=21) *	
Age	71.5 (68 – 75)	73.0 (70 - 76)	69 (66 - 73)	0.055
Median (IQR)		73.0 (70 - 70)	09 (00 - 73)	
Gender N (%)				1.000
Male	17 (40.5)	9 (42.9)	8 (38.1)	
Female	25 (59.5)	12 (57.1)	13 (61.9)	
Haemoglobin (g/dL), Median (IQR)	13.2 (9.25 - 20.75)	13.2 (11.5-14.6)	13.2 (11.6 - 14.1)	0.812
Ann Arbor stage N (%)				1.000
2	6 (14.3)	3 (14.3)	3 (14.3)	
3	14 (33.3)	7 (33.3)	7 (33.3)	
4	22 (52.4)	11 (52.4)	11 (52.4)	
CIRS Score N (%)				1.000
≤5	34 (80.9)	17 (81.0)	17 (81.0)	
>5	8 (19.1)	4 (19.0)	4 (19.0)	
No. lymph nodes N (%)				0.666
1	1 (2.4)	0 (0.0	1 (4.8)	
2	1 (2.4)	1 (4.8)	0 (0.0)	
3	3 (7.1)	1 (4.8)	2 (9.5)	
4	4 (9.5)	2 (9.5)	2 (9.5)	
5	2 (4.8)	2 (9.5)	0 (0.0)	
6	31 (73.8)	15 (71.4)	16 (76.2)	
LDH Median (IQR)	385 (266-481)	388 (216-453)	382 (349-492)	0.584
FLIPI Score N (%)				1.000
0-1 (low risk)	3 (7.1)	1 (4.8)	2 (9.5)	
2 (intermediate risk)	10 (23.8)	5 (23.8)	5 (23.8)	
3-5 (high risk)	29 (69.1)	15 (71.4)	14 (66.7)	
Histology N (%)				0.541
1	12 (28.6)	5 (23.8)	7 (33.3)	
2	12 (28.6)	13 (61.9)	9 (42.9)	
3	8 (19.0)	3 (14.3)	5(23.8)	

\*For continuous variables this refers to the Mean (SD), or Median (IQR) if indicated \*\*P value by  $x^2$  test or Fisher's exact test for the difference between categorical variables or t test for the difference between two means.

## 3.3 The conjugated monoclonal antibodies

The list and description of the conjugated monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) used for the

FACS analysis are found in Table 3-2.

Table 3-2: The description a	and sources of the mA	bs used for the FACS
------------------------------	-----------------------	----------------------

S/#	mAbs	Format	Clone	lsotype	Cat #	Supplier
1	CD3	FITC	UCHT1 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	555916	BD Biosciences
2	CD3	PERCP-CY5.5	UCHT1	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	560835	BD Biosciences
3	CD4	APC-H7	RPA-T4 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	560158	BD Biosciences
4	CD8	AF700	RPA-T8 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	557945	BD Biosciences
5	CD11a	PE-CY7	HI111 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	561387	BD Biosciences
6	CD14	PE-CY7	M5E2 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>2a</sub> , к	557742	BD Biosciences
7	CD16	PE-CF594	3G8 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	562293	BD Biosciences
8	CD19	BV650	SJ25C1(SJ25-C1) (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	563226	BD Biosciences
9	CD25	PE-CF594	M-A251 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	562403	BD Biosciences
10	CD27	PERCP-CY5.5	M-T271 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	560612	<b>BD</b> Biosciences
11	CD28	PE	CD28.2 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	555729	BD Biosciences
12	CD43	BV421	1G10 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	562916	BD Biosciences
13	CD45	BV510	HI30 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	563204	BD Biosciences
14	CD45	BV650	HI30 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	563717	BD Biosciences
15	CD45RA	BV510	HI100 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>2b</sub> , к	563031	BD Biosciences
16	CD45RO	BV605	UCHL1 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>2a</sub> , к	562791	BD Biosciences
17	CD56	PERCP-CY5.5	B159 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	560842	BD Biosciences
18	CD57	APC	NK-1 (RUO)	Mouse IgM, к	560845	<b>BD</b> Biosciences
19	CD62L	APC	DREG-56 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	559772	BD Biosciences
20	CD62L	BV605	DREG-56 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	562719	BD Biosciences
21	CD69	PE-CY7	FN50 (FN50 (RUO))	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , κ	557745	BD Biosciences
22	CD127	BV510	HIL-7R- M21 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , κ	563086	BD Biosciences
23	CD197 (CCR7)	BV421	150503 (RUO)	Mouse $IgG_{2a}$	562555	BD Biosciences
24	CD279 (PD-1)	PE	EH12.1 (EH12) (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	560795	BD Biosciences
25	LAG-3	FITC	17B4	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub>	ALX-804-806-C100	Enzo Life Sciences
26	TIM-3	APC	344823	Rat IgG2A	FAB2365A	R & D Systems
27	Istotype control	BV650	X40 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	563231	BD Biosciences
28	Istotype control	BV510	X40 (RUO)	Mouse IgG <sub>1</sub> , к	562946	BD Biosciences

All mAbs were purchased from BD Bioscience, Oxford UK with exception of LAG-3-FITC (Enzo Life Sciences, UK) and TIM-3-APC (R & D Systems, UK). On arrival, all mAbs were kept in the fridge and any reagent that expired in the course of time were removed and replaced with new vials of preferably similar batches and working volumes determined.

### 3.4 Establishment of FACS method for the study

The 3-tube multicolour FACS design illustrated in Figure 3-1 is aimed at defining the several T and NK cell subpopulations in the peripheral blood. Tube 1 contains 10 conjugated mAbs listed in Figure 3-1 designed to analyse for senescent T cells (CD57+CD28-), NKT and NK cells (CD56 & CD16) of the study cohort, as well as B cells (CD19+) and monocytes (CD14+) gated as controls.



Figure 3-1: Illustrating the 3-tube design and the respective panels of conjugated mAbs.

The values in brackets represent the respective working volumes of the mAbs in microlitres.

Tube 2 contains 12 mAbs and is dedicated to examining the frequencies of the different differentiation stages to T cells including the naïve (CD45RA+CD45RO-CCR7+CD62L+), central memory (CD45RA-CD45RO+CCR7+CD62L+), effector memory (CD45RA-CD45RO+CCR7-CD62L-) and effector (CD45RA+CD45RO-CCR7-CD62L-) T cells. Terminally differentiated T cells (TEMRA) subtypes are also defined using CD27 and CD28 as well as those of regulatory T cells (Tregs) (CD4+CD25+). The tube 3, an 11 mAbs panel is committed to the analysis of T cell exhaustion markers including PD-1, LAG-3, and TIM-3.

Due to variations in the availability of material and the number of gated T cells (CD3+), the number of events acquired per tube was between 100,000 and 2,000,000, with majority of samples yielding 500,000 events and above. Isotype controls and single stained fluorescence histograms were used to gate for cut-offs for distinct lymphocyte populations on Diva software platform using respective surface markers.

The number of events, percent parent and percent total events of the various cell types and subtypes are automatically defined and displayed using FACSDiva software. Conventionally, this provides the needed values for measuring the percent of lymphocyte subpopulations within the lymphocyte gate. A comparative analysis of the median values of percent parent (relative) frequencies of the different lymphocyte subtypes according to the CMV status was carried out using a nonparametric Mann-Whitney U-test analysis to determine the significant difference. A p-value of < 0.05 is considered significant.

#### **3.5 Results of T & NK cell subtypes**

The analysis of cell surface markers has been used to define the various lymphocyte populations in stored PBMC samples using multiparametric flow cytometry. Essential FACS optimisation steps aimed at minimising errors and generating reliable results and subsequent interpretations were strictly adopted. Of note, the right approach to FACS data analyses and presentation of the cell population of interest are as important as cells acquisition design. Before commencement of the FACS experiments, optimal working volumes of fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies were determined, contour and dot plots were evaluated against polygon and rectangle gating strategies respectively, gating strategies for the three FACS tubes were evaluated, and fresh versus frozen FACS assessed.

#### 3.5.1 An assessment of gating Strategies

Routinely, the dot or quantile contour plots are applied to display FACS data for gating and analysis. The contour plots have been shown to produce a more reliable data representation than dot plots by maintaining the contours in the quantile contour plots despite the number of observations displayed (Herzenberg et al., 2006, Tung et al., 2004). In dot plots, higher numbers of events tend to get the dot plots saturated resulting in difficulties in gating for the populations of interest for analysis (Tung et al., 2004).

The assessment of gating Strategies is set to evaluate the possible impact of using different gating strategies and plots on FACSDiva Software (BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK) in the analysis of the various cell populations and the overall analysis of data. Common antibody markers included in the three FACS tubes including anti-CD45, - CD3, -CD4 and -CD8 were considered for the assessment. A fresh PBMC from healthy volunteer sample coded 3457 was stained with the different monoclonal antibodies, and cells acquired using FACSDiva Software.

The first two upper rows (A & B panels) in Figure 3-2 depicts rectangle and polygon gating strategies for CD45-BV510 (Amcyan channel on Fortessa), CD3-Alexa Fluor 488, CD8-Alexa Fluor 700 and CD4-APC-Cy7 populations displayed on Contour plots. Interestingly, no pronounced difference in the percent population of the cells due to gating method observed. Similarly, the two lower rows (C & D panels) in Figure 3-2 illustrates rectangle and polygon gating strategies for CD45-BV510 (Amcyan channel on Fotessa), CD3-Alexa Fluor 488, CD8-Alexa Fluor 700 and CD4-APC-Cy7 populations displayed on dot plots. Again, no noticeable difference in the percentage cell populations was observed between the two gating techniques. Also, no huge difference in the percentage expression of gated cell types across the

two categories of plots is observed. Consequently, this study has adopted the use of both contour and dot plots and has applied both rectangular and polygon gating strategies individually or in combination depending on the evaluation type and the nature of discreteness of the cell populations of interest.



Figure 3-2: Evaluating gating Strategies.

Contour plots (A and B panels) and dot plots (C and D panels) against polygon gating and rectangle gating strategies for adoption in the analysis of data on Diva Software (BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK).

#### 3.5.2 Illustrations of gating strategies for the FACS tubes

In the FACS design, consideration was made for the analysis of the various T cell populations by purposefully incorporating CD45, CD3, CD4 and CD8 markers in all the three FACS tubes to define hierarchy and facilitate data analysis. In the gating strategy for T-cell subpopulations and subpopulations, the first thing was to display cells based on the forward scatter (FSC) for size and side scatter (SSC) for cell characteristics to identify the various cell populations present in the suspension. In all the tubes, analysis commenced with the gating of CD45, being the leukocyte-common antigen (L-CA) and all the cells of interest possess CD45 surface marker.

The percentage circulating T cells was determined using the membrane determinant CD3. Due to high chance of dual positivity for CD4 and CD8 subtypes of CD3 surface markers, CD4-APC-Cy7 and CD8-Alexa Fluor 700 were identified and gated from the CD3 population independently on the FSC axis. Figure 3-3 demonstrates the gating strategy adopted for tube one, which is a 9-parameter, 10-colour FACS designs as defined by the hierarchical tree in Figure 3-4. Senescent CD4 and CD8 populations were defined by plotting CD57-APC versus CD28- PE and gating for CD57+CD28-. For NKT cells, CD56-PerCp-Cy5.5 versus CD16-PE-CF594 were gated from CD3-FITC and NKT cells population (CD3+CD56+CD16+) was defined. NK cell subcategories were determined from the CD45-BV510 population by gating CD56-PerCp-cy5.5 versus CD16-PE-Cy7 and CD19-BV650 from the CD45-BV510 respectively.



Figure 3-3: Gating Strategy adopted for tube 1 of FACS design.

Contour plots and rectangular gates identify populations of interest. All cell markers were gated from CD45 AmCyan-A (highlighted blue) and the arrows indicate the origin of parent cells while the markers on the top of each plot represent the parent name. The markers of interest for each plot are labelled on the x-and y-axis.

The arrows show the direction of the gating. From the gating strategy in Figure 3-3 and the hierarchy used in differentiating the various cells types as display in Figure 3-4, gating began with the identification of CD45+ population in all the three tubes on the FACS design. In tube 1, four main populations were gated from the leukocyte common antigen (CD45) including CD3-Alexa Fluor-488 (T cells), CD14-PE-Cy7 (Monocytes), CD19-Qdot-655 (B cells) and CD56-PerCP (NK cells). Other downstream cell populations that were subsequently gated from CD3+ populations include senescent T cells and NKT cell populations. Figure 3-4 illustrated the hierarchy through which different cell markers were used to identify the various cell types in the tube 1 of the FACS design.

Tube: pac0108-1			
Population	#Events	%Parent	%Total
All Events	500,000	####	100.0
ED45	303,282	60.7	60.7
CD3	62,326	20.6	12.5
	32,316	51.8	6.5
CD3CD4CD57+/CD28- [Senescent CD4]	3,498	10.8	0.7
CD8	37,043	59.4	7.4
CD3CD8CD57+/CD28- [Senescent CD8]	17,182	46.4	3.4
CD3CD56+/CD16+ [NKT cells]	150	0.2	0.0
CD56	6,105	2.0	1.2
CD56 minus CD3	5,655	92.6	1.1
CD56+/CD16+ [NK cells]	3,600	63.7	0.7
CD56+/CD16- [NK cells]	2,095	37.0	0.4
CD14+ [Monocytes]	98,760	32.6	19.8
CD19+ [B cells]	21,308	7.0	4.3

## Figure 3-4: A hierarchical procedure used for analysis of cell types tested in tube 1.

A PACIFICO trial stored PBMC sample (pac0108) was used for this illustration showing number of events (#Events), percent parent cell (%Parent) and percent total (%Total) as displayed on FACSDiva software.

The contour plot gating approach adopted for tube 2 is shown in Figure 3-5, a 14parameter, 12-colour FACS design. It is planned to define Naïve (N), central memory (CM), effector memory (EM), Effector (E) T cells and terminally differentiated (TEMRA) T cells plus regulatory T cells (Tregs) as can be seen in the cells hierarchal distinctions in Figure 3-6. In this design, CD45RA-BV510 and CD45RO-BV605 were gated separately from CD4 and CD8 populations respectively due to the likely existence of double-positive CD45RA+CD45RO+ T cells (Sandberg et al., 2001). Broadly, this categorises CD4 and CD8 populations into Naïve and memory T cells, an important platform for further definitions of the subsets of T cells using appropriate markers. To further discriminate between CM and EM populations and between naïve and effector populations, CD197 (CCR7)-BV421, a chemokine receptor was gated from both CD45RA (naïve) and CD45RO (memory) of the CD4 and CD8 arms respectively. At this point, naïve (CD45RA+CCR7+), effector (CD45RO+CCR7-), CM (CD45RO+CCR7+)and EM (CD45RO+CCR7-) populations for CD4 and CD8 are defined. To increase the specificity of naïve and CM cells and characterization of the subtypes of effector and EM T cells, CD11a a mediator of leukocyte adhesion, and the cell surface expression of CD27 and CD28, costimulatory molecules were used. Therefore, CD11a-PE-Cy7 was gated from the FSC axis of the CD45RA+CCR7+ plots for both CD4 and CD8 arms. To define and quantify naïve T cells, CD27-PerCp-Cy5.5 versus CD28-PE was gated from the CD11a population, and CD27+CD28+ events on the top right quadrants were used to define the N-CD4 and CD8 T cell populations respectively. The CM T cells (CD27+CD28+) were gated from the CD45RO+CCR7+ plots. Also, to identify and quantify the subtypes of effector and EM populations, CD27-PerCp-Cy5.5 versus CD28-PE was gated from both CD45RA+ and CD45RO+ plots. The quadrants of the contour plots defined the T cell subtypes as pE1 (CD27+CD28+), pE2 (CD27+CD28-) and effector (CD27-CD28-) populations from the CD45RA+CCR7- of the CD4 and

CD8. In a similar approach, the subtypes of EM were defined by the number of events in the quadrants of the contour plots as EM1 (CD27+CD28+), EM2 (CD27+CD28-), EM3 (CD27-CD28-) and EM4 (CD27-CD28+).



Figure 3-5: Gating Strategies adopted for tube 2 of FACS design.

Contour plots and rectangular gates identify populations of interest. All cell markers were gated from CD45 AmCyan-A (highlighted blue) and the arrows indicate the origin of parent cells while the markers on the top of each plot represent the parent name. The markers of interest for each plot are labelled on the x-and y-axis.

As a multicolour design comprising of cell surface markers, we could not include FOXP3, a specific marker for regulatory T (Treg) cells (Roncarolo and Gregori, 2008) to avoid subjecting the majority of the markers to the additional fixing and

permeabilizing requirements for the intracellular markers. Therefore, CD25-PE-CF594 was used to define the population of regulatory T cells (Tregs) gating from the FSC axis of the CD4+ plot as CD4+CD25+.

Tube: pac0108-2			
Population	#Events	%Parent	%Total
All Events	500,000	####	100.0
CD45	291,941	58.4	58.4
CD3	63,649	21.8	12.7
CD4	28,439	44.7	5.7
CD45RA	16,909	59.5	3.4
CCR7	14,484	85.7	2.9
CD11a	13,936	96.2	2.8
CD27+CD28+ [N CD4]	13,235	95.0	2.6
CCR7-	2,425	14.3	0.5
CD27+CD28+ [pE1 CD4]	427	17.6	0.1
CD27+CD28- [pE2 CD4]	410	16.9	0.1
CD27-CD28- [E CD4]	1,067	44.0	0.2
CD45RO	20,246	71.2	4.0
CCR7+	13,183	65.1	2.6
CD27+CD28+ [CM CD4]	11,287	85.6	2.3
CCR7	7,063	34.9	1.4
CD27-CD28+ [EM4 CD4]	2,722	38.5	0.5
CD27+CD28+ [EM1 CD4]	2,209	31.3	0.4
	1,617	22.9	0.3
CD27+CD28- [EM2 CD4]	515	7.3	0.1
CD4+CD25+ [Tregs]	2,870	10.1	0.6
	32,195	50.6	6.4
	24,274	75.4	4.9
CCR7++	1,400	5.8	0.3
CD11a+	1,358	97.0	0.3
CD27+CD28+ [N CD8]	788	58.0	0.2
CCR7	22,874	94.2	4.6
CD27+CD28+ [pE1 CD8]	1,386	6.1	0.3
	1,732	7.6	0.3
CD27-CD28- [E CD8]	16,936	74.0	3.4
<u>CD</u> 45RO+	21,212	65.9	4.2
CCR7+++	1,204	5.7	0.2
CD27+CD28+ [CM CD8]	664	55.1	0.1
	20,008	94.3	4.0
CD27-CD28+ [EM4 CD8]	4,518	22.6	0.9
CD27+CD28+ [EM1 CD8]	2,135	10.7	0.4
CD27-CD28- [EM3 CD8]	11,897	59.5	2.4
[⊠] CD27+CD28- [EM2 CD8]	1,458	7.3	0.3

## Figure 3-6: An example of hierarchical analysis of different cell types in tube 2.

A PACIFICO trial stored PBMC sample (pac0108) was used for this illustration showing number of events (#Events), percent parent cell (%Parent) and percent total (%Total) as displayed on FACSDiva software.

The tube 3 of the FACS design is a 6-parameter, 11- colour analysis of T cell markers of exhaustion and gating strategy is as outlined in Figure 3-7, while Figure 3-8 shows the main exhaustion markers analysed to include PD-1, LAG-3 and TIM-3 for both CD4+ and CD8<sub>+</sub> arms.

As part of T-cell subpopulations, gating for exhausted T cells commenced with the CD45+ populations through to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells as in Figure 3-7. CD43-BV421 versus CD62L-BV605 was gated from the CD4+ and CD8+ contour plots; CD127-BV510 versus CD69-PE-Cy7 was gated from the CD43+CD62L+ population. Exhaustion markers CD279 (PD-1)-PE, LAG-3-FITC and TIM-3-APC were gated individually from the CD127+CD69+ plot for CD4 and CD8 arms.



Figure 3-7: Gating Strategies for tube 3 of FACS design.

Contour plots and rectangular gates identify populations of interest. All cell markers were gated from CD45 AmCyan-A (highlighted blue) and the arrows indicate the origin of parent cells while the markers on the top of each plot represent the parent name. The markers of interest for each plot are labelled on the x-and y-axis.

Tube: pac0108-3			
Population	#Events	%Parent	%Total
All Events	500,000	####	100.0
CD45	193,128	38.6	38.6
CD3	61,893	32.0	12.4
CD4	28,244	45.6	5.6
CD43+/CD62L+	2,552	9.0	0.5
CD127+/CD69+	4	0.2	0.0
PD-1	661	25.9	0.1
LAG3	4	0.2	0.0
TIM3	8	0.3	0.0
CD8	31,539	51.0	6.3
CD43/CD62L	925	2.9	0.2
CD127/CD69	4	0.4	0.0
PD1	125	13.5	0.0
LAG-3	4	0.4	0.0
TIM-3	5	0.5	0.0

## Figure 3-8: An example of hierarchical analysis of different cell types in tube 3.

A PACIFICO trial stored PBMC sample (pac0108) was used for this illustration showing number of events (#Events), percent parent cell (%Parent) and percent total (%Total) as displayed on FACSDiva software

#### 3.5.3 Fresh versus frozen FACS analysis

Because the PBMC samples used for this study were stored frozen at -80°C and for the purpose of possible clinical translational and interpretational relevance of the FACS data, it is crucial to evaluate the impact of freezing on PBMCs FACS analysis. Consequently, before the commencement of FACS analysis of the stored trial PBMC samples, a fresh sample was treated to mimic freeze-thaw experience and FACS analysis of the fresh, frozen and purified PBMCs were carried out to evaluate the effect of freeze-thaw on for the major subtypes of cells.

As demonstrated in Figure 3-9, panel A represents tube 1 of the FACS design. There was no significant variation in the percent parent cells of the various cell subpopulations except NK cells that have shown a clear reduction in the frozen and purified cells as compared to the fresh cells. By implication, FACS analysis of NK

cells may yield a more representative data by using fresh PBMC samples compared to stored PBMC samples. However, in this study, analysis of NK cell subtypes was carried out using the recoverable amount of NK cells in the thawed stored trial PBMC samples. For the FACS data from panel B (Figure 3-9; tube 2) and panel C in Figure 3-9 (Tube 3), minimal variations in the quantities of the cell types in the three phases of treated cell categories observed and importantly, all parameters are detectable in the frozen PBMCs as well as in the fresh samples. Therefore, all other parameters within the study design have been determined with an acceptable degree of confidence.



Figure 3-9: FACS comparison of fresh, frozen and purified PBMCs.

Local Biobank samples were used to compare the FACs staining and cell populations using fresh whole blood (blue bars), fresh PBMCs (green) and frozen PBMCs (red). Panels A, B and C have followed the hierarchy of cell types in Tubes 1, 2 and 3 of the FACS design.

#### **3.5.4** The lymphocyte subtypes

Using the established flow cytometry method and analysis strategies, I successfully quantified relative percentages of T and NK cell populations from parent cells (as in Figures 3-4, 3-6 and 3-8) in samples taken from a cohort of patients with FL (see Table 3-3). Mann-Whitney U-test was used to compare the relative proportions (median percentage) of the various cell types between CMV-positive and CMV-negative groups. Of interest, statistically significant elevation in the frequencies of pre-effector-2 CD4 (pE2-CD4; CD45RA+CD27+CCR7-CD28-), effector-CD4 (E-CD4; CD45RA+CD27-CCR7-CD28-), effector memory-3 CD4 (EM3-CD4; CD45RO+CD27-CCR7-CD28-), effector-CD8 (E-CD8; CD45RA+CD27-CCR7-CD28-) and effector memory-3-CD8 (EM3-CD8; CD45RO+CD27-CCR7-CD28-) phenotypes were observed in CMV- positive compared to CMV-negative patients as shown in Table 3-3. The most striking common features of these T cell subcategories is the loss of CD28 and CCR7 (CD28-CCR7-) surface markers. The subtypes of effector cells express CD45RA+ isoform; those of the effector memory cells express CD45RO+.

Also, looking at the results in Table 3-3, a statistically significant increase in the frequency of NKT cells (p=0.031) was detected among CMV-positive patients compared to CMV- negative cohort. However, NKT cells are known to perform both protective and destructive consequences due to their abilities to produce cytokines that support either inflammatory responses or immune tolerance.

Marginal differences were observed in the percentages of CD4+ T cells and CD4-LAG3 subpopulations (p=0.051 and p=0.074; Table 3-3) due to CMV status. Also, a marginal difference is observed in the ratio of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell populations between CMV- Positive and CMV- negative groups (1.2 vs. 1.5, p=0.054; Table 3-3).

Table 3-3: The comparison of cell subtypes between patients with and withoutCMV infection

S#	Cell types		CMV Status		
		Total	Positive	Negative	Р
		Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	
1	Viability	78.4 (70.8-83.2)	77.9 (69.6-83.2)	80.6 (73.0-82.8)	0.458
2	CD4	72.4(56.1-88.4)	65.8 (46.3-75.0)	85.6 (68.6-93.0)	0.051
3	CD8	48.6 (28.8-66.1)	49.9 (38.3-64.5)	42.3 (22.5-70.0)	0.466
4	CD4:CD8	1.4 (0.9-2.6)	1.2 (0.7-1.7)	1.5 (1.0-3.3)	0.054
5	Snt-CD4	3.4 (0.7-10.8)	5.0 (1.0-13.2)	2.7 (0.6-7.1)	0.134
6	Snt-CD8	24.7 (15.5-46.3)	35.1 (15.5-55.1)	24.3 (16.5-37.2)	0.218
7	NKT Cells	1.15 (0.3-2.8)	1.6 (0.6-3.8)	0.5 (0.1-1.6)	0.032
8	Monocytes	9.9 (4.7-24.4)	15.9 (4.7-24.4)	8.6 (6.0-17.8)	0.571
9	B cells	9.2 (6.2-168)	9.3 (7.0-25.7)	9.1 (6.2-12.0)	0.589
10	N-CD4	91.5 (82.0-95.0)	90.7 (84.6-94.5)	91.5 (82.0-97.3)	0.850
11	pE1-CD4	33.9 (17.5-51.0)	33.3 (17.6-50.2)	34.5 (14.3-51.0)	0.920
12	pE2-CD4	10.6 (5.5-17.1)	10.8 (8.2-25)	7.3 (0.3-12.2)	0.048
13	E-CD4	18.8 (10.5-42.1)	20.2 (13.8-47.8)	11.9 (5.4-26.9)	0.030
14	CM-CD4	84.2 (69.6-91.7)	84.6 (71.2-91.3)	83.9 (69.6-91.7)	0.860
15	EM4-CD4	22.6 (4.0-39.0)	22.1 (9.2-35.7)	23.1 (0.4-57.6)	0.792
16	EM1-CD4	46.4 (15.8-65.7)	46.7 (37.7-57.9)	39.9 (13.2-70.0)	0.473
17	EM3-CD4	11.9 (2.3-22.1)	13.9 (9.4-33.6)	7.3 (0.7-13.7	0.019
18	EM2-CD4	6.2 (1.6-11.2)	6.8 (2.3-11.2)	5.2 (0.6-10.8)	0.521
19	Tregs	6.2 (2.4-15.7)	7.9 (3.8-10.9)	5.6 (1.1-17.5)	0.940
20	N-CD8	53.5 (12.0-76.5)	34.0 (12.0-63.4)	63.7 (26.8-81.6)	0.163
21	pE1-CD8	14.4 (6.1-34.6)	11.5 (6.3-31.1)	16.0 (2.1-36.1)	0.782
22	pE2-CD8	13.9 (5.4-28.9)	15.3 (6.2-25.2)	10.1 (0.8-31.1)	0.208
23	E-CD8	41.4 (14.6-64.1)	54.9 (38.1-72.1)	20.8 (7.4-49.1)	0.035
24	CM-CD8	62.2 (25.8-75.7)	59.4 (17.8-74.4)	63.6 (42.8-84.5)	0.521
25	EM4-CD8	10.9 (1.3-22.6)	7.1 (1.9-16.8)	17.6 (0.7-35.0)	0.279
26	EM1-CD8	25.6 (10.9-47.9)	20.9 (12.1-41.0)	26.6 (6.9-47.9)	0.850
27	EM3-CD8	31.6 (12.1-53.7)	46.5 (27.5-63.1)	15.5 (7.1-34.2)	0.005
28	EM2-CD8	8.7 (5.3-20.0)	9.4 (6.8-16.9)	7.6 (1.5-20.4)	0.563
29	PD1-CD4	49.7 (16.5-91.3)	62.5 (25.5-91.8)	43.3 (5.3-84.6)	0.151
30	LAG3-CD4	31.2 (2.6-83.3)	42.0 (11.1-95.7)	15.5 (2.0-66.7)	0.074
31	TIM3-CD4	0.3 (0.0-16.7)	2.0 (0.0 -26.0)	0.1 (0.0- 2.6)	0.172
32	PD1-CD8	25.0 (4.5-70.5)	29.5 (9.1-65.2)	12.5 (4.4- 70.5)	0.358
33	LAG3-CD8	6.4 (0.8-51.6)	12.8 (1.9- 82.5)	4.1 (0.0- 31.9)	0.278
34	TIM3-CD8	0.5 (0.0-25.0)	1.6 (0.0- 25.7)	0.4 (0.0 -5.6)	0.435
35	CD56+/CD16+	87.2 (68.8-95.4)	88.6 (69.5-95.3)	83.7 (68.8-95.9)	0.935
36	CD56+/CD16-	12.9 (4.6-31.9)	11.5 (4.7-30.5)	16.4 (4.1-31.9)	0.935

The table shows median relative percentages of cells types as determined from the parent populations in the hierarchical procedure in Figures 3-4, 3-6 and 3-8. The cell markers analysed include CD4, CD8, the ratio of CD4 to CD8 (CD4: CD8), senescent CD4 (Snt-CD4), CD8 (Snt-CD8), natural killer T cells (NKT cells), monocytes, B cells, Naïve CD4 (N-CD4), pre-effector - 1 CD4 (pE1-CD4), pre-effector - 2 CD4 (pE2-CD4), effector CD4 (E-CD4), central memory CD4 (CM-CD4), effector

memory -1 - CD4 (EM1-CD4), effector memory -2 - CD4 (EM2-CD4), effector memory -3 - CD4 (EM3-CD4), effector memory -4 - CD4 (EM4-CD4), regulatory T cells (Tregs), naïve CD8 (N-CD8), pre-effector - 1 CD8 (pE1-CD8), pre-effector - 2 CD8 (pE2-CD8), effector CD8 (E-CD8), central memory CD8 (CM-CD8), effector memory -1 - CD8 (EM1-CD8), effector memory -2 - CD8 (EM2-CD8), effector memory -3 - CD8 (EM3-CD8), effector memory -4 - CD8 (EM4-CD8), Programmed cell death protein- 1 CD4 (PD1-CD4), PD1-CD8, Lymphocyte-activation gene -3 CD4 (LAG3-CD4), Lymphocyte-activation gene -3 CD8 (LAG3-CD8), T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 CD4 (TIM3-CD4), T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 CD8 (TIM3-CD8), natural killer cells (CD56+/CD16+ and CD56+/CD16-).

The CD4+ T cells have shown a reduced frequency in the CMV- positive FL patients compared to CMV- negative group. Notably, CD4+ T cells alongside CD8+T cells forms the bulk of T-lymphocytes. The CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells are critical in attaining a coordinated, efficient immune response to pathogenic agents. Following activation, CD4+T cells differentiate into distinct effector subtypes that participate actively in mediating immune response by secreting distinct cytokines and partake in many functions. The functional activities of CD4+ T cells cover from the activation of the cells of the natural immune system, B-lymphocytes, cytotoxic T cells, as well as nonimmune cells, and also play a crucial part in the elimination of immune response. Although no striking observation is made on the values of exhaustion surface markers analysed, higher expression values of CD4+ and CD8+ PD-1, LAG-3 and TIM-3 (Table 3-3) phenotypes are seen among CMV- positive cohort compared to CMV-negative arm. The CMV-negative group presents a marginal increase in the median value of CD4: CD8 ratio of 1.5 against 1.1 of CMV-positive FL patients.

Also, no significant difference in quantities is observed of senescent CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in the study population. However, the CMV-positive patients show an increased expression trend for both senescent CD4+ and senescent CD8+ T cell populations compared to the negative FL patients.



Figure 3-10: Boxplots of end-stage T cell subtypes and NKT cells that show significant difference between CMV-positive and -negative patients.

## **3.6 Discussions**

The FACS analysis of the stored PBMC samples of patients have revealed elevated quantities of subtypes of end-stage terminally differentiated (TEMRA) T cells from both the CD4+ and CD8+ T cell compartments as well as NKT cells in the CMV-positive patients compared to the CMV- negative group. In details, these data show

that pre-effector-2 (pE2) (CD45RA+CD27+CCR7-CD28-), effector (CD45RA+CD27-CCR7-CD28-) and effector memory-3 (EM3) (CD45RO+CD27-CCR7-CD28-) subtypes of the CD4+ T cell compartment, as well as effector (CD45RA+CD27-CCR7-CD28-) and effector memory-3 (EM3) (CD45RO+CD27-CCR7-CD28-) phenotypes of the CD8+ T cell compartment accumulated more in the CMV-positive patients. Phenotypically, the terminally nonproliferating effector T cell subsets usually lack the costimulatory receptors CD27 and CD28 as well as lymph node homing receptors CCR7 and CD62L on the cells surface, and are variously referred to as TEMRA, CD45RA+ memory, terminally differentiated (T<sub>TD</sub>) or endstage or persisting effector T cells (Pawelec et al., 2005). As a result, these cells are characterised by diminished long-term memory potential, limited effector function and poor cytokine production resulting in impaired immune functions capable of causing increased vulnerability to infections (Wherry, 2011, Rothe et al., 2016).

CD4+ and CD8+T cells constitute the majority of the T-lymphocytes in the peripheral blood. Both of which possesses specific T cell receptors for efficient adaptive immunological responses. The high accumulation of nonproliferating versions of these cells portends immune deficits for the patients. Moreover, effector T cells that display TEMRA phenotypes have been reported to demonstrate senescence and end-stage differentiation and are found eminently increased in both CD4+ and CD8+ T cell arms, especially in association with ageing and CMV infection (Derhovanessian et al., 2011, Koch et al., 2008a). A close look at the differentiation phases of T cells in Figure 3-11 identifies terminal effector T cells (TEMRA) as the most differentiated subtype of memory T cells, which are known to be extremely susceptible to apoptosis and display high levels of perforin and Fas ligand (cytotoxic molecules) (Woodbury, 1996).



Figure 3-11: Illustrations of distinct and developmental phases of effector and memory T-cells.

Reproduced with permission from (Seder et al., 2008) and copyright clearance center.

Although higher proportion of NKT cells is observed in the CMV-positive FL patients, a functional analysis of these cells would be required to help in assessing the functional potential of the high frequency cells in FL. However, NKT cells are known to share properties of both NK cells and T cells. They act rapidly to stimuli, a characteristic of the innate arm of the immunity, and can produce cytokines such as IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-4 typical of adaptive immunity to promote or suppress different immune responses (Liao et al., 2013). Of interest, the NKT cells have been shown to play a role in tumour immunity. Particularly, it has been demonstrated that

poor IFN- $\gamma$  production due to defective NKT cells was observed in patients with progressive malignant multiple myeloma but not in non-progressive myeloma or premalignant gammopathy (Terabe and Berzofsky, 2008, Dhodapkar et al., 2003). Furthermore, an analysis of peripheral blood has reported a statistically significant reduction in the quantities of NKT cells in patients with some solid tumours in relation to healthy persons (Terabe and Berzofsky, 2008, Giaccone et al., 2002). Also, decreased production of IFN- $\gamma$  or proliferation by type I NKT cells associated with cancer patients, and low circulating levels of type I NKT cells was an independent predictor of poor O/S and DFS in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (Molling et al., 2007). Conversely, the type II NKT cells mediates a regulatory opposite role in tumour immunity, for instance, activation of type II NKT cells by sulfatide enhanced tumour burden. But because we did not stratify the NKT cells into its subtypes, it is not possible to conclude which subtype of NKT cells is elevated in the CMV-positive FL patients and what impact of such increase on clinical outcome of these patients. However, drawing from the functional profile of NKT cells, it is also sensible to infer that the CMV-positive FL will either suffer more recurrent infections and AEs as well as poor response to therapies. It is also suggested that the increase in NKT cells in CMV- positive cases might be a compensatory response to the reduction in adaptive immunity resulting from reduced CD4+ T cells and accumulation of exhausted T cells reported in Table 3-3.

Conversely, although marginally significant, CMV-positive patients are associated with decreased CD4+T cells (p=0.051, Table 3-3) were associated with CMV-negative FL patients compared to the CMV-positive group. Of note, CD4+ T helper ( $T_H$ ) and cytotoxic CD8+ T lymphocytes (CTL) constitute the bulk of T-lymphocytes. Importantly, CD4+ T cells which comprise of different lineages elicit immune

responses via the production of distinct cytokines and are capable of performing multiple functions including activation of a host of immune and non-immune cells such as B-lymphocytes and cytotoxic CD8+ T cells. In this regard, the CMV-negative FL patients possibly have some immunologic advantage over the CMV-positive patients. Furthermore, although there is no significant difference in the quantities of the Naïve-CD4+ and -CD8+ T cell phenotypes due to CMV status, the CMV- negative patient have shown a trend of higher median values for both naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells compared to the CMV- positive group (Table 3-3). It is important to mention that having sufficient quantities of naïve T cells provide a more virile response and protection against infections by novel pathogens (Pennock et al., 2013).

The multicolour flow cytometric analysis employed by the current study seems to demonstrate for the first time an analysis of a large number of subpopulations of T cells in FL, especially in relation to CMV infection. However, to secure a clear-cut interpretation of flow cytometric analysis of circulating lymphocyte subtypes, a functional analysis of the various T cell subsets is suggested. In the meantime, an exploratory analysis relating the quantities of the cell types to clinical data, involving treatment response status and toxicities records of the trial patients will help in providing a further understanding of the clinical implications of findings (see Chapter 7). Also, it is well known fact that in a deliberate effort to keep the CMV under checks, the immune profile of a latent CMV-infected individual is adversely affected, particularly leading to an expanded population of CMV-specific memory CD8+ T cells, in a memory inflation phenomenon (Klenerman and Oxenius, 2016). Unfortunately, it was not within the scope of this study to investigate this important

hallmark of CMV infection by evaluating for CMV-specific T cells and functional study to provide further support to findings.

Although not much has been reported on CD4 TEMRA cells, the phenomenon of expanded end stage T cells in the peripheral blood has been reported by researchers in relation to other clinical conditions. For instance, a study by Reinke et al has reported a significant correlation between elevated levels of end stage CD8 (+) effector memory T (TEMRA) cells in peripheral blood with delayed fracture healing (Reinke et al., 2013). Their study has provided a clear illustration of the role of T cells in modulating endogenous bone fracture repair even in the absence of infection. Another study that employed Cox regression model reported a 2-fold higher risk of late graft dysfunction among kidney transplant recipients who had increased levels of differentiated TEMRA CD8+ T cells before transplantation (Yap et al., 2014). Also, an increased accumulation of terminally differentiated CD8 T cells (TEMRA) has been reported in chronic graft-versus-host disease (cGVHD) as a consequence of continuous differentiation from naïve/central memory T cells to TEMRA cells following prolonged alloantigen exposure (D'Asaro et al., 2006). However, a study that also determined the frequency of subtypes of peripheral T-cells including CD8 TEMRA cells before kidney transplantation showed that advanced end-stage renal disease (ESRD) related with T-cell dysregulation is associated with a relative expansion of CD8 TEMRA cells guards against the acute rejection of kidney allografts (Betjes et al., 2012). Elevated percentages and absolute numbers of TEMRA cells in the subsets of CD4 and CD8 T that express CD26 were observed in type 1 diabetes and the number of TEMRA cells associated positively with indices of intermediate and long-term glycaemic control (Matteucci et al., 2011). The significant accumulation of TEMRA T cells in type 1 diabetes patients is thought to be caused by

a long-term and sustained antigenic stimulation consequent to a prolonged presentation of viral or other antigenic particles or could be a homeostatic deficit in the regulation/contraction of immunological responses.

Judging from the significant accumulation of end-stage T cells and high amount of senescence and exhausted T cells in the CMV-positive patients, one may speculate that the presence of CMV infection in FL patients is capable of altering the immune dynamics of patients. These findings support the hypothesis that CMV infection results in perturbation of the immune system in FL in a way that might increase the risk of infection, and this question is examined directly in Chapter 6.

## **Chapter 4 : Effect of CMV infection on Serum cytokines**

#### **4.1 Introduction**

Immune cells in both the tumour microenvironment and in the peripheral circulation are known to secrete cytokines that perform critical roles in the control of fundamental pathways of the immune system (Labidi et al., 2010). The cytokine types and quantities may reveal some fundamental biological developments involving tumour–host interplays (Pedersen et al., 2005). Cytokines are incriminated in the pathogenesis of various lymphomas. For instance, elevated frequencies of several cytokines and angiogenic factors have been documented as biomarkers for utility in the diagnosis and prognosis of Hodgkin and NHLs (Casasnovas et al., 2007, Pedersen et al., 2005, Salven et al., 2000).

In this perspective, high serum quantities of VEGF and FGF-basic at diagnosis have been associated with poor outcome in NHL (Salven et al., 1997). Also, low baseline serum IL-6 and VEGF levels have been related to a good response rate and overall survival in NHL patients (Pedersen et al., 2005). This has been further echoed by a significant reduction of the serum IL-6 and VEGF in NHL patients that achieved CR following CHOP treatment(Pedersen et al., 2005).

Since CMV infection has been shown to elevate end-stage T cell subtypes in patients with FL as found in Chapter 3, cytokines produced by those cells or other cell types may reflect functions and regulations of those T cells in FL. CMV infection, therefore, may alter the cytokine profiles in the serum of patients with this disease. However, there is still a lack of sufficient experimental evidence for such a hypothesis. Thus, this chapter aimed to address this hypothesis with the analysis of 27 serum cytokines secreted mainly by T cells and other cells in patients with and

without CMV infection before the commencement of trial treatment. To achieve this, I applied the Luminex technique to measure those cytokines quantitatively. This technique was used because a profoundly sensitive readout of the bulk of cytokines is achievable with a tiny amount of the sample. Also, Luminex technology allows for simultaneous measurement of multiple proteins (cytokines), thereby reduce sample handling, for instance, the freezing/thawing cycles as well as decreased processing time (Ellington et al., 2009). Although Multiplex assay is comparable with other immunoassays (Dias et al., 2005, Wang et al., 2005), some of the problems that may be encountered with introducing multiplex assays in routine clinical use in comparison with the single-plex platforms such as sELISA may include the determination of the optimum working sample dilution that can cut across the spectrum of all analytes being measured and the freezing-thawing stability across analytes (Jani et al., 2016). As these challenges further increase the complexity of validating the performance of the Multiplex assay for its intended use, this study was planned to examine the agreement between Luminex assay and sELISA technique in order to examine the quality of the cytokine data generated from Luminex as well as to evaluate the impact of freeze-thaw cycles on the sELISA results of serum cytokines. The outcomes of these experiments will inform whether results of cytokine data generated using either of the techniques can be reliably used for cytokine analysis in the routine clinical patient care.

## 4.2 Laboratory Approaches & Reagents

As stated above, the Bio-Plex Pro Human Cytokine 27-plex Assay (Luminex, Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd, Hertfordshire, UK)) platform was used to measure the expression levels of serum cytokines of the FL patients used in the FACS analysis in Chapter 3. The 27 cytokines determined before the treatment in serum samples of 42 FL patients comprising of 21 CMV- positive and 21 CMV- negative are listed in Table 4-1. The choice of the 27-plex was based on the availability of commercial kits for the evaluation of the right blend of cytokines and mediators that spans across T<sub>H</sub>1 (IL-12, IL-15, INF- $\gamma$ , TGF- $\beta$ ) and T<sub>H</sub>2 (IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, IL-13) cytokine types based on their sources (Ellyard et al., 2007, Cui and Florholmen, 2008, Kantola et al., 2012). By function, the test kit has proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8, IL-17, and GM-CSF, anti-inflammatory for instance IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, IL-1ra; as well as haematopoietic growth factors (GM-CSF, G-CSF) and chemoattractants (IL-8, MIP- $1\alpha$ , and MIP-1 $\beta$ ). Included in the assay kits are 96-well microplates, coupled magnetic beads, detection antibodies, standards, Bio-Plex Pro<sup>™</sup> Streptavidin-PE reagents, and diluents for the detection of 27 human cytokines (refer to section 2.1). The two patient groups were carefully selected to ensure that any difference observed in the results between CMV- negative and CMV- positive groups would be not attributable to differences in their baseline clinical and pathological characteristics. Experiments were performed in the GCLP Facility owing to the legal requirement for trial samples to be processed and analysed to stringent criteria. To adjust the cytokine concentrations in samples within the range required for the test, 50µl of each serum sample were diluted with 150µl of sample diluent according to pre-optimised working condition in the GCLP laboratory. For the validation exercise, PeproTech sandwich ELISA Development Kits (EDK) containing essential components for the quantitative measurement of human cytokines in a sandwich ELISA format was used (refer to section 2.6.2). To evaluate the impact of freezing and thawing on serum sample sELISA results, we undertook sELISA analyses of IL-4, IL-6, IL-8 and IL-9 using respective serum samples from healthy volunteers that were previously subjected to a planned thawing and freezing cycles 1 to 3. Furthermore, to evaluate the agreement

between Luminex and sELISA techniques for the quantification cytokine levels in serum samples, serum IL-9 concentrations of the 42 trial tested with Luminex assay were analysed with sELISA and evaluated using Pearson's correlation coefficient (r).

## 4.3 The results

In this section, the serum cytokine data generated from the Multiplex assay, the data on the impact of thawing and freezing of serum samples using sELISA and the results of correlational analysis between serum IL-9 values determined by Luminex and sELISA are presented. The median and the interquartile range (IQR) values of serum cytokines (in pg/ml) are presented according to CMV status as shown in Table 4-1. Boxplots in Figures 4-1 and the heat map representations in Figures 4-2 to Figure 4-5 are displayed with p-values and hierarchical clustering respectively to enhance the visibility of the data. Also, a statistical Table 4-2 that demonstrates the relationship between groups expressing high and low levels of cytokines taken from the heat map and the baseline clinical features is presented.

The data on the thawing and freezing of serum samples on the results of sELISA is presented in section 4.3.2 (Bar charts in Figure 4-6) while the data on the correlation between serum IL-9 reports determined by Luminex method and sELISA technique is presented in Section 4.3.3 (Figure 4-7).

# 4.3.1The cytokine expression profiles in CMV- negative and CMV- positive patients with FL

Levels of the 27 cytokines were measured in baseline serum samples from 21 CMVnegative and 21 CMV- positive patients. The clinical and pathological characteristics of patients selected for the study are outlined in Table 3-1 of Chapter 3, and showed no statistical differences between the two cohorts. To understand whether the differences between the two cohorts presented in Table 4-1 were statistically significant, Mann-Whitney U-test using SPSS version 20.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for comparison. Overall, the serum levels of 10 out of the 27 cytokines appeared to be different between CMV- negative and CMVpositive FL patients. Among them, IL-17A, IL-9, IL-8, IL-6, MIP-1a, MIP-1b and FGF-basic were significantly different with a two-sided P value ranging from 0.01 to 0.04. The remaining IL-4, GM-CSF and IL-1 $\beta$  also showed a trend of difference although the P values (0.06 ~ 0.07) were slightly bigger than the pre-set  $\alpha$  level. Interestingly, levels of all of the 10 cytokines decreased in the CMV- positive cohort compared to those from the CMV- negative population as shown in Figure 4-1. To show a general picture of relative levels of the 27 cytokines studied, we compared the mean rank of each cytokine level in CMV-positive group to that of the CMVnegative. Surprisingly, as shown in Figure 4.2, the levels of all cytokines except IP-10 reduced (by 4 - 40%) in the former cohort, with the most profound reduction (by 31% to 40%) observed in the 7 with statistical significance following by that in the 3 borderline different cytokines (by around 28%).

This negative association is easily visualised even in an unsupervised cluster analysis shown in Figure 4-4. We undertook a hierarchical clustering analysis of the cytokine data. Firstly, the unsupervised clustering analysis of the data revealed a variable cytokine expression among these 42 patients (data not shown). In a subsequent supervised clustering analysis, the differences in the cytokine expression profile between the two cohorts of patients became clear as presented in the heat map shown in Figure 4-3. In a further analysis of this unsupervised data, the proportion of CMV-positive patients was found much higher than those with CMV- negative in patient group showing low levels of the 10 cytokines. This was statistically confirmed in  $\chi^2$ 

test, no matter the comparison was performed between cases with the lowest and highest cytokine levels (p = 0.008) when all the 42 cases were equally divided into three groups, or with low and high levels (p = 0.031) when they were equally divided into two groups according to the expression levels (Figure 4-5). Importantly, such a difference was not associated with clinical and laboratory characteristics (including age, Hb level, level of blood LDH and number of enlarged lymph nodes) of patients as summarised in Table 4-2.

Regarding expression level of individual cytokines, the median serum IL-9 in the CMV- positive cohort was decreased from 42.6pg/ml to 22.2pg/ml (p = 0.006), IL-17A from 43.9pg/ml to 23.0pg/ml (p = 0.020), FGF-basic from 72.3pg/ml to 55.9pg/ml (p = 0.028), MIP-1 $\alpha$  from 10.1pg/ml to 7.4pg/ml (p = 0.039), MIP-1 $\beta$  from 294.4pg/ml to 225.0pg/ml (p = 0.029), IL-6 from 19.6pg/ml to 11.5pg/ml (p = 0.029) and IL-8 from 534.2pg/ml to 168.9pg/ml (p = 0.037) as compared to the other cohort. Also, decreases in the levels of IL-1 $\beta$  from 4.0pg/ml to 3.3pg/ml (p = 0.068), IL-4 from 5.1pg/ml to 4.2pg/ml (p = 0.066) and GM-CSF from 72.9pg/ml to 37.6pg/ml (p = 0.070) were also observed among those exposed to CMV infection compared the CMV- negative population, despite of the marginal significance. There were no statistical differences in levels of other 17 cytokines, although all of them except IP-10, IL-12 and MCP-1(MCAF) showed the same changes as the 10 with or nearly with statistical significance in CMV- positive patients (Table 4-1).
Table 4-1: Cytokine levels (pg/ml) in serum samples of FL patients in CMV-positive and negative patients with FL

S#	Cytokines	CMV Status				
	(pg/ml)					
		Total	Positive	Negative	Р	
		Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)		
1	PDGF-bb	5977.06 (4122.61-7437.84)	5630.0 (3676.3-6457.3)	6640.7 (4461.7-8224.6)	0.170	
2	IL-1b	3.8 (3.1-5.6)	3.3 (2.8-4.8)	4.0 (3.5-5.8)	0.068	
3	IL-1ra	194.0 (139.4-264.5)	182.6 (146.8-212.9)	229.3 (139.4-310.6)	0.119	
4	IL-2	0.0 (0.0-9.8)	0.0 (0.0-6.9)	3.0 (0.0-13.6)	0.248	
5	IL-4	4.3 (3.9-5.5)	4.2 (3.9-5.1)	5.1 (4.1-5.6)	0.066	
6	IL-5	2.34 (1.67-2.82)	2.3 (1.7-2.7)	2.5 (1.7-3.1)	0.831	
7	IL-6	16.2 (10.7-26.9)	11.5 (9.7-17.5)	19.6 (12.1-35.1)	0.029	
8	IL-7	10.8 (8.2-15.4)	10.2 (8.4-13.7)	10.9 (7.5-16.2)	0.359	
9	IL-8	268.2 (66.3-715.5)	168.9 (48.8-338.8)	534.2 (135.3-1077.1)	0.037	
10	IL-9	28.8 (20.1-44.0)	22.2 (17.5-29.9)	42.6 (28.4-56.1)	0.006	
11	IL-10	12.4 (6.1-19.4)	8.3 (5.7-19.8)	14.0 (9.0-18.5)	0.222	
12	IL-12 p70	62.0 (49.8-97.1)	62.5 (35.7-75.9)	61.4 (52.5-123.6)	0.571	
13	IL-13	8.4 (5.7-11.4)	8.2 (5.4-10.2)	9.1 (6.2-11.4)	0.443	
14	IL-15	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.269	
15	IL-17A	31.2 (9.5-66.8)	23.0 (6.3-35.7)	43.9 (19.7-69.1)	0.020	
16	Eotaxin	160.5 (114.7-225.9)	158.9 (114.6-205.3)	191.0 (122.7-242.0)	0.333	
17	FGF basic	61.7 (43.2-75.8)	55.9 (36.9-66.8)	72.3 (56.8-86.8)	0.028	
18	G-CSF	60.3 (48.9-76.0)	55.6 (45.9-67.2)	64.2 (52.8-77.6)	0.213	
19	GM-CSF	62.0 (18.4-86.5)	37.6 (7.9-73.0)	72.9 (50.1-92.9)	0.070	
20	IFN-g	175.9 (149.0-225.1)	174.0 (146.3-202.3)	198.5 (155.2-231.4)	0.187	
21	IP-10	1804.1 (1074.2-2894.2)	1827.5 (1319.1-3030.7)	1788.3 (1054.2-2253.2)	0.308	
22	MCP-1(MCAF)	67.9 (44.3-124.3)	68.6 (36.8-93.9)	67.3 (57.2-178.4)	0.320	
23	MIP-1a	8.7 (6.4-12.5)	7.4 (5.8-9.9)	10.1 (7.5-21.4)	0.039	
24	ΜΙΡ-1β	258.2 (209.2-330.3)	225.0 (198.6-296.8)	294.4 (228.2-419.6)	0.029	
25	RANTES	61692.1 (32722.9-90443.7)	61249.3 (32722.2-75198.7)	62134.9 (37391.4-92008.7)	0.521	
26	TNF-a	48.8 (35.5-59.8)	45.3 (35.8-57.0)	52.2 (35.5-62.9)	0.346	
27	VEGF	197.1 (135.4-283.0)	170.0 (102.6-254.9)	243.5 (176.7-369.3)	0.110	

Comparison of median cytokine levels of CMV- positive and CMV-negative groups.

P < 0.05 is considered statistically significant.

IQ R = Interquartile Range





The P-values were from the two-sided Mann-Whitley U test.



Figure 4-2: The relative changes in cytokine levels in patients with CMV infection as compared to those without infection by this virus.

The mean rank of concentration of each of the 27 serum cytokines in the 21 CMVpositive patients are compared to that in the 21 CMV-negative cases (set as 0). The expression of cytokines marked by \* was significantly different (P<0.05), and those by \*\* board-line different (P=0.066~0.070) between the two groups of patients.



Figure 4-3: The unsupervised heat maps showing expression levels of the 10 cytokines with statistically differential expression between the two groups in 42 patients.

In the heat map in Figure 4-3, cytokine data was log transformed to 0.01 and cytokine expression was scaled from the minimum level (-3.90) in green and maximum level (3.90) in red. Patients were coded red for CMV- positive and blue for CMV- negative. The hierarchical clustering of the ten cytokines of interest versus the 42 FL patients has grouped cytokines according to their functional combinations of chemokines (IL-8, MIP-1 $\alpha$ , & MIP-1 $\beta$ ) and IL-1 $\beta$ , T<sub>H</sub>2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-6 and IL-9), T<sub>H</sub>17 (IL-17A) and Vascular remodelling (FGF-basic & GM-CSF).



Figure 4-4: The supervised heat map showing levels of the 27 cytokines measured using the Luminex method between CMV- positive and CMV- negative groups in the 42 patients.

Cytokine data was log transformed to 0.01 and cytokine expression was scaled from the minimum level in green and maximum level in red. The CMV- positive and CMV- negative patients are under the red and blue bars, respectively.



Figure 4-5: The heat maps of 42 patients versus 10 cytokines grouped patients according to expression levels of cytokines.

The middle line on the unsupervised heat map in Figure 4-5 separates patients into two halves of 21 each. The left half can be seen to be dominated by red map, signifying high levels of cytokine expression and comprises of 7 CMV- positive patients against 14 CMV-negative. Green map for low levels of cytokines dominates the right half and consists of 14 CMV- positive and 7 CMV- negative patients. The Chi-square test revealed a difference (p = 0.031)) in the cytokine expression between the left (high expression) and right (low expression) halves. Also, Chi-square test comparing the first 14 and the last 14 patients on the heat map revealed a statistical difference (p = 0.008). This finding shows that there is a statistical difference between the levels of cytokine expressed by 14 patients on the extreme left and the 14 on the right-wing extreme of the heat map.

		n=14	n=14	n=14*			n=14	n=14	n=14*
Parameter		Low	Intermediate	High	Parameter		Low	Intermediate	<u>High</u>
	Mean	65.93	69.14	67.5	_	Mean	3.43	3.36	3.36
	SD	6.55	7.5	6.94		SD	0.76	0.74	0.74
	Median	67.5	69.5	66.5	Ann Arbor	Median	4	3.5	3.5
Age	Range	51-74	53-81	56-78	_ Score	Range	2-4	2-4	2-4
	t-test			LvsH, p=0.543	-	t-test			LvsH, p=0.803
	M-W test			LvsH, p=0.910		M-W test			LvsH, p=0.804
	Mean	12.61	13.34	12.87	- - FLIPI Score	Mean	1.64	1.64	1.57
	SD	2.24	1.76	1.63		SD	0.63	0.63	0.65
	Median	12.95	13.95	13.6		Median	2	2	2
Hb	Range	9.2-16.4	9.4-15.5	9.8-14.6		Range	0-2	0-2	0-2
	t-test			LvsH, p=0.733		t-test			LvsH, p=0.770
	M-W test			LvsH, p=0.685		M-W test			LvsH, p=0.769
	mean	359.79	432.71	390.93		Mean	2.71	5.07	2.71
	SD	155.89	193.54	160.94		SD	2.16	3.32	1.38
	Median	357.5	406	433.5		Median	3	4.5	3
LDH	Range	128-741	166-834	180-699	_ CIRS Score	Range	0-7	0-11	1-5
	t-test			LvsH, p=0.607	_	t-test			LvsH, p=1.000
	M-W test			LvsH, p=0.427		M-W test			LvsH, p=0.769
	mean	5.5	5.14	5.36	* n=13 for H group	Hb in the H			
	SD	1.09	1.35	1.45					
No. of LNs	Median	6	6	6					
	Range	3-6	2-6	1-6					
	t-test			LvsH, p=0.770					
	M-W test			LvsH, p=0.982					

#### Table 4-2: Cytokines in heat map and clinical features

#### 4.3.2 The effect of Sample Thawing/Freezing Cycles on sELISA Results

In order to validate results from the Luminex test with an alternative method sELISA, some of these 42 serum samples had to be repeatedly frozen and thawed as no aliquots were stored initially. To learn whether the number of cycles of such thawing/freezing affect results of the cytokine measurement, we collected serum samples from four healthy donors and stored them in 3 aliquots at -80°C for 3 days per cycle of thawing/freezing. After experiencing 1, 2 and 3 cycles, the serum aliquots from donors 1, 2, 3 and 4 were used for testing concentrations of IL-4, IL-6, IL-8 and IL-9, respectively. Surprisingly, the results changed with the cycle number of thawing/freezing increased. The concentration measured for IL-4 and IL-9 became higher after each cycle. Thus, after the 3<sup>rd</sup> cycle, it was 4.6 and 1.5 folds in samples measured for IL-4 and IL-9, respectively, as compared to that in the sample

experienced only one cycle (Figure 4-6: A and D). The value of IL-8 was also bigger after 2 cycles (1.3 folds), but with no further increase after the 3<sup>rd</sup> cycle (Figure 4-6: C). However, the concentration of IL-6 was reduced by 16% from 3438pg/ml to 2904pg/ml (Figure 4-6: B). These results suggested that the repeated thawing and freezing for serum samples changed measurement values of these cytokines, with an increase in most cases. The reasons for increased in the values of these cytokines following repeated thawing and freezing have not been investigated.





Aliquots of serum samples from 4 healthy donors were subjected to experience of 1, 2, and 3 cycles cryopreserving storage. Each aliquot of donors 1, 2, 3, and 4 were then used for detecting IL-4 (A), IL-6 (B), IL-8 (C) and IL-9 (D), respectively, in sELISA experiments.

# 4.3.3 A positive correlation between IL-9 concentrations measured with Luminex and sELISA

The alternations of cytokine measurement by sELISA in serum samples experienced different cycles of thawing and freezing hampered the use of such type of samples for validation of cytokine results from the Luminex experiment. However, the results shown in Figure 4-6D suggested that such changes for IL-9 were relatively small and consistent with increase in the cycle number. This implied a possible correlation existing between concentrations of this cytokine measured by the two methods, if the Luminex results were reliable. We therefore used the serum samples from all of the 42 patients after the 3<sup>rd</sup> cycle of storage to measure IL-9 with sELISA and then compared the results with those previously measured with the Luminex.

As shown in Figure 4-7, the Pearson's correlation analysis revealed a positive linear correlation existing between the two methods, although not perfect (r = 0.374, p = 0.015). Expectedly, the average concentration of the cytokine measured by sELISA was over 7 folds of that as measured by the Luminex (280pg/ml versus 36pg/ml). This might partially be explained by the effects of repeated sample freezing and thawing as noticed in our previous experiment (Section 4.3.2). Those results suggested that the relative cytokine levels in patients of this cohort as presented in Table 4-4 were consistent with the results of the sELISA experiment, and therefore reliable.



Figure 4-7: A positive correlation between the Luminex and sELISA in measuring IL-9 concentrations in patient serum samples.

The concentrations of IL-9 measured with the Luminex (Y axis) and sELISA (X axis) in all of the 42 patients studied in this chapter are compared in the two-sided Pearson's correlation analysis. Note that the serum samples used for the sELISA test experienced two more cycles of thawing/freezing than those for the Luminex test.

#### 4.4 Correlation Analysis of cytokines and cell subtypes

This section presents a correlational analysis of results of the lymphocytes obtained in Chapter 3 and cytokines detected with the Luminex in this Chapter. The analysis was expected to provide an indirect approach to assessing the functional potential of the quantitative T and NKT cells data in Chapter 3 with regards to cytokine production. It is also hoped that the correlation analysis will provide an insight into the relationship between the lymphocyte subtypes and specific cytokines. In addition, the measurement of both lymphocytes and cytokines provides an opportunity for crossvalidation between the two Chapters to increase confidence that the results of both Chapters are trustworthy.

The graphical representation of Spearman's correlation coefficient matrix for cytokines and FACS data is presented in Figure 4-8. The legend on the right side summarises the colour meaning: the blue shades are used for positive correlation and the red shades for the negative correlation. The more the variables are correlated; the more is the intensity of the colour. The results do not show a high correlation between cytokines and the T and NKT cells. However, all the 10 cytokines seem to be positively correlated among themselves, especially between FGF-basic with IL-17A (r = 0.969, p < 0.001) and between IL-9 with IL-17A (r = 0.916, p < 0.001). Furthermore, positive correlations exists among some cell types, especially between E-CD4 with EM3-CD4 (r = 0.872, p < 0.001) and between E-CD8 with EM3-CD8 (r = 0.899, p < 0.001) cell subtypes. Differently from the cytokines, that show only positive correlation among themselves, some cell types seem to correlate negatively with others, as between CD4 with EM3-CD8 (r = -0.672, p=0.003) and between CD4 with E-CD8 (r = -0.631, p=0.009).



#### Figure 4-8: A matrix of correlation coefficients between cell types and cytokines.

Correlation coefficients were calculated in the Spearman's correlation analysis and presented in heating colours.

### **4.5 Discussions**

Being that T cells are known to be the major source of cytokines, a quantitative analysis of pre-treatment serum cytokine levels of the PACIFICO trial patient samples was carried out as a strategy to evaluate the functional potential of the elevated terminally differentiated T cell subtypes observed in the CMV- positive FL patients in Chapter 3.

Strikingly, Luminex data reveal decreased levels of all the 27 serum cytokines studied among the CMV- positive FL patients compared to the CMV- negative patients, except for IP-10, IL-12 and MCP-1(MCAF). As depicted in Figure 4-1, significantly diminished levels of serum IL-9, IL-17A, FGF-basic, MIP-1a, MIP-1B, IL-6 and IL-8 were observed in the CMV- positive group compared to the CMV- negative counterparts (P < 0.05). Also, marginally significant inferior median quantities of IL-1β, IL-4 and GM-CSF are seen in the CMV-positive compared to the CMV- negative  $(P = 0.066 \sim 0.070)$  (Table 4-1). Moreover, there were no significant variations in clinicopathological features among patients with different status of cytokine production (Table 4-2). The reduced cytokine levels observed among the CMVpositive FL patients could be attributed to the marginally decreased numbers of CD4+ T cells in addition to the significant increase in the quantities of end stage T cells among patients reported in Chapter 3. T cells being the primary source of cytokines, one of the characteristics of the terminally differentiated T cell phenotypes is the poor cytokine production potential (Wherry, 2011, Rothe et al., 2016). Meanwhile, the reduced CD4+ T cells can further compound this deficiency since CD4+ T cells are needed to support the activity of other immune cells including the production of cytokines to suppress or regulate immune responses. These observations could suggest that the presence of CMV infection in FL may portend some functional immune deficit for the patients' subject patients to heightened vulnerability to other infections and increased AEs as captured in our hypothesis.

Furthermore, the categorisation of patients into low, medium and high (Figure 4-5) according to the median cytokine values has revealed a significant difference between patients with CMV- positive and negative status. However, there were no significant disparities in pre-treatment clinicopathological features among patients with different

status of cytokine production. These features include age, Ann Arbor staging, Hb values, LDH, FLIPI score, CIRS scale, gender, and the number of lymph nodes (LNs) involved (Table 4-2). This finding could suggest some degree of homogeneity in the participating patients and implies that baseline clinical and pathological characteristics of trial patients may not be responsible for the variations in the cytokine levels.

Although Multiplex assay (Luminex technology) has been shown to be comparable with other immunoassays (Dias et al., 2005, Wang et al., 2005), this study has evaluated the impact of thawing and freezing of serum samples on the results of sELISA. This was with the view to validation of the Luminex cytokine data for use in the subsequent relevant sections of the thesis. Interestingly, it was observed that different cytokines respond differently to the thawing and freezing effects. For instance, IL-4 and IL-9 can be seen to maintain an increasing trend in the levels of expression through 1 cycle of thawing and freezing to 3 cycles (Figure 4-6: A and D) while inconsistencies in the levels of IL-6 and IL-8 can be seen in the respective cycles of thawing and freezing (Figure 4-6: B and C). This result is in agreement with the findings studies by others. Using Milliplex<sup>®</sup> MAP (multi-analyte profiling) kit, Lee JE and his group assessed the variations in the concentration of some serum cytokines following repeated thawing and freezing and found significant increase or decrease in the concentrations of IL-15, IL-17A, TNF-a, and VEGF during repeated freezing-thawing cycles (Lee et al., 2015). Another study that used EVIDENCE 180 Biochip Analyser system and Cytokine Array I kits revealed a 3-5-fold increase in IL  $-1\beta$ , IL-4 and IL-10 levels following 1 freeze/thaw cycle but levels were seen to stabilise during the additional 9 freeze/thaw cycles (Guo et al., 2013). In one more study, aliquots of the same sample were subjected to multiple freezing - thawing cycles and cytokines were measured with Bio-Rad Multiplex Immunoassay. In the report, IL-6 and IL-10 were found to be stable throughout the multiple freeze-thawing cycles, but IL-4, IL-13, IL-15, IL-17, TNF, IFN and CXCL8 levels were found to either increase (IL-4 and TNF) or decrease (IL-13, IL-15, IL-17, IFN and CXCL8) after one or more freeze - thawing cycles (de Jager et al., 2009). Therefore, our study supporting findings by others suggested that for reliable results of cytokines, serum samples should avoid repeated freeze - thawing cycles before the tests.

Undoubtedly, the application of multiplex assays in the routine clinical measurement of analytes is not devoid of problems. To resolve them, it requires to determine the optimum working sample dilution that may cover a broad spectrum and identify effects of the cycles of freezing-thawing serum samples on reliability of results (Jani et al., 2016). Despite of this, the Luminex methods was selected for the cytokine studies in this chapter. This was because the Luminex is a multiplex platform which allowed us to measure 27 cytokines simultaneously in one experiment, and also avoid result alterations caused by use of samples experienced repeated cycle of storage as found in this chapter. In fact, this method has been successfully applied in other cytokine studies. For instance, cytokine data from multiplex assays have been utilised in Wei-Lin-Weissfeld regression models to define the relationship between serum cytokine concentrations and oral HPV clearance (Lam et al., 2016). Multiplex bead assay was employed to analyse archived maternal serum samples that were collected at the time of delivery for cytokine levels, and results were used to suggest that elevated maternal levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines throughout the perinatal time may guard against the psychotic episodes (Allswede et al., 2016). Data of 77 inflammation markers generated by Luminex bead-platform were subjected to weighted Cox models and conditional logistic regression to estimate cumulative risks

and odds ratios (ORs) respectively, which revealed that certain levels of circulating inflammatory marker are associated with prospective lung cancer risk (Shiels et al., 2013). In another study, prediagnostic serum cytokine levels of B-cell NHL cases were measured by Luminex platform and relevant statistical analysis of data revealed an association between a moderately raised risk of all B-cell NHL in women and elevated levels of the cytokines (Edlefsen et al., 2014).

In addition, the Luminex assay had been well established in our GCLP laboratories for cytokine studies before this project. Finally, in this study, a positive linear correlation was found between IL-9 concentrations measured using this method and sELISA in all of the 42 patients studied (r = 0.374, p = 0.015). This result was in agreement with other studies. For instance, Wang et al. revealed perfect correlations between Luminex multiplex technology and ELISA platform in measuring levels of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IFN  $\gamma$ , and TNF  $\alpha$  (Wang et al., 2005). Others also found the Luminex assay highly reproducible and reliable compared to ELISA in quantifying cytokines (Richens et al., 2010, Codorean et al., 2010)

The results in this chapter therefore provided one more piece of evidence to support that both the Luminex and sELISA methods can be used to determine serum cytokine levels among patients. However, due to the limitation to use serum samples without experience of repeated storage cycles, cytokine data from the Luminex assay was used for subsequent analysis in this thesis.

Over fifty different chemokines are recognised and classified in humans, and they act mainly on neutrophils, monocytes, lymphocytes, and eosinophils and play a crucial responsibility in host immune defence mechanisms. It has been suggested that chemokines play fundamental roles in the growth, homoeostasis, and functionality of the immune system. The classification of chemokines into four subgroups is based on the structural composition of cysteine residues in their amino-terminal portion: CXC, CC, CX3C and XC (Springael et al., 2005). Chemokines can also be categorised into functional subgroups as the homeostatic and inflammatory categories (Zlotnik and Yoshie, 2000, Ben-Baruch, 2002). For instance, the homeostatic chemokines such as CCL14, CCL19, CCL20, CCL21, and CCL25 control the directed migration of leukocytes in the processes of haematopoiesis and growth of lymphoid organ (Sallusto, 2002), on the other hand, inflammatory chemokines such as CXCL-8, CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CCL11, CXCL10 facilitate leukocyte infiltration to scenes of inflammation and they are induced principally by proinflammatory cytokines (Hadden, 1999).

The hierarchically distinct functional clusters of cytokines in Figure 4-4, revealed 10 cytokines down-regulated in CMV- positive patients. Among them, MIP-1 $\alpha$  (CCL-3), MIP-1 $\beta$  (CCL\_4) and IL-8 (CCL8) are members of a group of structurally related small molecules of about 8–14 kDa involved in the regulation of cell trafficking via interactions with a subgroup of transmembrane G-protein–coupled receptors (Zlotnik and Yoshie, 2000, Shrivastava et al., 2014). They belong to the inflammatory category of chemokines, which have been reported to be produced in high frequencies during infection or injury as they regulate the movement of inflammatory cells into the site of injury (Graham and Locati, 2013).

The second distinct cluster shown in Figure 4-4 comprised of IL-6 and IL-9. It is not surprising that IL-6 and IL-9 clustered together since both cytokines tend to perform similar functions and were originally grouped as  $T_H2$  cytokines. The  $T_H2$  cells secrete several cytokines such as IL-4, IL-6 and IL-9 to activate and sustain humoral immunity mainly targeted at extracellular bacterial and parasitic challenges, plus

allergens and toxins. Aside from being  $T_H^2$  cytokines, both IL-6 and IL-9 are described as pleiotropic and further identified as proinflammatory cytokines (Kishimoto, 2010). The IL-6 and IL-9 as pleiotropic cytokines have the capacity to influence the activities of multiple cell types leading to a broad spectrum of biological functions in oncogenesis, inflammation and autoimmunity, immune regulation and haematopoiesis (Kishimoto, 2010). The deficit observed in the frequencies of IL-6 and IL-9 among the CMV- positive FL patients could be thought to cause suppressed humoral immune responses among others; thereby causing heightened vulnerability to infections and illnesses.

The third cytokine cluster identified on the heat map in Figure 4-4 is the one including IL-4, IL-17A and FGF-basic. IL-4 is an autocrine cytokine that is marginally reduced among CMV- positive FL patients compared to the CMV- negative group. This is an essential cytokine for T<sub>H</sub>2 priming and maturation; and high concentrations can prevent the production of  $T_{\rm H}1$  cells from the immature T cells. IL-4 is also vital in stimulating B cell proliferation and maturation of plasma cells and regulates the class switching of antibodies. The IL-17A is a proinflammatory cytokine and a member of the IL-17 cytokine family in addition to IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E (IL-25), and IL-17F (McAllister et al., 2005). It provides a strong defence against extracellular microbes and bacterial and fungal infections and adds to the pathogenesis of several autoimmune disorders (Yao et al., 1995, Kolls et al., 2003). It also regulates the formation and recruitment of neutrophils to the sites of inflammation due to its ability to cause the release of CXC chemokines (Moseley et al., 2003) and coordinating the expression of G-CSF (Jones and Chan, 2002). The FGF-basic and GM-CSF can be grouped under vascular remodelling cytokines. In a situation where there is no signal, FGF-basic is known to remain in basement membranes of the subendothelial

extracellular matrix of blood vessels. It is assumed that during both normal wound healing process and in tumour development, FGF-basic is activated by the action of heparan sulphate degrading enzymes and triggers angiogenesis (Kühn et al., 2012). Additionally, studies have demonstrated that FGF-basic protects the heart from injury connected to heart attack, reduction of tissue death and encouraging enhanced function following reperfusion (House et al., 2003). Also, low levels of FGF-basic has been reported to play a vital role in the occurrence of extreme anxiety (Perez et al., 2009). A monomeric glycoprotein, GM-CSF operates as a cytokine by activating stem cells to produce granulocytes and monocytes (Francisco-Cruz et al., 2014). The polymorphs are known to play pivotal roles, especially in the innate arm of the immunity, while the monocytes egress the circulation and relocate into tissues where they develop into macrophages and dendritic cells and participate in the characteristic immunological processes of defending the body and combating infections (Gasson, 1991). GM-CSF can, therefore, be said to promote the development of the immune system.

The weak negative correlation observed between levels of almost all cytokines and numbers of NKT and CD8+ E and EM3 cells is in keeping with the idea that these cells are (a) not the main source of the cytokines, (b) are not very good at making cytokines (supporting the idea that they are exhausted), and (c) in the case of NKT cells, their accumulation may be compensatory and secondary to depletion of competent T cells. Also, the weak positive correlation between E-CD4+ and EM3-CD4+ cells and IL-6, IL-8 and IL-1 $\beta$  suggest that these cells make pro-inflammatory cytokines, albeit not very effectively.

Therefore, it is logical to speculate that the ability of the end-stage effector T cells seen among the CMV-positive patients to produce cytokine is poor. By removing all

other confounders, the reduced cytokine levels in the serum of the CMV-infected FL patients can be attributed to the disruptive influence of the virus on T cell repertoires being the primary cellular source of cytokines. In another way, it is also rational to observe higher levels of end-stage (TEMRA) T cells in the circulating blood of CMVpositive FL patients due to the sustained antigenic stimulations of T cells over time and induction of premature immune senescence by the virus. Inferring from the above outlook, cytokine data can be said to portray danger for the CMV- positive FL patients as compared the CMV- negative. By implication, the lower expression levels of cytokines in this study can impact on both innate and adaptive arms of the immune system and possess a grave danger to patients exposed to CMV, and can be attributable to reduced secretions by relevant cells that produce them. The generally lower cytokine levels observed in the CMV- positive patients may potentially make them more vulnerable to adverse events and recurrent infection in the course of therapy compared to the CMV- negative. It is speculated that a functional study on Tcell subtypes, especially the end-stage T cell types may provide a further understanding of T cell plasticity and open the open the mystery of re-engineering and reverting end stage T cells to functional subtypes. To further unravel the impact of CMV infection in FL lymphoma biology, probing into the FL microenvironment to evaluate quantitative intensities of accessory cells according to the CMV infection status is thought to be complimentary. Hence, Chapter 5 is devoted to studying surface protein markers of key accessory infiltrating cells in the FL microenvironment. Besides, as part of this study, an evaluation of the relationship of the levels of cytokine expression and clinical data of trial patients, including toxicities and response status is explored in Chapter 7. Therefore, Chapter 7 of this thesis is

aimed at providing further illumination on the wider clinical relevance of the reduced cytokine levels in FL as seen in CMV- positive patients.

#### **Chapter 5 : Effect of CMV on accessory cells in tissues**

#### **5.1 Introduction**

This chapter is designed to examine key markers of cellular infiltrates in the FL microenvironment and to relate the findings to data from the FACS analysis in Chapter 3 and the serum cytokine data in Chapter 4 of this thesis. The result of the intensities of accessory cell markers in the tissues according to CMV status is related to patients' efficacy and toxicity data. It is anticipated that by associating laboratory findings to treatment response status and AEs experienced by the trial cohort, laboratory data can provide a useful pointer for better understanding of the clinical and biological relevance of the presence and frequencies of cellular markers within the follicular microenvironment.

The tumour microenvironment (TME) is comprised of normal cells, molecules, and blood vessels that surround and feed the tumour cell. A tumour can change its microenvironment, and the microenvironment can affect the growth and spread of tumours. The abundance of immune cells in the secondary lymphoid organs in TME of haematologic malignancies makes it distinctly different from solid tumours that exhibit decreased numbers of immune cells. Similarly, the number and function of immune cells vary greatly among patients with the identical type of tumour and has been proven to influence patient outcomes (Yang and Ansell, 2012a).

This study is aimed to unravel and evaluate the effect of CMV infection on the intensities and colocalization of non-malignant immune cells in the FL microenvironment. Most immunological assays including IF and IHC adopt the fundamental principle of antigen binding to its specific antibody for the detection and quantification of small quantities of antigenic molecules of biological interest such as

145

proteins, peptides, hormones, or antibody in fluid samples. Therefore, IHC was used as a platform to determine the optimal working concentrations (dilutions) of the primary antibodies before moving on to use IF to stain for more than one marker on each slide.

#### **5.2 Experimental approaches**

After determining the working dilutions of the primary antibodies based on the degree of positivity and distribution of targets of interest as outlined in sections 2.6.10.1-2, Table 2-4 and illustrated in Figure 2-6, the working dilutions of the fluorochromeconjugated secondary antibodies were determined. Three different dilutions around the manufacturers' recommended working dilutions for Alexa Fluor 488 (AF488) -Donkey anti-Mouse, and Alexa Fluor 647 (AF647)-Donkey anti-Rabbit antibodies were used to stain for sections of defined dilutions of Mouse anti-human CD56 (1:100) and Rabbit anti-human CD8 (1:500). Following a thorough assessment of the staining characteristics, optimal working dilutions of 1:2000 for AF488-Donkey anti-Mouse antibody and 1:100 for AF647-Donkey anti-Rabbit antibody were determined. These dilutions were used for the immunofluorescence staining of the PACIFICO FFPE tissue sections. Nine cell markers were evaluated per patient. Four sections were stained for markers expressing CD4/CD8, CD56/CD16, CD68/CD163 and PD1/FOXP3. However, a section was stained for cells expressing CD21. Although forkhead box protein P3 (FOXP3) is also expressed in recently activated human T cells (Magg et al., 2012), it is used to quantitate regulatory T (Tregs) cells.

#### **5.3 The Results**

#### 5.3.1 Patients and materials

FFPE tissue biopsies from PACIFICO FL patients for this chapter comprised of 20 CMV positive and 22 CMV-negative patients. The selection of patient samples was based on the size and availability of lymph node biopsy material and not clinicopathological characteristics. A summary of demographic and baseline characteristics of this study cohort are described in Table 5-1. Patients' risk factors and the prognosis are stratified according to the Follicular Lymphoma International Prognostic Index (FLIPI) score into three risk categories: good (0 or 1), Intermediate (2) and poor (3-4). The FLIPI score is determined using five adverse prognostic factors including Ann Arbor stage (III-IV vs. I-II), age (> 60 years vs.  $\leq$  60 years), haemoglobin level (< 120 g/L vs.  $\geq$  120 g/L), number of nodal areas (> 4 vs.  $\leq$  4), and serum LDH level (above normal vs normal or below) (Solal-Céligny et al., 2004). A slightly higher proportion of CMV positive patients are on the high risk FLIPI grade compared to the CMV negative (65.0% vs. 59.1%). The Cumulative Illness Rating Scale (CIRS) is used to predict survival in lymphoma patients under 13 near independent areas. It is a 5-point rating of the degree of severity scale that ranges from none (1) to extremely severe (5) (Linn et al., 1968). There is no significant difference in the proportion of patients in Table 5-1 due to CMV status.

Table	e 5-1: Demog	raphic an	d baseline	characteristics	of study	cohort	according
to CN	<b>AV status</b>						

		CMV Status				
			(n=42)			
Characteristics	Total					
Characteristics	(n=42) *	Positive	Negative	P **		
		(n=20) *	(n=22) *			
Age	70 (64 – 75)	70.0(64 - 75)	71 (64 - 75)	0.646		
Median (IQR)		70.0 (04 - 73)	/1 (04 - /3)			
Gender N (%)				0.128		
Male	23 (54.8)	8 (40.0)	15 (68.2)			
Female	19 (45.2)	12 (60.0)	7 (31.8)			
Haemoglobin (g/dL),	13.3 (11.7 – 14.0)	13.5 (11.5 - 14.2)	13.2 (12.2 – 13.9)	0.929		
Median (IQR)						
Ann Arbor stage N (%)				0.448		
2	4 (9.5)	1 (5.0)	3 (13.6)			
3	21 (50.0)	12 (60.0)	9 (40.9)			
4	17 (40.5)	7 (35.0)	10 (45.5)			
CIRS Score N (%)				1.000		
≤5	31 (73.8)	16 (80.0)	15 (68.2)			
>5	11 (26.2)	4 (20.0)	7 (31.8)			
No. lymph nodes N (%)				0.666		
1	1 (2.4)	1 (5.0)	0 (0.0)			
2	1 (2.4)	1 (5.0)	0 (0.0)			
3	4 (9.5)	0 (0.0)	4 (18.2)			
4	4 (9.5)	1 (5.0)	3 (13.6)			
5	5 (11.9)	2 (10.0)	3 (13.6)			
6	27 (64.3)	15 (75.0)	12 (54.5)			
LDH Median (IQR)	353 (229-447)	354 (263-446)	351 (228-453)	0.758		
FLIPI Score N (%)				0.286		
0-1 (low risk)	3 (7.5)	2 (10.0)	3 (13.6)			
2 (intermediate risk)	11 (27.5)	5 (25.0)	6 (27.3)			
3-5 (high risk)	26 (65.0)	13 (65.0)	13 (59.1)			
Histology N (%)				1.000		
1	8 (19.0)	4 (20.0)	4 (18.2)			
2	24 (57.1)	11 (55.0)	13 (59.1)			
3	10 (23.8)	5 (25.0)	5 (22.7)			

\*For continuous variables this refers to the Mean (SD) or Median (IQR). \*\*P value for  $\chi^2$  test or Fisher's exact test for the difference between categorical variables or t - test for the difference between two means.

#### **5.3.2 Evaluating of crossreactivity**

The primary antibodies used in this double labelling study are Mouse anti-human in combination with Rabbit anti-human on a section and Donkey anti-Mouse secondary antibody conjugated to AF488 and mixed with Donkey anti-Rabbit secondary antibodies conjugated to AF647. Consequently, this study evaluates the cross-reactivity of a rabbit anti-human IgG and Mouse anti-human IgG1 as a representative of the antibodies used for the IF analysis of cellular markers on FFPE of FL patients. The aim of this experiment is to define if there is any cross-reactivity between the two secondary antibodies to exclude non-specific binding from interfering with the analysis.

To rule out the effect of crossreactivity, we undertook a crossreactivity assessment of the Mouse anti-human CD4 and Rabbit anti-human CD8. As shown in the cross-reactivity appraisal illustrated in Figure 5-1, 3-micron tonsil sections were stained thus: Sections A and D were stained with Mouse anti-CD4, while sections B and C were stained with Rabbit anti-CD8. Then sections A and B were counterstained with Donkey anti-Mouse secondary antibody conjugated to AF488 (for section B to be negative) and sections C and D were counterstained with Donkey anti-Rabbit conjugated to AF647 (making D a negative control).From the images in Figure 5-1, CD4+ (Figure 5-1A) and CD8+ (Figure 5-1C) cells are well defined with blue nuclear staining and surrounding red and green stains. Minimal cross reactivity was seen in Figure 5-1B and D for both secondary antibodies.



Figure 5-1: Images from the crossreactivity assessment.

Section A was stained with Mouse anti-CD4 and section B stained with Rabbit anti-CD8, and both sections were counterstained with Donkey anti-Mouse-AL488 (Green). Sections C and D were stained with Rabbit anti-CD8 and Mouse anti-CD4 respectively, and both were counterstained with Donkey anti-Rabbit-AF647 (Red). FFPE tonsil sections were used for the evaluation. (Original magnification: x40).

#### 5.3.3 Evaluating simultaneous and sequential double IF

With the understanding that there was minimal crossreactivity in our design and as part of optimising the immunofluorescence protocol, an experiment to assess whether to use simultaneous or sequential double immunofluorescence staining was undertaken using an Autostainer. FFPE tonsil sections were stained for CD4 and CD8 markers and detected using fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies, Donkey anti-Mouse-AF488 and Donkey anti-Rabbit-AF647 using the Dako AutostainerPLUS. The images from both methods are displayed in Figure 5-2 as composites, A and D (CD4/CD8/DAPI), and single antibody fluorochromes with DAPI (CD4/DAPI and CD8/DAPI). No pronounced difference between the qualities of images from the two staining methods was observed. However, being that the simultaneous staining method reduces the chances of tissue detachment (as fewer steps), as well as the exposure to ambient light, this method was chosen for analysing the patients' tissue samples.



Figure 5-2: Evaluating Immunofluorescence staining methods.

Images of double stained of FFPE tonsil sections with antibodies directed against CD4 (green) and CD8 (red) by sequential (upper panel) and simultaneously (lower panel) methods. (Original magnification: x40).

This project adopts a simultaneous double labelling IF technique of targets on FFPE tissue sections to analyse for the expression levels of CD4+ and CD8+ (T cells), CD68+ and CD163+ (macrophages), FOXP3+ (regulatory T cells), CD21+ (primarily FDCs) PD1+ (exhausted T cells), CD16+ and CD56+ (NK cells) populations in FFPE tissue biopsies from FL patients.

To answer our hypothesis that CMV infection modulates FL microenvironment with the possibility of influencing rituximab-chemotherapy, we quantified and compared the expression of cellular markers between CMV- positive and negative patients. After staining the 3-micron sections from the PACICIFO FFPE tissue biopsies the coverslips were sealed to the slide with nail varnish and stored in the fridge until ready for image capturing and analysis. A total of 8 images were captured per section using an Olympus BX63 motorised upright microscope with a  $40\times$  objective, equipped with a Photometrics CoolSnap camera and MicroManager acquisition software (Edelstein et al., 2014). Images were analysed with ImageJ (Schneider et al., 2012) using in-house written macros and Java plugins. The representative images of the antibody staining of five different tissue sections are displayed in Figures 5-3 to 5-7.

In Fig 5-3, higher intensities of CD8 (cytotoxic) expressing T cells compared to CD4 (helper) expressing T cells seen in A & C. Figures 5-4 shows PD1+ cells (a surface protein marker) stained with FOXP3+ cells (a nuclear protein). In this study, PD1 expression is used as a marker to assess for exhausted T cells in the FL microenvironment. Higher expression of FOXP3 can be seen in C & E. The expression of CD21, a FDC marker in FFPE sections, revealed a meshwork pattern of CD21+ staining Figure 5-5as commonly demonstrated by FDC in lymphoid tissue (Alio et al., 2015). Sections were stained for CD56/CD16 and CD68/CD163 expressing cells in the FFPE to quantitate for intratumoral NK cells and macrophages. Weak colocalization was demonstrated in CD68 and CD163 in Figures 5-7 and as evaluated in section 5.3.4:



Figure 5-3: Double labelled immunofluorescent image for CD4/CD8 expression.

Immunofluorescent images of CD4/DAPI (A), CD8/DAPI (C) and a merged image of CD4/CD8/DAPI (E) alongside corresponding Isotype controls (B, D & F). The secondary antibodies comprised a mixture of Donkey anti-Mouse-AF488 dye (green) and Donkey anti-Rabbit-AF647 (a bright and photostable far-red dye). (Original magnification: x40).



## Figure 5-4: Double labelled immunofluorescent image for PD1/FOXP3 expression.

Immunofluorescent images of PD1/DAPI (A), FOXP3/DAPI (C) and a merged image of PD1/FOXP3/DAPI (E) alongside corresponding Isotype controls (B, D & F). The secondary antibodies comprised a mixture of Donkey anti-Mouse-AF488 dye (green) and Donkey anti-Rabbit-AF647 (a bright and photostable far-red dye. (Original magnification: x40).



Figure 5-5: A single labelled immunofluorescent image for CD21 expression.

Immunofluorescent image for CD21/DAPI (A) and Isotype control (B). The secondary antibody used is Donkey anti-Rabbit-AF647 (a bright and photostable far-red dye). (Original magnification: x40).



Figure 5-6: Double labelled immunofluorescent images for CD56/CD16 expression.

Immunofluorescent images of CD56/DAPI (A), CD16/DAPI (C) and a merged image of CD56/CD16/DAPI (E) alongside corresponding Isotype controls (B, D & F). The secondary antibodies comprised a mixture of Donkey anti-Mouse-AF488 dye (green) and Donkey anti-Rabbit-AF647 (a bright and photostable far-red dye). (Original magnification: x40).



## Figure 5-7: Double labelled immunofluorescent images for CD68/CD163 expression.

Immunofluorescent images of CD68/DAPI (A), CD163/DAPI (C) and a merged image of CD68/CD163/DAPI (E) alongside corresponding Isotype controls (B, D & F). The secondary antibodies comprised a mixture of Donkey anti-Mouse-AF488 dye (green) and Donkey anti-Rabbit-AF647 (a bright and photostable far-red dye). Arrow points at Colocalization (E; yellow). (Original magnification: x40).

#### **5.3.4 Evaluating colocalization**

The distribution of fluorescent signals between the paired markers per section (CD4/CD8, CD68/CD163 and CD56/CD16) was analysed quantitatively and statistically using the chi-squared ( $\chi^2$ ) test to determine the correlation coefficient (r) between pairs. This analysis revealed whether two markers associate with the same structures (not the same cell). This information is anticipated to provide an insight into possible co-expression of two markers on a cell.



Figure 5-8: Spearman Rank Order Correlation for paired markers.

Figure summarises colocalisation of CD56/CD16, CD4/CD8 & CD68/CD163 according to CMV status. CMV- depicts CMV- negative while CMV+ represents CMV- positive.

#### 5.3.5 Median intensities of markers of accessory in FL

The median expression levels of the accessory cell markers according to CMV infection status are as displayed in Table 5-2. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to analyse the intensities of markers of accessory cells in the FL microenvironment. Figure 5-9 revealed a statistically significant elevated median intensity of CD21 expression among CMV- positive (432.59) compared to the CMV- negative cohort (340.97) with a p-value of 0.043. Also, the sections from CMV- positive patients show marginally increased intensities of FOXP3 (p-values=0.069) and PD1 (p-

value=0.097) expression compared to CMV- negative. No other markers demonstrate a significant difference due to CMV status. However, from the table the CMVnegative group has shown a trend of increased median values of CD4+, CD8+, CD16+, CD56+, CD68+ and CD163+ expression.

 Table 5-2: Descriptive table of intensities of cellular infiltrates in the FL

 microenvironment determined by immunofluorescence

S#	Cell Markers	CMV Status (n=42)					
		Total	Positive	Negative	Р		
		(n=42)	(n=20)	(n=22)			
		Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)			
1	CD4	1672.8 (1452.9 - 1892.8)	1653.2 (1298.4 - 2008.0)	1691.5 (1394.9 - 1988.1)	0.784		
2	CD8	473.5 (427.8 - 519.1)	461.3 (403.4 - 519.2)	485.1 (410.3 - 559.9)	0.969		
3	CD16	332.1 (294.9 - 348.6)	329.9 (298.3 - 347.4)	333.6 (297.1 - 353.7)	0.796		
4	CD21	390.8 (355.7 - 425.8)	426.0 (374.1 - 477.8)	358.8 (311.6 – 406.0)	0.043		
5	CD56	1501.7 (1339.9 - 1663.5)	1453.6 (1195.3 - 1711.9)	1541.1 (1318.0 - 1764.3)	0.471		
6	CD68	1059.0 (904.5 - 1430.0)	948.6 (867.8 - 1282.0)	1137.0 (981.3 - 1430.0)	0.162		
7	CD163	599.7 (558.8 - 678.6)	583.8 (549.1 - 655.6)	609.2 (578.1 - 696.2)	0.345		
8	FOXP3	114.7 (110.0 - 301.6)	232.2 (110.9 - 337.3)	111.1 (109.3 - 119.0)	0.069		
9	PD1	193.4 (175.1 - 1053.0)	291.3 (187.2 - 1223.0)	187.9 (172.0 - 221.2)	0.097		


## Figure 5-9: Median intensities of accessory cell markers in the FL microenvironment.

The p-values are determined by Mann-Whitney U-test.

#### **5.4 Discussions**

Cellular composition and quantities of infiltrating accessory cells in the FL microenvironment are imperative in determining the overall outcome of the disease. This Chapter has evaluated the intensities of essential cell markers of the FL microenvironment with a view to identify any conceivable differences in the tumour microenvironment due to CMV infection. Analysis of the median intensities of cell markers in the FL microenvironment revealed a statistically significant elevation in the level of CD21 (markers of FDCs) among CMV- positive FL patients compared to the CMV- negative group (p=0.043). Also, marginal increase in the expression of FOXP3 and PD1 were observed in CMV- positive than negative (p=0.069 & p=0.097 respectively).

By morphology, the FL is described as a proliferation of malignant GCBs surrounded by a variety of nonmalignant cells such as follicular helper T ( $T_{FH}$ ) cells, follicular dendritic cells (FDCs), follicular reticular cells (FRCs) and macrophages, as illustrated in Figure 5-10 that can potentially affect the fate of tumour (Kridel et al., 2012). On the other hand, a 2-fold role of the FL microenvironment has been described to include supporting tumour growth/survival and suppressing the antitumoral immune response.



Figure 5-10: A model of the FL microenvironment.

This figure is reproduced with permission from (Kridel et al., 2012) and copyright clearance.

CD21 is a marker for FDCs that forms a complex with CD19, CD225 and CD81 in the membrane of mature B cells; which results in a considerably enhanced B cell response to the antigen. FDCs are not a subtype of normal dendritic cells (DCs) as they are stromal in origin and develop from vascular mural cells, while the traditional DCs are haematopoietic (Aguzzi et al., 2014). While DCs activate naïve T cells by presentation of processed antigen via major MHC molecules, FDCs appear to present unprocessed antigen in the form of trapped immune complexes (Krautler et al., 2012). This attribute, along with the availability of chemokines, adhesion molecules, and trophic factors, enables FDCs to shape B cell responses and fashion the local microenvironment (Kridel et al., 2012).

Furthermore, FDC links innate and adaptive (B cell) responses. The ability of the FDCs to perceive innate stimuli through Toll-like receptors elaborates specific immune responses (Krautler et al., 2012). Also, FDCs control the elimination of apoptotic GC B cells. Though, FDCs can also contribute to autoimmune diseases, the FDC-mediated ingestion of dying B cells plays a crucial role in preventing autoimmunity. An immunohistological study has demonstrated that the dense mesh-like networks of follicular dendritic cells (CD21+) that contain growing neoplastic B-cells in low-grade B-cell lymphomas disappear in high-grade lymphomas (Shiozawa et al., 2003). The prognosis was found to be statistically better for patients with low-grade tumour than for those with high-grade tumour (p = 0.026), and there was a pattern of poorer survival among CD21-negative cases (p = 0.186). Along these lines, the presence of CD21-positive follicular dendritic cells in neoplastic follicles may predict the capability of FL to change to DLBCL (Shiozawa et al., 2003).

The model in Figure 5-10 also illustrates the variety of accessory infiltrating cells in a typical FL microenvironment, although quantities and types of cells in the microenvironment vary from one case to another and their clinical relevance. FL growth and survival signals may include IL-4 and IL-21. These supporting factors can

bind to the interleukin receptors on FL cells such as IL-4R/IL-21R or CXCL12 and CXCL13 secreted by the stromal cell subtypes. FDCs being professional antigen presenters can mediate BCR signalling, which can also take place via the action of an innate immune system (Janeway et al., 1997). As illustrated in Figure 5-10, it can be seen that tumour cells are capable of suppressing the immune responses against them from macrophages, CTLs and T helper cells (Kridel et al., 2012).

FL cells can survive the cytotoxic effects of CTLs by causing a T-cell immune dysfunction and induction of T cell exhaustion by secreting IL-12 (Kridel et al., 2012). Also, Tregs and M2 polarised macrophages have been reported to suppress an efficient immunological response against FL cells (Mantovani et al., 2017, Chung et al., 2011, Ha, 2009). The enhanced Tregs in the FL microenvironment weakens the T cell response.

FL contributes to the preferential conversion of T helper cells into Tregs by proteins such as TGF- $\beta$  or CCL22 (Ha, 2009). Whereas classically activated TAMs, the M1 polarised CD68+ control malignant growth by inducing a T<sub>H</sub>1 response; M2-polarized TAMs exerts a tumour-promoting function through angiogenesis and induction of an immunosuppressive T<sub>H</sub>2 response (Quatromoni and Eruslanov, 2012).

There are well-documented pieces of evidence that point to the fact that the malignant B cells depress the function of the various T cell subtypes in the FL microenvironment so that they can escape immunosurveillance (Kridel et al., 2012). Studies have also revealed that elevated quantities of CD68+ -TAMS correlated with inferior prognosis and poor outcome in FL. (Clear et al., 2010, Taskinen et al., 2007). Although no statistical difference is observed due to CMV status, the CMV- negative FL patients had higher expression intensities for CD68 and may lead to a poor outcome compared to the CMV- positive patients. It was also demonstrated that IL-12 secretion by malignant B cells induces T cell exhaustion (Yang et al., 2012).

Elevated numbers of tumour infiltrating FOXP3 (regulatory T cells) have been shown to associate with enhanced overall survival in FL (Carreras et al., 2006). This may suggest that CMV- positive patients are likely to fare better than the CMV- negative FL patients. It has also been reported that FL cells effect the transformation of effector T cells into FOXP3-expressing Tregs, which suppress the proliferation and action of both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Kridel et al., 2012, Ai et al., 2009). FDCs are professional APCs and increased frequencies in the microenvironment of FL patients with chronic CMV infection may be logical in enhancing BCR signalling, which is achievable either via the innate immune system, provoking BCR through N-glycans, or via antigen processing and presentation by FDCs (Kridel et al., 2012). Furthermore, it has also been reported that FL cells affect the transformation of effector T cells into FOXP3 (Tregs), which suppress the proliferation and action of both CD4+ and CD8+

Our data may be vaguely interpreted as enhanced antigen presentation activity due to CMV, increased T cell regulation and raised T cell exhaustion following chronic and sustained antigenic stimulation.

The present study has not been able to characterise the various cell types in the FL microenvironment that express PD-1, however, two subcategories of T-cells are known to express PD-1 based on the expression levels of the marker. The PD- $1^{\text{high}}$ CXCR5+ T<sub>FH</sub> cells phenotype which are exclusively expressed by the CD4+ T cells have been reported to promote the survival of B cells. On the other hand, the PD- $1^{\text{low}}$ TIM-3+ exhausted T cells category can be expressed on both CD4+ and CD8+ T

cells, and this subtype has lost the ability to secrete cytokines and to convey cell signalling (Yang et al., 2015). Therefore, there is no clear understanding of the functional or clinical relevance of the marginally elevated median intensities of PD-1 in the CMV- positive FL patients compared the CMV- negative counterparts.

Taking together, FL patients with CMV infection can be seen to express higher intensities of markers for FDCs (CD21+), regulatory T cells (FOXP3+) and exhausted T cells (PD1+) in the tumour microenvironment.

A Longitudinal study will further illuminate the relevance of findings. Also, a study that incorporates other differentiating markers for instance, TIM-3 can offer more information regarding the significance of the elevated intensities of CD21, PD-1 and FOXP3 markers in the FL microenvironment due to CMV infection. In the meantime, the explorative analysis of the relationship between clinical data (treatment efficacy and toxicity) and CMV status (Chapter 6) as well as laboratory data (Chapter 7) will provide an insightful perspective on the clinical relevance of the laboratory data.

#### **Chapter 6 : Effect of CMV on treatment efficacy and toxicity**

#### **6.1 Introduction**

The overall hypothesis for this thesis was that CMV infection in FL alters immune function in two ways: (1) altering the lymphoma microenvironment in a way that could modulate the behaviour of the disease as well as its response to therapy; and (2) accelerating immune senescence and thereby increasing the risk of infection following immunosuppressive chemo-immunotherapy. By showing that CMV infection was associated with the accumulation of exhausted T cells, reduction of some cytokines in the blood, and expansion of follicular dendritic cells in affected lymph nodes, the laboratory data presented in Chapters 3-5 support both components of this hypothesis. The aim of the present Chapter was to explore the potential impact of CMV infection in patients with FL at the clinical level by relating CMV infection status to therapy response and toxicity, especially infection.

#### 6.2 Approach

Clinical data were related to CMV status using explorative statistics in 3 separate cohorts of patients: those whose samples were used for the FACS/cytokine analysis (n=42), those whose samples were used for the immunofluorescence study (n=42 including 6 in FACS/cytokine cohort), and all patients of known CMV serostatus who were recruited into the PACIFICO trial (n=269). As previously explained, samples used for lymphocyte/cytokine profiling and tissue staining were specifically selected (a) to provide an equal number of CMV-positive and CMV-negative cases and (b) to be well balanced in other respects. It was considered important to examine the effect of CMV status in the overall trial cohort in order to increase statistical power and therefore the chances of finding significant differences between the CMV-positive

and CMV-negative groups. On the other hand, there was a risk that CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients might not be balanced in other respects, potentially introducing bias. At the point of data lock, 360 patients had been randomised into the PACIFICO study. Of these, 269 (75%) were informative for CMV status and constituted the overall trial cohort. 191 patients were only in the overall cohort whereas the rest were also in FACS/cytokine cohort and/or IF cohort. Figure 6.1 shows the relationship between FACS/cytokine, IF and overall trial cohorts.



### Figure 6-1: Venn diagram showing the number of patients and relationship between the three cohorts analysed.

The proportion of CMV-positive cases in FACS/cytokine, IF and overall trial cohorts was 50%, 48% and 40.5%, respectively, the remainder being CMV-negative.

The two main clinical events of interest were treatment response and toxicity. Longterm outcomes such as PFS and OS were not available as the trial is still in follow-up. Treatment response after 4 and 8 cycles of treatment was captured through CRFs provided by local sites and collated by the Clinical Trials Unit (CTU). The patients' response to treatment was evaluated based on Revised Standardised Response Criteria for Malignant Lymphoma (Cheson et al., 2007). In this criteria, an anatomical response is assessed by contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT), which defines the degree of shrinkage of the affected lymph nodes and essentially classifies response into Complete Remission (CR), Partial Remission (PR), Stable Disease (SD) and Progressive Disease (PD) (Subramaniam, 2015, Cheson et al., 2007). As the name implies, CR is reported when there is no evidence of disease confirmed by the disappearance of palpable nodules in spleen and liver. PR, on the other hand, denotes regression of measurable disease and no new sites involvement. This is defined by a  $\geq$ 50% reduction in the sum of the product of the diameters of up to 6 largest dominant nodal masses (Subramaniam, 2015, Cheson et al., 2007). Meanwhile, a failure to achieve CR, PR or a PD during therapy is described as SD. In this situation, no new locations identified on CT; with no change in the dimension of early lesions on CT. Finally, PD refers to a treatment response status characterised by the appearance of a new lesion(s) > 1.5 cm in any axis or increase by  $\geq$  50% of previously involved sites from nadir. Toxicity was captured via Adverse Event (AE) and Serious Adverse Event (SAE) reports submitted by local sites and collated by the CTU, and categorised in accordance with version 4 of the universally applied National Cancer Institute (NCI) Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE). Since CMV infection can accelerate immune senescence, the study focused on infection. However, to take into account the possibility that infections might arise in the context of chemotherapy-induced neutropenia, the rate of febrile neutropenia (reported by some local sites as "neutropenic fever" or "neutropenic sepsis") was also examined.

Summary statistics and independence hypothesis tests were conducted to explore any differences in treatment efficacy and toxicity due to CMV status. Toxicity was quantified in two different ways: either as the proportion of patients who experienced the event of interest, or as the total number of events of interest (thereby taking into account that one patient may experience multiple infections). To minimise bias due to differences between CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients that could affect the reporting of Adverse Events (AEs)/Severe Adverse Events (SAEs) (e.g. duration of treatment exposure), the rate of infection and febrile neutropenia was expressed as a proportion of all reported toxicity within each group being analysed.

The results of the analyses are presented under 3 main sections: baseline characteristics of the 3 cohorts used for the study; effect of CMV on treatment efficacy; and impact of CMV on infection and febrile neutropenia.

#### 6.3 The baseline characteristics of study cohorts

The baseline characteristics FACS/cytokine of patients in the and immunofluorescence (IF) cohorts used for lymphocyte profiling/cytokine analysis and tissue studies respectively have already been presented in Table 3-1 (Chapter 3) and Table 5-1 (Chapter 5). In both cohorts, there was no difference between CMVpositive or CMV-negative groups in a range of variables with the potential to impact on treatment efficacy and/or toxicity. These variables included age, stage, Hb, LDH, number of affected lymph node groups and FLIPI score. Table 6-1 shows baseline characteristics of the overall trial cohort broken down by CMV status. Of the 269 patients, 160 (59%) were CMV- negative, and 109 (41%) were CMV- positive. FL Patients' risk factors and the prognosis are stratified by the Follicular Lymphoma International Prognostic Index (FLIPI) score into three risk categories: good (0 or 1), Intermediate (2) and poor (3-4). The FLIPI score is determined using five adverse prognostic factors including Ann Arbor stage (III-IV vs. I-II), age (> 60 years vs.  $\leq$  60 years), haemoglobin level (< 120 g/L vs.  $\geq$  120 g/L), number of nodal areas (> 4 vs.  $\leq$ 4), and serum LDH level (above normal vs normal or below) (Solal-Céligny et al., 2004). The Cumulative Illness Rating Scale (CIRS) is used for the physical assessment of impairment of patients under 13 near independent areas. It is a 5-point rating of the degree of severity scale that ranges from none (1) to extremely severe (5) (Linn et al., 1968). There is no significant difference in the proportion of patients in Table 6-1 due to CIRS. It can be seen that the two groups were mostly well balanced for a range of clinical features that have the potential to influence treatment efficacy and toxicity, although a higher proportion of patients in the CMV-positive group had a high-risk FLIPI score (70% versus 61%), potentially biasing this group towards a worse treatment outcome. 

 Table 6-1: Baseline clinicopathological characteristics of the overall trial cohort

 according to CMV status

		CMV Status						
		(n=269)						
	Tetel							
Characteristics		Positive	Negative	P **				
	(n=269) *	(n=109) *	(n=160) *					
Age	70 (66 – 75)	60 (67 76)	70 (65 75)	0.192				
Median (IQR)		09 (07 - 70)	70 (05 - 75)					
Gender N (%)				0.114				
Male	123 (45.7)	43 (39.4)	80 (50)					
Female	146 (54.3)	66 (60.6)	80 (50)					
Haemoglobin (g/dL), Median (IQR)	13.0 (12.0 – 14.2)	13.0 (12.0-14.1)	13.1 (12.0 - 14.2)	0.423				
Ann Arbor stage N (%)				0.419				
2	33 (12.2)	10 (9.3)	23 (14.4)					
3	121 (45.0)	52 (48.6)	69 (43.1)					
4	113 (42.0)	45 (42.1)	68 (42.5)					
CIRS Score N (%)				0.963				
≤5	223 (82.9)	91 (83.5)	132 (82.5)					
>5	46 (17.1)	18 (16.5)	28 (17.5)					
No. lymph nodes N (%)				0.666				
1	11 (4.1)	6 (5.5)	5 (3.1)					
2	17 (6.3)	6 (5.5)	11 (6.9)					
3	21 (7.8)	4 (3.7)	17 (10.6)					
4	22 (8.2)	12 (11.0)	10 (6.3)					
5	31 (11.5)	12 (11.0)	19 (11.9)					
6	167 (62.1)	69 (63.3)	98 (61.3)					
LDH Median (IQR)	358 (225-467)	336 (215-437)	356 (221-470)	0.502				
FLIPI Score N (%)				0.229				
0-1 (low risk)	26 (9.7)	7 (6.4)	19 (11.9)					
2 (intermediate risk)	69 (25.6)	26 (23.9)	43 (26.9)					
3-5 (high risk)	174 (64.7)	76 (69.7)	98 (61.3)					
Histology N (%)	/	()	()	0.352				
1	75 (29.1)	36 (34.0)	39 (26.6)					
2	128 (49.6)	49 (46.2)	79 (52.0)					
3	55 (21.3)	21 (19.2)	34 (22.4)					

\*For continuous variables this refers to the Mean (SD) or Median (IQR)

\*\*P value for  $\chi^2$  test or Fisher's exact test for the difference between categorical variables or t - test for the difference between two means.

#### 6.4 Effect of CMV infection on treatment efficacy

#### 6.4.1 FACS/cytokine Cohort

Response data was available for 37 of the 42 patients in this cohort. The stacked bar chart in Figure 6-2 shows treatment response post cycle 4. Out of the 18 CMVnegative FL patients, only 2 (11%) achieved complete remission (CR), and 16 (89%) responded partially (PR). On the other hand, out of 19 CMV-positive patients, 9 (47%) showed CR and 9 (47%) partial remission with 1 (5%) patient showing stable disease (SD). Thus the CR rate was significant higher in CMV-positive group than that in CMV- negative group after 4 cycles of treatment, as analysed with  $\chi^2$  test (P = 0.016) or Fisher's exact test (P = 0.029). As expected, response (CR or PR) was recorded in all cases whose treatment lasted for 8 cycles. The CR rate increased in both groups after that. In a total of 35 patients with information available, it was achieved by 12 of the 18 CMV-positive (67%), and 9 of the 17 CMV-negative (53%) patients (Figure 6.3). Although the CR rate was still higher in the former group, the difference became small and lacked a statistical significance ( $\chi^2$  test P = 0.407; Fisher's exact test P = 0.500).



Figure 6-2: Stacked bar charts illustrating the proportion percentages of patients' local response after post cycle 4 by CMV status (FACS/cytokine Cohort).

CR= Complete Remission, PR= Partial Remission, SD= Stable Disease. There were no patients showing Progressive Disease (PD) response after post cycle 4.





Stable Disease response or Progressive Disease response after post cycle 8.

The trend of CR achievement after 4 and 8 cycles of treatment in both groups are presented in Figure 6-4, which shows a favourable effect of CMV infection on the quick response.



Figure 6-4: The line graph shows the proportion of CMV-positive and CMVnegative patients who achieved a CR at both time points (FACS/cytokine cohort).

#### 6.4.2 Immunofluorescence cohort

Response data was available for 38 of the 42 patients in this cohort. The stacked bar chart in Figure 6-5 shows treatment response at post cycle 4. Out of the 20 CMV-negative FL patients, only 3 (15%) responded completely (CR) to therapy, 16 (80%) responded partially (PR) and 1 had a stable disease (SD). While among the CMV-positive patients, 4 (22%) achieved CR, 12 reached PR, and 1 (6%) each showed SD and PD, respectively. Although the CR rate in the CMV-positive group was bigger than that in the negative group, the difference did not reach a statistical significance (p = 0.687, Fisher's exact test). This was the same when the rate of CR+PR was compared between the two groups (p = 0.595).



Figure 6-5: Stacked bar charts illustrating the proportion percentages of patients' local response to therapy after post cycle 4 by CMV status (Immunofluorescence).

CR= Complete Remission, PR= Partial Remission, SD= Stable Disease, Progressive Disease (PD).



Figure 6-6: Stacked bar charts illustrating the proportion percentages of patients' local response to therapy after post cycle 8 by CMV status (Immunofluorescence).

CR= Complete Remission, PR= Partial Remission, SD= Stable Disease, Progressive Disease (PD).

Similar to what was found in the FACS/cytokine cohort, the CR rate increased when the treatment lasted for 8 cycles in both CMV-positive and negative groups. However, such increase was less profound in the negative group, leading to a bigger difference from the positive groups (38% versus 71%, p = 0.085,  $\chi^2$  test) (Figure 6-6). Thus, more patients in the positive group are likely to achieve CR. As summarised in Figure 6-7, the CR rates recorded at the two time points post treatment were generally in agreement with that found in the previous cohort, suggesting CMV infection is associated with good response to the treatment in the trial (detailed in 6.4.1). However, compared the previous cohort, CR rate increased slower in patients with CMV negativity and did not reach to the same level at 8 cycle post treatment in this cohort. The reason for the difference was not clear, but might be due to the differences in patients between the two cohorts. (For example, more male patients were CMV-negative in this cohort (68.2% versus 38.1%, p = 0.069, Fisher's exact test).





CMV-ve denotes CMV- negative, while CMV+ve denotes CMV- positive.

Furthermore, the logistic regression analysis of contributors to the higher CR rate not only further confirmed the role of the prolonged treatment (p = 0.003), but also revealed a likely relationship with CMV infection (p = 0.103), as shown in Figure 6-7.

#### 6.4.3 The PACIFICO overall trial cohort

Response data was available for 223 of the 269 patients in this cohort. Figures 6-8 and 6-9 give graphical summaries of the relationship between CMV status of patients and response to therapy at post cycles 4 and 8 respectively. The stacked bar chart in Figure 6-8 shows that after 4 cycles of therapy, among the 134 CMV- negative FL

patients, 21 (28%) had a complete response (CR), 102 (76%) had a partial response (PR) and 4 (3%) had stable disease (SD), whereas among the 89 CMV- positive, 20 (22%) had a CR, 66 (74%) a PR, 2 (2%) SD and 1 (1%) PD. In summary, there was no association between CMV status and response post cycle 4.



Figure 6-8: Barplot to show relationship between CMV status and post cycle 4 (overall trial cohort).

CR= Complete Remission, PR= Partial Remission, SD= Stable Disease, Progressive Disease (PD).

The stacked bar chart in Figure 6-9 shows that after 8 cycles of therapy, among the 115 CMV- negative FL patients, 49 (43%) had a (CR), 64 (56%) a PR and 2 (2%) PD, whereas among the 69 CMV- positive, 36 (52%) had a CR, 31 (45%) a PR and 2 (3%) PD.





CR= Complete Remission, PR= Partial Remission, and Progressive Disease (PD).

From the summary line graph in Figure 6-10, there may be a small trend towards higher CR rates after 8 cycles of therapy in the CMV-positive group but the effect is much less striking than in the other 2 cohorts.



### Figure 6-10: The line graph shows the proportion of CMV+ve and CMV-ve patients who achieved a CR at both time points (Overall trial cohort).

CMV-ve denotes CMV- negative, while CMV+ve denotes CMV- positive.

The discrepancy between results obtained in FACS/cytokine, IF and overall trial cohorts can potentially be explained by the fact that a higher proportion of CMV-positive patients in the overall trial cohort have high-risk FLIPI scores compared to the CMV-negative group in the overall Cohort (70% vs 61%). This could bias the CMV-positive group towards worse treatment outcome and potentially negate any favourable effect on treatment outcome associated with CMV positivity. In contrast, FLIPI scores in in FACS/cytokine and IF cohorts were well balanced between CMV-positive versus CMV-negative groups.

Overall, in a logistic regression models for the probability of having a Complete Response, both the time of assessment (post cycle 4 and 8) and the patient's CMV status are included as covariates in the model. There is a significant difference between post cycles 4 and 8 (p=0.002871). The probability of being CR increases from post cycle 4 to post cycle 8. Also, there is some evidence that being CMV-

positive increases the chances of a CR but this is not statistically significant (p=0.103).

#### 6.5 Effect of CMV status on infection and febrile neutropenia

Following correlating CMV infection status with the response to treatment, we investigated relationship of such infection to the treatment toxicities in each of the two cohorts presented above and the entire cohort of patients recruited into the PACIFICO trial with clinical information available. CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients who experienced any form of toxicity were compared for the occurrence of infections and febrile neutropenia (reported as "neutropenic fever" or "neutropenic sepsis"). Toxicity was analysed as the percentage of affected patients, or the total number of infection or febrile neutropenia episodes reported within each group.

#### 6.5.1 The number of patients experiencing AEs/SAEs

#### 6.5.1.1 In the FACS/cytokine cohort

40 of the 42 patients in this cohort with information about toxicity available were included in this analysis. 20 of these patients were CMV-negative whereas 20 were CMV-positive.

Figures 6-11A-E show the proportion of patients in each of these groups who experienced infection and/or febrile neutropenia. There was no observed difference between CMV-negative and CMV-positive groups in the percentage of patients experiencing infection (Fig 6-11A), grade 3+ infection (Fig 6-11B), febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-11C), infection and/or febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-11D), or grade 3+ infection and/or febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-11E).

182



# Figure 6-11: Comparison of incidence of infection and/or febrile neutropenia between CMV-positive and negative patients in the FACS/cytokine cohort.

Bar plot illustrating the proportion of patients in the FACS/cytokine cohort with infection and/or febrile neutropenia that were statistically compared between these two groups. The figure in each bar represents the % of cases.

#### 6.5.1.2 In the IF cohort

In this cohort, the relevant information was not available from 9 of the 42 patients by the time of analysis. Therefore, results from 33 patients with 17 being CMV-negative and 16 CMV-positive are reported here.

Figure 6-12 shows the proportion of patients in each of these groups who experienced infection and/or febrile neutropenia. Similar to the findings above, there was no observed difference between the two groups in the percentage of patients experiencing infection (Fig 6-12A), grade 3+ infection (Fig 6-12B), febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-12C), infection and/or febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-12E).



# Figure 6-12: Comparison of incidence of infection and/or febrile neutropenia between CMV-positive and negative patients in the IF cohort.

The bar plot illustrates the proportion of patients in the IF cohort with infection and/or febrile neutropenia that were statistically compared between these two groups. The figure in each bar represents the % of cases.

#### 6.5.1.3 In the overall trial cohort

209 of the 269 patients in the overall trial cohort experienced some form of toxicity. 128 of these patients were CMV-negative whereas 81 were CMV-positive.

Figure 6-13A-E shows the proportion of the number of AEs/SAEs in each of these groups that were due to infection and/or febrile neutropenia. A significantly higher proportion of CMV-positive patients experienced infections compared to CMV-negative patients (74% vs 59%, P=0.033, see Fig 13A). The same was true of infections and/or febrile neutropenia (78% vs 62%, P=0.031, see Fig 6-13D). There was no observed difference between CMV-negative and CMV-positive groups in the percentage of patients experiencing grade 3+ infection (Fig 6-13B), febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-13C or grade 3+ infection and/or febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-13E).

The summary of the percentage of patients who experienced specific toxicities in the three patient cohorts is presented in Table 6-2.



## Figure 6-13: Comparison of incidence of infection and/or febrile neutropenia between CMV-positive and negative patients in the overall trial cohort.

The bar plot illustrates the proportion of patients in the overall trial cohort with infection and/or febrile neutropenia that were statistically compared between these two groups. The figure in each bar represents the % of cases.

 Table 6-2: A summary of percentage of patients who experienced specific toxicities in the three cohorts

Percentage of patients experiencing specific toxicities		Cohor 37 patie	Cohort 1 (FACS/cytokine) 37 patients experiencing any			Cohort 2 (IF) 33 patients experiencing any			Cohort 3 (overall trial) 209 patients experiencing any		
			toxicity			toxicity			toxicity		
		CMV-	CMV+	P value	CMV-	CMV+	P value	CMV-	CMV+	P value	
		N=20	N=20		N=17	N=16		N=128	N=81		
Infection (%)	Any grade	70	50	0.333	82	81	1.00	59	74	0.033	
	Grade 3+	20	15	1	35	31	1.00	21	22	0.79	
Febrile neutropenia (%)*	Any grade**	15	5	0.598	18	6	0.639	9	11	0.865	
Infection or febrile	Any grade	70	55	0.514	88	81	0.941	62	78	0.031	
neutropenia (%)	Grade 3+	30	20	0.715	41	31	0.818	24	30	0.481	

\*including neutropenic fever and neutropenic sepsis

\*\* Febrile neutropenia is by definition grade 3+

#### 6.5.2 Analysis of the number of reported AEs/SAEs

With the findings made above, we further compared the adverse effects quantified as the number of episodes experienced by the patients.

#### 6.5.2.1In FACS/cytokine cohort

A total of 532 AEs/SAEs were recorded in the FACS/cytokine cohort. Among them, 342 occurred in CMV-negative and 190 in CMV-positive patients.

Figure 6-14 shows the percentage of the total number of AEs/SAEs in each of the two groups, including infection and/or febrile neutropenia. There was no observed difference between CMV-negative and CMV-positive groups in the percentage of AEs/SAEs that resulted from infection (Fig 6-14A), grade 3+ infection (Fig 6-14B), febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-14C), infection and/or febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-14D), or grade 3+ infection and/or febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-14E).





Figures in each bar represent the % of the episodes.

### 6.5.2.2 The immunofluorescence (IF) cohort

A total of 486 AEs/SAEs were reported in the IF cohort. Amongst these, 323 occurred

in CMV-negative patients and 163 in CMV-positive patients.

Figures 6-15A-E show the proportion of the number of AEs/SAEs in each of these groups that were due to infection and/or febrile neutropenia. Figure 6-15A and Figure 6-15D show that CMV-positive FL patients experienced statistically more episodes of infection (P=0.017) and infection and/or febrile neutropenia (P=0.037) compared to the CMV- negative group. No difference was observed between CMV-negative and CMV-positive groups in the percentage of AEs/SAEs that resulted from grade 3+ infection (Fig 6-15B), febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-15C) or grade 3+ infection and/or febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-15E).





Figures in each bar represent the % of the episodes.

### 6.5.2.3 The overall trial cohort

A total of 2544 AEs/SAEs were reported in the overall cohort. Out of this, 1690 occurred in CMV-negative patients and 854 in CMV-positive patients.

The CMV-positive patients experienced a significantly higher percentage of reported number of infections compared to CMV-negative patients (17% vs 12%, P=0.001, see Fig 6-16A). Also, CMV- positive had a significantly higher proportion of the percentage number of infections and/or febrile neutropenia AEs compared to CMV-negative patients (19% vs 13%, P=0.001, see Fig 6-16D). In addition, a significantly higher proportion of grade 3+ infection and/or febrile neutropenia was recorded by the CMV- positive FL patients compared to CMV-negative patients (6% vs 4%, P=0.021, see Fig 6-16E).

There was no observed difference between CMV-negative and CMV-positive groups in the percentage of patients experiencing grade 3+ infection (Fig 6-16B) or febrile neutropenia (Fig 6-16C).



# Figure 6-16: Comparing AE/SAE episodes between CMV-positive and –negative patients in the overall PACIFICO trial cohort.

Figures in each bar represent the % of the episodes.

 Table 6-3: A summary of percentage episodes of specific toxicities reported in the three cohorts.

Percentage of reported AEs/SAEs due to specific toxicities		Cohort 1 (FACS/cytokine) 532 AEs/SAEs			Cohort 2 (IF) 486 AEs/SAEs			Cohort 3 (overall trial) 2544 AEs/SAEs		
		CMV-	CMV+	P value	CMV-	CMV+	P value	CMV-	CMV+	P value
		N=342	N=190		N=323	N=163		N=1690	N=854	
Infection (%)	Any grade	8	13	0.167	10	18	0.017	12	17	<0.001
	Grade 3+	2	2	1	2	4	0.3	3	4	0.156
Febrile neutropenia (%)*	Any grade**	1	1	0.789	2	1	0.89	1	2	0.073
Infection or febrile	Any grade	10	13	0.272	12	20	0.037	13	19	<0.001
neutropenia (%)	Grade 3+	4	2	0.338	4	5	0.702	4	6	0.021

\*includes "neutropenic fever" and "neutropenic sepsis"\*\* Febrile neutropenia is by definition grade 3+

#### **6.6 Discussions**

This Chapter focuses on the evaluation of the relationship between the available clinical endpoint data of the trial patients and CMV status. Results of the two cohorts studied suggests that CMV infection in FL associates with better and more rapid response to rituximab-containing chemo-immunotherapy in the FACS/cytokine and IF cohorts. This association will be tested in the entire trial cohort when data of clinical response of all patients is verified. Regarding toxicities of the treatment, the clinical data of all patients in the trial were verified and available. The proportion of patients experiencing infection or (infection and/or febrile neutropenia) was significantly higher in the CMV-positive group in the whole trial cohort, despite similar between the two groups in the two small cohorts studied for FACS/cytokine and IF profiles. Also, the percentage of the total number of AEs/SAEs episodes due to infection or (infection and/or febrile neutropenia) was significantly higher in the CMV-positive group in the overall trial cohort, the effect is particularly striking and extends to grade 3+ infection and/or febrile neutropenia. These observations suggest that CMV infection in FL associated with increased

episodes of infection and adverse events in the course of rituximab-containing chemoimmunotherapy, especially as observed in overall PACIFICO trial cohort.

By implication, the elevated end-stage effector T cell types observed in Chapter 3 and the reduced serum cytokine levels seen in Chapter 4 can be said to contribute to the increased infection episodes observed among the CMV- positive FL patients. Similarly, the more impressive chemo-immunotherapy response rate reported among CMV-positive patients compared to the CMV- negative can be attributed to the high expression levels of CD21 and FOXP3 reported in the tumour microenvironment (Chapter 5). Undoubtedly, leucocytes constitute the primary cellular source of cytokines, and since end stage T cells are poor secretors of cytokines (Rothe et al., 2016), then the presence of CMV infection can grossly impair immune responses to antigenic challenge leading to increased infection rate among the CMV- positive patients. These data, therefore, support the hypothesis that CMV infection alters immune function in two ways: (1) Alteration of lymphoma microenvironment with modulation of therapy response (opposed by worse FLIPI score in the overall trial cohort). The findings are in keeping with enhanced antibody-dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (mechanism of action of rituximab) due to the increased FDCs demonstrated in CMV- positive cases of Chapter 5 (2) Acceleration of immune senescence and T cell exhaustion with increased susceptibility to infection.

The treatment regimens for both arms of the PACIFICO trial (R-FC & R-CVP) contain human anti-CD20-IgG1 monoclonal antibody, rituximab, in combination with the chemotherapy regimens, and afterwards, it is given as a single agent for maintenance therapy to avoid or slow the return of cancer following CR (Witkowska and Smolewski, 2016). The mechanisms by which rituximab function to cause the destruction of pan-B-cell (more than 90% of B-cell NHL) including the FL cells is by
the immune antibody-antigen binding that leads to cell-mediated cytotoxicity, direct signalling of apoptosis and complement activation (Smith, 2003). Therefore, some of the most notable explanations for the actions of rituximab may include antibody-dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), complement dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) as well as induction of apoptosis and direct growth arrest (Seyfizadeh et al., 2016, Weiner, 2010, Witkowska and Smolewski, 2016, Zhou et al., 2008).

In the ADCC pathway, the target (FL) cells are coated with the anti-CD20 antibodies which trigger the accessory effector immune cells in the FL microenvironment to induce ADCC process that facilitate the lysing of the rituximab-coated target cells (Hogarth and Pietersz, 2012, Weiner, 2010). Consequently, the result suggests that the significantly elevated FDCs (as identified by CD21+ marker) observed in the FFPE tissue sections of the CMV-positive patients could be responsible for potentiating the action of rituximab and resulting to the higher proportion of CR rate compared to the CMV- negative patients. Although FDCs are known to play a promoting role in lymphomagenesis, growth, histologic transformation and survival of FL B cells (Lossos and Gascoyne, 2011), FDCs help in shaping immune responses and are crucial for the removal of cell debris from GCs and in preventing autoimmunity (Aguzzi et al., 2014). Also, the binding of rituximab to FL cells will activate the activities of regulatory T cells (FOXP3+ cells) which happen to be elevated at borderline significance in CMV-positive patients compared to CMV- negative. Although it is not clear whether FOXP3 is an anti- or pro- tumourigenic molecule, functional evidence strongly suggest that FOXP3 serves as tumour suppressive transcription factor in cancer development (Zuo et al., 2007, Tao et al., 2012). Therefore, by the ADCC pathway, the potential anticancer activity of FOXP3 will confer a superior response advantage to the CMV- positive FL patients on rituximab – chemotherapy regime than the negative.

Even through some authors have reported that FDCs (CD21+) can block apoptosis and enhance cell survival (Mongini et al., 2003), rituximab can act through the activities of FOXP3 that represses cell proliferation and induces apoptosis by activating the apoptotic signalling pathway to enhance response to treatment (Ma et al., 2013, Darmochwal-Kolarz et al., 2012).

The increased incidence and episodes of infection AEs reported among the CMVpositive FL patients (in the overall PACIFICO trial cohort) can be attributed to the predominance of exhausted T cells over functionally competent T cells reported in Chapter 3 of the thesis. This is due to the decreased long-lasting memory potential, limited effector function and poor cytokine production capacity of the terminally differentiated T cells, which can cause a profound impairment of the immune functions and thereby increasing patients susceptibility to infections (Rothe et al., 2016, Wherry, 2011). Furthermore, the low levels of circulating cytokines across proand anti-inflammatory categories, as well as chemokines and haematopoietic growth factors among the CMV-positive patients, may account for the heighten proportion and rate of infection AEs among the patients. Other reasons for the increased risk of infection among CMV- positive FL patients may include, though not statistically significant, low levels of naïve and central memory T to fight novel infections and mount strong response against secondary infections compared to CMV- negative population.

It is anticipated that understanding the mechanisms by which CMV modulates the activity of rituximab-containing chemotherapy in FL treatment might provide

197

headway to researching into drug discovery and improved quality of life of FL patients. Furthermore, if data is confirmed by a prospective study, routine CMV serostatus of FL patients may be recommended. This step will help in promoting precision medicine and to checkmate incidences and rates of toxicities in FL patients, especially during immuno-chemotherapy. In this case, the CMV- positive FL patients might benefit from enhanced clinical monitoring against AEs/SAEs in the course of therapy and for inclusion on other protocols aimed at slowing down the rate of T cell exhaustion and immune senescence among patients. Furthermore, it is believed that carrying out a survival analysis at the close of the trial relating primary endpoints data with CMV infection status may reveal a clearer picture of the role of CMV infection in FL biology.

In conclusion, CMV infection among FL patients has is associated with elevated frequencies of circulating end-stage T cell types and NK cells, decreased serum cytokine levels and high expression of CD21+ cells in the FL microenvironment. Also, CMV infection associated with more episodes of infection AEs but higher CR rate. The next chapter (Chapter 7) focuses on exploring the relationship between CMV status and the proportion of end stage T cells, median serum cytokine levels and intensities of surface markers in the FL microenvironment versus AEs and response status. This approach will give ideas on how increased or decreased values of these parameters relate to AEs and response status.

### **Chapter 7 : Relating laboratory findings with treatment efficacy**

#### 7.1 Introduction

The data presented in Chapters 3-5 indicate that CMV infection is associated with an altered profile of blood lymphocytes (reduced CD4: CD8 ratio, increased effector and effector memory-3 cells within the CD4+ and CD8+ populations, increased NKT cells, decreased CD4+ and increased LAG3-CD4 cells), reduced serum cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-17, FGF-basic, GM-CSF, MIP1 $\alpha$ , MIP1 $\beta$ ) and increased accessory cells expressing PD-1, FOXP3 and CD21 in affected lymph nodes. Furthermore, in Chapter 6, I showed that CMV infection is associated with increased infections and possibly an improved response to chemo-immunotherapy. In this Chapter, I sought to establish the relationship between the CMV-dependent biological variables listed above and the clinical associations of CMV. In doing so, I hoped to be able to shed light on the mechanisms through which CMV exerts its clinical effects in FL. Unfortunately, it was not possible within the time frame available to relate CMV-dependent biological variables to infection or febrile neutropenia. Since these were the only toxicities associated with CMV, the analysis was confined to elucidating the relationship between CMV and treatment efficacy (CR rates after 4 and 8 cycles).

### 7.2 Approaches

To achieve the aim of this chapter, we planned to compare the clinical outcomes (response to treatment) between patients with different levels of those laboratory variables differentially expressed between CMV-positive and -negative patients, including the 10 cytokines identified in Chapter 4, the 3 microenvironmental markers presented in Chapter 5, and the 8 cell types elucidated in Chapter 3. However, for each of these variables the data was continuously distributed rather than categorical

and it was not possible to identify a natural cut-off separating "high-level" from "lowlevel" cases. The median level of each laboratory variable of the 42 patients studied was therefore applied to divide cases into two groups. Figure 7-1 provides an example of how this approach was applied to serum cytokine levels. For each variable, patient groups defined as "high level" (greater than the median value) or "low-level" (lower than the median value) were compared for clinical endpoints using the statistical analyses described in Chapter 2.

Although data on treatment response after 4 and 8 cycles was available for most patients, it was missing in 5 and 7 patients, respectively, among the cohort of 42 patients used to examine lymphocyte subsets (Figures 7-2 & 7-3) and serum cytokines (Figure 7-6 & 7-7), and in 4 and 15 patients, respectively, among the cohort of 42 patients used to examine accessory cells in affected lymph nodes (Figures 7-10 & 7-11). To validate the results and avoid underestimation of any difference between patients due to the limited sample size, a reciprocal statistical analysis was performed in which patients were grouped by whether or not they achieved a CR and compared across groups for levels of the CMV-dependent laboratory variables.



Figure 7-1: Expression levels of cytokines in the studied cohort of patients with FL.

The y-axis represents the levels of cytokines (pg/ml) found to be differentially expressed in CMV-positive versus CMV-negative cases. For each cytokine, the data have been arranged in rank order. The horizontal line in each chart represents the median level of individual cytokines.

### 7.3 Results

#### 7.3.1 Relationship between treatment response and blood lymphocyte subsets

Following the approaches outlined above, patients were divided into high- and lowlevel groups for each lymphocyte subset found to be differentially expressed between CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients (NKT, pE2.CD4, E.CD4, E.CD8, EM3.CD8, CD4 & LAG3-CD4). Interestingly, patients with high proportion of E.CD4 cells (CD4+CD45RA+CCR7-CD27-CD28-) had a higher CR rate after 8 cycles of treatment compared to those with a low proportion (77.78% versus 41.18%, p = 0.041, Figure 7-3C), although no significant difference was found after 4 cycles. Also, patients expressing a high proportion of E.CD8 cells tended to have a higher CR rate after 8 cycles of treatment compared to patients that had low E.CD8 cells, although this observation failed to reach statistical significance (p=0.094, Figure 7-3G). No difference in CR rates was observed between patient groups defined by high versus low proportions of other lymphocyte subsets.

Consistent with the finding above, patients who achieved a CR after 8 cycles had a higher proportion of E.CD4 cells compared to those who did not achieve a CR at this time point (Figure 7-5). Similarly patients who achieved a CR after 4 cycles tended to have a higher proportion of pE2.CD4 cells, although this observation just failed to reach statistical significance (Figure 7-4).





Patients were grouped based whether they expressed low or high frequency of lymphocyte subsets. The y-axis of the stacked bar charts depicts the percentage of patients that achieved CR and non CR at post treatment cycle 4.



# Figure 7-3: Comparison of treatment response post cycle 8 between patients expressing low and high frequencies of lymphocyte subsets.

Patients were grouped based whether they expressed low or high frequency of lymphocyte subsets. The y-axis of the stacked bar charts depicts the percentage of patients that achieved CR and non CR at post treatment cycle 8.



Figure 7-4: Comparison of lymphocyte subsets between patients achieving and not achieving CR after 4 cycles of treatment.

The y-axis on the boxplots represents the percent of the cell subtypes analysed. The response status represented by complete remission (CR) and non-complete remission (non CR) are presented on the x-axis.



Figure 7-5: Comparison of lymphocyte subsets between patients achieving and not achieving CR after 8 cycles of treatment.

The y-axis on the boxplots represents the percent of the cell subtypes analysed. The response status represented by complete remission (CR) and non-complete remission (non CR) are presented on the x-axis.

### 7.3.2 Relationship between treatment response and serum cytokines

Next, we divided the cohort of patients into two groups using the median level of each of the 10 cytokines identified in Chapter 4. As shown in Figures 7-6 & 7-7, Chi square test or Fisher's exact test found no significant difference in CR rates between patients with low versus high levels of any of these 10 cytokines.

The patients were then grouped by outcome, and cytokine levels were compared between patients who did or did not achieve a CR after 4 cycles (Figure 7-8) or 8 cycles (Figure 7-9) of treatment using the Mann-Whitney U test. Again, no significant difference was observed.



## Figure 7-6: Comparison of treatment response post cycle 4 between patients expressing low and high levels of cytokines.

Patients were grouped based on whether they expressed low or high levels of serum cytokines. The y-axis of the stacked bar charts depicts the percentage of patients that achieved CR and non CR at post treatment cycle 4.



# Figure 7-7: Comparison of treatment response post cycle 8 between patients expressing low and high levels of cytokines.

Patients were grouped based whether they express low or high levels of serum cytokines. The y-axis of the stacked bar charts depicts the percentage of patients that achieved CR and non CR at post treatment cycle 8.



Figure 7-8: The cytokine levels in patients with and without CR after 4 cycles of treatment.

Patients were grouped based on whether or not they achieved a CR after completion of 4-cycle treatment. The y-axis of the boxplots depicts expression levels of cytokines (pg/ml).



Figure 7-9: The cytokine levels in patients with and without CR after 8 cycles of treatment.

Patients were grouped based on whether or not they achieved a CR after completion of 8-cycle treatment. The y-axis of the boxplots depicts expression levels of cytokines (pg/ml).

#### 7.3.3 Relationship between treatment response and accessory cells

Next, we used the median intensity of the 3 differentially expressed microenvironmental protein markers (PD1, FOXP3 and CD21) to divide the patients into two groups. The Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test did not reveal any significant difference between the groups in the CR rate after either 4 or 8 cycles of treatment (Figures 7-10 & 7-11). Similarly, no significant difference in intensity of any of the three markers was found between cases achieving and not achieving CR (Figures 7-12 and 7-13).



# Figure 7-10: Treatment response post cycle 4 between patients expressing low and high intensities of immune cell markers in the FL microenvironment.

Patients were grouped based whether they express low or high frequencies of cell markers in the FL microenvironment. The y-axis of the stacked bar charts depicts the percentage of patients that achieved CR and non CR at post treatment cycle 4.





Patients were grouped based whether they express low or high frequencies of cell markers in the FL microenvironment. The y-axis of the stacked bar charts depicts the percentage of patients that achieved CR and non CR at post treatment cycle 8.



Figure 7-12: Comparison of intensity of protein markers in microenvironment between cases with and without CR post cycle 4 of treatment.

The y-axis on the boxplots represents the fluorescence intensities of the protein markers in the FL microenvironment.





The y-axis on the boxplots represents the intensity of the protein markers in the FL microenvironment. A summary of the relationship between CMV-dependent biological variables and treatment efficacy is presented in Table 7-1.

CMV-dependent biological variable		CR after 4 cycles		CR after 8 cycles	
		Analysis	Analysis	Analysis	Analysis
		1	2	1	2
Blood lymphocytes	NKT	NS	NS	NS	NS
(Chapter 3)	pE2-CD4	NS	0.070	NS	NS
	E-CD4	NS	NS	0.041	0.035
	EM3-CD4	NS	NS	NS	NS
	E-CD8	NS	NS	0.094	NS
	EM3- CD8	NS	NS	NS	NS
	CD4	NS	NS	0.094	NS
	LAG3-CD4	NS	NS	NS	NS
Serum cytokines	IL-1β	NS	NS	NS	NS
(Chapter 4)	IL-4	NS	NS	NS	NS
	IL-6	NS	NS	NS	NS
	IL-8	NS	NS	NS	NS
	IL-9	NS	NS	NS	NS
	IL-17	NS	NS	NS	NS
	FGF-basic	NS	NS	NS	NS
	GM-CSF	NS	NS	NS	NS
	MIP-1α	NS	NS	NS	NS
	MIP-1β	NS	NS	NS	NS
Tissue accessory cells	PD-1	NS	NS	NS	NS
(Chapter 5)	FOXP3	NS	NS	NS	NS
	CD21	NS	NS	NS	NS

 Table 7-1: Summary of the relationship between CMV-dependent biological

 variables and treatment efficacy

Analysis 1 compares CR rates in groups of patients with high or low expression of CMV-dependent biological variables (using median values as a cut-off). Analysis 2 compares the expression of CMV-dependent biological variables in groups of patients who achieve or do not achieve a CR. NS = Not significant (P>0.1).

### 7.4 Discussions

The aim of this Chapter was to relate treatment responses to CMV-dependent biological variables with the aim of shedding further light on the mechanisms underlying the possible beneficial effect of CMV infection on response to chemoimmunotherapy as reported in Chapter 6. The key positive finding was that patients with a high proportion of E.CD4+ T cells in the blood (> median value) were significantly more likely to achieve a CR after 8 cycles of treatment (~80% vs. ~40%). The reciprocal was also true, i.e. patients achieving a CR after 8 cycles of treatment had significantly higher numbers of E.CD4+ T cells in the blood compared to those who did not achieve a CR. Patients with a high number of E.CD8+ T cells in the blood also tended to have higher CR rates after 8 cycles of treatment, but this observation failed to reach statistical significance. There was also a non-significant trend for patients with high PE2.CD4+ T cells in the blood to have higher CR rates after 4 cycles of treatment. In contrast, patients with a low total number of CD4+ T cells (as seen in CMV positive) tended to have higher CR rates after 8 cycles of treatment, but again, this observation failed to attain statistical significance (p=0.094). No association was observed between CR rates after 4 of 8 cycles of treatment and levels of individual cytokines in the serum or number of accessory cells in affected lymph nodes expressing PD-1, FOXP3 or CD21.

Our data reveal that patients with higher proportions of PE2.CD4 (p=0.070), E.CD4 (p=0.041 & p=0.035) and E.CD8 (p=0.094) as well as low proportion of CD4+ T cells (p=0.094) responded better to the rituximab-chemotherapy. In the case of E.CD4 cells, these differences were identified in a two-way statistical approach that involved firstly grouping the patients based on the quantity of each of the laboratory variables and then on the basis of clinical outcome (CR). This reciprocal approach to statistical analysis should increase the level of confidence that the findings are real rather than spurious.

The intriguing observation is that similar elevated levels of these T cell subtypes were reported among the CMV-positive patients (Chapter 3), and that this group of patients also showed greater sensitivity to rituximab-containing chemotherapy compared with the CMV negative group (Chapter 6). Taken together, these observations are in keeping with the idea that E.CD4 and E.CD8 cells might mediate some of the cytotoxicity of chemo-immunotherapy in FL, and that the superior CR rates observed in CMV-positive patients is due to the greater number of E.CD4 and E.CD8 cells that accumulate in these patients.

My results provide the first triangulation between CMV infections, accumulation of effector T cells and enhanced sensitivity to rituximab-containing therapy in FL. Thus, although CMV infection is known to promote the accumulation of these circulating effector and pre-effector T cells in healthy individuals, this phenomenon has not been previously documented in FL. Furthermore, although effector cells have been shown to promote the antitumor activity of antibody-based therapy in FL (Golubovskaya and Wu, 2016, Chames et al., 2009), there are no prior reports of CMV enhancing the effectiveness of such treatment.

Rituximab, the therapeutic mAb which forms part of the treatment regimen for FL and a broad variety of other B-cell malignancies, targets the CD20 antigen on B cells (Kosmas et al., 2002, Weiner, 2010). Mechanisms by which rituximab exerts its therapeutic effects include complement (C1q) binding, induction of B-cell (follicular lymphoma cell) depletion via FcR-mediated antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC), inhibition of cell proliferation, direct induction of apoptosis, and disruption of anti-apoptotic pathways with sensitisation of malignant B cells to chemotherapy (Kosmas et al., 2002, Boross and Leusen, 2012).

The killing of FL cells (antibody-coated target cell) through ADCC mechanism requires effector cells, especially the cytotoxic effector cells expressing particular Fc

217

receptors (FcRs) that will release cytotoxic granules or by the expression of cell death-inducing molecules (Romána et al., 2013). Although it is argued that resting CD4+ T-cells lack low-affinity FcRs, however, activated CD4+ T-cells express substantial amounts of FcγRIIIa, which were initially observed in small numbers in circulating T cells (Chauhan, 2016, Sandor and Lynch, 1993). Therefore, one may argue that the high effector CD4+ and CD8+ T cell types reported among the CMV-positive patients (Chapter 3) might contribute to the CR rate observed in Chapter 6 which is further confirmed in this Chapter (Chapter 7). Following massive depletion of FL (B) cells in the course of rituximab -chemotherapy regimen, effector T cells, though short-lived, are capable of homing to opsonized antigens (FL cells) and eliminating them at a rate that correlates with the number of effector T cells (Golubovskaya and Wu, 2016). This phenomenon should theoretically lead to a better CR rate among patients with higher numbers of effector T cells prior to commencement of the treatment, as is seen in the CMV-positive cohort.

Regarding the potential value of passive immunotherapy through ADCC and CDC, studies have suggested that because the maximum clinical benefit of rituximab is achieved months after the commencement of therapy, the adaptive arm of immunity is involved in the overall realisation of an enduring benefit of rituximab therapy (Cartron et al., 2004, Weiner et al., 2010). Evidence suggests that induction of adaptive immune responses in the course of antibody therapy is achieved when DCs present peptides from engulfed apoptotic cells on MHC class I molecules to elicit antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses (Weiner et al., 2010). These understandings provide a possible explanation for the higher CR rates observed post cycle 8 compared to post cycle 4 (see Table 7.1) and the impact of the effector CD4 and CD8 T cell functions in clearing FL cells.

To understand the mechanism by which rituximab can influence the functional properties of T cells, a group reported that rituximab efficiently depletes all the CD20 expressing T cells (CD20 T cells), which account for about 1.6% to 2.4% of all T cells (Wilk et al., 2009). The study concluded that CD20 T-cell population contributes largely to disease severity, and that depletion of this T-cell subset can serve an additional mechanism by which the monoclonal CD20 antibodies therapy can effectively work in the treatment of other diseases such as RA.

Of course, mechanisms other than ADCC and CDC might explain the better treatment responses observed among patients with elevated PE2.CD4+, E.CD4+ and E.CD8+ T cells, as seen in the CMV-positive group, although it is difficult to speculate on what these mechanisms might be.

No association was found between CR rates and serum cytokines or number of accessory cells expressing PD-1, FOXP3 or CD21. This negative finding may reflect physiological variation in serum cytokine levels. Thus, even in healthy individuals, levels of serum cytokines have been reported to vary widely, with even more variation seen in pathological conditions (Kleiner et al., 2013). For instance, some studies have linked higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-1 or TNF- $\alpha$ ) to worse disease outcomes, and curtailing the biological activities of these cytokines can reduce the impact of illness (Dinarello, 2000, Fitzgerald et al., 2005). Alternatively, the lack of association between serum cytokine levels and CR rate may simply reflect the small sample size. This speculation also applies to the lack of association observed between CR rates and PD-1, FOXP3 or CD21-expressing accessory cells in the tumour microenvironment. Thus, others have shown that T-cell subtypes, proteins and cells in the tumour microenvironment are associated with survival in FL and may

influence response to treatment and the risk of transformation in this disease (Yang and Ansell, 2012a).

Finally, my findings are likely to be confounded by other variables that I have not studied but which might modulate response to treatment in FL such as the genetic and cellular factors (KIR genotyping, HLA genotyping, and KIR ligand assignment) that drive immune responses in mAb therapy (Du et al., 2014). Also, genetic polymorphisms in the gene for C1q have been linked to variations in rituximab efficacy in humans, single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) and copy number variations of the FCGR2A and FCGR3A genes that play roles in the efficacy of rituximab therapy (Moriya et al., 2014, Rezvani and Maloney, 2011) may impact on response. Such variables could dilute and potentially mask any effects due to the variables of interest. The identification of laboratory variables that may associate with clinical outcome but were not studied in this Chapter could form the basis for a future research project.

In summary, the data presented in this Chapter suggest that CMV increases sensitivity to chemo-immunotherapy in FL due to the secondary accumulation of effector T cells which mediate the therapeutic effects of rituximab.

### **Chapter 8 General Discussion & Conclusions**

The hypothesis addressed in this thesis is that CMV infection alters the immune system in FL in two ways: first, by expediting immune senescence, thereby leading to increased susceptibility to heterologous infection; and second, by altering the lymphoma microenvironment in such a way as to alter the response to chemoimmunotherapy. My experimental approach involved comparing CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients with FL who entered the PACIFICO trial for circulating lymphocyte subsets (Chapter 3), blood cytokine levels (Chapter 4), accessory cells at sites of tissue involvement (Chapter 5), and clinical outcome (Chapter 6). Furthermore, in an attempt to elucidate pathogenetic mechanisms responsible for the effects of CMV on clinical outcome, the latter was related to laboratory variables found to be associated with CMV serostatus. The present Chapter attempts to integrate my experimental findings and, in doing so, provide a unifying explanation for the effects of CMV infection in FL.

In considering the extent to which my findings support the hypothesis underlying my thesis, the first point to make is that CMV status was indeed associated with a number of the biological variables examined. These include blood lymphocyte subsets, serum cytokine profile, and the number of specific accessory cells at sites of tissue involvement. The existence of such differences indicates that hypothesis has the potential to be correct.

The salient findings were as follows: Flow cytometric analysis of stored PBMCs of FL patients in Chapter 3 revealed higher percentages of end-stage T cell subtypes (pE2.CD4 (p=0.048), E.CD4 (p=0.030), EM3.CD4 (p=0.019), E.CD8 (p=0.035) & EM3.CD8 (p=0.005)), as well as NKT cells (p=032), in CMV-positive patients

221

compared to the CMV-negative counterparts. In Chapter 4, the Luminex assay show significantly decreased levels of multiple cytokines in the serum of CMV-positive patients compared to the CMV-negative group. These included IL-6 (p=0.029), IL-8 (p=0.037), IL-9 (p=0.006), IL-17A (p=0.020), FGF-basic (0.028), MIP-1α (p=0.039) and MIP-1 $\beta$  (p=0.029). Furthermore, there were more accessory cells expressing CD21 (p=0.043), FOXP3 (p=0.069) and PD-1 (0.097) in the lymphoma microenvironment of CMV-positive cases compared to CMV-negative patients, suggesting an accumulation of FDCs, Tregs and exhausted T cells, respectively. At the clinical level, I showed in Chapter 6 that CMV infection was associated with a better response to chemo-immunotherapy in the cohort used for flow cytometry/cytokine profiling (p=0.019), and with an increased risk of infection in the cohort used for tissue immunofluorescence (p=0.017), as well in the much larger overall patient cohort (p<0.001). In Chapter 7, I showed that response to chemoimmunotherapy was associated with increased circulating end-stage T cells (p=0.041 for E.CD4; p=0.094 for E.CD8) but not with any of the other CMVdependent biological variables examined. Figure 8-1 summarises these associations. In summary, I have produced evidence that CMV infection in FL results in (1) the accumulation of circulating end-stage T cells, (2) a reduction in multiple serum cytokines, (3) increased FDCs, Tregs and exhausted T cells in the lymphoma microenvironment, (4) increased infection and (5) better therapeutic response to chemo-immunotherapy, the latter being associated with increased circulating endstage T cells but not with reduced serum cytokines or increased FDCs, Tregs and exhausted T cells in tissues.



## Figure 8-1: Associations observed between CMV infection, alterations in the immune system and clinical outcome in patients with FL

The observed association between CMV positivity and the accumulation of circulating end-stage T cells strongly supports the hypothesis that, in patients with FL, CMV accelerates the general process of immune senescence as has been suggested in healthy individuals (Solana et al., 2012, Tsoukas, 2012).

Since many cytokines are produced by T cells, and since one of the features of endstage T cells is their inability to produce cytokines, it is reasonable to assume that the reduction in serum cytokines observed in CMV-positive FL patients is secondary to alterations in lymphocyte subsets. The observed association between CMV positivity and infection following chemoimmunotherapy indicates that CMV infection is immunosuppressive in this context and implicates accelerated immune senescence as an underlying mechanism. Unfortunately it was not possible within the time frame available to look for a direct relationship between infection and either blood lymphocyte subsets or serum cytokines to confirm the relationship between accelerated immune senescence and susceptibility to infection.

223

As outlined above, CMV status was also associated with alterations in the number of accessory cells in the lymph node microenvironment with increased numbers of FDCs (CD21+), Tregs (FOXP3+) and exhausted T cells (PD-1+) detected in CMV-positive patients. The functional relationship between these CMV-dependent tissue alterations and CMV-dependent alterations in blood lymphocyte subsets is unclear as it was not possible to apply the same level of cellular characterisation to FFPE biopsy material as was possible for cryopreserved PBMCs. Nevertheless, it is noteworthy that one of the histological associations of CMV in FL tissues was an increase in exhausted (PD-1+) T cells. Although these cells are phenotypically distinct from the TEMRA (T effector memory re-expressing CD45RA) cells that accumulate in the circulating blood of CMV-positive FL patients, they resemble TEMRA cells in being functionally incompetent. Consequently, it appears that CMV infection in FL results in the accumulation of a multiple types of functionally incompetent T cells both in the blood and also at sites of tissue involvement.

The FL microenvironment in CMV-positive patients was associated not only with an increase in exhausted T cells but also with higher numbers of Tregs and FDCs which, in the case of FDCs, reached statistical significance. It is therefore logical to speculate that one or more of these cell types might be responsible for the better response to chemoimmunotherapy that was observed in CMV-positive patients. The latter observation was apparent in both of the smaller patient cohorts (where other variables that could confound outcome were well balanced between CMV-positive and CMV-negative cases) and reached statistical significance in the FACS/cytokine cohort.

Given the effect of CMV on both therapy response and accessory cells at sites of tissue involvement, it was surprising that no association was detected between the

latter two variables. Specifically, response to chemo-immunotherapy was not associated with the number of exhausted T cells, Tregs or FDCs in the FL microenvironment. This could indicate that these cells were not responsible for the effect of CMV on therapy response, or that one or more of these cell types was responsible for the effect of CMV on therapy response but that a statistically significant association was overlooked due to small sample size. Interestingly, the only CMV-dependent biological variable found to be statistically associated with therapy response was the proportion of circulating end-stage T cells. Thus, twice as many patients with a high (greater than the median) E.CD4/E.CD8 count achieved a CR after 8 cycles of chemoimmunotherapy compared to patients with a low E.CD4/E.CD8 count (p=0.041 and p=0.094, respectively). The explanation for this observation is unclear. One possibility is that the accumulation of circulating TEMRA cells is simply a marker of CMV infection and that these cells do not mediate the effect of CMV on therapy response. This model is supported by the fact that TEMRA cells lack homing receptors such as CCR7 and CD62L (Willinger et al., 2005) and should therefore be poorly equipped to migrate into the FL microenvironment. Alternatively, it is possible that TEMRA cells do accumulate in the FL microenvironment and modulate therapy response but were undetected by the immunofluorescence staining for CD4 and CD8 that was reported in Chapter 5 as their accumulation does not affect the total number of CD4+ or CD8+ T cells in affected tissues.

The above conclusions and deductions are based on data which (as is the case with all datasets) has both strengths and limitations. The fact that all the data generated in this thesis is derived from samples obtained as part of a clinical trial should be regarded as a major strength. In fact, due to the relatively low incidence of FL, it would be

difficult for a single treatment centre to accumulate a sufficient number of samples for the studies performed in this thesis. Under these circumstances, centralised sample collection performed as part of a multicentre trial provides the only realistic opportunity to perform such research. Furthermore, since trial entry is tightly governed by strict entry criteria, and since clinical data collection is performed to a high standard, patients recruited into trials are extremely well defined in terms of pretreatment characteristics, treatment administered and treatment outcome. On the negative side, trial populations may not be entirely representative of the overall population with a given disease in terms of age (older patients are typically underrepresented) and co-morbidity (less fit patients are typically unrepresented). An additional problem with trial samples is that clinical outcome data cannot be released until the primary results of the trial are published, as there is a risk that the primary results might be deduced from the released data. For this reason, it was not possible to analyse the two treatment arms of the PACIFICO trial separately. This is unfortunate as the R-FC arm is likely to be more T cell-immunosuppressive than R-CVP. It therefore follows that patients who received R-FC are likely to be more sensitive to the effects of CMV compared to those who received R-CVP. Furthermore, it was not possible to relate pre-treatment characteristics (including CMV status) to long-term therapy response (progression-free survival) as the number of deaths/progressions is currently too small for analysis to be meaningful. Consequently, the analysis was confined to short-term response (CR rate).

Another limitation in the data was the need, for practical reasons, to confine the FACS/cytokine and IF analysis to a cohort compromising 42 patients. The actual number of samples for which a complete dataset was available was even smaller as trial data collection is ongoing. These two factors reduced the statistical power of

comparisons between different patients groups within these cohorts and in doing so increased the risk of overlooking true associations between the variables examined. On the other hand, the process of selecting samples for the FACS/cytokine and IF cohorts ensured that CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients were well balanced for prognostic factors that could bias the results. Such patient selection should increase the reliability of comparisons made between CMV-positive and CMVnegative patients. However, despite showing that CMV seropositivity is associated with a better therapy response in the two smaller, well-balanced cohorts, failure to show any association between CMV serostatus is unsuitable as a clinically useful predictive biomarker for therapy response. In contrast, the strong association observed between CMV serostatus and infection in the larger, unselected cohort means that CMV serostatus has potential value as a clinically useful predictive biomarker for infection.

The sophistication of the analytical techniques employed and the large amount of data produced by these techniques should be regarded as one of the strengths of this thesis. Furthermore, the data should be reliable since all assays were validated before being applied to the trial samples. Indirect validation of the assays is provided by the fact that some of the observed differences between CMV-positive and CMV-negative cases include some previously reported effects of CMV in healthy individuals. It would have been interesting to quantify CMV-specific T cells using CMV-specific tetramers and assess lymphocyte function by measuring activation following stimulation with recall antigens (Gratama et al., 2001, Gratama and Kern, 2004), and the lack of such data should be regarded as a limitation. A further limitation is the lack of longitudinal data to show the combined effect of CMV and chemoimmunotherapy on circulating lymphocytes and serum cytokines. Although sequential samples were available for some patients, it was simply not possible to perform these analyses within the time frame available.

Although some of the associations that I have demonstrated between biological variables are strong, others are weaker – just bordering on statistical significance. Furthermore, causal relationships have not been proven between any of the variables, although many can be strongly inferred from the application of existing knowledge and basic principles. Although factors other than CMV such as age, gender, and other pathophysiological conditions may cause variation in the numbers and types of circulating immune cells (Koch et al., 2008b), the differences between CMV-positive and CMV-negative patients observed in my study are likely to be due to CMV itself since these other factors were well balanced between the CMV-positive and CMV-negative groups that were compared with one another.

One important limitation of my study is that it did not formally establish whether the end-stage lymphocytes that accumulated in CMV-positive patients with FL were exclusively CMV-reactive or whether they included non-CMV-reactive lymphocytes. In the absence of co-staining with CMV-specific tetramers, it was not possible to formally address this question. However, the average proportion of CMV-reactive circulating memory T cells in healthy CMV-seropositive individuals is ~10% (Naeger et al., 2010). In contrast, in my study, circulating end-stage T cells were 2-3 folds higher in CMV-positive cases (Table 3-3). Consequently, it seems very likely that the end-stage T cells that accumulate in CMV-positive patients with FL include not only CMV-specific T cells but also T cells with other specificity.

Having considered the strengths and limitations of the data presented in this thesis, it is important to discuss the extent to which my data support or contradict the existing literature and suggest possible explanations for any discrepancies.

The concept that CMV infection results in the accumulation of terminally differentiated lymphocyte subtypes in the blood is in agreement with previous reports of both healthy individuals (Welzl et al., 2014, Ohlin and Söderberg-Nauclér, 2015) and cancer patients (P Chou and B Effros, 2013, Myklebust et al., 2013). The endstage lymphocytes found to accumulate in CMV-positive individuals in these studies included T cells lacking the costimulatory receptors CD27 and CD28 as well as the lymph node-homing receptors CCR7 and CD62L (Pawelec et al., 2005) (Moro-García, Alonso-Arias et al. 2015). Other studies that used blood and bone marrow samples spanning from young (mean age, 29 years; range, 20–39 years) to old (mean age, 80 years; range, 71–91 years) healthy donors demonstrated a correlation between CMV infection and increased end-stage (short-lived) CD45RA+ CD27- CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Libri et al., 2011, Smith et al., 2016). By using multiple linear regression analysis, these authors demonstrated that increases in CD45RA<sup>-</sup> CD27<sup>-</sup> (effector memory) and CD45RA+ CD27<sup>-</sup> CD4+ (effector) T cell phenotypes are due mainly to CMV infection. Furthermore, Griffiths in his PhD thesis linked CMV seropositivity in healthy blood donors to increased CD45RA+ memory T cells in the peripheral blood (Griffiths, 2011). These cellular phenotypes are all features of immune senescence and are indicative of repeated antigenic stimulation and impaired immune functionality that can potentially lead to increased susceptibility to recurrent infections (Pawelec et al., 2005, Alonso Arias et al., 2013, Smith et al., 2016). The concept that the end-stage T cells that accumulate in CMV-positive patients are functionally incompetent is further supported by a study reporting a significant correlation between accumulated end stage T lymphocytes, especially enriched CD8+ TEMRA cells, and delayed bone fracture healing (Reinke et al., 2013).

My study also showed a significant increase in circulating NKT cells amongst CMVpositive patients compared to those who were CMV negative. NKT cells are known to exhibit either protective or injurious effects through the secretion of cytokines that promote either immune tolerance or inflammation (Savage et al., 2016). Although the exact mechanisms are not clear, the increase in the NKT cells in CMV-positive cases might reflect a compensatory response of the innate immune system to heterologous infections caused by the reduction in the number of CD4+ T cells and the skewing of T cells towards a senescent phenotype.

In a study of healthy individuals, Schrier et al found an association between CMV infection and circulating T cells expressing PD-1, a marker of T-cell "exhaustion" (Schrier et al., 1986). In my study, CMV infection was associated with increased PD-1 expression in affected lymph nodes but not in circulating T cells. Since PD-1 influences the apoptosis of stimulated T-cells and minimises their capacity to produce cytokines (Sester et al., 2008). Thus may help to explain the reduced serum cytokine levels observed among CMV-positive FL patients.

Surprisingly, my study appears to be the first to directly demonstrate that CMV seropositivity is associated with a significant increase in infections. That this phenomenon has not been previously reported suggests that the effect may only be evident in the presence of additional immunosuppression such as that induced by chemo-immunotherapy. This key observation provides crucial new evidence to support the idea that CMV infection can cause clinically significant immunodeficiency by inducing the accumulation of terminally differentiated T cells.

230

On the other hand, my demonstration that CMV infection may enhance sensitivity to chemo-immunotherapy in FL (Chapter 6) via the accumulation of terminally differentiated E.CD4 and E.CD8 T cells (Chapter 7) suggests that the T cells that accumulate in CMV-positive patients are functionally active and capable of modulating the cytotoxicity of chemotherapy drugs or, more likely, rituximab via enhanced ADCC. This concept is in keeping with the report of Libri et al, which demonstrated the multifunctional capability of the CD45RA+ CD27<sup>-</sup> T-cell subtype (Libri et al., 2011). These latter cells possess cytotoxic function similar to those of CD45RA<sup>-</sup> CD27+ T-cell subsets, indicating that end-stage T cells are not completely functionally incompetent. A report by Henson et al also described CMV infection as one of the leading causes of elevated end-stage T cells (Henson et al., 2012). In their article, end-stage T cells were characterised by increased activation of senescence signalling pathways, decreased proliferative capacity, and higher sensitivity to apoptosis, yet were capable of multiple effector functions. The latter characteristic is in agreement with the report of Libri et al and potentially explains my own observations regarding CMV serostatus and therapy response.

The notion that the end-stage T cells that accumulate in CMV-positive indivuals are functionally active need to be reconciled with my observation that CMV sero-positivity is associated with increased infection following chemo-immunotherapy, which implies loss of T-cell function. The likely explanation for this apparent contradiction is that the effector T cells that accumulate in CMV-positive patients are mainly pathogen-specific and show poor response to novel pathogens (Pennock et al., 2013, Briceño et al., 2016).

We have reported significantly decreased levels of 7 serum cytokines in the CMVpositive patients in Chapter 4 as summarised in Table 8-1.
Cytokine	Produced by	Primary target	Hallmark
IL-6	Macrophages, T <sub>H</sub> 2, Adipocytes	T <sub>H</sub> 2 B cells	Proinflammatory/ T <sub>H</sub> 2
IL-8 (CXCL8)	Neutrophils, Macrophages, Epithelial cells	Endothelial cells	Chemotactic Angiogenesis
IL-9	T <sub>H</sub> 9 cells, NKT cells, Mast cells, T <sub>H</sub> 2 cells, Tregs, T <sub>H</sub> 17 cells	Promotes mast cell and T cell growth, stimulates mast cell accumulation in tissues enhances class switching to IgE in B cells and alters haematopoietic progenitor cell activity	pleiotropic in function, proinflammatory
IL-17A	Activated T cells	Chronic inflammatory diseases	Proinflammatory
FGF-basic	Adipocytes	Wound healing, Normal tissue and Tumour development	Angiogenesis
MIP-1α (CCL3)	Macrophages, DCs, Lymphocytes	Infection, inflammation	Proinflammatory & Chemotactic effects
MIP-1β (CCL4)	Macrophages, DCs, Lymphocytes	Infection, inflammation	Proinflammatory & Chemotactic effects

Table 8-1: Serum cytokines differentially expressed due to CMV infection

A brief summary of cytokines that are differentially expressed in CMV positive FL compared to the CMV negative (Kaplan et al., 2015, Rouvier et al., 1993) and providing summary sources, targets and actions. DCs= dendritic cells, NKT cells = Natural Killer T cells, MIP-1 $\alpha$  = Macrophage Inflammatory Proteins-1  $\alpha$ , MIP-1 $\beta$  = Macrophage inflammatory protein-1- $\beta$ .

Interestingly, serum levels of most cytokines and chemokines are generally low in healthy persons, although some variation has been observed due to ageing (Kleiner et al., 2013, Kim et al., 2011). By inference, one may be tempted to think that the lower levels of serum cytokines reported among CMV-positive patients confer some benefit to this group of patients. However, such an assumption would be overly simplistic owing to the considerable functional heterogeneity of cytokines.

The significantly reduced levels of serum cytokine observed in the CMV-positive patients in Chapter 4 was not unexpected, given that T cells are the primary source of

these cytokines and that the T cells that accumulate in CMV-positive patients are terminally differentiated and therefore poorly equipped to produce cytokines. Contrary to our data, other studies have reported elevated levels of serum cytokines (IL-6, IL-8 & TNF-a) among CMV-positive bone marrow transplant recipients (Humar et al., 1999). Unlike in our study cohort, the bone marrow transplant patients experienced CMV reactivation and severe inflammatory CMV disease which likely accounts for the increased serum cytokine levels. In contrast, a recent study that evaluated hand-grip strength in older subjects did not observe any strong correlations between CMV serostatus and serum cytokine (IL-1β, IL-6 or TNF) levels (Goldeck et al., 2016). From these observations, one may argue that in the absence of an acute inflammatory response, CMV infection does not increase cytokine levels but rather results in a reduced capacity for cytokine production in chronic diseases such as FL. It is also likely that reduced capacity for cytokine production is partly responsible for the increased infection that is observed among CMV-positive patients with FL following chemo-immunotherapy. Unfortunately, the mechanisms deployed by CMV in concert with relevant cellular sources of cytokines to downregulate the productions of these cytokines are not well studied. Due to the limited time frame, no experiments were conducted to understand the exact mechanisms.

The immunofluorescence Chapter reveals that CMV-positive patients show higher intensities of CD21+ (FDCs), FOXP3 (regulatory T cells) and PD1+ (exhausted T cells) expressing cells in the FL microenvironment compared to CMV negative patients. The significantly higher intensity of CD21-expressing cells among CMVpositive patients is interpreted as indicating a higher number of FDCs as the staining showed distinctive meshwork in most cases. FDCs are mainly found in the primary and secondary follicles of the B cell areas where they play a vital role in organising lymphoid microarchitecture, antigen capturing, memory B-cell support, debris removal and prevention of autoimmunity (Kranich et al., 2008, Aguzzi and Krautler, 2010, Cyster, 2010). However, the elevated level of CD21-expressing cells and well as those of FOXP3 and PD1 in the CMV-positive patients did not show any association with the rituximab treatment efficacy. Going by the efficacy data in Chapter 7, it can be deduced that CD21, FOXP3 and PD1 expressing cells as seen in the FL microenvironment of CMV-positive patients might not hold any role in potentiating treatment efficacy in FL therapy. This implies that their activities may not have a direct beneficial impact on the actions of Rituximab such as ADCC, CDC as well as in the induction of apoptosis and direct growth arrest of cell circle.

Intriguingly, CMV infection and elevated end stage T cells (E.CD4 and E.CD8) have shown an association with enhanced response to rituximab-chemotherapy, especially at the post cycle 8. Ordinarily, with the increased number of senescent, exhausted and end-stage T cell subtypes, the higher CR rate seen among the CMV-positive patients seemed contradictory to expectation. The mechanism by which CMV infection modulates rituximab therapy resulting to enhance response in FL is not known. However, its activity has been linked to the accumulation of effector (E.CD4 and E.CD8) T cells which as a recent study investigating effector functional potentials of CMV-pp65-reactive T-cells including IL-2, TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , perforin, and CD107a expression revealed that CMV-specific CD4 + and CD8 + T cells manifest polyfunctionality including cytotoxic functions (Chiu et al., 2016). However, the mechanism by which these T cell subtypes accentuate response to rituximab chemotherapy is not known and will require investigation. Using a univariate analysis, a study that evaluated the impact of CMV infection on the clinical outcome of a prospective cohort of B-CLL patients reported a poor OS in the CMV-positive

234

group compared to the CMV negative, although in a multivariate modelling, no significant survival difference was observed between the groups (Parry et al., 2016a). Despite patients were recruited into PACIFICO trial based on stringent inclusion and exclusion criteria and those selected into this study were well balanced based on equal distribution of their clinical and laboratory features, a multivariate analysis will further confirm whether above cellular changes were independently or interrelated with each other and/or with other clinical and laboratory variables to contribute to the clinical outcome. Similar to our data, increased incidence infections have been reported in patients with lymphomas being treated with rituximab (Kelesidis et al., 2011, Looney et al., 2008). The significantly increased incidence and episodes of infections among the CMV-positive FL patients on rituximab -chemotherapy seen in our data suggests that the end stage T cells reported in Chapter 3 and the low cytokine levels in Chapter 4 is not able to provide a robust immunity against infection. This observation is in agreement with several reports that linked CMV infection with immune senescence that results in phenotypic alterations and functional decline in the T cell repertoire, culminating in increased vulnerability to infections (P Chou and B Effros, 2013).

Regarding the originality of this study, this is the first report of accumulated end-stage T cell types, significantly decreased serum cytokine levels and high intensities of CD21 expressing cells tumour microenvironment of CMV positive FL patients. Our data has demonstrated a perceived favourable role of CMV infection in rituximabcontaining chemotherapy among FL patients. Furthermore, the study has observed a potential relationship between high frequencies of effector CD4+ and CD8+ T cells and CR in the course of FL immunochemotherapy. A prospective study on a large cohort of patients to elucidate the impacts of CMV infection on the clinical outcome of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (B-CLL) showed that CMV-positive patients had significantly worse overall survival than the negative patients in the univariate analysis (Parry et al., 2016b). However, no evidence that CMV infection impacts on the clinical outcome of patients with B-CLL was observed in a multivariate analysis of the same cohort. Another study using seasonal influenza vaccination expectedly showed weak responses to the vaccine and an overall decreased immune response in the elderly regardless of CMV serostatus (Furman et al., 2015). Conversely, CMV-positive young adults showed an enhanced response to influenza vaccine, enhanced CD8+ T cell sensitivity, and raised levels of circulating IFN- $\gamma$  compared to CMV negative (Furman et al., 2015). This perceived beneficial effect of CMV infection supports our data which shows enhanced response to rituximab therapy in the CMV positive patients. It is even speculated that the high global prevalence of latent CMV infection may be due to the beneficial effect it has on the host immunity (Furman et al., 2015). Although several researchers have demonstrated correlations between CMV serostatus and heterologous infection, we have shown increased incidence and episodes of specific infection AEs among CMV positive FL patients compared to CMV negative.

In conclusion, this study has demonstrated strong associations between CMV seropositivity and the following: increased circulating end-stage T cells, decreased levels of serum cytokines, increased FDCs in the FL microenvironment as well as increased incidence and episodes of infections/neutropenia AEs and better/more rapid response to rituximab-containing chemo-immunotherapy. These results support our hypothesis which states that CMV infection alters immune function in two ways: (1) Acceleration of immune senescence with increased vulnerability to heterologous infection and (2) Alteration of lymphoma microenvironment with the possibility of

modulating FL therapy response. These understandings can ultimately improve on the therapeutic strategies in FL management toward a combinatorial approach for direct cytotoxic and indirect immunomodulatory treatment regimens.

With these associations observed in this retrospective study using pre-trial (baseline) samples from FL patients, the next would be to prospectively assess the predictive value of CMV infection status in this disease. Also, repeating this study using post – therapy samples from the PACIFICO trial patients may provide additional insights into the impact of CMV infection in FL. The plan of future development, including study design and technical approaches, is presented in Chapter 9.

# **Chapter 9 Future Research**

#### 9.1 Introduction

As presented in previous chapters, the hypothesis of this study has been largely addressed by comparison of profiles of T cell subtypes, cytokine expression and tissue protein markers between CMV-positive and –negative patients with FL, and correlation of clinical outcomes with CMV infection and the study variables. However, due to limitations described in Chapter 8, the quality of this study can be further improved with the following work proposed for future.

# 9.2 Future work

# **9.2.1** Confirmation of results in an independent cohort of patients with a sample size estimated based on observations in this study

Validation of results is the first task in the future work. For this purpose, it is necessary to recalculate the sample size. Despite having been calculated in section 2.5, the samples size of 42 used in most comparisons in this study was based on results of a pilot experiment of cytokine expression in the two groups of patients. It might not be big enough to find all of real differences due to the  $\beta$  error. For example, an estimated difference of one was used in the calculation. But the actual difference for most of these cytokines was smaller than that (Table 4.1.). This might result in the statistical power smaller than the estimated 80%. As the initial analysis was exploratory in nature and covered a wide range of endpoints, a sample size on any single outcome is not possible. To replicate the finding of the analyses presented (FACS, Luminex, and IF) in the future, we would consider it clinically significance if the odds of an outcome was twice as likely in one CMV cohort compared to the other.

multiple testing required, a sample size of 206 patients would be sufficient. This assumes a binomial distribution with outcomes assumed to occur around the centre of the distribution as this is the scenario that gives the maximum variance. Outcomes measured using a continuous scale or which are observed to be more/less likely will increase the power. In addition to a reliable validation of results, it is also important for increasing chances to identify real differences that were underestimated, e.g. those borderline differences recorded in the current study. Those borderline differences existed in T cell subtypes (e.g. CD4+ T cells (p=0.051), LAG3-CD4 (p=0.074), CD4: CD8 ratio (p=0.054)), cytokines (e.g. IL-1 $\beta$  (p=0.068), IL-4 (p=0.066) and GM-CSF (p=0.070)) and tissue markers (e.g. FOXP3 (p=0.069)).

**9.2.2** Validation of cytokine data using an alternative method and stable serum samples In Chapter 4, I found the levels of 7 out of the 27 cytokines significantly lower in CMV-positive patients in experiments with LUMINEX. Those should have been confirmed either using an alternative method or repeating with the same technique. But only IL-9 was confirmed using sELISA (see section 4.3.3). Confirmation of others was hampered by a lack of stabilised serum samples (see section 4.3.2). In a future study, therefore, the serum sample from each of individual patients will be stored at -80°C in multiple aliquots after phlebotomy, so that each aliquot can be used only once in each of subsequent experiments. This can minimise the sample instability caused by repeated thawing and freezing, as found in section 4.3.2. Once the stable samples are available, the standard sELISA will be applied in the validation given its cost efficiency as compared to LUMINEX and other available methodologies, such as V-PLEX and multiplex immunoassay technologies for profiling the expression of multiple proteins from minute sample volumes (Jones et al., 2016, Sandberg et al., 2016).

# **9.2.3** Investigating the impact of CMV infection on the outcome of the two arms of therapies in PACIFICO trial

As noted in section 2.2, although the patient recruitment has been closed, the PACIFICO trial is still ongoing. The full treatment outcome will be not available untill2018. In Chapter 6, I found an increased treatment response rate together with a trend of higher incidence of adverse events in CMV-positive patients regardless of the treatment regimen designed for the trial. Once the trial is completed within two years, these clinical outcomes will be further compared with CMV infection status between patients treated with R-VCP and R-FC. This may address whether or not the impact of CMV infection is the same in patients treated with the two regimens. Furthermore, with the follow-up extended, a further analysis of the impact of CMV infection status on overall survival (OS) and progression-free survival (PFS) will be performed for the entire trial cohort and patients treated in each of the two therapy arms.

### 9.2.4 Evaluating the potential predictive value of CMV infection status in FL

In the current retrospective study, CMV infection has been demonstrated to associate with elevated end-stage T cell subtypes (Chapter 3), decreased serum cytokine (Chapter 4), and increased intensity of FDCs in the FL microenvironment (Chapter 5). It has also been shown to associate with high incidence and episodes of infection AEs/SAEs and a beneficially enhanced response to rituximab-containing chemotherapy (Chapter 6). We have also reported an association between effector CD4 and CD8 cell types with better response to rituximab-chemotherapy (Chapter 7). We have also planned future work to strengthen most of above findings FL. Once the future work is completed, the next is to test the most possible biomarker candidates in prospective studies. That will eventually confirm the clinical usefulness of these biomarkers in management of FL. To do so, the total number of patients to be

recruited will be determined by a calculation the frequency of CMV infection in FL and the level of each biomarker expressed in CMV-positive and negative groups as observed in the current study. If necessary, the prospective study will include multiple centres to shorten the study duration.

#### 9.2.5 Analysis of PD-L1 in FFPE tissue biopsies

As reported in Table 5-2 and Figure 5-9, my study has revealed a marginal increase in the intensity of cells expressing PD1 in the FL microenvironment of the CMVpositive patients compared to the negative (median: 291.3 versus 187.9, p=0.097). It is worthy to recall that the prevalence, location and subtypes of intratumoral T cells can influence tumour immunity either negatively or positively (Yang et al., 2015). Meanwhile, aside from its involvement in the induction of T cell exhaustion, PD-1 has been shown to associate with negative regulation of T-cell receptor signalling, decrease proliferation as well as reduce cytokine secretion in T cells (Riella et al., 2012, Day et al., 2006). Diverse subsets of intratumoral T cells have shown to express PD1 in FL, for instance, exhausted T effector cells and follicular helper T (TFH) cells (Yang et al., 2014, Yang et al., 2012, Schaerli et al., 2000). The PD1/PD-L1 pathway has been explored for cancer immunotherapy due to the importance of this checkpoint to ensures that the immune system is only activated appropriately (Topalian et al., 2012, Chen and Mellman, 2013). This pathway is also susceptible to exploitation by tumour cells to elude detection and repress the immune response (Topalian et al., 2012). Considering the importance of PDL-1 in facilitating PD1 immune response, the determination of the intensity of PDL-1 in the FFPE tissue section from the PACIFICO trial patients by immunofluorescence technique may reveal a potential immune biomarker in FL management.

#### 9.2.6 A study of post-treatment sequential samples

The PACIFICO clinical trial requires clinical follow-up of recruited patients and sequential sample collection. This trial design will support additional investigation of the interrelationships between exposure to the two arms of therapies in the presence or absence of CMV infection and subsequent outcome measures, including treatment efficacy and toxicities(Grossmann et al., 2006, Fraley and Hudson, 2014). This could potentially provide additional data on the impact of the two arms of immuno-chemotherapies, the R-VCP and R-FC on the circulating peripheral immune cells, serum cytokines and infiltrating cells in the tumour microenvironment of CMV-positive patients. This would present a clearer picture of the impact of CMV infection on the clinical behaviour to treatment of FL. Furthermore, the availability of study outcome data will further improve on the analysis of the impact of CMV infection (CMV status) and the treatment arm on overall survival (OS) or progression-free survival (PFS).

### 9.3 Conclusions

In conclusion, future work has been outlined above. It is planned based on limitations in the current study and possible developments in the near future. It is expected that completion of those plans will further improve the quality of this project and help us to better understand the biology and clinical relevance of CMV infection in FL.

# **Bibliography**

- A ROSS, S., NOVAK, Z., PATI, S. & B BOPPANA, S. 2011. Overview of the diagnosis of cytomegalovirus infection. *Infectious Disorders-Drug Targets (Formerly Current Drug Targets-Infectious Disorders)*, 11, 466-474.
- ABBAS, A. K., LICHTMAN, A. H. & PILLAI, S. 2012. *Basic immunology: functions and disorders of the immune system*, Elsevier Health Sciences.
- ABBAS, A. K., LICHTMAN, A. H. & PILLAI, S. 2014. *Cellular and Molecular Immunology: with STUDENT CONSULT Online Access*, Elsevier Health Sciences.
- AGUZZI, A., KRANICH, J. & KRAUTLER, N. J. 2014. Follicular dendritic cells: origin, phenotype, and function in health and disease. *Trends in immunology*, 35, 105-113.
- AGUZZI, A. & KRAUTLER, N. J. 2010. Characterizing follicular dendritic cells: a progress report. *European journal of immunology*, 40, 2134-2138.
- AHMED, R. & GRAY, D. 1996. Immunological memory and protective immunity: understanding their relation. *Science*, 272, 54-60.
- AHN, K., ANGULO, A., GHAZAL, P., PETERSON, P. A., YANG, Y. & FRÜH, K. 1996. Human cytomegalovirus inhibits antigen presentation by a sequential multistep process. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93, 10990-10995.
- AI, W. Z., HOU, J. Z., ZEISER, R., CZERWINSKI, D., NEGRIN, R. S. & LEVY, R. 2009. Follicular lymphoma B cells induce the conversion of conventional CD4+ T cells to T-regulatory cells. *International journal of cancer*, 124, 239-244.
- AKBAR, A. N. & HENSON, S. M. 2011. Are senescence and exhaustion intertwined or unrelated processes that compromise immunity? *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 11, 289-295.
- AKIRA, S., TAKEDA, K. & KAISHO, T. 2001. Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. *Nature immunology*, *2*, 675-680.
- AKIRA, S., UEMATSU, S. & TAKEUCHI, O. 2006. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell*, 124, 783-801.
- ALBERS, A. E., FERRIS, R. L., KIM, G. G., CHIKAMATSU, K., DELEO, A. B. & WHITESIDE, T. L. 2005. Immune responses to p53 in patients with cancer: enrichment in tetramer+ p53 peptide-specific T cells and regulatory T cells at tumor sites. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 54, 1072-1081.
- ALIO, J. L., AMESTY, M. A., RODRIGUEZ, A. & EL BAHRAWY, M. 2015. *Text and Atlas on Corneal Pigmentation*, JP Medical Ltd.
- ALIZADEH, A. A., EISEN, M. B., DAVIS, R. E., MA, C., LOSSOS, I. S., ROSENWALD, A., BOLDRICK, J. C., SABET, H., TRAN, T. & YU, X. 2000. Distinct types of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma identified by gene expression profiling. *Nature*, 403, 503-511.
- ALLSWEDE, D. M., BUKA, S. L., YOLKEN, R. H., TORREY, E. F. & CANNON, T. D. 2016. Elevated maternal cytokine levels at birth and risk for psychosis in adult offspring. *Schizophrenia research*, **172**, **41**-45.
- ALMANZAR, G., SCHWAIGER, S., JENEWEIN, B., KELLER, M., HERNDLER-BRANDSTETTER, D., GRUBECK-LOEBENSTEIN, B., WÜRZNER, R. & SCHÖNITZER, D. 2005. Long-term cytomegalovirus infection leads to significant changes in the composition of the CD8+ T-cell repertoire, which

may be the basis for an imbalance in the cytokine production profile in elderly persons. *Journal of Virology*, **79**, 3675-3683.

- ALONSO ARIAS, R., MORO-GARCÍA, M. A., ECHEVERRÍA, A., LÓPEZ-LARREA, C., SOLANO-JAURRIETA, J. J. & SUÁREZ-GARCÍA, F. M. 2013. Intensity of the humoral response to cytomegalovirus is associated with the phenotypic and functional status of the immune system. *Journal of Virology*, 87, 4486-4495.
- ALVES, N. L., VAN LEEUWEN, E. M., REMMERSWAAL, E. B., VRISEKOOP, N., TESSELAAR, K., ROOSNEK, E., TEN BERGE, I. J. & VAN LIER, R. A. 2007. A New Subset of Human Naive CD8+ T Cells Defined by Low Expression of IL-7Rα. *The Journal of Immunology*, 179, 221-228.
- AMADEI, B., URBANI, S., CAZALY, A., FISICARO, P., ZERBINI, A., AHMED, P., MISSALE,
   G., FERRARI, C. & KHAKOO, S. I. 2010. Activation of natural killer cells during acute infection with hepatitis C virus. *Gastroenterology*, 138, 1536-1545.
- AMÉ-THOMAS, P., MABY-EL HAJJAMI, H., MONVOISIN, C., JEAN, R., MONNIER, D., CAULET-MAUGENDRE, S., GUILLAUDEUX, T., LAMY, T., FEST, T. & TARTE, K.
   2007. Human mesenchymal stem cells isolated from bone marrow and lymphoid organs support tumor B-cell growth: role of stromal cells in follicular lymphoma pathogenesis. *Blood*, 109, 693-702.
- AMULIC, B., CAZALET, C., HAYES, G. L., METZLER, K. D. & ZYCHLINSKY, A. 2012. Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease. *Annual review of immunology*, 30, 459-489.
- ANDRÉ, P., SPERTINI, O., GUIA, S., RIHET, P., DIGNAT-GEORGE, F., BRAILLY, H., SAMPOL, J., ANDERSON, P. J. & VIVIER, E. 2000. Modification of P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 with a natural killer cell-restricted sulfated lactosamine creates an alternate ligand for L-selectin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97, 3400-3405.
- ATALAY, R., ZIMMERMANN, A., WAGNER, M., BORST, E., BENZ, C., MESSERLE, M. & HENGEL, H. 2002. Identification and expression of human cytomegalovirus transcription units coding for two distinct Fcγ receptor homologs. *Journal of virology*, 76, 8596-8608.
- BACHELOT, T., RAY-COQUARD, I., MENETRIER-CAUX, C., RASTKHA, M., DUC, A. & BLAY, J. 2003. Prognostic value of serum levels of interleukin 6 and of serum and plasma levels of vascular endothelial growth factor in hormonerefractory metastatic breast cancer patients. *British journal of cancer*, 88, 1721-1726.
- BAHLER, D. W. & LEVY, R. 1992. Clonal evolution of a follicular lymphoma: evidence for antigen selection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89, 6770-6774.
- BAITSCH, L., BAUMGAERTNER, P., DEVÊVRE, E., RAGHAV, S. K., LEGAT, A., BARBA, L., WIECKOWSKI, S., BOUZOURENE, H., DEPLANCKE, B. & ROMERO, P. 2011.
   Exhaustion of tumor-specific CD8+ T cells in metastases from melanoma patients. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 121, 2350.
- BALKWILL, F. & BURKE, F. 1989. The cytokine network. *Immunology today*, 10, 299-304.
- BALKWILL, F. & MANTOVANI, A. 2001. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *The lancet*, 357, 539-545.

- BANCHEREAU, J. & STEINMAN, R. M. 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature*, 392, 245-252.
- BANCROFT, G. J. 1993. The role of natural killer cells in innate resistance to infection. *Current opinion in immunology*, *5*, 503-510.
- BARBER, D. L., WHERRY, E. J., MASOPUST, D., ZHU, B., ALLISON, J. P., SHARPE, A. H., FREEMAN, G. J. & AHMED, R. 2006. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. *nature*, 439, 682-687.
- BARYAWNO, N., RAHBAR, A., WOLMER-SOLBERG, N., TAHER, C., ODEBERG, J., DARABI, A., KHAN, Z., SVEINBJÖRNSSON, B., FUSKEVÅG, O.-M. & SEGERSTRÖM, L. 2011. Detection of human cytomegalovirus in medulloblastomas reveals a potential therapeutic target. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 121, 4043.
- BASTARACHE, J. A., KOYAMA, T., WICKERSHAM, N. E., MITCHELL, D. B., MERNAUGH, R. L. & WARE, L. B. 2011. Accuracy and reproducibility of a multiplex immunoassay platform: a validation study. *Journal of immunological methods*, 367, 33-39.
- BAUER, S., GROH, V., WU, J., STEINLE, A., PHILLIPS, J. H., LANIER, L. L. & SPIES, T. 1999. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stressinducible MICA. *Science*, 285, 727-729.
- BAUME, D. M., ROBERTSON, M. J., LEVINE, H., MANLEY, T. J., SCHOW, P. W. & RITZ, J. 1992. Differential responses to interleukin 2 define functionally distinct subsets of human natural killer cells. *European journal of immunology*, 22, 1-6.
- BAXEVANIS, C. N., DEDOUSSIS, G. V., PAPADOPOULOS, N. G., MISSITZIS, I., STATHOPOULOS, G. P. & PAPAMICHAIL, M. 1994. Tumor specific cytolysis by tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer. CANCER-PHILADELPHIA-, 74, 1275-1275.
- BAYLIN, S. B. & JONES, P. A. 2011. A decade of exploring the cancer epigenome biological and translational implications. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 11, 726-734.
- BECKE, S., FABRE-MERSSEMAN, V., AUE, S., AUEROCHS, S., SEDMAK, T., WOLFRUM, U., STRAND, D., MARSCHALL, M., PLACHTER, B. & REYDA, S. 2010.
  Modification of the major tegument protein pp65 of human cytomegalovirus inhibits virus growth and leads to the enhancement of a protein complex with pUL69 and pUL97 in infected cells. *Journal of General Virology*, 91, 2531-2541.
- BEN-BARUCH, A. 2002. Host microenvironment in breast cancer development: Inflammatory cells, cytokines and chemokines in breast cancer progressionreciprocal tumor–microenvironment interactions. *Breast Cancer Res*, 5, 1-6.
- BENACERRAF, B. 1978. Opinion a hypothesis to relate the specificity of t lymphocytes and the activity of I region-specific Ir genes in macrophages and B lymphocytes. *The Journal of Immunology*, 120, 1809-1812.
- BERCZI, I. & SZENTIVANYI, A. 2003. Antigen presentation. *NeuroImmune Biology*, 3, 301-313.
- BERG, E. L., ROBINSON, M. K., WARNOCK, R. A. & BUTCHER, E. C. 1991. The human peripheral lymph node vascular addressin is a ligand for LECAM-1, the peripheral lymph node homing receptor. *The Journal of cell biology*, 114, 343-349.

- BERGMANN, C., STRAUSS, L., ZEIDLER, R., LANG, S. & WHITESIDE, T. L. 2007. Expansion of human T regulatory type 1 cells in the microenvironment of cyclooxygenase 2 overexpressing head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer research*, 67, 8865-8873.
- BERMAN, J. O. M. S. C. G. C. 2011. Herpesvirus infections. Salem Press.
- BETJES, M. G., MEIJERS, R. W., DE WIT, E. A., WEIMAR, W. & LITJENS, N. H. 2012. Terminally differentiated CD8+ Temra cells are associated with the risk for acute kidney allograft rejection. *Transplantation*, 94, 63-69.
- BIANCOTTO, A., WANK, A., PERL, S., COOK, W., OLNES, M. J., DAGUR, P. K., FUCHS, J.
   C., LANGWEILER, M., WANG, E. & MCCOY, J. P. 2013. Baseline levels and temporal stability of 27 multiplexed serum cytokine concentrations in healthy subjects. *PloS one*, 8, e76091.
- BIANCOTTO, A., WANK, A., PERL, S., COOK, W., OLNES, M. J., DAGUR, P. K., FUCHS, J.
   C., LANGWEILER, M., WANG, E. & MCCOY, J. P. 2015. Correction: Baseline
   Levels and Temporal Stability of 27 Multiplexed Serum Cytokine
   Concentrations in Healthy Subjects. *PLoS ONE*, 10, 1-3.
- BIRON, C. A., NGUYEN, K. B., PIEN, G. C., COUSENS, L. P. & SALAZAR-MATHER, T. P. 1999. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annual review of immunology*, 17, 189-220.
- BLACKBURN, S. D., SHIN, H., HAINING, W. N., ZOU, T., WORKMAN, C. J., POLLEY, A., BETTS, M. R., FREEMAN, G. J., VIGNALI, D. A. & WHERRY, E. J. 2009.
   Coregulation of CD8+ T cell exhaustion by multiple inhibitory receptors during chronic viral infection. *Nature immunology*, 10, 29-37.
- BLACKBURN, S. D. & WHERRY, E. J. 2007. IL-10, T cell exhaustion and viral persistence. *Trends in microbiology*, 15, 143-146.
- BONKOWSKY, H. L., LEE, R. V. & KLATSKIN, G. 1975. Acute granulomatous hepatitis: occurrence in cytomegalovirus mononucleosis. *Jama*, 233, 1284-1288.
- BOROSS, P. & LEUSEN, J. H. 2012. Mechanisms of action of CD20 antibodies. *American journal of cancer research*, 2, 676.
- BRENCHLEY, J. M., KARANDIKAR, N. J., BETTS, M. R., AMBROZAK, D. R., HILL, B. J., CROTTY, L. E., CASAZZA, J. P., KURUPPU, J., MIGUELES, S. A. & CONNORS, M. 2003. Expression of CD57 defines replicative senescence and antigen-induced apoptotic death of CD8+ T cells. *Blood*, 101, 2711-2720.
- BRICEÑO, O., LISSINA, A., WANKE, K., AFONSO, G., BRAUN, A., RAGON, K., MIQUEL, T., GOSTICK, E., PAPAGNO, L. & STIASNY, K. 2016. Reduced naïve CD8+ T-cell priming efficacy in elderly adults. *Aging cell*, 15, 14-21.
- BROOKS, D. G., TEYTON, L., OLDSTONE, M. B. & MCGAVERN, D. B. 2005. Intrinsic functional dysregulation of CD4 T cells occurs rapidly following persistent viral infection. *Journal of virology*, 79, 10514-10527.
- BUSCH, D. H., PILIP, I. M., VIJH, S. & PAMER, E. G. 1998. Coordinate regulation of complex T cell populations responding to bacterial infection. *Immunity*, 8, 353-362.
- BUTCHER, E. C. & PICKER, L. J. 1996. Lymphocyte homing and homeostasis. *Science*, 272, 60-67.
- BYRNE, J. A., BUTLER, J. L. & COOPER, M. 1988. Differential activation requirements for virgin and memory T cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 141, 3249-3257.

- CALAME, K. L. 2001. Plasma cells: finding new light at the end of B cell development. *Nature immunology*, *2*, 1103-1108.
- CALIGIURI, M., ZMUIDZINAS, A., MANLEY, T. J., LEVINE, H., SMITH, K. A. & RITZ, J. 1990. Functional consequences of interleukin 2 receptor expression on resting human lymphocytes. Identification of a novel natural killer cell subset with high affinity receptors. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 171, 1509-1526.
- CALIGIURI, M. A., MURRAY, C., ROBERTSON, M., WANG, E., COCHRAN, K., CAMERON, C., SCHOW, P., ROSS, M., KLUMPP, T. & SOIFFER, R. 1993. Selective modulation of human natural killer cells in vivo after prolonged infusion of low dose recombinant interleukin 2. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 91, 123.
- CAMPBELL, J. J., QIN, S., UNUTMAZ, D., SOLER, D., MURPHY, K. E., HODGE, M. R., WU, L. & BUTCHER, E. C. 2001. Unique subpopulations of CD56+ NK and NK-T peripheral blood lymphocytes identified by chemokine receptor expression repertoire. *The Journal of Immunology*, 166, 6477-6482.
- CAMPO, E., SWERDLOW, S. H., HARRIS, N. L., PILERI, S., STEIN, H. & JAFFE, E. S. 2011. The 2008 WHO classification of lymphoid neoplasms and beyond: evolving concepts and practical applications. *Blood*, 117, 5019-5032.
- CARLOTTI, E., WRENCH, D., MATTHEWS, J., IQBAL, S., DAVIES, A., NORTON, A., HART, J., LAI, R., MONTOTO, S. & GRIBBEN, J. G. 2009. Transformation of follicular lymphoma to diffuse large B-cell lymphoma may occur by divergent evolution from a common progenitor cell or by direct evolution from the follicular lymphoma clone. *Blood*, 113, 3553-3557.
- CARRERAS, J., LOPEZ-GUILLERMO, A., FOX, B. C., COLOMO, L., MARTINEZ, A., RONCADOR, G., MONTSERRAT, E., CAMPO, E. & BANHAM, A. H. 2006. High numbers of tumor-infiltrating FOXP3-positive regulatory T cells are associated with improved overall survival in follicular lymphoma. *Blood*, 108, 2957-2964.
- CARSON, W. E., FEHNIGER, T. A. & CALIGIURI, M. A. 1997. CD56bright natural killer cell subsets: Characterization of distinct functional responses to interleukin-2 and the c-kit ligand. *European journal of immunology*, 27, 354-360.
- CARTRON, G., WATIER, H., GOLAY, J. & SOLAL-CELIGNY, P. 2004. From the bench to the bedside: ways to improve rituximab efficacy. *Blood*, 104, 2635-2642.
- CASASNOVAS, R.-O., MOUNIER, N., BRICE, P., DIVINE, M., MORSCHHAUSER, F., GABARRE, J., BLAY, J.-Y., VOILLAT, L., LEDERLIN, P. & STAMATOULLAS, A. 2007. Plasma cytokine and soluble receptor signature predicts outcome of patients with classical Hodgkin's lymphoma: a study from the Groupe d'Etude des Lymphomes de l'Adulte. *Journal of clinical oncology*, 25, 1732-1740.
- CAVANAGH, L. L. & VON ANDRIAN, U. H. 2002. Travellers in many guises: the origins and destinations of dendritic cells. *Immunology and cell biology*, 80, 448-462.
- CHAMES, P., VAN REGENMORTEL, M., WEISS, E. & BATY, D. 2009. Therapeutic antibodies: successes, limitations and hopes for the future. *British journal of pharmacology*, 157, 220-233.
- CHANG, C.-C., CAMPOLI, M. & FERRONE, S. 2005. Classical and nonclassical HLA class I antigen and NK cell–activating ligand changes in malignant cells: current challenges and future directions. *Advances in cancer research*, 93, 189-234.
- CHAPLIN, D. D. 2010. Overview of the immune response. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 125, S3-S23.

- CHARBONNEAU, B., MAURER, M. J., ANSELL, S. M., SLAGER, S. L., FREDERICKSEN, Z.
  S., ZIESMER, S. C., MACON, W. R., HABERMANN, T. M., WITZIG, T. E., LINK, B.
  K., CERHAN, J. R. & NOVAK, A. J. 2012. Pretreatment circulating serum cytokines associated with follicular and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: A clinic-based case-control study. *Cytokine*, 60, 882-889.
- CHAUHAN, A. K. 2016. Human CD4+ T-Cells: A Role for Low-Affinity Fc Receptors. *Frontiers in Immunology*, **7**, 215.
- CHEN, D. S. & MELLMAN, I. 2013. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. *Immunity*, 39, 1-10.
- CHEN, X. & CHERIAN, S. 2013. Immunophenotypic characterization of T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia. *American journal of clinical pathology,* 140, 727-735.
- CHEN, Z., MALHOTRA, P. S., THOMAS, G. R., ONDREY, F. G., DUFFEY, D. C., SMITH, C.
   W., ENAMORADO, I., YEH, N. T., KROOG, G. S. & RUDY, S. 1999. Expression of proinflammatory and proangiogenic cytokines in patients with head and neck cancer. *Clinical cancer research*, 5, 1369-1379.
- CHESON, B. D., PFISTNER, B., JUWEID, M. E., GASCOYNE, R. D., SPECHT, L., HORNING, S. J., COIFFIER, B., FISHER, R. I., HAGENBEEK, A. & ZUCCA, E. 2007. Revised response criteria for malignant lymphoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 25, 579-586.
- CHEUNG, K.-J. J., JOHNSON, N. A., AFFLECK, J. G., SEVERSON, T., STEIDL, C., BEN-NERIAH, S., SCHEIN, J., MORIN, R. D., MOORE, R. & SHAH, S. P. 2010. Acquired TNFRSF14 mutations in follicular lymphoma are associated with worse prognosis. *Cancer research*, 70, 9166-9174.
- CHEUNG, K.-J. J., SHAH, S. P., STEIDL, C., JOHNSON, N., RELANDER, T., TELENIUS, A., LAI, B., MURPHY, K. P., LAM, W. & AL-TOURAH, A. J. 2009. Genome-wide profiling of follicular lymphoma by array comparative genomic hybridization reveals prognostically significant DNA copy number imbalances. *Blood*, 113, 137-148.
- CHEVALIER, N., JARROSSAY, D., HO, E., AVERY, D. T., MA, C. S., YU, D., SALLUSTO, F., TANGYE, S. G. & MACKAY, C. R. 2011. CXCR5 expressing human central memory CD4 T cells and their relevance for humoral immune responses. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186, 5556-5568.
- CHICHE, L., FOREL, J. M., THOMAS, G., FARNARIER, C., VIVIER, E., PAPAZIAN, L., COGNET, C., VÉLY, F., GUERVILLY, C., ZANDOTTI, C. & ROCH, A. 2012. Interferon-γ production by natural killer cells and cytomegalovirus in critically ill patients. *Critical Care Medicine*, 40, 3162-3169.
- CHIU, Y.-L., SUNG, B.-Y., SCHNECK, J. P., LIN, C.-H., CHUANG, Y.-F., KERN, F., PAWELEC, G. P. & WANG, G. C. 2016. Cytotoxic polyfunctionality maturation of cytomegalovirus-pp65-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell responses in the elderly positively correlates with response size. *The Journal of Immunology*, 196, 204.1-204.1.
- CHUNG, Y., TANAKA, S., CHU, F., NURIEVA, R. I., MARTINEZ, G. J., RAWAL, S., WANG, Y.-H., LIM, H., REYNOLDS, J. M. & ZHOU, X.-H. 2011. Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions. *Nature medicine*, 17, 983-988.

- CLEAR, A. J., LEE, A. M., CALAMINICI, M., RAMSAY, A. G., MORRIS, K. J., HALLAM, S., KELLY, G., MACDOUGALL, F., LISTER, T. A. & GRIBBEN, J. G. 2010. Increased angiogenic sprouting in poor prognosis FL is associated with elevated numbers of CD163+ macrophages within the immediate sprouting microenvironment. *Blood*, 115, 5053-5056.
- COBBS, C. S., HARKINS, L., SAMANTA, M., GILLESPIE, G. Y., BHARARA, S., KING, P. H., NABORS, L. B., COBBS, C. G. & BRITT, W. J. 2002. Human cytomegalovirus infection and expression in human malignant glioma. *Cancer research*, 62, 3347-3350.
- CODOREAN, E., NICHITA, C., ALBULESCU, L., RÃDUCAN, E., POPESCU, I. D., LONITA, A.
   & ALBULESCU, R. 2010. Correlation of XMAP and ELISA cytokine profiles; development and validation for immunotoxicological studies in vitro. *Roum Arch Microbiol Immunol*, 69, 13-19.
- COELHO, V., KRYSOV, S., GHAEMMAGHAMI, A. M., EMARA, M., POTTER, K. N., JOHNSON, P., PACKHAM, G., MARTINEZ-POMARES, L. & STEVENSON, F. K.
   2010. Glycosylation of surface Ig creates a functional bridge between human follicular lymphoma and microenvironmental lectins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107, 18587-18592.
- COHEN, M. C. & COHEN, S. 1996. Cytokine function: a study in biologic diversity. *American journal of clinical pathology*, 105, 589-598.
- COICO, R. & SUNSHINE, G. 2015. *Immunology: a short course*, John Wiley & Sons.
- CONG, P., RAFFELD, M., TERUYA-FELDSTEIN, J., SORBARA, L., PITTALUGA, S. & JAFFE, E. S. 2002. In situ localization of follicular lymphoma: description and analysis by laser capture microdissection. *Blood*, 99, 3376-3382.
- CONLAN, J. W. & NORTH, R. J. 1991. Neutrophil-mediated dissolution of infected host cells as a defense strategy against a facultative intracellular bacterium. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 174, 741-744.
- COOK, C. H. 2007. Cytomegalovirus Reactivation in" Immunocompetent" Patients: A Call for Scientific Prophylaxis. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 196, 1273-1275.
- COOPER, M. A., FEHNIGER, T. A. & CALIGIURI, M. A. 2001a. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. *Trends in immunology*, 22, 633-640.
- COOPER, M. A., FEHNIGER, T. A., TURNER, S. C., CHEN, K. S., GHAHERI, B. A., GHAYUR, T., CARSON, W. E. & CALIGIURI, M. A. 2001b. Human natural killer cells: a unique innate immunoregulatory role for the CD56bright subset. *Blood*, 97, 3146-3151.
- CORONELLA, J. A., SPIER, C., WELCH, M., TREVOR, K. T., STOPECK, A. T., VILLAR, H. & HERSH, E. M. 2002. Antigen-driven oligoclonal expansion of tumor-infiltrating B cells in infiltrating ductal carcinoma of the breast. *The Journal of Immunology*, 169, 1829-1836.
- CRAWFORD, A. & WHERRY, E. J. 2009. The diversity of costimulatory and inhibitory receptor pathways and the regulation of antiviral T cell responses. *Current opinion in immunology*, 21, 179-186.
- CROTTY, S. 2011. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (Tfh). *Annual review of immunology*, 29, 621-663.
- CUI, G. & FLORHOLMEN, J. 2008. Polarization of cytokine profile from Th1 into Th2 along colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence: implications for the

biotherapeutic target? *Inflammation & Allergy-Drug Targets (Formerly Current Drug Targets-Inflammation & Allergy),* 7, 94-97.

- CYSTER, J. G. 2005. Chemokines, sphingosine-1-phosphate, and cell migration in secondary lymphoid organs. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, 23, 127-159.
- CYSTER, J. G. 2010. B cell follicles and antigen encounters of the third kind. *Nature immunology*, 11, 989-996.
- D'ASARO, M., DIELI, F., CACCAMO, N., MUSSO, M., PORRETTO, F. & SALERNO, A. 2006. Increase of CCR7– CD45RA+ CD8 T cells (TEMRA) in chronic graftversus-host disease. *Leukemia*, 20, 545-547.
- DAMAS, P., LEDOUX, D., NYS, M., VRINDTS, Y., DE GROOTE, D., FRANCHIMONT, P. & LAMY, M. 1992. Cytokine serum level during severe sepsis in human IL-6 as a marker of severity. *Annals of surgery*, 215, 356.
- DARMOCHWAL-KOLARZ, D., SAITO, S., TABARKIEWICZ, J., KOLARZ, B., ROLINSKI, J., LESZCZYNSKA-GORZELAK, B. & OLESZCZUK, J. 2012. Apoptosis signaling is altered in CD4+ CD25+ FoxP3+ T regulatory lymphocytes in pre-eclampsia. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 13, 6548-6560.
- DAVE, S. S., WRIGHT, G., TAN, B., ROSENWALD, A., GASCOYNE, R. D., CHAN, W. C., FISHER, R. I., BRAZIEL, R. M., RIMSZA, L. M. & GROGAN, T. M. 2004. Prediction of survival in follicular lymphoma based on molecular features of tumorinfiltrating immune cells. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 351, 2159-2169.
- DAWSON, D., HONG, J., SHEN, R., FRENCH, S., TROKE, J., WU, Y., CHEN, S., GUI, D., REGELSON, M. & MARAHRENS, Y. 2007. Global DNA methylation profiling reveals silencing of a secreted form of Epha7 in mouse and human germinal center B-cell lymphomas. *Oncogene*, 26, 4243-4252.
- DAY, C. L., KAUFMANN, D. E., KIEPIELA, P., BROWN, J. A., MOODLEY, E. S., REDDY, S., MACKEY, E. W., MILLER, J. D., LESLIE, A. J. & DEPIERRES, C. 2006. PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature*, 443, 350-354.
- DE JAGER, W., BOURCIER, K., RIJKERS, G. T., PRAKKEN, B. J. & SEYFERT-MARGOLIS, V. 2009. Prerequisites for cytokine measurements in clinical trials with multiplex immunoassays. *BMC immunology*, 10, 1.
- DE JAGER, W., TE VELTHUIS, H., PRAKKEN, B. J., KUIS, W. & RIJKERS, G. T. 2003. Simultaneous detection of 15 human cytokines in a single sample of stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology*, 10, 133-139.
- DE MARIA, A., BOZZANO, F., CANTONI, C. & MORETTA, L. 2011. Revisiting human natural killer cell subset function revealed cytolytic CD56dimCD16+ NK cells as rapid producers of abundant IFN-γ on activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108, 728-732.
- DE SOUZA, R. M. & OLSBURGH, J. 2008. Urinary tract infection in the renal transplant patient. *Nature clinical practice Nephrology*, 4, 252-264.
- DELVES, P. J., MARTIN, S. J., BURTON, D. R. & ROITT, I. M. 2011. *Roitt's essential immunology*, John Wiley & Sons.
- DERHOVANESSIAN, E., MAIER, A. B., HÄHNEL, K. H., BECK, R., DE CRAEN, A. J. M., SLAGBOOM, E. P., WESTENDORP, R. G. J. & PAWELEC, G. 2011. Infection with cytomegalovirus but not herpes simplex virus induces the accumulation of

latedifferentiated CD4 + and CD8 + T-cells in humans. *Journal of General Virology*, 92, 2746-2756.

- DHODAPKAR, M. V., GELLER, M. D., CHANG, D. H., SHIMIZU, K., FUJII, S.-I.,
   DHODAPKAR, K. M. & KRASOVSKY, J. 2003. A reversible defect in natural killer
   T cell function characterizes the progression of premalignant to malignant
   multiple myeloma. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 197, 1667-1676.
- DIAS, D., VAN DOREN, J., SCHLOTTMANN, S., KELLY, S., PUCHALSKI, D., RUIZ, W., BOERCKEL, P., KESSLER, J., ANTONELLO, J. M. & GREEN, T. 2005. Optimization and validation of a multiplexed luminex assay to quantify antibodies to neutralizing epitopes on human papillomaviruses 6, 11, 16, and 18. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology*, 12, 959-969.

DINARELLO, C. A. 2000. Proinflammatory cytokines. *Chest Journal*, 118, 503-508.

- DÖLKEN, G., ILLERHAUS, G., HIRT, C. & MERTELSMANN, R. 1996. BCL-2/JH rearrangements in circulating B cells of healthy blood donors and patients with nonmalignant diseases. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 14, 1333-1344.
- DU, J., LOPEZ-VERGES, S., PITCHER, B. N., JOHNSON, J., JUNG, S.-H., ZHOU, L., HSU, K., CZUCZMAN, M. S., CHESON, B. & KAPLAN, L. 2014. CALGB 150905 (Alliance): rituximab broadens the antilymphoma response by activating unlicensed NK cells. *Cancer immunology research*, 2, 878-889.
- DUBEY, C., CROFT, M. & SWAIN, S. L. 1996. Naive and effector CD4 T cells differ in their requirements for T cell receptor versus costimulatory signals. *The Journal of Immunology*, 157, 3280-3289.
- DULPHY, N., HAAS, P., BUSSON, M., BELHADJ, S., DE LATOUR, R. P., ROBIN, M., CARMAGNAT, M., LOISEAU, P., TAMOUZA, R. & SCIEUX, C. 2008. An unusual CD56brightCD16low NK cell subset dominates the early posttransplant period following HLA-matched hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *The Journal* of Immunology, 181, 2227-2237.
- DUMORTIER, O., HINAULT, C. & VAN OBBERGHEN, E. 2013. MicroRNAs and metabolism crosstalk in energy homeostasis. *Cell metabolism*, 18, 312-324.
- DZIURZYNSKI, K., CHANG, S. M., HEIMBERGER, A. B., KALEJTA, R. F., DALLAS, S. R. M., SMIT, M., SOROCEANU, L. & COBBS, C. S. 2012. Consensus on the role of human cytomegalovirus in glioblastoma. *Neuro-oncology*, 14, 246-255.
- EDELSTEIN, A. D., TSUCHIDA, M. A., AMODAJ, N., PINKARD, H., VALE, R. D. & STUURMAN, N. 2014. Advanced methods of microscope control using µManager software. *Journal of biological methods*, 1.
- EDLEFSEN, K. L., MARTÍNEZ-MAZA, O., MADELEINE, M. M., MAGPANTAY, L., MIRICK, D. K., KOPECKY, K. J., LACROIX, A. Z. & ROOS, A. J. 2014. Cytokines in serum in relation to future non-Hodgkin lymphoma risk: Evidence for associations by histologic subtype. *International Journal of Cancer*, 135, 913-922.
- EGLE, A., HARRIS, A. W., BATH, M. L., O'REILLY, L. & CORY, S. 2004. VavP-Bcl2 transgenic mice develop follicular lymphoma preceded by germinal center hyperplasia. *Blood*, 103, 2276-2283.
- EISCHEN, C. M., SCHILLING, J. D., LYNCH, D. H., KRAMMER, P. H. & LEIBSON, P. J. 1996. Fc receptor-induced expression of Fas ligand on activated NK cells facilitates cell-mediated cytotoxicity and subsequent autocrine NK cell apoptosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 156, 2693-2699.

- ELLINGTON, A. A., KULLO, I. J., BAILEY, K. R. & KLEE, G. G. 2009. Measurement and quality control issues in multiplex protein assays: a case study. *Clinical chemistry*, 55, 1092-1099.
- ELLIS, T. & FISHER, R. 1989. Functional heterogeneity of Leu 19" bright"+ and Leu 19" dim"+ lymphokine-activated killer cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 142, 2949-2954.
- ELLYARD, J., SIMSON, L. & PARISH, C. 2007. Th2-mediated anti-tumour immunity: friend or foe? *Tissue antigens*, 70, 1-11.
- ELSAESSER, H., SAUER, K. & BROOKS, D. G. 2009. IL-21 is required to control chronic viral infection. *Science*, 324, 1569-1572.
- EMERY, V. 2001. Investigation of CMV disease in immunocompromised patients. *Journal of clinical pathology*, 54, 84-88.
- ENEWOLD, L., MECHANIC, L. E., BOWMAN, E. D., ZHENG, Y.-L., YU, Z., TRIVERS, G., ALBERG, A. J. & HARRIS, C. C. 2009. Serum concentrations of cytokines and lung cancer survival in African Americans and Caucasians. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 18, 215-222.
- ERNST, B., LEE, D.-S., CHANG, J. M., SPRENT, J. & SURH, C. D. 1999. The peptide ligands mediating positive selection in the thymus control T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation in the periphery. *Immunity*, 11, 173-181.
- FALAGAS, M. E., SNYDMAN, D. R., GRIFFITH, J. & WERNER, B. G. 1996. Exposure to cytomegalovirus from the donated organ is a risk factor for bacteremia in orthotopic liver transplant recipients. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 23, 468-474.
- FALK, K., RÖTZSCHKE, O., STEVANOVIĆ, S., JUNG, G. & RAMMENSEE, H.-G. 1991.
   Allele-specific motifs revealed by sequencing of self-peptides eluted from MHC molecules. *Nature*, 351, 290-296.
- FILIPAZZI, P., VALENTI, R., HUBER, V., PILLA, L., CANESE, P., IERO, M., CASTELLI, C., MARIANI, L., PARMIANI, G. & RIVOLTINI, L. 2007. Identification of a new subset of myeloid suppressor cells in peripheral blood of melanoma patients with modulation by a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulation factor– based antitumor vaccine. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 25, 2546-2553.
- FILLMAN, S., WEICKERT, T., LENROOT, R., CATTS, S., BRUGGEMANN, J., CATTS, V. & WEICKERT, C. 2015. Elevated peripheral cytokines characterize a subgroup of people with schizophrenia displaying poor verbal fluency and reduced Broca's area volume. *Molecular psychiatry*.
- FITZGERALD, A. A., LECLERCQ, S. A., YAN, A., HOMIK, J. E. & DINARELLO, C. A. 2005. Rapid responses to anakinra in patients with refractory adult-onset Still's disease. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 52, 1794-1803.
- FLETCHER, J. M., PRENTICE, H. G. & GRUNDY, J. E. 1998. Natural killer cell lysis of cytomegalovirus (CMV)-infected cells correlates with virally induced changes in cell surface lymphocyte function-associated antigen-3 (LFA-3) expression and not with the CMV-induced down-regulation of cell surface class I HLA. *The Journal of Immunology*, 161, 2365-2374.
- FÖRSTER, R., BRAUN, A. & WORBS, T. 2012. Lymph node homing of T cells and dendritic cells via afferent lymphatics. *Trends in immunology*, 33, 271-280.
- FOURCADE, J., SUN, Z., PAGLIANO, O., GUILLAUME, P., LUESCHER, I. F., SANDER, C., KIRKWOOD, J. M., OLIVE, D., KUCHROO, V. & ZAROUR, H. M. 2012. CD8+ T cells specific for tumor antigens can be rendered dysfunctional by the tumor

microenvironment through upregulation of the inhibitory receptors BTLA and PD-1. *Cancer research*, 72, 887-896.

- FRALEY, R. C. & HUDSON, N. W. 2014. Review of Intensive Longitudinal Methods: An Introduction to Diary and Experience Sampling Research. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 154, 89-91.
- FRANCISCO-CRUZ, A., AGUILAR-SANTELISES, M., RAMOS-ESPINOSA, O., MATA-ESPINOSA, D., MARQUINA-CASTILLO, B., BARRIOS-PAYAN, J. & HERNANDEZ-PANDO, R. 2014. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor: not just another haematopoietic growth factor. *Medical oncology*, 31, 1-14.
- FRASCAROLI, G., VARANI, S., BLANKENHORN, N., PRETSCH, R., BACHER, M., LENG, L., BUCALA, R., LANDINI, M. P. & MERTENS, T. 2009. Human cytomegalovirus paralyzes macrophage motility through down-regulation of chemokine receptors, reorganization of the cytoskeleton, and release of macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *The Journal of Immunology*, 182, 477-488.
- FREEMAN JR, R. B. 2009. The 'Indirect' Effects of Cytomegalovirus Infection. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 9, 2453-2458.
- FREY, M., PACKIANATHAN, N. B., FEHNIGER, T. A., ROSS, M. E., WANG, W.-C., STEWART, C. C., CALIGIURI, M. A. & EVANS, S. S. 1998. Differential expression and function of L-selectin on CD56bright and CD56dim natural killer cell subsets. *The Journal of Immunology*, 161, 400-408.
- FRÖHLICH, A., KISIELOW, J., SCHMITZ, I., FREIGANG, S., SHAMSHIEV, A. T., WEBER, J., MARSLAND, B. J., OXENIUS, A. & KOPF, M. 2009. IL-21R on T cells is critical for sustained functionality and control of chronic viral infection. *Science*, 324, 1576-1580.
- FULLER, M. J. & ZAJAC, A. J. 2003. Ablation of CD8 and CD4 T cell responses by high viral loads. *The Journal of Immunology*, 170, 477-486.
- FURMAN, D., JOJIC, V., SHARMA, S., SHEN-ORR, S. S., ANGEL, C. J., ONENGUT-GUMUSCU, S., KIDD, B. A., MAECKER, H. T., CONCANNON, P. & DEKKER, C. L. 2015. Cytomegalovirus infection enhances the immune response to influenza. *Science translational medicine*, 7, 281ra43-281ra43.
- GALLIMORE, A., GLITHERO, A., GODKIN, A., TISSOT, A. C., PLÜCKTHUN, A., ELLIOTT, T., HENGARTNER, H. & ZINKERNAGEL, R. 1998. Induction and exhaustion of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus—specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes visualized using soluble tetrameric major histocompatibility complex class I peptide complexes. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 187, 1383-1393.
- GALON, J., COSTES, A., SANCHEZ-CABO, F., KIRILOVSKY, A., MLECNIK, B., LAGORCE-PAGÈS, C., TOSOLINI, M., CAMUS, M., BERGER, A. & WIND, P. 2006. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. *Science*, 313, 1960-1964.
- GALON, J., FRIDMAN, W.-H. & PAGÈS, F. 2007. The adaptive immunologic microenvironment in colorectal cancer: a novel perspective. *Cancer research*, 67, 1883-1886.
- GAMADIA, L. E., RENTENAAR, R. J., BAARS, P. A., REMMERSWAAL, E. B., SURACHNO,
  S., WEEL, J. F., TOEBES, M., SCHUMACHER, T. N., TEN BERGE, I. J. & VAN LIER,
  R. A. 2001. Differentiation of cytomegalovirus-specific CD8+ T cells in healthy
  and immunosuppressed virus carriers. *Blood*, 98, 754-761.

- GANDHI, M. K. & KHANNA, R. 2004. Human cytomegalovirus: clinical aspects, immune regulation, and emerging treatments. *The Lancet infectious diseases*, 4, 725-738.
- GASSON, J. C. 1991. Molecular physiology of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor. *Blood*, 77, 1131-1145.
- GERNA, G., BALDANTI, F. & REVELLO, M. G. 2004. Pathogenesis of human cytomegalovirus infection and cellular targets. *Human immunology*, 65, 381-386.
- GIACCONE, G., PUNT, C. J., ANDO, Y., RUIJTER, R., NISHI, N., PETERS, M., VON
   BLOMBERG, B. M. E., SCHEPER, R. J., VAN DER VLIET, H. J. & VAN DEN
   EERTWEGH, A. J. 2002. A phase I study of the natural killer T-cell ligand α-galactosylceramide (KRN7000) in patients with solid tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 8, 3702-3709.
- GIBSON, T. M., SMEDBY, K. E., SKIBOLA, C. F., HEIN, D. W., SLAGER, S. L., DE SANJOSÉ,
  S., VAJDIC, C. M., ZHANG, Y., CHIU, B. C. H. & WANG, S. S. 2013. Smoking,
  variation in N-acetyltransferase 1 (NAT1) and 2 (NAT2), and risk of nonHodgkin lymphoma: a pooled analysis within the InterLymph consortium. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 24, 125-134.
- GIRARD, J.-P., MOUSSION, C. & FÖRSTER, R. 2012. HEVs, lymphatics and homeostatic immune cell trafficking in lymph nodes. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 12, 762-773.
- GOLDECK, D., PAWELEC, G., NORMAN, K., STEINHAGEN-THIESSEN, E., OETTINGER, L., HAEHNEL, K. & DEMUTH, I. 2016. No strong correlations between serum cytokine levels, CMV serostatus and hand-grip strength in older subjects in the Berlin BASE-II cohort. *Biogerontology*, 17, 189-198.
- GOLUBOVSKAYA, V. & WU, L. 2016. Different Subsets of T Cells, Memory, Effector Functions, and CAR-T Immunotherapy. *Cancers*, 8, 36.
- GOODMAN, A. L., MURRAY, C. D., WATKINS, J., GRIFFITHS, P. D. & WEBSTER, D. P. 2015. CMV in the gut: a critical review of CMV detection in the immunocompetent host with colitis. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, 34, 13-18.
- GORDON, S. 2002. Pattern recognition receptors: doubling up for the innate immune response. *Cell*, 111, 927-930.
- GOWANS, J. & KNIGHT, E. 1964. The route of re-circulation of lymphocytes in the rat. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 159, 257-282.
- GRAHAM, G. J. & LOCATI, M. 2013. Regulation of the immune and inflammatory responses by the atypical chemokine receptor D6. *The Journal of pathology*, 229, 168-175.
- GRATAMA, J. & KERN, F. 2004. Flow cytometric enumeration of antigen-specific T lymphocytes. *Cytometry Part A*, 58, 79-86.
- GRATAMA, J. W., VAN ESSER, J. W., LAMERS, C. H., TOURNAY, C., LÖWENBERG, B., BOLHUIS, R. L. & CORNELISSEN, J. J. 2001. Tetramer-based quantification of cytomegalovirus (CMV)–specific CD8+ T lymphocytes in T-cell–depleted stem cell grafts and after transplantation may identify patients at risk for progressive CMV infection. *Blood*, 98, 1358-1364.

- GRIFFITHS, S. J. 2011. Chronic cytomegalovirus infection drives the accumulation of memory T cells with low functional avidity during ageing. UCL (University College London).
- GROSSMANN, K. E., GROSSMANN, K. & WATERS, E. 2006. *Attachment from infancy to adulthood: The major longitudinal studies*, Guilford Press.
- GU, Y., ZELENIUCH-JACQUOTTE, A., LINKOV, F., KOENIG, K. L., LIU, M., VELIKOKHATNAYA, L., SHORE, R. E., MARRANGONI, A., TONIOLO, P. & LOKSHIN, A. E. 2009a. Reproducibility of serum cytokines and growth factors. *Cytokine*, 45, 44-49.
- GU, Y., ZELENIUCH-JACQUOTTE, A., LINKOV, F., KOENIG, K. L., LIU, M.,
  VELIKOKHATNAYA, L., SHORE, R. E., MARRANGONI, A., TONIOLO, P., LOKSHIN,
  A. E. & ARSLAN, A. A. 2009b. Reproducibility of serum cytokines and growth factors. *Cytokine*, 45, 44-49.
- GUNN, M. D., NGO, V. N., ANSEL, K. M., EKLAND, E. H., CYSTER, J. G. & WILLIAMS, L.
   T. 1998a. A B-cell-homing chemokine made in lymphoid follicles activates Burkitt's lymphoma receptor-1. *Nature*, 391, 799-803.
- GUNN, M. D., TANGEMANN, K., TAM, C., CYSTER, J. G., ROSEN, S. D. & WILLIAMS, L.
   T. 1998b. A chemokine expressed in lymphoid high endothelial venules promotes the adhesion and chemotaxis of naive T lymphocytes. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 95, 258-263.
- GUO, G. H., DONG, J., YUAN, X. H., DONG, Z. N. & TIAN, Y. P. 2013. Clinical evaluation of the levels of 12 cytokines in serum/plasma under various storage conditions using evidence biochip arrays. *Molecular medicine reports*, 7, 775-780.
- GUPTA, M., STENSON, M., O'BYRNE, M., MAURER, M., HABERMANN, T., CERHAN, J., WEINER, G. & WITZIG, T. 2015. Comprehensive serum cytokine analysis identifies IL-1RA and soluble IL-2Rα as predictors of event-free survival in Tcell lymphoma. *Annals of Oncology*, mdv486.
- HA, T.-Y. 2009. The role of regulatory T cells in cancer. *Immune Network*, 9, 209-235.
- HADACZEK, P., OZAWA, T., SOROCEANU, L., YOSHIDA, Y., MATLAF, L., SINGER, E., FIALLOS, E., JAMES, C. D. & COBBS, C. S. 2013. Cidofovir: a novel antitumor agent for glioblastoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, **19**, 6473-6483.
- HADDEN, J. 1999. Review Article The immunology and immunotherapy of breast cancer: an update. *International journal of immunopharmacology*, 21, 79-101.
- HAMANN, D., BAARS, P. A., REP, M. H., HOOIBRINK, B., KERKHOF-GARDE, S. R.,
   KLEIN, M. R. & VAN LIER, R. A. 1997. Phenotypic and functional separation of memory and effector human CD8+ T cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 186, 1407-1418.
- HARARI, A., ZIMMERLI, S. C. & PANTALEO, G. 2004. Cytomegalovirus (CMV)-specific cellular immune responses. *Human immunology*, 65, 500-506.

HARKINS, L., VOLK, A. L., SAMANTA, M., MIKOLAENKO, I., BRITT, W. J., BLAND, K. I. & COBBS, C. S. 2002. Specific localisation of human cytomegalovirus nucleic acids and proteins in human colorectal cancer. *The Lancet*, 360, 1557-1563.

HEGAZI, A. G. & ABDEL-RAHMAN, E. H. Published Date: August 21, 2015.

- HENSON, S. M., RIDDELL, N. E. & AKBAR, A. N. 2012. Properties of end-stage human T cells defined by CD45RA re-expression. *Current opinion in immunology*, 24, 476-481.
- HERBERT, J. & LUCASSEN, P. J. 2015. Depression as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: Genes, steroids, cytokines and neurogenesis–What do we need to know? *Frontiers in neuroendocrinology*.
- HERTOGHS, K. M., MOERLAND, P. D., VAN STIJN, A., REMMERSWAAL, E. B., YONG, S.
  L., VAN DE BERG, P. J., VAN HAM, S. M., BAAS, F., TEN BERGE, I. J. & VAN LIER,
  R. A. 2010. Molecular profiling of cytomegalovirus-induced human CD8+ T
  cell differentiation. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 120, 4077.
- HERZENBERG, L. A., TUNG, J., MOORE, W. A., HERZENBERG, L. A. & PARKS, D. R. 2006. Interpreting flow cytometry data: a guide for the perplexed. *Nature immunology*, 7, 681-685.
- HIRT, C., DÖLKEN, G., JANZ, S. & RABKIN, C. S. 2007. Distribution of t (14; 18)positive, putative lymphoma precursor cells among B-cell subsets in healthy individuals1. *British journal of haematology*, 138, 349-353.
- HODSON, E. M., LADHANI, M., WEBSTER, A. C., STRIPPOLI, G. & CRAIG, J. C. 2013. Antiviral medications for preventing cytomegalovirus disease in solid organ transplant recipients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 2.
- HÖFTBERGER, R., ABOUL-ENEIN, F., BRUECK, W., LUCCHINETTI, C., RODRIGUEZ, M., SCHMIDBAUER, M., JELLINGER, K. & LASSMANN, H. 2004. Expression of Major Histocompatibility Complex class | Molecules on the Different Cell Types in Multiple Sclerosis Lesions. *Brain pathology*, 14, 43-50.
- HOGARTH, P. M. & PIETERSZ, G. A. 2012. Fc receptor-targeted therapies for the treatment of inflammation, cancer and beyond. *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, 11, 311-331.
- HOLTAPPELS, R., SIMON, C. O., MUNKS, M. W., THOMAS, D., DEEGEN, P.,
  KÜHNAPFEL, B., DÄUBNER, T., EMDE, S. F., PODLECH, J. & GRZIMEK, N. K.
  2008. Subdominant CD8 T-cell epitopes account for protection against
  cytomegalovirus independent of immunodomination. *Journal of virology*, 82, 5781-5796.
- HORSMAN, D. E., CONNORS, J. M., PANTZAR, T. & GASCOYNE, R. D. 2001. Analysis of secondary chromosomal alterations in 165 cases of follicular lymphoma with t (14; 18). *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer*, 30, 375-382.
- HOUSE, S. L., BOLTE, C., ZHOU, M., DOETSCHMAN, T., KLEVITSKY, R., NEWMAN, G. & SCHULTZ, J. E. J. 2003. Cardiac-specific overexpression of fibroblast growth factor-2 protects against myocardial dysfunction and infarction in a murine model of low-flow ischemia. *Circulation*, 108, 3140-3148.
- HUMAR, A., LOUIS, P. S., MAZZULLI, T., MCGEER, A., LIPTON, J., MESSNER, H. & MACDONALD, K. 1999. Elevated serum cytokines are associated with cytomegalovirus infection and disease in bone marrow transplant recipients. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 179, 484-488.
- INABA, K., METLAY, J. P., CROWLEY, M. T., WITMER-PACK, M. & STEINMAN, R. M. 1990. Dendritic cells as antigen presenting cells in vivo. *International reviews of immunology*, 6, 197-206.
- JAMESON, S. C. & MASOPUST, D. 2009. Diversity in T cell memory: an embarrassment of riches. *Immunity*, 31, 859-871.

- JANEWAY, C. A., TRAVERS, P., WALPORT, M. & SHLOMCHIK, M. J. 1997. Immunobiology: the immune system in health and disease, Current Biology Singapore.
- JANI, D., ALLINSON, J., BERISHA, F., COWAN, K. J., DEVANARAYAN, V., GLEASON, C., JEROMIN, A., KELLER, S., KHAN, M. U. & NOWATZKE, B. 2016. Recommendations for use and fit-for-purpose validation of biomarker multiplex ligand binding assays in drug development. *The AAPS journal*, 18, 1-14.
- JEGALIAN, A. G., EBERLE, F. C., PACK, S. D., MIRVIS, M., RAFFELD, M., PITTALUGA, S. & JAFFE, E. S. 2011. Follicular lymphoma in situ: clinical implications and comparisons with partial involvement by follicular lymphoma. *Blood*, 118, 2976-2984.
- JIANG, Y., LI, Y. & ZHU, B. 2015. T-cell exhaustion in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell death & disease*, 6, e1792.
- JIN, H.-T., ANDERSON, A. C., TAN, W. G., WEST, E. E., HA, S.-J., ARAKI, K., FREEMAN, G. J., KUCHROO, V. K. & AHMED, R. 2010. Cooperation of Tim-3 and PD-1 in CD8 T-cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107, 14733-14738.
- JOHN, S. Y., DU, M. & ZAJAC, A. J. 2009. A vital role for interleukin-21 in the control of a chronic viral infection. *Science*, 324, 1572-1576.
- JOHNSON, N. A., AL-TOURAH, A., BROWN, C., CONNORS, J. M., GASCOYNE, R. D. & HORSMAN, D. E. 2008. Prognostic significance of secondary cytogenetic alterations in follicular lymphomas. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer*, 47, 1038-1048.
- JOLLER, N., HAFLER, J. P., BRYNEDAL, B., KASSAM, N., SPOERL, S., LEVIN, S. D., SHARPE, A. H. & KUCHROO, V. K. 2011. Cutting edge: TIGIT has T cell-intrinsic inhibitory functions. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186, 1338-1342.
- JONES, C. E. & CHAN, K. 2002. Interleukin-17 Stimulates the expression of interleukin-8, growth-related oncogene-α, and granulocyte–colony-stimulating factor by human airway epithelial Cells. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, 26, 748-753.
- JONES, V. S., WU, J., ZHU, S.-W. & HUANG, R.-P. 2016. Application of multiplex immunoassay technology to investigations of ocular disease. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, 18.
- JOSHI, N. S. & KAECH, S. M. 2008. Effector CD8 T cell development: a balancing act between memory cell potential and terminal differentiation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 180, 1309-1315.
- KAECH, S. M., TAN, J. T., WHERRY, E. J., KONIECZNY, B. T., SURH, C. D. & AHMED, R.
   2003. Selective expression of the interleukin 7 receptor identifies effector
   CD8 T cells that give rise to long-lived memory cells. *Nature immunology*, 4, 1191-1198.
- KAECH, S. M. & WHERRY, E. J. 2007. Heterogeneity and cell-fate decisions in effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation during viral infection. *Immunity*, 27, 393-405.
- KAECH, S. M., WHERRY, E. J. & AHMED, R. 2002. Effector and memory T-cell differentiation: implications for vaccine development. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 2, 251-262.

- KANTOLA, T., KLINTRUP, K., VÄYRYNEN, J., VORNANEN, J., BLOIGU, R., KARHU, T., HERZIG, K., NÄPÄNKANGAS, J., MÄKELÄ, J. & KARTTUNEN, T. 2012. Stagedependent alterations of the serum cytokine pattern in colorectal carcinoma. *British journal of cancer*, 107, 1729-1736.
- KAPLAN, M. H., HUFFORD, M. M. & OLSON, M. R. 2015. The development and in vivo function of T helper 9 cells. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 15, 295-307.
- KARABEKIAN, Z., IDREES, S., DING, H., JAMSHIDI, A., POSNACK, N. G. & SARVAZYAN, N. 2015. Downregulation of beta-microglobulin to diminish T-lymphocyte lysis of non-syngeneic cell sources of engineered heart tissue constructs. *Biomedical Materials*, 10, 034101.
- KATAKAI, T., HARA, T., LEE, J.-H., GONDA, H., SUGAI, M. & SHIMIZU, A. 2004. A novel reticular stromal structure in lymph node cortex: an immuno-platform for interactions among dendritic cells, T cells and B cells. *International immunology*, 16, 1133-1142.
- KAUFMANN, D. E., KAVANAGH, D. G., PEREYRA, F., ZAUNDERS, J. J., MACKEY, E. W., MIURA, T., PALMER, S., BROCKMAN, M., RATHOD, A. & PIECHOCKA-TROCHA, A. 2007. Upregulation of CTLA-4 by HIV-specific CD4+ T cells correlates with disease progression and defines a reversible immune dysfunction. *Nature immunology*, 8, 1246-1254.
- KAWAI, T. & AKIRA, S. 2009. The roles of TLRs, RLRs and NLRs in pathogen recognition ARTICLE. *International immunology*, **21**, 317-337.
- KAWAI, T. & AKIRA, S. 2010. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. *Nature immunology*, 11, 373-384.
- KELESIDIS, T., DAIKOS, G., BOUMPAS, D. & TSIODRAS, S. 2011. Does rituximab increase the incidence of infectious complications? A narrative review. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 15, e2-e16.
- KERN, P., HEMMER, C. J., VAN DAMME, J., GRUSS, H.-J. & DIETRICH, M. 1989. Elevated tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6 serum levels as markers for complicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *The American journal of medicine*, 87, 139-143.
- KHAN, N., SHARIFF, N., COBBOLD, M., BRUTON, R., AINSWORTH, J. A., SINCLAIR, A. J., NAYAK, L. & MOSS, P. A. 2002. Cytomegalovirus seropositivity drives the CD8 T cell repertoire toward greater clonality in healthy elderly individuals. *The Journal of Immunology*, 169, 1984-1992.
- KIAII, S., CLEAR, A. J., RAMSAY, A. G., DAVIES, D., SANGARALINGAM, A., LEE, A., CALAMINICI, M., NEUBERG, D. S. & GRIBBEN, J. G. 2013. Follicular lymphoma cells induce changes in T-cell gene expression and function: potential impact on survival and risk of transformation. *Journal of clinical oncology*, 31, 2654-2661.
- KIERSZENBAUM, F. & SZTEIN, M. 1994. Chagas' disease (American trypanosomiasis). *Parasitic infections and the immune system.*, 53-85.
- KIESSLING, R., KONO, K., PETERSSON, M. & WASSERMAN, K. Immunosuppression in human tumor-host interaction: role of cytokines and alterations in signaltransducing molecules. Springer seminars in immunopathology, 1996. Springer, 227-242.

- KIM, H. O., KIM, H.-S., YOUN, J.-C., SHIN, E.-C. & PARK, S. 2011. Serum cytokine profiles in healthy young and elderly population assessed using multiplexed bead-based immunoassays. *Journal of translational medicine*, 9, 1.
- KIMBY, E. 2015. Serum cytokines in follicular lymphoma. *Blood*, 125, 892-893.
- KINDT, T. J., GOLDSBY, R. A., OSBORNE, B. A. & KUBY, J. 2007. *Kuby immunology*, Macmillan.
- KING, C. A. & WILLS, M. R. 2005. Immunology I: innate immunology. *Surgery* (*Oxford*), 23, 304-308.
- KISHIMOTO, T. 2010. IL-6: from its discovery to clinical applications. *International immunology*, dxq030.
- KLEINER, G., MARCUZZI, A., ZANIN, V., MONASTA, L. & ZAULI, G. 2013. Cytokine levels in the serum of healthy subjects. *Mediators of inflammation*, 2013.
- KLENERMAN, P. & OXENIUS, A. 2016. T cell responses to cytomegalovirus. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 16, 367-377.
- KOCH, S., LARBI, A., DERHOVANESSIAN, E., ÖZCELIK, D., NAUMOVA, E. & PAWELEC,
   G. 2008a. Multiparameter flow cytometric analysis of CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets in young and old people. *Immunity & Ageing*, 5, 1.
- KOCH, S., LARBI, A., DERHOVANESSIAN, E., ÖZCELIK, D., NAUMOVA, E. & PAWELEC,G. 2008b. Multiparameter flow cytometric analysis of CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets in young and old people. *Immunity & Ageing*, 5, 6.
- KOKATE, C. 2011. *Textbook of pharmaceutical biotechnology*, Elsevier India.
- KOLLS, J. K., KANALY, S. T. & RAMSAY, A. J. 2003. Interleukin-17: an emerging role in lung inflammation. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, 28, 9-11.
- KOSMAS, C., STAMATOPOULOS, K., STAVROYIANNI, N., TSAVARIS, N. & PAPADAKI, T. 2002. Anti-CD20-based therapy of B cell lymphoma: state of the art. *Leukemia*, 16, 2004-2015.
- KOTTON, C. N. 2010. Management of cytomegalovirus infection in solid organ transplantation. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*, 6, 711-721.
- KRAAL, G. 1992. Cells in the marginal zone of the spleen. Int. Rev. Cytol, 132, 31-74.
- KRANICH, J., KRAUTLER, N. J., HEINEN, E., POLYMENIDOU, M., BRIDEL, C.,
   SCHILDKNECHT, A., HUBER, C., KOSCO-VILBOIS, M. H., ZINKERNAGEL, R. &
   MIELE, G. 2008. Follicular dendritic cells control engulfment of apoptotic
   bodies by secreting Mfge8. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 205, 1293-1302.
- KRAUTLER, N. J., KANA, V., KRANICH, J., TIAN, Y., PERERA, D., LEMM, D., SCHWARZ,
   P., ARMULIK, A., BROWNING, J. L. & TALLQUIST, M. 2012. Follicular dendritic cells emerge from ubiquitous perivascular precursors. *Cell*, 150, 194-206.
- KRIDEL, R., SEHN, L. H. & GASCOYNE, R. D. 2012. Pathogenesis of follicular lymphoma. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 122, 3424-3431.
- KÜHN, M. C., WILLENBERG, H. S., SCHOTT, M., PAPEWALIS, C., STUMPF, U., FLOHÉ, S., SCHERBAUM, W. A. & SCHINNER, S. 2012. Adipocyte-secreted factors increase osteoblast proliferation and the OPG/RANKL ratio to influence osteoclast formation. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology*, 349, 180-188.
- KUMAR, D., CHERNENKO, S., MOUSSA, G., COBOS, I., MANUEL, O., PREIKSAITIS, J., VENKATARAMAN, S. & HUMAR, A. 2009. Cell-Mediated Immunity to Predict

Cytomegalovirus Disease in High-Risk Solid Organ Transplant Recipients. *American Journal of Transplantation,* 9, 1214-1222.

- KÜPPERS, R. 2005. Mechanisms of B-cell lymphoma pathogenesis. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, **5**, 251-262.
- LABIDI, S. I., MÉNÉTRIER-CAUX, C., CHABAUD, S., CHASSAGNE, C., SEBBAN, C., GARGI, T., BIRON, P., BLAY, J.-Y. & GHESQUIÈRES, H. 2010. Serum cytokines in follicular lymphoma. Correlation of TGF-β and VEGF with survival. *Annals of hematology*, 89, 25-33.
- LACKIE, J. 2010. A dictionary of biomedicine, Oxford University Press.
- LAM, J. O., BREAM, J. H., SUGAR, E. A., COLES, C. L., WEBER, K. M., BURK, R. D., WILEY, D. J., CRANSTON, R. D., REDDY, S. & MARGOLICK, J. B. 2016. Association of serum cytokines with oral HPV clearance. *Cytokine*, 83, 85-91.
- LAMBECK, A. J., CRIJNS, A. P., LEFFERS, N., SLUITER, W. J., KLASKE, A., BRAID, M., VAN DER ZEE, A. G., DAEMEN, T., NIJMAN, H. W. & KAST, W. M. 2007. Serum cytokine profiling as a diagnostic and prognostic tool in ovarian cancer: a potential role for interleukin 7. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 13, 2385-2391.
- LANCINI, D., FADDY, H. M., FLOWER, R. & HOGAN, C. 2014. Cytomegalovirus disease in immunocompetent adults. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, 201, 578-580.
- LANDOLFO, S., GARIGLIO, M., GRIBAUDO, G. & LEMBO, D. 2003. The human cytomegalovirus. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 98, 269-297.
- LANIER, L., PHILLIPS, J., HACKETT, J., TUTT, M. & KUMAR, V. 1986a. Natural killer cells: definition of a cell type rather than a function. *The Journal of Immunology*, 137, 2735-2739.
- LANIER, L. L. 2003. Natural killer cell receptor signaling. *Current opinion in immunology*, 15, 308-314.
- LANIER, L. L., LE, A. M., CIVIN, C. I., LOKEN, M. R. & PHILLIPS, J. H. 1986b. The relationship of CD16 (Leu-11) and Leu-19 (NKH-1) antigen expression on human peripheral blood NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Journal of Immunology*, 136, 4480-4486.
- LANZAVECCHIA, A. & SALLUSTO, F. 2002. Progressive differentiation and selection of the fittest in the immune response. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 2, 982-987.
- LARSSON, M., FONTENEAU, J. F. & BHARDWAJ, N. 2001. Dendritic cells resurrect antigens from dead cells. *Trends in immunology*, 22, 141-148.
- LAU, S. K., CHEN, Y.-Y., CHEN, W.-G., DIAMOND, D. J., MAMELAK, A. N., ZAIA, J. A. & WEISS, L. M. 2005. Lack of association of cytomegalovirus with human brain tumors. *Modern pathology*, **18**, 838-843.
- LAUNAY, E., PANGAULT, C., BERTRAND, P., JARDIN, F., LAMY, T., TILLY, H., TARTE, K., BASTARD, C. & FEST, T. 2012. High rate of TNFRSF14 gene alterations related to 1p36 region in de novo follicular lymphoma and impact on prognosis. *Leukemia*, 26, 559-62.
- LEE, J.-C., LEE, K.-M., KIM, D.-W. & HEO, D. S. 2004. Elevated TGF-β1 secretion and down-modulation of NKG2D underlies impaired NK cytotoxicity in cancer patients. *The Journal of Immunology*, 172, 7335-7340.
- LEE, J.-E., KIM, S. Y. & SHIN, S.-Y. 2015. Effect of Repeated Freezing and Thawing on Biomarker Stability in Plasma and Serum Samples. *Osong public health and research perspectives*, 6, 357-362.

- LEE, M.-Y., CHIOU, T.-J., HSIAO, L.-T., YANG, M.-H., LIN, P.-C., POH, S.-B., YEN, C.-C., LIU, J.-H., TENG, H.-W. & CHAO, T.-C. 2008. Rituximab therapy increased posttransplant cytomegalovirus complications in Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients receiving autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Annals of hematology*, 87, 285-289.
- LI, C. K., SETH, R., GRAY, T., BAYSTON, R., MAHIDA, Y. R. & WAKELIN, D. 1998. Production of proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory mediators in human intestinal epithelial cells after invasion by Trichinella spiralis. *Infection and immunity*, 66, 2200-2206.
- LIAO, C.-M., ZIMMER, M. I. & WANG, C.-R. 2013. The Functions of Type I and Type II Natural Killer T (NKT) Cells in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Inflammatory bowel diseases*, 19, 1330.
- LIBARD, S., POPOVA, S. N., AMINI, R.-M., KÄRJÄ, V., PIETILÄINEN, T., HÄMÄLÄINEN, K. M., SUNDSTRÖM, C., HESSELAGER, G., BERGQVIST, M. & EKMAN, S. 2014. Human cytomegalovirus tegument protein pp65 is detected in all intra-and extra-axial brain tumours independent of the tumour type or grade.
- LIBRI, V., AZEVEDO, R. I., JACKSON, S. E., DI MITRI, D., LACHMANN, R., FUHRMANN, S., VUKMANOVIC-STEJIC, M., YONG, K., BATTISTINI, L. & KERN, F. 2011. Cytomegalovirus infection induces the accumulation of short-lived, multifunctional CD4+ CD45RA+ CD27– T cells: the potential involvement of interleukin-7 in this process. *Immunology*, 132, 326-339.
- LICHTERFELD, M., MOU, D., CUNG, T. D. H., WILLIAMS, K. L., WARING, M. T., HUANG, J., PEREYRA, F., TROCHA, A., FREEMAN, G. J. & ROSENBERG, E. S. 2008. Telomerase activity of HIV-1–specific CD8+ T cells: constitutive up-regulation in controllers and selective increase by blockade of PD ligand 1 in progressors. *Blood*, 112, 3679-3687.
- LIMPENS, J., STAD, R., VOS, C., DE VLAAM, C., DE JONG, D., VAN OMMEN, G., SCHUURING, E. & KLUIN, P. M. 1995. Lymphoma-associated translocation t (14; 18) in blood B cells of normal individuals. *Blood*, 85, 2528-2536.
- LINN, B. S., LINN, M. W. & GUREL, L. 1968. Cumulative illness rating scale. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 16, 622-626.
- LJUNGMAN, P., GRIFFITHS, P. & PAYA, C. 2002. Definitions of cytomegalovirus infection and disease in transplant recipients. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 34, 1094-1097.
- LOHR, J. G., STOJANOV, P., LAWRENCE, M. S., AUCLAIR, D., CHAPUY, B., SOUGNEZ, C., CRUZ-GORDILLO, P., KNOECHEL, B., ASMANN, Y. W. & SLAGER, S. L. 2012.
   Discovery and prioritization of somatic mutations in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) by whole-exome sequencing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109, 3879-3884.
- LOLLINI, P.-L., MOTTA, S. & PAPPALARDO, F. 2006. Modeling tumor immunology. *Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences*, 16, 1091-1124.
- LOONEY, R. J., SRINIVASAN, R. & CALABRESE, L. H. 2008. The effects of rituximab on immunocompetency in patients with autoimmune disease. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 58, 5-14.
- LOSSOS, I. S. & GASCOYNE, R. D. 2011. Transformation of follicular lymphoma. *Best practice & research Clinical haematology*, 24, 147-163.

- LOUKINOVA, E., DONG, G., ENAMORADO-AYALYA, I., THOMAS, G. R., CHEN, Z., SCHREIBER, H. & VAN WAES, C. 2000. Growth regulated oncogene-alpha expression by murine squamous cell carcinoma promotes tumor growth, metastasis, leukocyte infiltration and angiogenesis by a host CXC receptor-2 dependent mechanism. *Oncogene*, 19, 3477-3486.
- LU, P., ABEDI, V., MEI, Y., HONTECILLAS, R., HOOPS, S., CARBO, A. & BASSAGANYA-RIERA, J. 2015. Supervised learning methods in modeling of CD4+ T cell heterogeneity. *BioData mining*, 8, 1.
- LUDWIG, A. & HENGEL, H. 2009. Epidemiological impact and disease burden of congenital cytomegalovirus infection in Europe. *Euro Surveill*, 14, 26-32.
- MA, G.-F., CHEN, S.-Y., SUN, Z.-R., MIAO, Q., LIU, Y.-M., ZENG, X.-Q., LUO, T.-C., MA, L.-L., LIAN, J.-J. & SONG, D.-L. 2013. FoxP3 inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of gastric cancer cells by activating the apoptotic signaling pathway. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 430, 804-809.
- MAGG, T., MANNERT, J., ELLWART, J. W., SCHMID, I. & ALBERT, M. H. 2012. Subcellular localization of FOXP3 in human regulatory and nonregulatory T cells. *European journal of immunology*, 42, 1627-1638.
- MAMET, J., BARON, A., LAZDUNSKI, M. & VOILLEY, N. 2002. Proinflammatory mediators, stimulators of sensory neuron excitability via the expression of acid-sensing ion channels. *The Journal of neuroscience*, 22, 10662-10670.
- MANTOVANI, A., MARCHESI, F., MALESCI, A., LAGHI, L. & ALLAVENA, P. 2017. Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*.
- MANTOVANI, A., SOZZANI, S., LOCATI, M., ALLAVENA, P. & SICA, A. 2002. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. *Trends in immunology*, 23, 549-555.
- MARTÍNEZ, V. G., SACEDÓN, R., HIDALGO, L., VALENCIA, J., FERNÁNDEZ-SEVILLA, L. M., HERNÁNDEZ-LÓPEZ, C., VICENTE, A. & VARAS, A. 2015. The BMP pathway participates in human naive CD4+ T cell activation and homeostasis. *PloS one*, 10.
- MASOPUST, D., VEZYS, V., MARZO, A. L. & LEFRANÇOIS, L. 2001. Preferential localization of effector memory cells in nonlymphoid tissue. *Science*, 291, 2413-2417.
- MATOS, M. E., SCHNIER, G. S., BEECHER, M., ASHMAN, L., WILLIAM, D. & CALIGIURI,
   M. 1993. Expression of a functional c-kit receptor on a subset of natural killer cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 178, 1079-1084.
- MATTEUCCI, E., GHIMENTI, M., DI BEO, S. & GIAMPIETRO, O. 2011. Altered proportions of naive, central memory and terminally differentiated central memory subsets among CD4+ and CD8+ T cells expressing CD26 in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Journal of clinical immunology*, 31, 977-984.
- MATZINGER, P. 1994. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. *Annual review of immunology*, 12, 991-1045.
- MCALLISTER, F., HENRY, A., KREINDLER, J. L., DUBIN, P. J., ULRICH, L., STEELE, C., FINDER, J. D., PILEWSKI, J. M., CARRENO, B. M. & GOLDMAN, S. J. 2005. Role of IL-17A, IL-17F, and the IL-17 receptor in regulating growth-related oncogene-α and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in bronchial

epithelium: implications for airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 175, 404-412.

- MCDONNELL, T. J. & KORSMEYER, S. J. 1991. Progression from lymphoid hyperplasia to high-grade malignant lymphoma in mice transgenic for the t (14; 18).
- MERKENSCHLAGER, M., TERRY, L., EDWARDS, R. & BEVERLEY, P. C. 1988. Limiting dilution analysis of proliferative responses in human lymphocyte populations defined by the monoclonal antibody UCHL1: implications for differential CD45 expression in T cell memory formation. *European journal of immunology*, 18, 1653-1662.
- MICHAELIS, M., DOERR, H. W. & CINATL JR, J. 2009. Oncomodulation by human cytomegalovirus: evidence becomes stronger. *Medical microbiology and immunology*, 198, 79-81.
- MICHAELIS, M., KOTCHETKOV, R., VOGEL, J.-U., DOERR, H. W. & CINATL JR, J. 2004. Cytomegalovirus infection blocks apoptosis in cancer cells. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, 61, 1307-1316.
- MICHELSON, S. 1999. Human cytomegalovirus escape from immune detection. *Intervirology*, 42, 301-307.
- MICHIE, C. A., MCLEAN, A., ALCOCK, C. & BEVERLEY, P. C. 1992. Lifespan of human lymphocyte subsets defined by CD45 isoforms.
- MIESCHER, S., WHITESIDE, T. L., MORETTA, L. & VON FLIEDNER, V. 1987. Clonal and frequency analyses of tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes from human solid tumors. *The Journal of Immunology*, 138, 4004-4011.
- MIHM JR, M. C., CLEMENTE, C. G. & CASCINELLI, N. 1996. Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in lymph node melanoma metastases: a histopathologic prognostic indicator and an expression of local immune response. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology,* 74, 43-47.
- MILLER, A. H., MALETIC, V. & RAISON, C. L. 2009. Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. *Biological psychiatry*, 65, 732-741.
- MILUSH, J. M., LONG, B. R., SNYDER-CAPPIONE, J. E., CAPPIONE, A. J., YORK, V. A., NDHLOVU, L. C., LANIER, L. L., MICHAËLSSON, J. & NIXON, D. F. 2009. Functionally distinct subsets of human NK cells and monocyte/DC-like cells identified by coexpression of CD56, CD7, and CD4. *Blood*, 114, 4823-4831.
- MIR, M. A., MAURER, M. J., ZIESMER, S. C., SLAGER, S. L., HABERMANN, T., MACON, W. R., LINK, B. K., SYRBU, S., WITZIG, T. & FRIEDBERG, J. W. 2015. Elevated serum levels of IL-2R, IL-1RA, and CXCL9 are associated with a poor prognosis in follicular lymphoma. *Blood*, 125, 992-998.
- MITCHELL, D. A., XIE, W., SCHMITTLING, R., LEARN, C., FRIEDMAN, A., MCLENDON, R. E. & SAMPSON, J. H. 2008. Sensitive detection of human cytomegalovirus in tumors and peripheral blood of patients diagnosed with glioblastoma. *Neurooncology*, 10, 10-18.
- MIYASAKA, M. & TANAKA, T. 2004. Lymphocyte trafficking across high endothelial venules: dogmas and enigmas. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **4**, 360-370.
- MOJUMDAR, K., VAJPAYEE, M., CHAUHAN, N. K., SINGH, A., SINGH, R. & KURAPATI, S. 2012. Altered T cell differentiation associated with loss of CD27 and CD28 in HIV infected Indian individuals. *Cytometry Part B: Clinical Cytometry*, 82, 43-53.

- MOLLING, J. W., LANGIUS, J. A., LANGENDIJK, J. A., LEEMANS, C. R., BONTKES, H. J., VAN DER VLIET, H. J., VON BLOMBERG, B. M. E., SCHEPER, R. J. & VAN DEN EERTWEGH, A. J. 2007. Low levels of circulating invariant natural killer T cells predict poor clinical outcome in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 25, 862-868.
- MONGINI, P. K., JACKSON, A. E., TOLANI, S., FATTAH, R. J. & INMAN, J. K. 2003. Role of complement-binding CD21/CD19/CD81 in enhancing human B cell protection from Fas-mediated apoptosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 171, 5244-5254.
- MORI, T., MORI, S., KANDA, Y., YAKUSHIJI, K., MINEISHI, S., TAKAUE, Y., GONDO, H., HARADA, M., SAKAMAKI, H. & YAJIMA, T. 2004. Clinical significance of cytomegalovirus (CMV) antigenemia in the prediction and diagnosis of CMV gastrointestinal disease after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Bone marrow transplantation*, 33, 431-434.
- MORIN, R. D., JOHNSON, N. A., SEVERSON, T. M., MUNGALL, A. J., AN, J., GOYA, R., PAUL, J. E., BOYLE, M., WOOLCOCK, B. W. & KUCHENBAUER, F. 2010. Somatic mutations altering EZH2 (Tyr641) in follicular and diffuse large B-cell lymphomas of germinal-center origin. *Nature genetics*, 42, 181-185.
- MORIN, R. D., MENDEZ-LAGO, M., MUNGALL, A. J., GOYA, R., MUNGALL, K. L., CORBETT, R. D., JOHNSON, N. A., SEVERSON, T. M., CHIU, R. & FIELD, M.
  2011. Frequent mutation of histone-modifying genes in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Nature*, 476, 298-303.
- MORITA, R., SCHMITT, N., BENTEBIBEL, S.-E., RANGANATHAN, R., BOURDERY, L., ZURAWSKI, G., FOUCAT, E., DULLAERS, M., OH, S. & SABZGHABAEI, N. 2011. Human blood CXCR5+ CD4+ T cells are counterparts of T follicular cells and contain specific subsets that differentially support antibody secretion. *Immunity*, 34, 108-121.
- MORIYA, H., SAITO, K., HELSBY, N., HAYASHI, N., SUGINO, S., YAMAKAGE, M., SAWAGUCHI, T., TAKASAKI, M., TAKAHASHI, M. & KUROSAWA, N. 2014. Single-nucleotide polymorphisms and copy number variations of the FCGR2A and FCGR3A genes in healthy Japanese subjects. *Biomedical reports*, 2, 265-269.
- MORTON, L. M., WANG, S. S., COZEN, W., LINET, M. S., CHATTERJEE, N., DAVIS, S., SEVERSON, R. K., COLT, J. S., VASEF, M. A. & ROTHMAN, N. 2008. Etiologic heterogeneity among non-Hodgkin lymphoma subtypes. *Blood*, 112, 5150-5160.
- MOSELEY, T., HAUDENSCHILD, D., ROSE, L. & REDDI, A. 2003. Interleukin-17 family and IL-17 receptors. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, 14, 155-174.
- MOSKOPHLDIS, D., LECHNER, F., PLRCHER, H. & ZINKERNAGEL, R. M. 1993. Virus persistence in acutely infected immunocompetent mice by exhaustion of antiviral cytotoxic effector T cells.
- MOSS, P. & KHAN, N. 2004. CD8+ T-cell immunity to cytomegalovirus. *Human immunology*, 65, 456-464.
- MOSSER, D. M. & EDWARDS, J. P. 2008. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nature reviews immunology*, **8**, 958-969.
- MURALI-KRISHNA, K., ALTMAN, J. D., SURESH, M., SOURDIVE, D. J., ZAJAC, A. J., MILLER, J. D., SLANSKY, J. & AHMED, R. 1998. Counting antigen-specific CD8 T

cells: a reevaluation of bystander activation during viral infection. *Immunity,* 8, 177-187.

- MURALI-KRISHNA, K., LAU, L. L., SAMBHARA, S., LEMONNIER, F., ALTMAN, J. & AHMED, R. 1999. Persistence of memory CD8 T cells in MHC class I-deficient mice. *Science*, 286, 1377-1381.
- MURPHY, K. M. 2011. *Janeway's immunobiology*, Garland Science.
- MUSTAKANGAS, P., SARNA, S., ÄMMÄLÄ, P., MUTTILAINEN, M., KOSKELA, P. & KOSKINIEMI, M. 2000. Human cytomegalovirus seroprevalence in three socioeconomically different urban areas during the first trimester: a population-based cohort study. *International journal of epidemiology*, 29, 587-591.
- MYKLEBUST, J. H., IRISH, J. M., BRODY, J., CZERWINSKI, D. K., HOUOT, R., KOHRT, H. E., TIMMERMAN, J., SAID, J., GREEN, M. R. & DELABIE, J. 2013. High PD-1 expression and suppressed cytokine signaling distinguish T cells infiltrating follicular lymphoma tumors from peripheral T cells. *Blood*, 121, 1367-1376.
- NAEGER, D. M., MARTIN, J. N., SINCLAIR, E., HUNT, P. W., BANGSBERG, D. R., HECHT, F., HSUE, P., MCCUNE, J. M. & DEEKS, S. G. 2010. Cytomegalovirus-specific T cells persist at very high levels during long-term antiretroviral treatment of HIV disease. *PloS one*, 5, e8886.
- NAGAI, H., WATANABE, T., HOTTA, T., HORIBE, K., YANO, T., UIKE, N., OKAMURA, S., HANADA, S., KAWANO, F., SUNAMI, K., INOUE, N., SAWAMURA, M. & NISHIURA, T. 2008. Remission induction therapy containing rituximab markedly improved the outcome of untreated mature B cell lymphoma. *British journal of haematology*, 143, 672-680.
- NAGLER, A., LANIER, L. L., CWIRLA, S. & PHILLIPS, J. H. 1989. Comparative studies of human FcRIII-positive and negative natural killer cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 143, 3183-3191.
- NAKANO, O., SATO, M., NAITO, Y., SUZUKI, K., ORIKASA, S., AIZAWA, M., SUZUKI, Y., SHINTAKU, I., NAGURA, H. & OHTANI, H. 2001. Proliferative activity of intratumoral CD8+ T-lymphocytes as a prognostic factor in human renal cell carcinoma clinicopathologic demonstration of antitumor immunity. *Cancer research*, 61, 5132-5136.
- NEOTE, K., DIGREGORIO, D., MAK, J. Y., HORUK, R. & SCHALL, T. J. 1993. Molecular cloning, functional expression, and signaling characteristics of a CC chemokine receptor. *Cell*, 72, 415-425.
- NORRIS, D. & STONE, J. 2008. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues.
- O'GARRA, A. & MURPHY, K. 1994. Role of cytokines in determining T-lymphocyte function. *Current opinion in immunology,* 6, 458-466.
- OCHOA, A. C., ZEA, A. H., HERNANDEZ, C. & RODRIGUEZ, P. C. 2007. Arginase, prostaglandins, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 13, 721s-726s.
- OHLIN, M. & SÖDERBERG-NAUCLÉR, C. 2015. Human antibody technology and the development of antibodies against cytomegalovirus. *Molecular Immunology*, 67, 153-170.
- OKOSUN, J., BÖDÖR, C., WANG, J., ARAF, S., YANG, C.-Y., PAN, C., BOLLER, S., CITTARO, D., BOZEK, M. & IQBAL, S. 2014. Integrated genomic analysis

identifies recurrent mutations and evolution patterns driving the initiation and progression of follicular lymphoma. *Nature genetics*, 46, 176-181.

- ORICCHIO, E., NANJANGUD, G., WOLFE, A. L., SCHATZ, J. H., MAVRAKIS, K. J., JIANG, M., LIU, X., BRUNO, J., HEGUY, A. & OLSHEN, A. B. 2011. The Eph-receptor A7 is a soluble tumor suppressor for follicular lymphoma. *Cell*, 147, 554-564.
- OXENIUS, A., ZINKERNAGEL, R. M. & HENGARTNER, H. 1998. Comparison of activation versus induction of unresponsiveness of virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells upon acute versus persistent viral infection. *Immunity*, 9, 449-457.
- P CHOU, J. & B EFFROS, R. 2013. T cell replicative senescence in human aging. *Current pharmaceutical design*, 19, 1680-1698.
- PAGÈS, F., BERGER, A., CAMUS, M., SANCHEZ-CABO, F., COSTES, A., MOLIDOR, R., MLECNIK, B., KIRILOVSKY, A., NILSSON, M. & DAMOTTE, D. 2005. Effector memory T cells, early metastasis, and survival in colorectal cancer. *New England journal of medicine*, 353, 2654-2666.
- PAPADAKIS, K. A., TUNG, J. K., BINDER, S. W., KAM, L. Y., ABREU, M. T., TARGAN, S. R. & VASILIAUSKAS, E. A. 2001. Outcome of cytomegalovirus infections in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *The American journal of* gastroenterology, 96, 2137-2142.
- PARRY, H. M., DAMERY, S., HUDSON, C., MAURER, M. J., CERHAN, J. R., PACHNIO, A., BEGUM, J., SLAGER, S. L., FEGAN, C. & MAN, S. 2016a. Cytomegalovirus infection does not impact on survival or time to first treatment in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *American journal of hematology*, 91, 776-781.
- PARRY, H. M., DAMERY, S., HUDSON, C., MAURER, M. J., CERHAN, J. R., PACHNIO, A., BEGUM, J., SLAGER, S. L., FEGAN, C. & MAN, S. 2016b. Cytomegalovirus infection does not impact on survival or time to first treatment in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *American journal of hematology*.
- PASQUALUCCI, L., BHAGAT, G., JANKOVIC, M., COMPAGNO, M., SMITH, P., MURAMATSU, M., HONJO, T., MORSE, H. C., NUSSENZWEIG, M. C. & DALLA-FAVERA, R. 2008. AID is required for germinal center–derived lymphomagenesis. *Nature genetics*, 40, 108-112.
- PASQUALUCCI, L., DOMINGUEZ-SOLA, D., CHIARENZA, A., FABBRI, G., GRUNN, A., TRIFONOV, V., KASPER, L. H., LERACH, S., TANG, H. & MA, J. 2011a. Inactivating mutations of acetyltransferase genes in B-cell lymphoma. *Nature*, 471, 189-195.
- PASQUALUCCI, L., TRIFONOV, V., FABBRI, G., MA, J., ROSSI, D., CHIARENZA, A., WELLS, V. A., GRUNN, A., MESSINA, M. & ELLIOT, O. 2011b. Analysis of the coding genome of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Nature genetics*, 43, 830-837.
- PAWELEC, G., AKBAR, A., CARUSO, C., SOLANA, R., GRUBECK-LOEBENSTEIN, B. & WIKBY, A. 2005. Human immunosenescence: is it infectious? *Immunological reviews*, 205, 257-268.
- PEDERSEN, L. M., KLAUSEN, T. W., DAVIDSEN, U. H. & JOHNSEN, H. E. 2005. Early changes in serum IL-6 and VEGF levels predict clinical outcome following firstline therapy in aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Annals of hematology*, 84, 510-516.

- PENNOCK, N. D., WHITE, J. T., CROSS, E. W., CHENEY, E. E., TAMBURINI, B. A. & KEDL, R. M. 2013. T cell responses: naive to memory and everything in between. *Advances in physiology education*, 37, 273-283.
- PEREZ, J. A., CLINTON, S. M., TURNER, C. A., WATSON, S. J. & AKIL, H. 2009. A new role for FGF2 as an endogenous inhibitor of anxiety. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29, 6379-6387.
- PICKER, L. J. & BUTCHER, E. C. 1992. Physiological and molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte homing. *Annual review of immunology*, 10, 561-591.
- PICKER, L. J., SINGH, M., ZDRAVESKI, Z., TREER, J., WALDROP, S., BERGSTRESSER, P. & MAINO, V. 1995. Direct demonstration of cytokine synthesis heterogeneity among human memory/effector T cells by flow cytometry. *Blood*, 86, 1408-1419.
- PINSKY, M. R., VINCENT, J.-L., DEVIÈRE, J., ALEGRE, M., KAHN, R. J. & DUPONT, E. 1993. Serum cytokine levels in human septic shock. Relation to multiplesystem organ failure and mortality. *CHEST journal*, 103, 565-575.
- PIROG, E. C. 2015. Diagnosis of HPV-Negative, Gastric-Type Adenocarcinoma of the Endocervix. *Cervical Cancer: Methods and Protocols*, 213-219.
- PITKÄNEN, J. 2005. *Characterisation of the Autoimmune Regulator (AIRE) Protein. Autoimmunity on a Molecular Level*, Tampere University Press.
- POTSCH, C., VÖHRINGER, D. & PIRCHER, H. 1999. Distinct migration patterns of naive and effector CD8 T cells in the spleen: correlation with CCR7 receptor expression and chemokine reactivity. *European journal of immunology*, 29, 3562-3570.
- QUATROMONI, J. G. & ERUSLANOV, E. 2012. Tumor-associated macrophages: function, phenotype, and link to prognosis in human lung cancer. *Am J Transl Res*, 4, 376-389.
- RAHBAR, A., ORREGO, A., PEREDO, I., DZABIC, M., WOLMER-SOLBERG, N., STRÅÅT,
   K., STRAGLIOTTO, G. & SÖDERBERG-NAUCLÉR, C. 2013. Human
   cytomegalovirus infection levels in glioblastoma multiforme are of prognostic
   value for survival. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 57, 36-42.
- RAHMAN, A. A., TESCHNER, M., SETHI, K. K. & BRANDIS, H. 1976. Appearance of IgG (Fc) receptor (s) on cultured human fibroblasts infected with human cytomegalovirus. *The Journal of Immunology*, 117, 253-258.
- RANCEA, M., WILL, A., BORCHMANN, P., MONSEF, I., ENGERT, A. & SKOETZ, N. 2013. Fifteenth Biannual Report of the Cochrane Haematological Malignancies Group—Focus on Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*.
- REICHERT, T. E., DAY, R., WAGNER, E. M. & WHITESIDE, T. L. 1998. Absent or low expression of the  $\zeta$  chain in T cells at the tumor site correlates with poor survival in patients with oral carcinoma. *Cancer research*, 58, 5344-5347.
- REICHERT, T. E., STRAUSS, L., WAGNER, E. M., GOODING, W. & WHITESIDE, T. L. 2002. Signaling abnormalities, apoptosis, and reduced proliferation of circulating and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with oral carcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 8, 3137-3145.
- REINHARDT, R. L., KHORUTS, A., MERICA, R., ZELL, T. & JENKINS, M. K. 2001. Visualizing the generation of memory CD4 T cells in the whole body. *Nature*, 410, 101-105.
- REINKE, S., GEISSLER, S., TAYLOR, W. R., SCHMIDT-BLEEK, K., JUELKE, K., SCHWACHMEYER, V., DAHNE, M., HARTWIG, T., AKYÜZ, L. & MEISEL, C. 2013. Terminally differentiated CD8+ T cells negatively affect bone regeneration in humans. *Science translational medicine*, 5, 177ra36-177ra36.
- REYBURN, H. T., MANDELBOIM, O., VALÉS-GÓMEZ, M., DAVIS, D. M., PAZMANY, L. & STROMINGER, J. L. 1997. The class I MHC homologue of human cytomegalovirus inhibits attack by natural killer cells.
- REZVANI, A. R. & MALONEY, D. G. 2011. Rituximab resistance. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology*, 24, 203-216.
- RIBAS, A., BUTTERFIELD, L. H., GLASPY, J. A. & ECONOMOU, J. S. 2003. Current developments in cancer vaccines and cellular immunotherapy. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 21, 2415-2432.
- RICHENS, J. L., URBANOWICZ, R. A., METCALF, R., CORNE, J., O'SHEA, P. & FAIRCLOUGH, L. 2010. Quantitative validation and comparison of multiplex cytokine kits. *Journal of biomolecular screening*, 15, 562-568.
- RIELLA, L. V., PATERSON, A. M., SHARPE, A. H. & CHANDRAKER, A. 2012. Role of the PD-1 Pathway in the Immune Response. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 12, 2575-2587.
- ROBERTSON, M. J. & RITZ, J. 1990. Biology and clinical relevance of human natural killer cells. *Blood*, 76, 2421-2438.
- ROBERTSON, M. J., SOIFFER, R. J., WOLF, S. F., MANLEY, T., DONAHUE, C., YOUNG,
   D., HERRMANN, S. & RITZ, J. 1992. Response of human natural killer (NK) cells to NK cell stimulatory factor (NKSF): cytolytic activity and proliferation of NK cells are differentially regulated by NKSF. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 175, 779-788.
- ROCK, K. L., REITS, E. & NEEFJES, J. 2016. Present Yourself! By MHC Class I and MHC Class II Molecules. *Trends in Immunology*.
- ROGERS, P. R., HUSTON, G. & SWAIN, S. L. 1998. High antigen density and IL-2 are required for generation of CD4 effectors secreting Th1 rather than Th0 cytokines. *The Journal of Immunology*, 161, 3844-3852.
- ROMÁNA, V. R. G., MURRAYB, J. C. & WEINERB, L. M. 2013. Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity (ADCC). *Antibody Fc:: Linking Adaptive and Innate Immunity*.
- ROMERO, P., CEROTTINI, J. C. & SPEISER, D. E. 2006. The human T cell response to melanoma antigens. *Advances in immunology*, 92, 187-224.
- RONCAROLO, M. G. & GREGORI, S. 2008. Is FOXP3 a bona fide marker for human regulatory T cells? *European journal of immunology*, 38, 925-927.
- ROOKE, R., WALTZINGER, C., BENOIST, C. & MATHIS, D. 1997. Targeted complementation of MHC class II deficiency by intrathymic delivery of recombinant adenoviruses. *Immunity*, **7**, 123-134.
- ROSEN, S. D. 2004. Ligands for L-selectin: homing, inflammation, and beyond. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, 22, 129-156.
- ROSS, S., NOVAK, Z., PATI, S. & BOPPANA, S. 2011. Diagnosis of Cytomegalovirus Infections. *Infectious disorders drug targets*, 11, 466.
- ROTHE, K., QUANDT, D., SCHUBERT, K., ROSSOL, M., KLINGNER, M., JASINSKI-BERGNER, S., SCHOLZ, R., SELIGER, B., PIERER, M. & BAERWALD, C. 2016. Latent Cytomegalovirus Infection in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Increased

Frequencies of Cytolytic LIR-1+ CD8+ T Cells. *Arthritis & Rheumatology,* 68, 337-346.

- ROULLAND, S., FAROUDI, M., MAMESSIER, E., SUNGALEE, S., SALLES, G. & NADEL, B.
   2011. 1 Early Steps of Follicular Lymphoma Pathogenesis. *Advances in immunology*, 111, 1.
- ROULLAND, S., NAVARRO, J.-M., GRENOT, P., MILILI, M., AGOPIAN, J., MONTPELLIER,
  B., GAUDUCHON, P., LEBAILLY, P., SCHIFF, C. & NADEL, B. 2006. Follicular
  lymphoma-like B cells in healthy individuals: a novel intermediate step in
  early lymphomagenesis. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 203, 2425-2431.
- ROUVIER, E., LUCIANI, M., MATTEI, M., DENIZOT, F. & GOLSTEIN, P. 1993. CTLA-8, cloned from an activated T cell, bearing AU-rich messenger RNA instability sequences, and homologous to a herpesvirus saimiri gene. *The Journal of Immunology*, 150, 5445-5456.
- SABATIER, J., URO-COSTE, E., POMMEPUY, I., LABROUSSE, F., ALLART, S., TREMOULET, M., DELISLE, M. & BROUSSET, P. 2005. Detection of human cytomegalovirus genome and gene products in central nervous system tumours. *British journal of cancer*, 92, 747-750.
- SALAVERRIA, I. & SIEBERT, R. 2011. Follicular lymphoma grade 3B. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology*, 24, 111-119.
- SALLUSTO, F. 2002. The role of chemokine receptors in primary, effector and memory immune response. *Experimental Dermatology*, 11, 476-478.
- SALLUSTO, F., LENIG, D., FÖRSTER, R., LIPP, M. & LANZAVECCHIA, A. 1999. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. *Nature*, 401, 708-712.
- SALVEN, P., ORPANA, A., TEERENHOVI, L. & JOENSUU, H. 2000. Simultaneous elevation in the serum concentrations of the angiogenic growth factors VEGF and bFGF is an independent predictor of poor prognosis in non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a single-institution study of 200 patients. *Blood*, 96, 3712-3718.
- SALVEN, P., TEERENHOVI, L. & JOENSUU, H. 1997. A high pretreatment serum vascular endothelial growth factor concentration is associated with poor outcome in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Blood*, 90, 3167-3172.
- SAMANTA, M., HARKINS, L., KLEMM, K., BRITT, W. J. & COBBS, C. S. 2003. High prevalence of human cytomegalovirus in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and prostatic carcinoma. *The Journal of urology*, 170, 998-1002.
- SANDBERG, E. M., LIU, P., NING, Q., RANGWALA, S., SHELBURNE, C., KOBAYASHI, L.
   E., LU, C., STEWART, D., TSIONSKY, M. & PLISOVA, T. 2016. Development and analytical validation of a flexible multiplexing platform for cytokine assays.
   The Journal of Immunology, 196, 138.11-138.11.
- SANDBERG, J. K., FAST, N. M. & NIXON, D. F. 2001. Functional heterogeneity of cytokines and cytolytic effector molecules in human CD8+ T lymphocytes. *The Journal of Immunology*, 167, 181-187.
- SANDERS, M., MAKGOBA, M., SHARROW, S., STEPHANY, D., SPRINGER, T., YOUNG, H.
   & SHAW, S. 1988. Human memory T lymphocytes express increased levels of three cell adhesion molecules (LFA-3, CD2, and LFA-1) and three other molecules (UCHL1, CDw29, and Pgp-1) and have enhanced IFN-gamma production. *The Journal of Immunology*, 140, 1401-1407.

- SANDOR, M. & LYNCH, R. G. 1993. Lymphocyte Fc receptors: the special case of T cells. *Immunology today*, 14, 227-231.
- SAVAGE, P. B., BENDELAC, A. & TEYTON, L. 2016. Bacterial glycolipid activation of CD1d-restricted NKT cells. Google Patents.
- SAVILL, J. & FADOK, V. 2000. Corpse clearance defines the meaning of cell death. *Nature*, 407, 784-788.
- SCHAERLI, P., WILLIMANN, K., LANG, A. B., LIPP, M., LOETSCHER, P. & MOSER, B. 2000. CXC chemokine receptor 5 expression defines follicular homing T cells with B cell helper function. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 192, 1553-1562.
- SCHARTON-KERSTEN, T. M. & SHER, A. 1997. Role of natural killer cells in innate resistance to protozoan infections. *Current opinion in immunology*, 9, 44-51.
- SCHEURER, M. E., BONDY, M. L., ALDAPE, K. D., ALBRECHT, T. & EL-ZEIN, R. 2008. Detection of human cytomegalovirus in different histological types of gliomas. *Acta neuropathologica*, 116, 79-86.
- SCHNEIDER, C. A., RASBAND, W. S. & ELICEIRI, K. W. 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat methods*, 9, 671-675.
- SCHRIER, R. D., RICE, G. P. & OLDSTONE, M. B. 1986. Suppression of natural killer cell activity and T cell proliferation by fresh isolates of human cytomegalovirus. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 153, 1084-1091.
- SCHÜLER, F., DÖLKEN, L., HIRT, C., KIEFER, T., BERG, T., FUSCH, G., WEITMANN, K., HOFFMANN, W., FUSCH, C. & JANZ, S. 2009. Prevalence and frequency of circulating t (14; 18)-MBR translocation carrying cells in healthy individuals. *International journal of cancer*, 124, 958-963.
- SCHULTE, W., BERNHAGEN, J. & BUCALA, R. 2013. Cytokines in sepsis: potent immunoregulators and potential therapeutic targets—an updated view. *Mediators of inflammation,* 2013.
- SCHWAENEN, C., VIARDOT, A., BERGER, H., BARTH, T. F., BENTINK, S., DÖHNER, H., ENZ, M., FELLER, A. C., HANSMANN, M. L. & HUMMEL, M. 2009. Microarraybased genomic profiling reveals novel genomic aberrations in follicular lymphoma which associate with patient survival and gene expression status. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer*, 48, 39-54.
- SEDER, R. A., DARRAH, P. A. & ROEDERER, M. 2008. T-cell quality in memory and protection: implications for vaccine design. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8, 247-258.
- SEHIC, D., FORSLUND, O., SANDÉN, E., MENGELBIER, L. H., KARLSSON, J., BZHALAVA, D., EKSTRÖM, J., WARENHOLT, J., DARABI, A. & DILLNER, J. 2013. Absence of epstein–barr and cytomegalovirus infection in neuroblastoma cells by standard detection methodologies. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 60, E91-E93.
- SENPUKU, H., MIYAZAKI, H., YOSHIHARA, A., YONEDA, S., NARISAWA, N., KAWARAI,
   T., NAKAGAWA, N., MIYACHI, M., TADA, A. & YOSHIDA, G. 2016. CD56 dim
   CD16 high and CD56 bright CD16– cell percentages associated with maximum
   knee extensor strength and incidence of death in elderly. *SpringerPlus*, 5, 1.
- SERAFINI, P., BORRELLO, I. & BRONTE, V. Myeloid suppressor cells in cancer: recruitment, phenotype, properties, and mechanisms of immune suppression. Seminars in cancer biology, 2006. Elsevier, 53-65.

- SESTER, U., PRESSER, D., DIRKS, J., GÄRTNER, B., KÖHLER, H. & SESTER, M. 2008. PD-1 Expression and IL-2 Loss of Cytomegalovirus-Specific T Cells Correlates with Viremia and Reversible Functional Anergy. American Journal of Transplantation, 8, 1486-1497.
- SEYFIZADEH, N., SEYFIZADEH, N., HASENKAMP, J. & HUERTA-YEPEZ, S. 2016. A molecular perspective on rituximab: A monoclonal antibody for B cell non Hodgkin lymphoma and other affections. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology*, 97, 275-290.
- SHAW, V. E., LANE, B., JENKINSON, C., COX, T., GREENHALF, W., HALLORAN, C. M., TANG, J., SUTTON, R., NEOPTOLEMOS, J. P. & COSTELLO, E. 2014. Serum cytokine biomarker panels for discriminating pancreatic cancer from benign pancreatic disease. *Molecular cancer*, 13, 1-13.
- SHEU, B. C., HSU, S. M., HO, H. N., LIN, R. H., TORNG, P. L. & HUANG, S. C. 1999. Reversed CD4/CD8 ratios of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are correlated with the progression of human cervical carcinoma. *Cancer*, 86, 1537-1543.
- SHI, S.-R. & TAYLOR, C. R. Antigen Retrieval.
- SHIELS, M. S., PFEIFFER, R. M., HILDESHEIM, A., ENGELS, E. A., KEMP, T. J., PARK, J.-H., KATKI, H. A., KOSHIOL, J., SHELTON, G. & CAPORASO, N. E. 2013.
  Circulating inflammation markers and prospective risk for lung cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 105, 1871-1880.
- SHIOZAWA, E., YAMOCHI-ONIZUKA, T., YAMOCHI, T., YAMAMOTO, Y., NAITOH, H., KAWAKAMI, K., NAKAMAKI, T., TOMOYASU, S., KUSHIMA, M. & OTA, H. 2003. Disappearance of CD21-positive follicular dendritic cells preceding the transformation of follicular lymphoma: immunohistological study of the transformation using CD21, p53, Ki-67, and P-glycoprotein. *Pathology-Research and Practice*, 199, 293-302.
- SHRIVASTAVA, M. S., HUSSAIN, Z., GIRICZ, O., SHENOY, N., POLINENI, R., MAITRA, A.
   & VERMA, A. 2014. Targeting chemokine pathways in esophageal adenocarcinoma. *Cell Cycle*, 13, 3320-3327.
- SINGH, R., SHANKAR, B. S. & SAINIS, K. B. 2014. TGF-β1–ROS–ATM–CREB signaling axis in macrophage mediated migration of human breast cancer MCF7 cells. *Cellular signalling*, 26, 1604-1615.
- SLINGER, E., MAUSSANG, D., SCHREIBER, A., SIDERIUS, M., RAHBAR, A., FRAILE-RAMOS, A., LIRA, S. A., SÖDERBERG-NAUCLÉR, C. & SMIT, M. J. 2010. HCMVencoded chemokine receptor US28 mediates proliferative signaling through the IL-6–STAT3 axis. *Science signaling*, 3, ra58-ra58.
- SMITH, C. J., QUINN, M. & SNYDER, C. M. 2016. CMV-Specific CD8 T Cell Differentiation and Localization: Implications for Adoptive Therapies. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 7.
- SMITH, M. R. 2003. Rituximab (monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody): mechanisms of action and resistance. *Oncogene*, 22, 7359-7368.
- SNEERINGER, C. J., SCOTT, M. P., KUNTZ, K. W., KNUTSON, S. K., POLLOCK, R. M., RICHON, V. M. & COPELAND, R. A. 2010. Coordinated activities of wild-type plus mutant EZH2 drive tumor-associated hypertrimethylation of lysine 27 on histone H3 (H3K27) in human B-cell lymphomas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107, 20980-20985.

SNYDMAN, D. R. 2006. The case for cytomegalovirus prophylaxis in solid organ transplantation. *Reviews in medical virology*, 16, 289-295.

- SÖDERBERG-NAUCLÉR, C. 2006. Does cytomegalovirus play a causative role in the development of various inflammatory diseases and cancer? *Journal of internal medicine*, 259, 219-246.
- SOLAL-CÉLIGNY, P., ROY, P., COLOMBAT, P., WHITE, J., ARMITAGE, J. O., ARRANZ-SAEZ, R., AU, W. Y., BELLEI, M., BRICE, P. & CABALLERO, D. 2004. Follicular lymphoma international prognostic index. *Blood*, 104, 1258-1265.
- SOLANA, R., TARAZONA, R., AIELLO, A. E., AKBAR, A. N., APPAY, V., BESWICK, M., BOSCH, J. A., CAMPOS, C., CANTISÁN, S. & CICIN-SAIN, L. 2012. CMV and Immunosenescence: from basics to clinics. *Immunity & Ageing*, 9, 1.
- SONG, H., MA, S., CHA, Z., CHEN, L., TONG, D., MA, L., SONG, W. & BAI, J. 2013. T-Cell Immunoglobulin-and Mucin-Domain-Containing Molecule 3 Genetic Variants and HIV+ Non-Hodgkin Lymphomas. *Inflammation*, 1-7.
- SOROCEANU, L., MATLAF, L., BEZROOKOVE, V., HARKINS, L., MARTINEZ, R., GREENE, M., SOTEROPOULOS, P. & COBBS, C. S. 2011. Human cytomegalovirus US28 found in glioblastoma promotes an invasive and angiogenic phenotype. *Cancer research*, **71**, 6643-6653.
- SPANGLER, J. B., MORAGA, I., MENDOZA, J. L. & GARCIA, K. C. 2015. Insights into cytokine–receptor interactions from cytokine engineering. *Annual review of immunology*, 33, 139.
- SPILLER, O. B., HANNA, S. M., DEVINE, D. V. & TUFARO, F. 1997. Neutralization of cytomegalovirus virions: the role of complement. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 176, 339-347.
- SPRENT, J. 1973. Circulating T and B lymphocytes of the mouse: I. Migratory properties. *Cellular immunology*, 7, 10-39.
- SPRENT, J. & SURH, C. D. 2002. T cell memory. *Annual review of immunology*, 20, 551-579.
- SPRENT, J. & TOUGH, D. F. 2001. T cell death and memory. *Science*, 293, 245-248.
- SPRINGAEL, J.-Y., URIZAR, E. & PARMENTIER, M. 2005. Dimerization of chemokine receptors and its functional consequences. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, 16, 611-623.
- STANCIU, A. E., SERDAREVIC, N., HURDUC, A. E. & STANCIU, M. M. 2015. IL-4, IL-10 and high sensitivity-CRP as potential serum biomarkers of persistent/recurrent disease in papillary thyroid carcinoma with/without Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Scandinavian journal of clinical and laboratory investigation*, 75, 539-548.
- STAUDT, L. M. 2007. A closer look at follicular lymphoma. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 356, 741-742.
- STEINIGER, B., BARTH, P. & HELLINGER, A. 2001. The perifollicular and marginal zones of the human splenic white pulp: do fibroblasts guide lymphocyte immigration? *The American journal of pathology*, 159, 501-512.
- STEINMAN, R. M. 1991. The dendritic cell system and its role in immunogenicity. Annual review of immunology, 9, 271-296.
- STEWART, T. & TSAI, S.-C. 1993. The possible role of stromal cell stimulation in worsening the prognosis of a subset of patients with breast cancer. *Clinical & experimental metastasis*, 11, 295-305.

- STRAGLIOTTO, G., RAHBAR, A., SOLBERG, N. W., LILJA, A., TAHER, C., ORREGO, A., BJURMAN, B., TAMMIK, C., SKARMAN, P. & PEREDO, I. 2013. Effects of valganciclovir as an add-on therapy in patients with cytomegalovirus-positive glioblastoma: A randomized, double-blind, hypothesis-generating study. *International Journal of Cancer*, 133, 1204-1213.
- SUBRAMANIAM, R. 2015. *PET/CT and Patient Outcomes, Part I, An Issue of PET Clinics*, Elsevier Health Sciences.
- SURESH, R. & MOSSER, D. M. 2013. Pattern recognition receptors in innate immunity, host defense, and immunopathology. *Advances in physiology education*, 37, 284-291.
- SWAIN, S. L. 1994. Generation and in vivo persistence of polarized Th1 and Th2 memory cells. *Immunity*, **1**, 543-552.
- SWAIN, S. L., HU, H. & HUSTON, G. 1999. Class II-independent generation of CD4 memory T cells from effectors. *Science*, 286, 1381-1383.
- TAKEDA, K., KAISHO, T. & AKIRA, S. 2003. Toll-like receptors. *Annual review of immunology*, 21, 335-376.
- TAKEDA, S., RODEWALD, H.-R., ARAKAWA, H., BLUETHMANN, H. & SHIMIZU, T. 1996. MHC class II molecules are not required for survival of newly generated CD4+ T cells, but affect their long-term life span. *Immunity*, **5**, 217-228.
- TAKEUCHI, O. & AKIRA, S. 2010. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell*, 140, 805-820.
- TANCHOT, C., LEMONNIER, F. A., PÉRARNAU, B., FREITAS, A. A. & ROCHA, B. 1997. Differential requirements for survival and proliferation of CD8 naive or memory T cells. *Science*, 276, 2057-2062.
- TAO, H., MIMURA, Y., AOE, K., KOBAYASHI, S., YAMAMOTO, H., MATSUDA, E., OKABE, K., MATSUMOTO, T., SUGI, K. & UEOKA, H. 2012. Prognostic potential of FOXP3 expression in non-small cell lung cancer cells combined with tumorinfiltrating regulatory T cells. *Lung Cancer*, 75, 95-101.
- TASKINEN, M., KARJALAINEN-LINDSBERG, M.-L., NYMAN, H., EEROLA, L.-M. & LEPPÄ, S. 2007. A high tumor-associated macrophage content predicts favorable outcome in follicular lymphoma patients treated with rituximab and cyclophosphamide-doxorubicin-vincristine-prednisone. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 13, 5784-5789.
- TAYLOR, P. R., MARTINEZ-POMARES, L., STACEY, M., LIN, H.-H., BROWN, G. D. & GORDON, S. 2005. Macrophage receptors and immune recognition. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, 23, 901-944.
- TAZAKI, E., SHIMIZU, N., TANAKA, R., YOSHIZUMI, M., KAMMA, H., IMOTO, S., GOYA, T., KOZAWA, K., NISHINA, A. & KIMURA, H. 2011. Serum cytokine profiles in patients with prostate carcinoma. *Experimental and therapeutic medicine*, 2, 887-891.
- TERABE, M. & BERZOFSKY, J. A. 2008. The role of NKT cells in tumor immunity. *Advances in cancer research*, 101, 277-348.
- THOMPSON, H. & WILTON, J. 1992. Interaction and intracellular killing of Candida albicans blastospores by human polymorphonuclear leucocytes, monocytes and monocyte-derived macrophages in aerobic and anaerobic conditions. *Clinical and experimental immunology*, 87, 316.

- TOPALIAN, S. L., DRAKE, C. G. & PARDOLL, D. M. 2012. Targeting the PD-1/B7-H1 (PD-L1) pathway to activate anti-tumor immunity. *Current opinion in immunology*, 24, 207-212.
- TORRES, C., LINARES, A., ALEJANDRE, M. J., PALOMINO-MORALES, R. J., CABA, O., PRADOS, J., ARÁNEGA, A., DELGADO, J. R., IRIGOYEN, A. & MARTÍNEZ-GALÁN, J. 2015. Prognosis Relevance of Serum Cytokines in Pancreatic Cancer. *BioMed Research International*.
- TOUGH, D. F. & SPRENT, J. 1994. Turnover of naive-and memory-phenotype T cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 179, 1127-1135.
- TRGOVCICH, J., CEBULLA, C., ZIMMERMAN, P. & SEDMAK, D. D. 2006. Human cytomegalovirus protein pp71 disrupts major histocompatibility complex class I cell surface expression. *Journal of virology*, 80, 951-963.
- TSAI, A. G., LU, H., RAGHAVAN, S. C., MUSCHEN, M., HSIEH, C.-L. & LIEBER, M. R. 2008. Human chromosomal translocations at CpG sites and a theoretical basis for their lineage and stage specificity. *Cell*, 135, 1130-1142.
- TSAI, C.-S., CHEN, F.-H., WANG, C.-C., HUANG, H.-L., JUNG, S.-M., WU, C.-J., LEE, C.-C., MCBRIDE, W. H., CHIANG, C.-S. & HONG, J.-H. 2007. Macrophages from irradiated tumors express higher levels of iNOS, arginase-I and COX-2, and promote tumor growth. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology\* Biology\* Physics*, 68, 499-507.
- TSOUKAS, P. 2012. Immune senescence and cardiovascular morbidity as a result of chronic cytomegalovirus infection. RCSIsmj.
- TSUJIMOTO, Y., GORHAM, J., COSSMAN, J., JAFFE, E. & CROCE, C. M. 1985. The t (14; 18) chromosome translocations involved in B-cell neoplasms result from mistakes in VDJ joining. *Science*, 229, 1390-1393.
- TSUNODA, M., TSUNODA, H., GUEVARRA, L. & TOLLERUD, D. J. 2003. The relation between serum cytokine levels and common laboratory tests in healthy Japanese males. *Environmental health and preventive medicine*, 8, 6-12.
- TUNG, J. W., PARKS, D. R., MOORE, W. A., HERZENBERG, L. A. & HERZENBERG, L. A. 2004. Identification of B-cell subsets. *B Cell Protocols*, 37-58.
- UEDA, T., SHIMADA, E. & URAKAWA, T. 1994. Serum levels of cytokines in patients with colorectal cancer: possible involvement of interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 in hematogenous metastasis. *Journal of gastroenterology*, 29, 423-429.
- URBANI, S., AMADEI, B., FISICARO, P., TOLA, D., ORLANDINI, A., SACCHELLI, L., MORI, C., MISSALE, G. & FERRARI, C. 2006. Outcome of acute hepatitis C is related to virus-specific CD4 function and maturation of antiviral memory CD8 responses. *Hepatology*, 44, 126-139.
- UZZO, R. G., CLARK, P. E., RAYMAN, P., BLOOM, T., RYBICKI, L., NOVICK, A. C., BUKOWSKI, R. M. & FINKE, J. H. 1999. Alterations in NFκB activation in T lymphocytes of patients with renal cell carcinoma. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 91, 718-721.
- VAN EWIJK, W. & NIEUWENHUIS, P. 1985. Compartments, domains and migration pathways of lymphoid cells in the splenic pulp. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 41, 199-208.
- VAN GALEN, J. C., DUKERS, D. F., GIROTH, C., SEWALT, R. G., OTTE, A. P., MEIJER, C. J. & RAAPHORST, F. M. 2004. Distinct expression patterns of polycomb

oncoproteins and their binding partners during the germinal center reaction. *European journal of immunology,* 34, 1870-1881.

- VAN LEEUWEN, E. M., DE BREE, G. J., TEN BERGE, I. J. & VAN LIER, R. A. 2006. Human virus-specific CD8+ T cells: diversity specialists. *Immunological reviews*, 211, 225-235.
- VARANI, S. & LANDINI, M. P. 2011. Cytomegalovirus-induced immunopathology and its clinical consequences. *Herpesviridae*, 2, 6.
- VEGA, R., BERTRAN, X., MENACHO, M., DOMENECH, E., DE VEGA, V. M., HOMBRADOS, M., CABRE, E., OJANGUREN, I. & GASSULL, M. 1999.
   Cytomegalovirus infection in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *The American journal of gastroenterology*, 94, 1053-1056.
- VELICHUTINA, I., SHAKNOVICH, R., GENG, H., JOHNSON, N. A., GASCOYNE, R. D., MELNICK, A. M. & ELEMENTO, O. 2010. EZH2-mediated epigenetic silencing in germinal center B cells contributes to proliferation and lymphomagenesis. *Blood*, 116, 5247-5255.
- VINUESA, C. G. & COOK, M. C. 2011. Blood relatives of follicular helper T cells. *Immunity*, 34, 10-12.
- VIRGIN, H. W., WHERRY, E. J. & AHMED, R. 2009. Redefining chronic viral infection. *Cell*, 138, 30-50.
- VON ANDRIAN, U. H. & MEMPEL, T. R. 2003. Homing and cellular traffic in lymph nodes. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **3**, 867-878.
- VON BOEHMER, H. & HAFEN, K. 1993. The life span of naive alpha/beta T cells in secondary lymphoid organs. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 177, 891-896.
- VOSS, S. D., DALEY, J., RITZ, J. & ROBERTSON, M. J. 1998. Participation of the CD94 receptor complex in costimulation of human natural killer cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 160, 1618-1626.
- WAHLIN, B. E., SUNDSTRÖM, C., HOLTE, H., HAGBERG, H., ERLANSON, M., NILSSON-EHLE, H., LINDÉN, O., NORDSTRÖM, M., ØSTENSTAD, B. & GEISLER, C. H.
  2011. T cells in tumors and blood predict outcome in follicular lymphoma treated with rituximab. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 17, 4136-4144.
- WALTER, E. A., GREENBERG, P. D., GILBERT, M. J., FINCH, R. J., WATANABE, K. S., THOMAS, E. D. & RIDDELL, S. R. 1995. Reconstitution of cellular immunity against cytomegalovirus in recipients of allogeneic bone marrow by transfer of T-cell clones from the donor. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 333, 1038-1044.
- WANG, D., MA, Y., WANG, J., LIU, X. & FANG, M. 2013. Natural killer cells in innate defense against infective pathogens. *J Clin Cell Immunol S*, 13, 2.
- WANG, K., WADHWA, P. D., CULHANE, J. F. & NELSON, E. L. 2005. Validation and comparison of luminex multiplex cytokine analysis kits with ELISA: determinations of a panel of nine cytokines in clinical sample culture supernatants. *Journal of reproductive immunology*, 66, 175-191.
- WATFORD, W. T., MORIGUCHI, M., MORINOBU, A. & O'SHEA, J. J. 2003. The biology of IL-12: coordinating innate and adaptive immune responses. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, 14, 361-368.

- WEAVER, C. T., HATTON, R. D., MANGAN, P. R. & HARRINGTON, L. E. 2007. IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, 25, 821-852.
- WEDEMEYER, J., TSAI, M. & GALLI, S. J. 2000. Roles of mast cells and basophils in innate and acquired immunity. *Current opinion in immunology*, 12, 624-631.
- WEIGERT, O., KOPP, N., LANE, A. A., YODA, A., DAHLBERG, S. E., NEUBERG, D.,
   BAHAR, A. Y., CHAPUY, B., KUTOK, J. L. & LONGTINE, J. A. 2012. Molecular ontogeny of donor-derived follicular lymphomas occurring after hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Cancer discovery*, 2, 47-55.
- WEINER, G. J. Rituximab: mechanism of action. Seminars in hematology, 2010. Elsevier, 115-123.
- WEINER, L. M., SURANA, R. & WANG, S. 2010. Antibodies and cancer therapy: versatile platforms for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, 10, 317.
- WEISS, L. M., WARNKE, R. A., SKLAR, J. & CLEARY, M. L. 1987. Molecular analysis of the t (14; 18) chromosomal translocation in malignant lymphomas. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 317, 1185-1189.
- WELZL, K., WEINBERGER, B., KRONBICHLER, A., STURM, G., KERN, G., MAYER, G., GRUBECK-LOEBENSTEIN, B. & KOPPELSTAETTER, C. 2014. How immunosuppressive therapy affects T cells from kidney transplanted patients of different age: the role of latent cytomegalovirus infection. *Clinical And Experimental Immunology*, 176, 112-119.
- WENG, N.-P., LEVINE, B. L., JUNE, C. H. & HODES, R. J. 1995. Human naive and memory T lymphocytes differ in telomeric length and replicative potential. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences*, 92, 11091-11094.
- WENINGER, W., CROWLEY, M. A., MANJUNATH, N. & VON ANDRIAN, U. H. 2001. Migratory properties of naive, effector, and memory CD8+ T cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 194, 953-966.
- WHERRY, E. J. 2011. T cell exhaustion. Nature immunology, 12, 492-499.
- WHERRY, E. J. & AHMED, R. 2004. Memory CD8 T-cell differentiation during viral infection. *Journal of virology*, 78, 5535-5545.
- WHERRY, E. J., BLATTMAN, J. N., MURALI-KRISHNA, K., VAN DER MOST, R. & AHMED, R. 2003a. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. *Journal of virology*, 77, 4911-4927.
- WHERRY, E. J., HA, S.-J., KAECH, S. M., HAINING, W. N., SARKAR, S., KALIA, V.,
   SUBRAMANIAM, S., BLATTMAN, J. N., BARBER, D. L. & AHMED, R. 2007.
   Molecular signature of CD8+ T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection.
   *Immunity*, 27, 670-684.
- WHERRY, E. J., TEICHGRÄBER, V., BECKER, T. C., MASOPUST, D., KAECH, S. M., ANTIA, R., VON ANDRIAN, U. H. & AHMED, R. 2003b. Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T cell subsets. *Nature immunology*, 4, 225-234.
- WHITESIDE, T. 2008. The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. *Oncogene*, 27, 5904-5912.
- WHITESIDE, T., VUJANOVIC, N. & HERBERMAN, R. 1998. Natural killer cells and tumor therapy. *Specificity, Function, and Development of NK Cells.* Springer.

- WHITESIDE, T. L. 1994. Cytokine measurements and interpretation of cytokine assays in human disease. *Journal of clinical immunology*, 14, 327-339.
- WHITESIDE, T. L. 2007. The local tumor microenvironment. *General Principles of Tumor Immunotherapy*. Springer.
- WHITESIDE, T. L. & PARMIANI, G. 1994. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes: their phenotype, functions and clinical use. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 39, 15-21.
- WIGMORE, S., FEARON, K., SANGSTER, K., MAINGAY, J., GARDEN, O. & ROSS, J. 2002.
   Cytokine regulation of constitutive production of interleukin-8 and-6 by human pancreatic cancer cell lines and serum cytokine concentrations in patients with pancreatic cancer. *International journal of oncology*, 21, 881-886.
- WILK, E., WITTE, T., MARQUARDT, N., HORVATH, T., KALIPPKE, K., SCHOLZ, K., WILKE,
   N., SCHMIDT, R. E. & JACOBS, R. 2009. Depletion of functionally active CD20+
   T cells by rituximab treatment. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 60, 3563-3571.
- WILLINGER, T., FREEMAN, T., HASEGAWA, H., MCMICHAEL, A. J. & CALLAN, M. F.
   2005. Molecular signatures distinguish human central memory from effector memory CD8 T cell subsets. *The Journal of Immunology*, 175, 5895-5903.
- WINGENDER, G. & KRONENBERG, M. 2015. OMIP-030: Characterization of human T cell subsets via surface markers. *Cytometry Part A*, 87, 1067-1069.
- WIRTH, T. C., XUE, H.-H., RAI, D., SABEL, J. T., BAIR, T., HARTY, J. T. & BADOVINAC, V.
   P. 2010. Repetitive antigen stimulation induces stepwise transcriptome diversification but preserves a core signature of memory CD8+ T cell differentiation. *Immunity*, 33, 128-140.
- WITKOWSKA, M. & SMOLEWSKI, P. 2016. Development of Anti-CD20 Antigen-Targeting Therapies for B-cell Lymphoproliferative Malignancies-The State of the Art. *Current drug targets*, 17, 1072-1082.
- WOLMER-SOLBERG, N., BARYAWNO, N., RAHBAR, A., FUCHS, D., ODEBERG, J.,
   TAHER, C., WILHELMI, V., MILOSEVIC, J., MOHAMMAD, A. A. & MARTINSSON,
   T. 2013. Frequent detection of human cytomegalovirus in neuroblastoma: A novel therapeutic target? *International Journal of Cancer*, 133, 2351-2361.
- WOO, E. Y., CHU, C. S., GOLETZ, T. J., SCHLIENGER, K., YEH, H., COUKOS, G., RUBIN, S. C., KAISER, L. R. & JUNE, C. H. 2001. Regulatory CD4+ CD25+ T cells in tumors from patients with early-stage non-small cell lung cancer and late-stage ovarian cancer. *Cancer research*, 61, 4766-4772.
- WOODBURY, N. 1996. 1Department of Immunology, Institute of Cancer Research, Health Enterprise Rikshospitalet-Radiumhospitalet, Oslo, Norway;
   2Department of Radiation Biology, Institute of Cancer Research, Health Enterprise Rikshospitalet-Radiumhospitalet. *Blood*, 88, 1437-1444.
- YANG, Z.-Z. & ANSELL, S. M. 2012a. The tumor microenvironment in follicular lymphoma. *Clinical Advances In Hematology & Oncology: H&O*, 10, 810-818.
- YANG, Z.-Z., GROTE, D., ZIESMER, S., XIU, B., NOVAK, A. J. & ANSELL, S. M. 2015. PD-1 expression defines two distinct T-cell sub-populations in follicular lymphoma that differentially impact patient survival. *Blood cancer journal*, 5, e281.
- YANG, Z.-Z., GROTE, D. M., XIU, B., ZIESMER, S. C., PRICE-TROSKA, T. L., HODGE, L. S., YATES, D. M., NOVAK, A. J. & ANSELL, S. M. 2014. TGF-β upregulates CD70

expression and induces exhaustion of effector memory T cells in B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Leukemia*, 28, 1872-1884.

- YANG, Z.-Z., GROTE, D. M., ZIESMER, S. C., MANSKE, M. K., WITZIG, T. E., NOVAK, A. J. & ANSELL, S. M. 2011. Soluble IL-2Rα facilitates IL-2–mediated immune responses and predicts reduced survival in follicular B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood*, 118, 2809-2820.
- YANG, Z.-Z., GROTE, D. M., ZIESMER, S. C., NIKI, T., HIRASHIMA, M., NOVAK, A. J., WITZIG, T. E. & ANSELL, S. M. 2012. IL-12 upregulates TIM-3 expression and induces T cell exhaustion in patients with follicular B cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 122, 1271-1282.
- YANG, Z. Z. & ANSELL, S. M. 2012b. The tumor microenvironment in follicular lymphoma. *Clin Adv Hematol Oncol*, 10, 810-818.
- YAO, Z., PAINTER, S. L., FANSLOW, W. C., ULRICH, D., MACDUFF, B. M., SPRIGGS, M.
   K. & ARMITAGE, R. J. 1995. Human IL-17: a novel cytokine derived from T cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 155, 5483-5486.
- YAP, D. B., CHU, J., BERG, T., SCHAPIRA, M., CHENG, S.-W. G., MORADIAN, A., MORIN, R. D., MUNGALL, A. J., MEISSNER, B. & BOYLE, M. 2011. Somatic mutations at EZH2 Y641 act dominantly through a mechanism of selectively altered PRC2 catalytic activity, to increase H3K27 trimethylation. *Blood*, 117, 2451-2459.
- YAP, M., BOEFFARD, F., PALLIER, A., DANGER, R., GIRAL, M., DANTAL, J., SOULILLOU, J. P., BROUARD, S., DEGAUQUE, N., FOUCHER, Y., GUILLOT-GUEGUEN, C., CLAVE, E. & TOUBERT, A. 2014. Expansion of highly differentiated cytotoxic terminally differentiated effector memory CD8+ T cells in a subset of clinically stable kidney transplant recipients: A potential marker for late graft dysfunction. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 25, 1856-1868.
- YI, J. S., COX, M. A. & ZAJAC, A. J. 2010. T-cell exhaustion: characteristics, causes and conversion. *Immunology*, 129, 474-481.
- ZAFIROPOULOS, A., TSENTELIEROU, E., BILLIRI, K. & SPANDIDOS, D. 2003. Human herpes viruses in non-melanoma skin cancers. *Cancer letters*, 198, 77-81.
- ZAJAC, A. J., BLATTMAN, J. N., MURALI-KRISHNA, K., SOURDIVE, D. J., SURESH, M., ALTMAN, J. D. & AHMED, R. 1998. Viral immune evasion due to persistence of activated T cells without effector function. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 188, 2205-2213.
- ZAKNOEN, S. & KAY, N. E. 1990. Immunoregulatory cell dysfunction in chronic B-cell leukemias. *Blood reviews*, 4, 165-174.
- ZHANG, P., CHITKUSHEV, L., BRUSIC, V. & ZHANG, G. L. Biomarkers in Immunology: from Concepts to Applications. Proceedings of the International Conference on Bioinformatics, Computational Biology and Biomedical Informatics, 2013. ACM, 826.
- ZHOU, J., DUDLEY, M. E., ROSENBERG, S. A. & ROBBINS, P. F. 2004. Selective growth, in vitro and in vivo, of individual T cell clones from tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes obtained from patients with melanoma. *The Journal of Immunology*, 173, 7622-7629.
- ZHOU, X., HU, W. & QIN, X. 2008. The role of complement in the mechanism of action of rituximab for B-cell lymphoma: implications for therapy. *The* oncologist, 13, 954-966.

- ZHU, J., YAMANE, H. & PAUL, W. E. 2010. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations. *Annual review of immunology*, 28, 445.
- ZINKEL, S., GROSS, A. & YANG, E. 2006. BCL2 family in DNA damage and cell cycle control. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 13, 1351-1359.
- ZITVOGEL, L., TESNIERE, A. & KROEMER, G. 2006. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 6, 715-727.
- ZLOTNIK, A. & YOSHIE, O. 2000. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. *Immunity*, 12, 121-127.
- ZUCKERMAN, N. S., MCCANN, K. J., OTTENSMEIER, C. H., BARAK, M., SHAHAF, G., EDELMAN, H., DUNN-WALTERS, D., ABRAHAM, R. S., STEVENSON, F. K. & MEHR, R. 2010. Ig gene diversification and selection in follicular lymphoma, diffuse large B cell lymphoma and primary central nervous system lymphoma revealed by lineage tree and mutation analyses. *International immunology*, dxq441.
- ZUO, T., LIU, R., ZHANG, H., CHANG, X., LIU, Y., WANG, L., ZHENG, P. & LIU, Y. 2007. FOXP3 is a novel transcriptional repressor for the breast cancer oncogene SKP2. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 117, 3765-3773.

## Appendices



#### **Appendix 1: Standard Curves for cytokines**

# Figure 1A: The 8-point Bio-Plex Manager<sup>™</sup> software version 6.0 derived standard curves used for the analysis of serum cytokine by Luminex assay.

In performing curve fitting, outliers are considered invalid. As such they are removed to generate a more realistic and accurate standard curve. This may result in an extended assay working range and allows quantitation of samples that might otherwise be considered out of range (OOR).



Figure 1B: The 8-point Bio-Plex Manager<sup>™</sup> software version 6.0 derived standard curves used for the analysis of serum cytokine by Luminex assay.



Figure 1C: The 8-point Bio-Plex Manager<sup>™</sup> software version 6.0 derived standard curves used for the analysis of serum cytokine by Luminex assay.



Standard 🔲 Partial Outlier 🔟 Outlier 🛦 Unknown 📥 Control

Figure 1D: The 8-point Bio-Plex Manager<sup>™</sup> software version 6.0 derived standard curves used for the analysis of serum cytokine by Luminex assay.

### **Appendix 2: Copyright Licence**

	Nature Publishing Group LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS	
	Aug 08, 2016	
This is a License Agreement ( ('Nature Publishing Group')) consists of your order details, the payment terms and condi	between Moses D Lugos ("You") and Nature Publishing Group provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license the terms and conditions provided by Nature Publishing Group, and ions.	
All payments must be mad information listed at the bo	e in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see ttom of this form.	
License Number	3893180459486	
License date	Jun 20, 2016	
Licensed content publisher	Nature Publishing Group	
Licensed content title	Nature Reviews Immunology	
Licensed content date	Jan 1, 2001	
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation	
Requestor type	Academic institution	
Format	Electronic	
Portion	chart/graph/table/figure	
Number of charts/graphs/tables/figure:	1	
Title or numeric reference of the portion(s)	Figure 4: Models for effector and memory T-cell differentiation	
Title of the article or chapter the portion is from	<ul> <li>T-cell quality in memory and protection: implications for vaccine design</li> </ul>	
Editor of portion(s)	n/a	
Author of portion(s)	Robert A. Seder, Patricia A. Darrah and Mario Roederer	
Volume of serial or monograph.	8	
Page range of the portion	253	
Publication date of portion	2008	
Rights for	Main product	
Duration of use	Life of current edition	
Creation of copies for the disabled	no	
With minor editing privileges	5 no	
For distribution to	U.K. and Commonwealth (excluding Canada)	
In the following language(s	Original language of publication	
With incidental promotional use	no	
The latence of the second s	Up to 499	

# Figure 2: Copyright licence for Figure 3-11: Illustrations of distinct and developmental phases of effector and memory T-cells.

The page 1 of 6 pages of copy right licence for reproduction Figure 3-11: Illustrations of distinct and developmental phases of effector and memory T-cells.

8/8/16

RightsLink Printable License

#### American Society for Clinical Investigation LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Aug 08, 2016

This is a License Agreement between Moses D Lugos ("You") and American Society for Clinical Investigation ("American Society for Clinical Investigation") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by American Society for Clinical Investigation, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

	License Number	3893170249813	
	License date	Jun 20, 2016	
	Licensed content publisher	American Society for Clinical Investigation	
	Licensed content title	JOURNAL OF CLINICAL INVESTIGATION. ONLINE	
	Licensed content date	Dec 31, 1969	
	Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation	
	Requestor type	Academic institution	
	Format	Electronic	
	Portion	chart/graph/table/figure	
	Number of charts/graphs/tables/figures	1	
	Title or numeric reference of the portion(s)	Figure 1 A model of the microenvironment in FL	
	Title of the article or chapter the portion is from	Pathogenesis of follicular lymphoma	
	Editor of portion(s)	n/a	
	Author of portion(s)	Robert Kridel, Laurie H. Sehn, and Randy D. Gascoyne	
	Volume of serial or monograph.	22	
	Issue, if republishing an article from a serial	Number 10	
	Page range of the portion	3426	
	Publication date of portion	October 2012	
	Rights for	Main product	
	Duration of use	Life of current edition	
	Creation of copies for the disabled	no	
	With minor editing privileges	no	
	For distribution to	U.K. and Commonwealth (excluding Canada)	
	In the following language(s)	Original language of publication	
	With incidental promotional	no	
51	00.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PrintableL	Jcense.jsp?appGource-cccAdmin&licenseiD-2016061_1466442753813	1/5

**Figure 3: Copyright licence for Figure 5-10: A model of the FL microenvironment.** The page 1 of 5 pages of copy right licence for reproduction Figure 5-10: A model of the FL microenvironment.

## Appendix 3A: Uncontrolled copy of the PACIFICO Patient Consent Form-Page1

EudraCT Number: 2008-004759-31

PACIFICO

	ON TRUST HEADED NOTE PAPER	
	PATIENT CONSENT FORM (please read carefully)	
	PACIFICO: <u>Purine-Alkylator</u> <u>Combination</u> In <u>Follicular lymphoma</u> Imr <u>Chemotherapy for Older patients: a phase III comparison of first-lin</u> <u>R-CVP versus</u> <u>R-FC</u> lite	nuno- ie
1	Patient's NHS Number: Patient's Date of Birth://	Please tick if you do not wish to provide this information
1	lame of Researcher:	
		Please initial
1	. I confirm that I have read and understand the Patient Information Sheet, dated	
2	. I understand that my participation in this study is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.	
1	I understand that sections of my medical notes may be looked at by responsible individuals involved in this research or from regulatory authorities where it is relevant to my taking part in research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records.	
4	. I understand that my stored diagnostic biopsy samples will be transferred from my local hospital to the University of Liverpool for central pathological review.	
-	I give permission for samples of my blood to be transferred to the University of Liverpool and retained for research into follicular lymphoma and its treatment. I understand that these projects may be conducted both within and outside of the European Union.	
e	I give permission for part of my biopsy specimen to be retained at the University of Liverpool for research into follicular lymphoma and its treatment. I understand that the research may be conducted both within and outside of the European Union.	
1	I give permission for DNA to be extracted from my blood and biopsy samples and for it to be used for genetic research, relating to follicular lymphoma and its treatment.	
8	I give permission for a copy of my consent form to be sent to the Liverpool Cancer Trials Unit (where it will be kept in a secure location), to provide confirmation that consent was given.	
9	<ol> <li>I agree to allow my General Practitioner and any other relevant medical practitioner to be informed of my involvement in the study.</li> </ol>	
1	0. I understand that information held by the NHS and records maintained by the NHS Information Centre may be used to keep in touch with me and follow-up my health status.	
1	<ol> <li>I agree for my data on NHS hospital admissions to be collected from electronic routine NHS health care records for the purpose of this study.</li> </ol>	
1	2. I agree to take part in the above study.	

PACIFICO - Patient Consent Form Version 4 -09<sup>th</sup> August 2011 SSPAC\_D004/4

## Appendix 3B: Uncontrolled copy of the PACIFICO Patient Consent Form-Page2

Date	Signature	
Date	Signature	
Date	Signature	- 1
er; 1 to be kept ir	the hospital notes.	
	Date Date er; 1 to be kept in	Date Signature           Date         Signature           Date         Signature           er; 1 to be kept in the hospital notes.         Signature

PACIFICO - Patient Consent Form Version 4 -09<sup>th</sup> August 2011 SSPAC\_D004/4